
 

Contact: Paul Mountford, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel:  01270 686472 
E-Mail:          paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk  
  

 

Cabinet 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Tuesday, 27th May, 2014 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: Committee Suite 1, 2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 
Sandbach CW11 1HZ 

 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. Part 
2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons indicated on 
the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 

pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda. 
 

3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session   
 
 In accordance with Procedure Rules Nos.11 and 35 a period of 10 minutes is 

allocated for members of the public to address the meeting on any matter relevant to 
the work of the meeting. Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 
minutes but the Chairman or person presiding will decide how the period of time 
allocated for public speaking will be apportioned where there are a number of 
speakers. Members of the public are not required to give notice to use this facility. 
However, as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours’ notice is encouraged. 
 
Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at 
least three clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with 
that notice. This will enable an informed answer to be given. 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 

4. Questions to Cabinet Members   
 
 A period of 20 minutes is allocated for questions to be put to Cabinet Members by 

members of the Council. Notice of questions need not be given in advance of the 
meeting. Questions must relate to the powers, duties or responsibilities of the 
Cabinet. Questions put to Cabinet Members must relate to their portfolio 
responsibilities. 
 
The Leader will determine how Cabinet question time should be allocated where 
there are a number of Members wishing to ask questions. Where a question relates to 
a matter which appears on the agenda, the Leader may allow the question to be 
asked at the beginning of consideration of that item. 
 

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 29th April 2014. 

 
6. Notice of Motion - Single Person Discount  (Pages 9 - 12) 
 
 To consider and respond to a motion in relation to the Single Person Discount for Council 

Tax. 
 

7. School Organisation Sub Committee - Decision-Making Procedure  (Pages 13 - 
28) 

 
 To consider proposed changes to the procedure for considering statutory school 

reorganisation proposals and decisions on non-statutory education reorganisation 
proposals which attract objections. 
 

8. Vulnerable and Older People's Housing Strategy  (Pages 29 - 200) 
 
 To consider a report seeking the ratification of a Vulnerable and Older People’s 

Housing Strategy for Cheshire East Council. 
 

9. Congleton Link Road - Preferred Route Assessment and Next Steps  (Pages 201 
- 374) 

 
 To consider a report which highlights the findings of the recent pubic consultation on 

the proposed Congleton Link Road, recommends a preferred route for the road and 
seeks approval to undertake the further work necessary to submit a planning 
application for the scheme. 
 

 
THERE ARE NO PART 2 REPORTS 
 
 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 

 
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet  

held on Tuesday, 29th April, 2014 at Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, 
Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ 

 
 
PRESENT 
 
Councillor M Jones (Chairman) 
Councillor D Brown (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillors Rachel Bailey, J Clowes, J P Findlow, L Gilbert, B Moran, 
P Raynes, D Stockton and D Topping 
 

Members in Attendance 
Councillors Rhoda Bailey, L Brown, S Corcoran, K Edwards, P Groves,  
J Hammond, P Mason, R Menlove, A Moran, B Murphy, L Smetham  
and A Thwaite  
 
Officers in Attendance 
Mike Suarez, Peter Bates, Lorraine Butcher, Anita Bradley, Caroline  
Simpson, Heather Grimbaldeston and Paul Mountford 
 
 
165 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

166 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION  
 
There were no members of the public wishing to speak. 
 

167 QUESTIONS TO CABINET MEMBERS  
 
Councillor J Hammond sought the Cabinet’s support for a campaign to 
encourage more people to cycle. The Leader replied that the campaign 
would have the Cabinet’s full support. The Environment Portfolio Holder 
added that a cycling seminar was due to be held the following evening at 
which views would be sought as to what the Council should do to promote 
cycling in Cheshire East. 
 
Councillor S Corcoran referred to the Leader’s Easter message and invited 
him to elaborate on his views about faith. The Leader replied that his faith 
was important to him, that he had friends of different faiths, and that faith 
in general was an important part of life. 
 
Councillor L Brown sought the Cabinet’s views on a move by Pfizer, an 
American Pharmaceuticals company, to take over AstraZeneca and the 
implications in particular for AstraZeneca’s manufacturing plant at 

Page 1 Agenda Item 5



Hurdsfield. The Leader replied that the plant at Hurdsfield was a world 
class facility and centre of excellence and should be supported. The 
Council would be watching the situation very carefully. 
 
Councillor L Smetham asked if the Cabinet could offer reassurance about 
the Council’s five year supply of housing land. The Leader replied that the 
numbers in the plan were robust but that it was important for planning 
inspectors to support the Council’s plan consistently. 
 
Councillor K Edwards asked if the Council had any plans to create a 
walking path extending across the length of the Borough similar to the 
Sandstone Trail and Gritstone Way. The Leader asked the Environment 
Portfolio Holder to look into the matter. 
 

168 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 1st April 2014 be approved as a 
correct record. 
 

169 NOTICE OF MOTION - SPARE ROOM SUBSIDY  
 
Cabinet considered the following motion which had been moved by 
Councillor K Edwards and seconded by Councillor P Raynes at the 
Council meeting on 27th February 2014 and referred to Cabinet for 
consideration: 
 

“In line with the aspiration to improve the quality of life of all in Cheshire 
East, this Council should be satisfied that there has been no harm done 
to the health and wellbeing of the residents who have been affected by 
the Spare Room Subsidy. 
 
We therefore call upon this Council to carry out Health Impact, and 
Equality Impact Assessments on the effects of the implementation of 
the Spare Room Subsidy throughout the Borough. 
 
In particular, the Council should assess the impact on those residents 
who have been detrimentally affected, because they have been in 
receipt of Housing Benefit Support since before 1996.” 

 
The report outlined the actions taken so far by the Council in relation to the 
spare room subsidy and further actions to be taken. The latter included the 
undertaking of health, finance and equality impact assessments; and a 
review of those impacts on the housing waiting lists and availability of 
accommodation and on registered housing providers. Once this work had 
been completed, a further report would be submitted to Cabinet. 
 
 
 

Page 2



RESOLVED 
 
That the further actions proposed in relation to the spare room subsidy as 
outlined in the report be noted and supported and a further report be 
awaited. 
 

170 NOTICE OF MOTION - PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY  
 
Cabinet considered the following motion which had been moved by 
Councillor K Edwards and seconded by Councillor S Corcoran at the 
Council meeting on 27th February 2014 and referred to Cabinet for 
consideration: 
 
“Cheshire East Council acknowledges that one of its most significant 
tourist assets is the magnificent scenery and the access to that scenery 
given by the extensive Public Rights of Way network. Therefore they  
call upon the administration to ensure that in any future arrangements 
for the governance and management of Public Rights of Way that may 
be commissioned in exercise of the Council’s statutory responsibilities 
the following principles will be adhered to: 

    
a) There will be appropriate arrangements made to maintain and where 
necessary to improve and extend signage, and safe access. 
 

b) There will be consultative arrangements to enable members of the 
public to be aware of and involved in any proposed changes to 
Public Rights of Way. 

 
c)  There will be a continually updated Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan 

 
d) There will be an appropriate programme of inspection to ensure 
safety for users. 

 
e) There will a budget allocated to carry out the above responsibilities. 
 
f) Work on completing the Definitive Map of all designated rights of 
way will be completed.” 

 
The report responded to the motion as follows: 
 
§ The current level of resources allowed the Council to maintain levels of 
signage and safety to a satisfactory standard.   

 
§ It would not be in the interests of the Council to do anything other than 
fully consult its various partners.  
 

§ The Council was obliged to continue to update the Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan and to maintain the Local Access Forum. 
 

Page 3



§ The Highways Service operated an inspection regime for both the road 
network and those urban paths on its list for maintenance but not for 
the remainder of the predominantly rural network due to limited 
resources. It was believed however that risks were lower if resources 
were devoted to maintenance rather than diverting an element of 
scarce resource to inspection.   

 
§ The Council had a statutory duty to complete the Definitive Map. The 
rate of progress towards completion would depend on available 
resources although there was a cut-off date of 2026 for the acceptance 
of applications for additions of routes to the Definitive Map based on 
historical documentary evidence.  

 
RESOLVED 
 
That the response to the motion be noted and endorsed and the Executive 
Director of Strategic Commissioning be asked to undertake an options 
appraisal for the future delivery of the Public Rights of Way functions. 
 

171 CONNECTING CHESHIRE BROADBAND - PROJECT 
EXTENSION (FORWARD PLAN REF: CE 13/14-74)  
 
Cabinet considered a report proposing a further extension to the 
Connecting Cheshire project. 
 
The Connecting Cheshire Project, led by Cheshire East Council, was the 
fastest deployment of high-speed broadband in the world, delivering at 
twice the pace of similar contracts across the country. 
 
Building on the success of the project, it was proposed that the project be 
extended for a second tranche to reach a more ambitious target of 99% of 
homes and businesses by 2017, which would return approximately £84m 
of growth to the local economy. The total cost of the project extension, 
including partner contributions and grants, was expected to be £5.1m, with 
further private sector leverage to be agreed through procurement. The 
Council’s contribution would be up to £1.12m over the three year period 
2015-2017.  
 
On consideration of this matter, the Deputy Leader and the Chief 
Operating Officer were asked to look into the compatibility of the Council’s 
internal network with the BT network and to write to Members. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That Cabinet 
 
1. approves the extension of the Connecting Cheshire project  
continuing  the rollout of broadband technologies to achieve 99% 
coverage of superfast broadband by March 2017; 
 

Page 4



2. approves an investment of £1.12m from the Council’s capital 
resources, including £905.9k for infrastructure investment, and 
£215.7k to support continued project management arrangements 
from July 2015 through to March 2017; 
 

3. approves that the Council enter into an open market review and 
procurement process with Broadband Delivery UK (BDUK) to scope 
and define the project extension, including specific costs, 
timescales and outputs; 
 

4. will continue delivery of the project’s governance arrangements as 
part of the Connecting Cheshire Partnership, fulfilling the authority’s 
role as accountable body for the project; 

 
5. will continue to give delegated authority to the relevant Portfolio Holder 
and Director of Economic Growth and Prosperity for decision-making in 
relation to the resolutions 1 to 3 above; and 

 
6. authorises the Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer to 
negotiate and enter into any necessary legal agreements to give effect 
to resolutions 1 to 4 above. 

 
172 FUTURE DELIVERY MODEL FOR THE INTEGRATED 

TRANSPORT UNIT (FORWARD PLAN REF: CE 13/14-76)  
 
Cabinet considered a report seeking approval to proceed with the 
implementation of a wholly-owned company to deliver all the functions of 
the Council’s Integrated Transport Unit. 
 
The Council had registered a company under the name Transport Service 
Solutions Ltd (TSS), 100% owned by the Council. The role of the company 
would be to deliver transport services on behalf of the Council with a 
current total budget of approximately £17.8M. The aim was for the new 
company to become operational by 1st July 2014but with a contingency 
commencement date of 1st October 2014. 
 
The officers had developed a detailed business case and plan which had 
been subject to scrutiny by the Council’s project management regime. The 
Environment Policy Development Group had been fully involved in 
considering the available delivery options for the Transport Service and 
there had been widespread support for the wholly-owned company model 
as being the most appropriate for the Integrated Transport Unit, both in 
terms of financial sustainability and service improvements. 
 
The Leader commented that he expected communication with councillors 
and the public to be one of the performance outcomes he would be 
expecting from the new company. He also stressed the ongoing need for 
unions to be consulted on this and all other alternative service delivery 
vehicles. 
 

Page 5



RESOLVED 
 
That Cabinet 
 
1. approves the implementation of Transport Service Solutions Ltd as the 
future management model for integrated transport services in 
accordance with the detailed business case and implementation plan 
attached as Appendix A to the report; 

 
2. agrees that all current functions of the Integrated Transport Unit be 
transferred to Transport Service Solutions Ltd whilst accepting that the 
ultimate strategic direction for Transport remains with the Council; 
 

3. gives any necessary delegated authority to the Executive Director of 
Strategic Commissioning, the Head of Local Communities, the Head of 
Legal Services and the Chief Operating Officer, in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Environment to proceed with the implementation in 
accordance with the project plan, including negotiating appropriate 
contractual arrangements, arranging leases and central support 
services and novating contracts where necessary; 
 

4. acknowledges the timetable for the project which aims to establish the 
company by 1st July 2014 but with a contingency go-live date of 1st 
October 2014 should operational issues prevent this being achievable; 
 

5. agrees to the commencement of a formal consultation period with all 
the staff who might be affected by any proposed TUPE transfer; and 
 

6. acknowledges that, following Cabinet’s approval of this proposal, work 
will continue to develop the more detailed business plans and draft 
contracts for the new company.   

 
173 PROPERTY ASSET DISPOSALS - PARK LANE, 

MACCLESFIELD (FORWARD PLAN REF: CE 13/14-88)  
 
Cabinet considered a report on the sale of land and buildings at Park 
Lane, Macclesfield. 
 
The report sought approval for the sale of the freehold interest comprising 
approximately 1.8 acres of land and buildings shown edged red on the 
plan attached to the report and known as: 

§ The Willows, Park Lane, Macclesfield 
§ Peatfield Centre, Park Lane, Macclesfield 
§ Park Lane Offices, Macclesfield 
§ 352C, Park Lane, Macclesfield 

to Macclesfield College upon the terms outlined in Section 10 of the report. 
 
The College were proposing to construct a new conference and lecture 
facility to expand their Higher Education provision and offer facilities for 
use to local businesses and the community. 

Page 6



 
RESOLVED 
 
That 
 
1. the land and buildings referred to in the report be sold to Macclesfield 
College upon the terms outlined in Section 10 of the report; and 

 
2. the Chief Executive or his nominee, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance and the Head of Legal Services, and subject to 
consideration by the Chief Operating Officer, be given delegated 
authority to finalise the details of the sale in accordance with the terms 
and conditions outlined in the report. 

 
174 PENSIONS DISCRETIONS - CHANGES TO THE LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME (LGPS 2014) (FORWARD PLAN 
REF: CE 13/14-81)  
 
Cabinet considered a report on changes to the Local Government 
Pensions Scheme and the Local Government Pensions Discretions that 
must be considered by the Council and included within the Council’s 
current Employer Discretions. 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme was changing significantly with 
effect from 1st April 2014, the most notable change being the move to a 
career average scheme. There were a number of additional changes to 
the scheme which had to be considered and reflected in the Council’s 
Pensions Discretions Policy. The current policy and recommended 
changes were set out in section 10 of the report. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That cabinet agrees to exercise its discretions as outlined in the table in 
section 10.0 of the report. 
 
 
The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 3.10 pm 

 
M Jones (Chairman) 

 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting: 27th May 2014 

Report of: Head of Communities 

Subject/Title: Notice of Motion – Single Person Discount  

Portfolio Holders: Councillor Raynes, Finance 

                                                                  
 
1 Report Summary 
 
1.1 Under a Notice of Motion, to the 10th April Council, the Cabinet is being asked to respond to 

in support of a press release made by the Local Government Association (LGA), dated 17th 
Match 2014, in relation to restrict the Single Person Discount (SPD) for Council Tax. 
 

1.2 The LGA is calling for flexibility to remove single person discounts, which currently reduce 
Council Tax by 25%, as it claims wealthy bachelors are benefitting from this reduction at the 
expense of lower income families. 

 
1.3 Individual cases affected by the proposals would see their Council Taxes increase by up to 

33% with income to the Council increasing by up to £1.5m. 
 
2 Recommendation 
 
2.1 It is requested that Cabinet does not support the notice of motion for the reasons set out in 

Section 3 below. 
 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1 Whilst it is recognised that the flexibility to restrict SPDs would remain at the discretion of 

the Council there are a number of issues that support the decision requested: 
- The claim that Band E property is considered a large home is not substantiated in 

relation to the tax base in Cheshire East 
- Welfare data confirms that some single residents in Band E properties are themselves 

considered on lower incomes, and receive Council Tax Support. The number of these 
cases would be highly likely to increase if Council Tax charges were increased by 
33% following the removal of the discount, and it is not an objective of the Council to 
increase dependency on welfare. 

- Taxpayers currently affected by recent Council Tax Support reductions will be further 
impacted by a reduction in discount. 

- The proposals would present an unwelcome impact on families where children still 
reside with a single parent. 

- Taxpayers who have adaptations to their property to accommodate a disability 
currently receive a reduction in council tax.  The removal of SPD would increase their 
council tax above the pre disabled reduction level. 

- Council Tax legislation also provides for reductions of 25% for households where 
more than one person resides but the other resident is ‘disregarded’.  A number of 
inequities could arise if SPD is removed in isolation.  

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



- Unlike other tax base reforms introduced by Cheshire East Council in relation to empty 
homes there is unlikely to be any impact from this proposal that makes better use of 
existing housing stock. 

 
4.0 Wards Affected 

 
4.1 Not applicable. 

 
5.0 Local Ward Members  

 
5.1 Not applicable. 

 
6.0 Policy Implications  

 
6.1 The report outlines policy proposals which will impact on service delivery. 

 
7.0 Financial Implications  
 
7.1 The maximum financial impact of the removal of Single Person Discounts from properties 

in Bands E to H, without allowing for restricted groups, would be an increase in the 
Council Tax debit of up to £3.3m based 7,819 current cases (being the value of SPDs x 
number of SPDs). 
 

7.2 The total impact would be restricted under the Local Government Association proposals, 
to protect pensioners, but would also be affected by some individuals in bands E to H who 
are Council Tax Support (CTS) claimants: 
 
- Applying a basic pro-rata to the current single pensioner households reduces the 

number of potential cases by 3,645 
 

- 151 SPD cases in band E-H properties claim CTS. For simplicity we can assume 
these households are working but pay only 20% of the Council Tax liability 

 
7.3 Overall the impact of pensioners and CTS claimants would reduce the maximum potential 

income to the Council from this policy by more than half, to £1.5m. 
 
8.0 Legal Implications  

 
8.1 None. 
 
9.0 Risk Management  
 
9.1 There are no risks linked to achievement of the Council’s objectives, as set out in the 3 

Year Plan, as a consequence of this report. 
 

10.0 Background and Options 
 
10.1  The following notice of motion was referred to Cabinet at the Council meeting of 10th April 

2014: 
 
 Proposed by Councillor S Corcoran and Seconded by Councillor M Sherratt. 

 
“This Council supports the proposals of the Local Government Association for 
reforming the single person discount. Under the plans, councils would have the 
flexibility to adjust the discount for working people living alone in large homes – 

Page 10



rated council tax band E and above. Discounts for single people in smaller 
homes and all pensioners would remain protected.” 

 
10.2 The notice of motion followed a press release by the Local Government Association on 

17th March 2014, details of which are extracted below: 

 
“Councils call for flexibility over ‘wealthy bachelor' council tax discount” 
 

 “A compulsory council tax discount which is received by wealthy working-age people 

living alone in large homes is making it harder for local authorities to protect 

discounts for struggling families on low incomes. 

 

The LGA, which represents councils in England and Wales, has set out proposals for 

reforming the single person discount. Under the plans, councils would have the 

flexibility to adjust the discount for working people living alone in large homes – rated 

council tax band E and above. Discounts for single people in smaller homes and all 

pensioners would remain protected.” 

 
10.3 Section 11 of The Local Government Finance Act 1992 allows a 25% discount where 

there is only one resident in a property. 
 
10.4 Cheshire East has 167,052 Households of which 53,749 (32%) claim single person 

discount, by way of comparison, this is marginally above averaged as the 2011 
Census indicated that single person households make up 30% of the national total. 

 
10.5 SPD in bands E-H is split as follows in Cheshire East:  
 

 Number of 
cases in 
Cheshire 

east 

Current 
Value of 
SPD in 

each case 

Band E 3,904 £372 

Band F 2,133 £439 

Band G 1,616 £507 

Band H 166 £608 

 Total 7,819  

 
10.6 The maximum impact of the removal of SPD, without allowing for restricted groups, 

would be therefore be £3.3m (value of SPD x number of SPDs) 
 
10.7 The total impact would be restricted under the proposals, to protect pensioners, but 

would also be affected as some individuals claim Council Tax Support (CTS). Overall 
the impact of pensioners and CTS claimants would reduce the maximum potential 
income from this policy by more than half, to £1.5m. 

 
10.8 The impact on individuals could be up to a 33% increase in their Council Tax liability: 
 
 
 

Page 11



 Number 
affected 

Increase in 
CT liability 

Number of CTS 
claimants 
affected 

Increase in CTS 
claimants’ 

liability 

Band E 1724 £372 96 £74 

Band F 956 £439 38 £88 

Band G 736 £507 17 £101 

Band H 77 £608 0 - 

 
10.9 As size of property is not directly linked to wealth, it is not possible to calculate the 

potential for the above increases in Council Tax liability to lead to an increase in 
claims for CTS. However, the size of the increases makes an increase in claims 
highly likely which would impact on the potential increase in Council Tax income to 
the Council as well as pushing more cases in to requiring welfare support and the 
associated administration costs to the Council. 

 
10.0 Access to Information 
 
10.1 The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the 

report writer: 
 

Name: Paul Manning  
Designation: Revenues Manager  
Tel No: 01625 383933  
Email:  paul.manning@cheshireeast.gov.uk   

  

Page 12



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet 
 

 
Date of Meeting: 

 
27th May 2014 

Report of: Barbara Dale, School Admissions and Organisation 
Manager 

Subject/Title: School Organisation Sub-Committee - Decision-
Making Procedure 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Councillor Rachel Bailey, Safeguarding Children and 
Adults 
 

                                                                  
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 The Education and Inspections Act 2006 and related legislation require 

that Councils determine their own procedures for deciding school 
organisation proposals. 
 

1.2 On 21 April 2009, Cabinet approved the current arrangement, which 
provides that, 

 

• Decisions to consult and publish notices on reorganisation proposals 
will be taken by the Individual Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Family Services; and 

 

• The procedure for considering statutory school reorganisation 
proposals and decisions on non-statutory education reorganisation 
proposals which attract objections be taken by a Cabinet Sub 
Committee, for which a formal procedure was agreed at the time and 
is attached as Appendix 1. 

 
1.3 Changes are now proposed to the formal procedure to comply with the 

most recent DfE guidance (2013) and to provide proposers and objectors 
equal rights to ask questions and seek clarity during Part 1 of the decision 
meeting. The proposed procedure is attached as Appendix 2.   

 
2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 Cabinet is recommended to approve the proposed procedure for 

considering statutory school reorganisation proposals and decisions on 
non-statutory education reorganisation proposals which attract 
objections, as set out in Appendix 2 to this report. 
 

3.0 Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1 The Local Authority is required by statute to make certain decisions in relation 

to proposals published by the local authority e.g. closing schools, school 
expansions and other specified changes as listed below: 

Page 13 Agenda Item 7



 

• Change of age range (except for adding or removing a sixth-form);  
• Adding/removing a sixth-form;  
• Adding or removing boarding provision. 
• Single sex school becoming co-educational or vice versa;  
• Transferring to a new site;  
• Closure of one site in a split site school;  
• Removing selective admission arrangements at a grammar school;  
• Changes of category (excluding changes of category to foundation);  
• Establishing/removing/altering SEN provision at a mainstream school;  
• Alteration of upper or lower age limit at a special school;  
• Increasing/decreasing pupil numbers at a special school; and  
• Changing the types of needs catered for by a special school.  

 
3.2 In relation to the establishment of new schools, the Local Authority must 

decide non-academy proposals made by other proposers. This relates to a 
new school proposal made where no academy bid has been deemed suitable.  
 

3.3 In respect of school reorganisation proposals, statutory guidance states that  
 

The department does not prescribe the exact process by which a decision-
maker carries out their decision-making function. However, the body or 
individual that takes the decision must have regard to the statutory 
‘Decision-makers Guidance’ (paragraph 21, DfE School Organisation 
Guidance 2013) 

 
3.4 The proposed change to the current arrangement is to provide an equal 

opportunity for proposers and objectors to question each other’s case or to 
provide oral responses, as appropriate, in the interests of transparency. This 
was a recommendation of the School Organisation Sub Committee at its 
meeting held on 19 September 2013. This recommendation will not undermine 
the current requirement for the Sub Committee to have regard to statutory 
guidance when discharging its decision-making function.  
 

3.5 The current procedure, which was agreed by Cabinet on 21 April 2009 as 
aforementioned, is included in the Council’s constitution. Any change to 
existing process necessitates Cabinet approval and an amendment to the 
Constitution. 

 
4.0 Wards Affected 
  
4.1 All Wards 
  
5.0      Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 All Ward Members 
 
6.0 Financial Implications  
 
6.1 There are no significant capital or revenue implications as a result of 

making a change to an existing decision making process. 

Page 14



 
7.0 Legal Implications  
 
7.1 There are statutory processes and guidance in relation to the different 

types of school and education reorganisation proposals. The decision 
requested will ensure that the statutory requirements in relation to 
decision making are met and will limit opportunities for legal challenge. 

 
8.0 Risk Management  
 
8.1 The risk of legal challenge is significantly reduced if the decision-making 

process complies with legislation, statutory guidance and the principles of 
public law.  

 
9.0 Access to Information 
 
 Name:   Barbara Dale 

   Designation: School Admissions and Organisation Manager 
            Tel No: 01270 686392 
             Email:  Barbara.Dale@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
   

Page 17



procedures following the abolition of School Organisation Committees in 
2007. Cheshire East Borough Council now needs to make specific 
provision for school organisation decision making in its constitution.  

 
The Cabinet report item of 24 March 2009 regarding decision making 
arrangements resolved that the constitution be amended to empower individual 
Cabinet Members to make all executive decisions in respect of their portfolio 
areas, with five identified exceptions. 

 
Statutory guidance states: “The Department does not prescribe the 
process by which a Local Authority carries out their decision making 
function (e.g. full Cabinet or delegation to Cabinet Member or officials). 
This is a matter for the Local Authority to determine but the requirement to 
have regard to statutory guidance applies equally to the body or individual 
that makes the decision.” 

 
Four possible options have been discussed with the Portfolio Holder, 
Councillor Paul Findlow. As the relevant Cabinet Member he will own and 
recommend any process on school organisation matters to other Members 
of the Cabinet. The options considered are as detailed below: 
 

Option 1: Delegate decision-making authority to an officer, either 
Strategic Director of People or Head of Children and Families, who will 
sit with the Legal Adviser to take decisions: i.e. the process will be 
conducted in camera. 
 
Option 2: Delegate decision making authority to the portfolio holder. 
 
Option 3: Refer decision to the full Cabinet 
 
Option 4: Establish a Cabinet Sub Committee which adopts the 
procedures set out in Appendix B to make decisions.  

 
It is recommended that: 
 
(1)   Option 4 is adopted to appoint a Cabinet Sub Committee.  
 
(2)    The Sub Committee adopt the procedure set out in Appendix B of 

this report for considering statutory school organisation proposals and 
other non statutory education organisation proposals.  

 
 
7. Overview of Day One, Year One and Term One Issues 

 
The Council will inherit work on various aspects of school organisation and could 
receive governing body or other proposals at any time.  

 
 
 
 

Page 2Page 18



8. Reasons for Recommendation 
 

The Sub Committee can hear advice from non-executive Members and 
relevant representatives of school governors and Diocesan authorities 
(who cannot exercise decision making powers themselves). This 
demonstrates that a wide range of opinion has been canvassed. 
The adoption of the procedure set out in Appendix B  will provide a 
transparent forum giving proposers and objectors equal rights to present 
both orally and in writing their arguments to the Sub Committee, with 
opportunities for Sub Committee Members to ask proposers and objectors 
questions prior to moving to a final decision-making process.  The Sub 
Committee in discharging its decision-making function, is required to have 
regard to statutory guidance setting out the factors to be taken into 
account in considering different kinds of proposals, and the Sub 
Committee is required to set out and publish in detail the reasons for its 
decisions.      
 
A balanced decision making process has to be in existence in April 2009, in order 
to determine the inherited and future school organisation proposals. Notices have 
been published proposing the closure of Church Lawton and a decision maker 
must be identified in order for this process to proceed.  Further details of this 
proposed school closure can be found at Appendix A.  

 
 
For further information: 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Paul Findlow 
Officer: Peter Davies  
Tel No: 01244 972081 
Email: peter.davies@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 
 
Background Documents: 
Statutory Guidance on School Organisation 
 
Documents are available for inspection at:   
DCSF Website - School Organisation Unit 
 

Page 3Page 19



Appendix B    

 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST BOROUGH COUNCIL PROCEDURES 
FOR CONSIDERING STATUTORY SCHOOL 
REORGANISATION PROPOSALS AND OTHER NON 
STATUTORY EDUCATION REORGANISATION 
PROPOSALS 
 
 
 

1. DECISIONS TO CONSULT AND PUBLISH STATUTORY NOTICES 
 

Decisions to be taken by the Individual Portfolio holder for 
Children and Families  
 

2. PROCEDURE FOR CONSIDERING STATUTORY SCHOOL 
REORGANISATION PROPOSALS AND DECISIONS ON NON 
STATUTORY EDUCATION REORGANISATION PROPOSALS 
WHICH ATTRACT OBJECTIONS 

 
Decisions to be taken by a Cabinet Sub Committee under the 
procedures set out below 

 
 
 

     CHESHIRE EAST CABINET SCHOOL ORGANISATION 
                    SUB COMMITTEE   PROCEDURE 

 
 

 
The Cabinet has adopted the following procedure when exercising its function 
as the relevant decision maker under Schedule 2 Education and Inspections 
Act 2006 to consider school reorganisation proposals which attract statutory 
objections. The Cabinet has also adopted this procedure for the determination 
of other non statutory education organisation proposals which have attracted 
objections.  
 
Decisions will be taken by a Committee comprising of 3 or 5 Cabinet 
members sitting as a Cabinet Sub Committee who will elect one member as 
Chair.  
 
Representatives from the Chester(CE) Diocesan Board of Education , the 
Diocese of Shrewsbury Catholic Education and nominated primary, 
secondary, special school, nursery and foundation school governors (where 

Page 4Page 20



appropriate) will be invited to attend and offer advice to the Sub Committee 
where the proposals impact on their sector of educational provision.  
 
 
Part 1 of meetings of the Sub Committee will be held in public.    
 
 
           Introduction 

 
(1) There will be a brief introduction by the Principal Adviser to the Sub 

Committee to explain the business which is being brought before 
the Sub Committee, and how it will be considered. 

 
 
Presentation of the Proposal 
 
(2) The Chair of the Sub Committee will ask the Proposers' 

representative(s) to present the proposal.   
 

          (No more than three presentations and a maximum 15 minutes in total.) 
 
Local Reaction to the Proposal  
 
(3) The Principal Adviser will report briefly to the Sub Committee on 

the level and nature of responses received, together with any 
other responses, eg: expressions of support for the proposals.   

 
(4) The Chair will invite a spokesman or spokesmen representing the 

objectors to make an oral presentation of their objections.    
 
(No more than three presentations and a maximum 15 minutes in total.      
 
Objectors are, therefore, invited to work together to co-ordinate their 
representations and to nominate no more than three spokesmen.   
 
Objectors are asked to notify the Democratic Services Officer to the 
Sub Committee of the name(s) of their spokesman or spokesmen in 
advance of the meeting.) 
 
(5) Representatives for the Diocesan and Governing Bodies where 

appropriate may each ask questions of the Proposers and 
Objectors  

 
 

 
Information Seeking 
 
(6) Sub Committee Members may ask the Proposers’ 

representative(s) any questions about: 
 

Page 5Page 21



• The case for the proposals. 
 

• Proposers' comments on the objections received. 
 

(8)    Sub Committee Members may ask the objectors’ spokesman or   
        spokesmen any questions about the objections received.     
         
 
Advice to the Sub Committee 
 
(9) Governor representatives and representatives from the Chester 

(CE) Diocesan Board of Education and Diocese of Shrewsbury 
Education Service where appropriate will be invited to make 
comments to the Sub Committee. 

 
(10) Elected Members will be invited to make comments to the Sub  

                      Committee. 
 
                 
Part 2 of the meeting will be held in private.    
 
The Sub Committee will then meet in private and everyone else will be asked 
to leave the meeting at this point, save that elected members of the Borough 
Council may remain present, in accordance with the Council’s Standing 
Orders relating to Council proceedings. 
 
Review 

 
(11)  The Sub Committee, advised by the Principal Adviser, will 

consider whether the Sub Committee has sufficient information to 
come to a decision, or whether more information, not available at 
the meeting, is needed.    

 
In exceptional circumstances where significant additional 
information is required which cannot immediately be provided, it 
may be necessary for the Sub Committee to adjourn whilst the 
necessary information is obtained.    
 

 
(12)  When (either at the first meeting to consider the proposal or at a  

         subsequent meeting if need be) the Sub Committee considers 
that it has sufficient information to reach a decision, the Sub 
Committee will consider the issues having regard to each element 
of the relevant statutory Decision Makers guidance which it is 
required to consider, before reaching its decision. 

 
          
 
 
   

Page 6Page 22



Part 3      Announcement of the Decision in public session 
 

(13)The Sub Committee’s decision will be made in public following the 
private review session. It will then be published on the Borough 
Council’s Political Information Network within two working days 
and the Principal Adviser to the Sub Committee will then prepare 
and make public a written statement setting out the reasons for 
the Sub Committee’s decision in relation to the relevant Statutory 
Decision Makers guidance. 

 

Footnotes:   

 

1.       Where the Proposer is the Local Authority this will be officers 

representing the Director of Children & Families. Other Proposers 

may include the Church of England and Catholic Dioceses and school 

governing bodies. 

 

2. Nominated school governor representatives shall be sought from 

the Cheshire Association of Governing Bodies (CAGB) from serving 

primary, secondary, special, nursery and foundation school 

governors of Cheshire East schools, save that no person who is a 

governor, parent of a pupil attending or member of the staff of any 

school which is the subject of any proposal being considered by the 

Sub Committee shall participate, but may nominate a substitute in 

his or her place. 

 

3. Decisions by the Sub Committee remain subject to the Council’s 

call- in procedures under the relevant Standing Order.  In the 

event of such “call-in”, the council’s Standing Orders shall apply in 

relation to all subsequent decision-making and the foregoing 

procedure shall cease to apply. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 7Page 23



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



  

     Appendix 2 
 
 
 
 
Cheshire East Council  
 
Procedure for considering statutory school reorganisation proposals 
and other non statutory education reorganisation proposals 

 
1. Decisions to publish statutory proposals1 

 

Decisions to be taken by the Individual Portfolio Holder for 
Children and Families 

 
2.  Procedure for considering statutory school reorganisation 

proposals and decisions on non statutory education 
reorganisation proposals which do not attract objections 

 
Decisions to be taken by Cabinet 

 
3 .  Procedure for considering statutory school reorganisation 

proposals and decisions on non statutory education 
reorganisation proposals which attract objections 

 
Decisions to be taken by a Cabinet School Organisation 
Sub Committee under the procedures set out below 

 
School Organisation Sub Committee Procedure 

 
The Cabinet has adopted the following procedure when exercising its 
function as the relevant decision maker under Schedule 2 Education and 
Inspections Act 2006 to consider school reorganisation proposals which 
attract statutory objections. The Cabinet has also adopted this procedure 
for the determination of other non statutory education organisation 
proposals which have attracted objections. 

 
Decisions will be taken by a Committee comprising of 3 or 5 Cabinet 
members sitting as a Cabinet Sub Committee who will elect one member 
as Chair. 

 
Representatives from the Chester(CE) Diocesan Board of Education , the 
Diocese of Shrewsbury Catholic Education and any other body or person 
the proposer considers appropriate will be invited to attend and offer 
advice to the Sub Committee where the proposals impact on their sector 
of educational provision. These are referred to within these arrangements 
as ‘invited parties’, 

 
  

                                                           
1 Feedback from consultation will be presented to the Portfolio Holder at this stage. Although there is no longer a 

prescribed ‘pre-publication’ consultation period for prescribed alterations, there is a strong expectation on schools and 
LAs to consult interested parties in developing their proposal prior to publication as part of their duty under public law to 
act rationally and take into account all relevant considerations.  
 

Page 25



  

 
Part 1 - Meeting of the Sub Committee to be held in public. 
 
Introduction 

 
1. There will be a brief introduction by the Legal Adviser to the Sub 

Committee to explain the business which is being brought before the Sub 
Committee and how it will be considered. 

 
Presentation of the Proposal 

 

2. The Chair of the Sub Committee will ask the Proposer’s Representative/s 
to present the proposal and responses to it. 2 

 
Objections to the Proposal 

 
3. The Chair of the Sub Committee will invite the Objector’s 

Representative/s to make an oral presentation of their objection/s. 3 
 
Questions/Responses to the Proposer 

 
4. The Chair of the Sub Committee will invite the Objector to ask questions 

of/respond to the Proposer. 
 

Questions/Responses to the Objector 
 

5. The Chair of the Sub Committee will invite the Proposer to ask questions 
of/respond to the Objector. 

 
Questions/Responses by Invited Parties to Proposer and Objector. 
 

6. The Chair of the Sub Committee will invite any invited parties to ask 
questions of/respond to the Proposer and Objector. 

 
Information Seeking by the Sub Committee 
 

7. Sub Committee Members may ask the Proposer any questions about: 

• The case for the proposals. 

• The objections received. 

 
8. Sub Committee Members may ask the Objector any questions about their 

objections. 
 

9. Sub Committee Members may invite views or comments from relevant 
parties4 as they consider appropriate. 

 
10. Sub Committee Members may invite views or comments from Elected 

Members. 

  

                                                           
2
 No more than 3 presentations and a maximum 15 minutes in total. 

3
 No more than 3 presentations and a maximum 15 minutes in total. Objectors are therefore invited to work together to 

co-ordinate their representations and to nominate no more than 3 representatives to speak on their behalf. Objectors 
are asked to notify the Democratic Services Officer to the Sub Committee of the name(s) of their representative/s in 
advance of the meeting. 
4
 ‘Relevant parties’ refers to those persons or bodies that the Sub Committee considers are most likely to be directly 

affected by the proposal.  

Page 26



  

 

Part 2 - Meeting of the Sub Committee to be held in private. 

 
The Sub Committee will then meet in private and everyone else will be 
asked to leave the meeting at this point, save that elected members of the 
Council may remain present, in accordance with the Council’s Standing 
Orders relating to Council proceedings. 

 
Review of Information  

 
11. The Sub Committee, advised by the Legal Adviser, will consider 

whether it has sufficient information to come to a decision5, or 
whether more information, not available at the meeting, is needed. 

 
12. When the Sub Committee considers that it has sufficient 

information to come to a decision, it will consider the issues having 
regard to each element of the relevant statutory Decision Makers 
guidance, which it is required to consider before reaching its 
decision. 

 

 

Part 3 - Announcement of the Decision in public session 
 

13. The Sub Committee’s decision will be made in public following the 
private review of information session. The decision6 and the 
reasons for it will then be published on the Council’s website within 
one week. 

                                                           
5
 In exceptional circumstances where significant additional information is required which cannot immediately 

be provided, it may be necessary for the Sub Committee to adjourn whilst the necessary information is obtained. 
6
 Decisions by the Sub Committee remain subject to the Council’s call- in procedures under the relevant Standing 

Order of the Council’s Constitution.   

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL  

 

Cabinet 

 

Date of Meeting: 27th May 2014 

Report of:   Strategic Housing Manager 

Subject/Title: Vulnerable and Older People’s Housing Strategy 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Don Stockton, Housing and Jobs; Councillor Janet 

Clowes, Care and Health in the Community 

 

 

1 Report Summary 

 

1.1 This report seeks the ratification of the appended Vulnerable and Older 

People’s Housing Strategy for Cheshire East Borough Council. This report 

summarises the nature of the Strategy, its construction, and the findings of the 

Strategy’s consultation process, whilst requesting cabinet approval of the 

Strategy.  

 

1.2 The Strategy assumes a central role in Cheshire East’s strategic forward 

planning: it is one of the two major change programmes (5.2) designed to 

deliver on Priority 5 of the Council’s Three Year Plan: Securing housing that is 

locally-led, community-based, and meets local needs. This priority is, in turn, a 

crucial policy in realising Outcome 5 of the Plan: People Live Well and for 

Longer. 

 

1.3 The Strategy has been formed through an extensive and rigorous consultation 

cycle. Initial consultation and evidence-gathering with Council services, housing 

partners and providers (including a consultation event) yielded an initial draft of 

the Strategy. This draft was then subject to a six-week public consultation 

which garnered further feedback. This has been assimilated in the production of 

the final version of the Strategy which accompanies this report. A summary of 

the consultation responses and the changes to the draft Strategy that they 

incited are found in section 10.6 of this report. The key messages of the 

Strategy are summarised in its executive summary. 

 

2 Recommendations 

 

2.1 It is recommended that: 

 

2.1.1 The appended Vulnerable and Older People’s Housing Strategy and its action 

plan are ratified and become operative for Cheshire East Council.      

Page 29 Agenda Item 8



 

3 Reasons for Recommendations 

 

3.1 The key objectives and benefits that the Strategy will realise are: 

 

3.1.1 Mapping the current picture of accommodation supply and demand by client 

group to baseline a picture of vulnerable persons housing within the Borough.  

 

3.1.2 Utilising this information as a basis for developing an optimal model of 

accommodation and support provision across all vulnerable client groups to 

inform Cheshire East’s commissioning cycle and development priorities.  

 

3.1.3 Integrating an effective and appropriate housing into a multi-disciplinary and 

cross-agency approach for improving well-being for vulnerable people. 

 

3.1.4 Providing and inciting an evolving evidence base to inform planning decisions 

and emergent policies whilst complementing the Local Plan. 

 

3.1.5 Realising Outcome 5 of the Council’s Three Year Plan: People Live Well and 

For Longer.  

 

3.1.6 Realising Priority 5 of the Council’s Three Year Plan: Securing housing that is 

locally-led, community-based, and meets local needs. The Vulnerable and 

Older People’s Housing Strategy is one of the two major change programmes 

to deliver on this priority. 

 

4 Wards Affected 

 

4.1 All 

 

5 Local Ward Members 

 

5.1 All 

 

6 Policy Implications 

 

6.1 The Vulnerable and Older People’s Housing Strategy is prioritised within the 

Council’s Three Year Plan framework: 

 

• Outcome 5: People Live Well and for Longer 
o Priority 5: Securing housing that is locally-led, community-based, and 

meets local needs. 

Page 30



§ Change Programme 5.2: Deliver an accommodation strategy 

for vulnerable adults and those with learning disabilities. 

 

6.2 The accommodation of vulnerable people by virtue concerns a host of Council 

services that collectively work towards improving prospects and well-being for 

affected client groups. As such, the Strategy champions a holistic and 

integrated approach, aspiring to catalyse and unite Council services, 

community partners, and providers in a concerted direction. In its construction 

extensive liaison has taken place across adults’ services, children’s services, 

public health, housing, and planning to ensure that the Strategy reflects the 

priorities and initiatives of these services. For instance, the Strategy channels 

the emergent strategic commissioning intentions, has fed into the Lifecourse 

work surrounding learning disabilities, and reflects the drug and alcohol service 

recommissioning. 

 

6.3 Principally, the Strategy corroborates and augments the Council’s commitment 

to enabling independence, reablement, and recovery through the appropriate 

provision of accommodation and support services. Such an approach is 

increasingly enshrined throughout the Council’s commissioning wings, and the 

Vulnerable and Older People’s Housing Strategy supports this by advocating 

the provision of accommodation models that foster independence and 

reablement - such as supported accommodation, sheltered housing, and extra 

care schemes as an alternative to institutional care. 

 

6.4 Initial findings suggest that such an approach is required to manage the well-

documented demographic pressures caused by longer life expectancy and 

advances in medical and social care. The Council can expect a rise in the 

number of vulnerable people in need of specialist accommodation, and an 

opportunity exists to consider the accommodation landscape within the 

Borough and engineer it so that more vulnerable people are supported to live 

fulfilling, independent lives within the community.  

 

6.5 As such, the Strategy will set the direction of travel and accommodation 

priorities. These will then inform future service commissioning work and 

planning policies to realise the determined approach through provider 

management and future development.  

 

7 Financial Implications 

 

7.1  Full business cases which consider all financing options (both internal and 

external) and any potential risks to the Council will be developed for any major 

projects or developments that arise as a result of the Strategy’s priorities. 

These will be prepared and assessed on a project-by-project basis at the 

appropriate time. Such business cases will follow the established route for 

Page 31



ratification including gateway approvals at the appropriate points in accordance 

with the Council’s project management protocols. 

 

7.2 The exploratory and on-going actions recommended in the Strategy will be met 

from within existing resources. 

 

7.3 Similarly, the Strategic Housing team will continue to lead and dedicate existing 

resource to the Strategy’s finalisation and coordinating the delivery of the action 

plan.  

 

8 Legal Implications 

 

8.1 The Strategy is the girding by which Cheshire East will provide increasingly 

appropriate specialist accommodation for vulnerable people that drives superior 

outcomes. It is the first, agenda-setting stage of the commissioning cycle that 

will ultimately ensure that vulnerable people are optimally cared for and 

enabled to live independent and vibrant lives in housing tailored to their needs 

and supportive of their specific issues.  

 

8.2 In doing so, the Strategy supports the Council in fulfilling its duties to vulnerable 

people as delineated under legislation including: the Children Act (1989), the 

Children Act (2004), Children Leaving Care Act (2000), Mental Health Act 

(1983), Housing Act (1996), the National Assistance Act (1948), the National 

Health Service and the Community Care Act (1990), the Legal Aid Sentencing 

and Punishment of Offender Act (2012), and the Homelessness Act (2002). 

These items of legislation underpin the Council’s duties and services to 

vulnerable people, which the Strategy is a key component in delivering.  

 

8.3 The legal implications of any project or development that arises as a result of 

the Strategy’s direction will be assessed individually as these initiatives 

progress through the Council’s project management gateways.  

 

9 Risk Management 

 

9.1 There are risks that the Council does not possess an appropriate 

accommodation and service mixture to deliver optimal outcomes for vulnerable 

people. Many accommodation support services report undersupplies, whilst the 

supply of supported and specialist accommodation is frequently unable to 

match demand. Moreover, an overreliance on institutional care within certain 

client groups is heightening costs for self-funders and social services. There is 

therefore a need to construct a strategy for vulnerable people’s accommodation 

to fathom the accommodation landscape and optimise the strategic priorities for 

each vulnerable client group within budgetary possibilities. This will inform the 

Page 32



commissioning and development process to ensure that there is an optimal 

specification of vulnerable people’s accommodation within the Borough. 

 

9.2 There is a risk that different elements of the Authority have different 

approaches to accommodation and relevant support services, as well as 

divergent information on the character and needs of vulnerable client groups. 

As such, the Strategy coordinates and connects the work of Council services 

and wider partners and providers, ensuring a consistent and strategic approach 

to vulnerable people’s accommodation.  

 

9.3 Vulnerable person’s accommodation is complex in nature, involves a large 

number of agencies, and is a deeply emotive and fundamental issue that has 

wide implications across individuals, families, and communities. As such, it is 

vital that affected individuals and agencies have had the opportunity to 

comment on the direction posited in the Strategy, to ensure that the full range 

of opinions, experiences, and knowledge are incorporated. By publically 

consulting on the draft Strategy, the Council has negated the risk of 

implementing a strategic direction that does not properly reflect the range of 

needs and views within the Borough. 

 

9.4 In terms of the risks associated with developing and implementing a new 

strategy, there are a number of associated and inherent risks: 

 

• Momentum, actions, and delivery: As with any strategy, there is a risk that 
strategic direction does not translate into transformative action on the 

ground. This has been mitigated by the creation of a comprehensive action 

plan for each client group with service responsibilities, which will be 

connected to an emergent monitoring framework. Moreover, engagement 

and support has been assured from the relevant services through 

involvement in the construction of the Strategy. Finally, cross-service 

working groups have already been established to explore some of the key 

themes arising from the Strategy, with a delivery group to coordinate 

provision and take the action plan forward.  

 

• Funding for major projects: The development of new specialist housing is 
frequently costly and complex, factors that increasingly delimiting in a time 

of austerity and curtailed public funding. To affect any new developments 

inspired by the Strategy, there will thus be a need to maximise private 

finance through partnership and creatively use public funding and Council-

held assets to leverage and incite development. It is intended that proposals 

will be brought forward to utilise Council-held land for specialist housing. 

 

 

 

Page 33



10 Background and Options 

 

10.1 The Strategy surveys a wide range of evidence and research to determine the 

accommodation needs of vulnerable people, before recommending strategic 

priorities to address these needs. The Strategy stratifies vulnerable people 

into the following eight primary groups, though there are many sub-groups 

and linkages subsumed within and across these:  

 

• Older people 
• Learning disabilities 
• Mental health issues 
• Cared for children/care leavers 
• Drug and alcohol issues 
• Physical and sensory disabilities 
• Domestic abuse 
• Homelessness 
 

10.2 The analysis of available evidence and consultation responses has informed a 

number of priorities for each client group (detailed in the Strategy with their 

rationale). These can be summarised in a number of thematic outcomes that 

cut across all client groups, represented in the Strategy’s overarching policy 

framework. 

 

• Outcome 1: ‘People are supported to live in their own homes independently 
for longer.’ This will be achieved by: 

o Continuing to review and improve care and support services to ensure 

that independent living and reablement is achievable and promoted to as 

many vulnerable people and older people as possible.  

o Promoting the use of assistive technologies and home adaptations to 

remove physical barriers and enable independent living. 

o Building capacity within local communities to support vulnerable and 

older people, maximising autonomy and limiting social isolation. 

• Outcome 2: ‘People can receive the support they need in a wide range of 
specialist, supported accommodation within the Borough.’ This will be 

achieved by: 

o Continuing to refine and appropriately expand the menu of specialist and 

supported housing that caters for vulnerable and older client groups, 

looking to create synergies across groups where appropriate. 

Page 34



o Working with partners to develop new housing models for vulnerable and 

older people, prioritising sheltered and extra care housing as a means of 

promoting independent living. 

o Promote wherever possible a stepped accommodation model that 

enables a transition towards independence through phased options 

mapped to service journeys.  

• Outcome 3: ‘People are able to make informed choices about the 
accommodation, care, and support options within the Cheshire East.’ This 

will be achieved by: 

o Working to achieve comprehensive and consistent intelligence on 

vulnerable and older groups to best inform service commissioning and 

decision-making.  

o Ensuring that accommodation services and advice are accessible, clear, 

and promote future planning and proactive service engagement. 

o Utilising the Vulnerable and Older People’s Housing Strategy as a 

flagship strategy to unite and shape the approach to vulnerable person’s 

accommodation Council services and partner organisations.  

10.3 This emergent Strategy has built upon Cheshire East’s extant work in creating 

a supported housing strategy, produced by consultants Red Quadrant. 

However, the Strategy in its current form greatly expands upon the scope of 

clients, evidence, and detail contained in the previous work. Such expansion 

was considered necessary to capture the complexities of - and overlap 

between - client groups, ensuring a more comprehensive and holistic 

document.  

10.4 The Strategy was constructed through extensive cross-service and pan-

organisational consultation. This provided a crux of key-findings and priorities 

that were then expanded, corroborated, and tested through consultation. A 

consultation event was held in November 2013, attended by Cheshire East 

councillors, Council officers, housing providers, and support service providers. 

The results of this workshop combined with the initial analysis of the evidence 

base combined to form the first draft of the Strategy.  

10.5 The Strategy subsequently went out for a six-week public consultation period 

from March to April 2014, during which local people and organisations were 

invited to comment on the scope, findings, and priorities of the draft Strategy. 

This produced some useful feedback which has been incorporated into the 

final version of the Strategy appended to this report. 

10.6 The following are the key changes that were made to the draft Strategy 

following the public consultation to create the final version: 

Page 35



• The Strategy was deemed to be quite large and complex, and sometimes 
did not chart a clear rationale through each chapter’s sections. In response, 

the arguments have been made more explicit and better emphasised, and 

the ordering of the subsections within the chapters has been changed to 

provide more logical progress and summary. An executive summary has 

been utilised to capture the key messages for each group.  

• The Older Persons chapter was thought to be slightly misleading at times as 
it did not clearly distinguish between the different levels of need covered in 

the chapter. Crucially, not all older people are vulnerable and require 

specialist or supported accommodation. In response, this distinction has 

been more clearly made in the final Strategy and general needs 

accommodation for older people given greater weighting. The title of the 

Strategy has also been revised to ‘Vulnerable and Older People’s Housing 

Strategy’ to emphasise that not all older people are necessarily vulnerable. 

• Access to supported accommodation for people with Mental Health issues 
emerged as a key concern, with demand rising. In response, additional 

research has been conducted concerning the accommodation requirements 

of people with Mental Health issues and the barriers to accommodation 

identified through work the Community Mental Health teams and the 

Housing Options and Homelessness team. This has led to more detailed 

conclusions in that chapter and a bolstered actions plan including the 

creation of a working protocol between Housing and the Community Mental 

Health teams. 

• The ideal model of specialist accommodation for people with Learning 
Disabilities emerged as a key discussion point, with accommodation models 

and terminology queried. In response, the chapter concerning people with 

Learning Disabilities has been clarified with consistent terminology to 

emphasise that the priorities and conclusions align with the views on optimal 

accommodation expressed during consultation.  

• More detailed evidence and conclusions have been sought and included 
surrounding the number of children with learning disabilities, so there is a 

clearer picture of the cohort who may require supported accommodation in 

the future.  

• More accurate evidence was sought and analysed concerning the number 
of property adaptations and equipment interventions utilised for people with 

physical disabilities, in response to observations during the consultation that 

figures quoted did not fully reflect the extent of these services. 

• The chapter concerning Cared for Children and Care Leavers has been 
expanded to include Children in Need. This has been in response to 

Page 36



consultation feedback that a general chapter on children is a more logical 

place for information on homeless young people, rather than its previous 

location under homelessness. Children in Need encompasses those young 

people who present to services with a housing need, rather than just those 

that are already known to the Council by virtue of a parental duty.  

• Where possible, needs analyses have been taken down to a more local 
level to give supply and demand for individual towns rather than, for 

instance, Local Area Partnership (LAP) boundaries. Moreover, spatial 

boundaries have, where possible, been aligned with those of Cheshire 

East’s Local Plan. This makes future planning more specific and 

coordinated.  

• The Drugs and Alcohol chapter has been revised to align with the 
progression of the Drug and Alcohol services recommissioning work. This 

includes augmented evidence and analysis of demand for services and 

accommodation from different areas.  

• Enhanced evidence has been included in the Homelessness chapter to 
better augment the conclusions drawn, and greater clarification has been 

given surrounding the types and stages of accommodation required to 

better cater for this client group.  

 

11 Access to Information 

 

Further information and background papers relating to this report can be 

found by contacting the report writer: 

 

Name: Duncan Whitehead 

Designation: Housing Policy Officer 

Tel No: 01270 685643 

Email: Duncan.whitehead@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

Vulnerable and 
Older People’s 
Housing Strategy 

For vulnerable and older people, an appropriate range of support 
services and specialist housing can be required to realise an 
independent lifestyle. This housing strategy for Cheshire East charts 
the current landscape of vulnerable and older people’s housing within 
the Borough, before using this to inform strategic priorities that will 
shape the commissioning cycle and planning processes. 

May 2014 

Page 39



P a g e  | 2 

 

Table of Contents 
 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................ 4 

 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 12 

Background and Aims ........................................................................................................................... 12 

Scope ..................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Council Duties ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

Vision and Priorities .............................................................................................................................. 15 

Development and Methodology ........................................................................................................... 17 

Content ................................................................................................................................................. 17 

Cross-Cutting Accommodation and Support Services .......................................................................... 18 

Glossary and Definitions ....................................................................................................................... 25 

 

Older People ......................................................................................................................................... 31 

Chapter Summary ................................................................................................................................. 31 

Key Evidence Sources ............................................................................................................................ 32 

Detailed Findings ................................................................................................................................... 33 

Chapter Conclusions ............................................................................................................................. 45 

 

Learning Disabilities ............................................................................................................................. 47 

Chapter Summary ................................................................................................................................. 47 

Key Evidence Sources: ........................................................................................................................... 47 

Detailed Findings:.................................................................................................................................. 48 

Chapter Conclusions ............................................................................................................................. 58 

 

Mental Health Issues ............................................................................................................................ 60 

Chapter Summary ................................................................................................................................. 60 

Key Evidence Sources: ........................................................................................................................... 60 

Detailed Findings ................................................................................................................................... 61 

Chapter Conclusions ............................................................................................................................. 73 

 

 

Page 40



P a g e  | 3 

 

Young People in Need and Cared for Children .................................................................................... 75 

Chapter Summary ................................................................................................................................. 75 

Key Evidence Sources ............................................................................................................................ 75 

Detailed Findings ................................................................................................................................... 76 

Chapter Conclusions ............................................................................................................................. 88 

 

Drug and Alcohol Issues ....................................................................................................................... 90 

Chapter Summary ................................................................................................................................. 90 

Key Evidence Sources ............................................................................................................................ 90 

Detailed Findings ................................................................................................................................... 91 

Chapter Conclusions ........................................................................................................................... 103 

 

Physical and Sensory Disabilities ....................................................................................................... 105 

Chapter Summary ............................................................................................................................... 105 

Key Evidence Sources .......................................................................................................................... 105 

Detailed Findings ................................................................................................................................. 106 

Chapter Conclusions ........................................................................................................................... 117 

 

Domestic Abuse .................................................................................................................................. 119 

Chapter Summary ............................................................................................................................... 119 

Key Evidence Sources .......................................................................................................................... 119 

Detailed Findings ................................................................................................................................. 120 

Chapter Conclusions………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………124 

 

Homelessness ..................................................................................................................................... 131 

Chapter Summary ............................................................................................................................... 131 

Key Evidence Sources .......................................................................................................................... 132 

Detailed Findings ................................................................................................................................. 132 

Chapter Conclusions ........................................................................................................................... 148 

 

Action Plan .......................................................................................................................................... 150 

Appendix One: SHOP Data Tables (Older Persons Specialist Housing Need by MSOA) ..................... 160 

 

Page 41



P a g e  | 4 

 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 

This is Cheshire East’s strategy for vulnerable and older people’s housing. Its principle aims are to: 

 Map the current picture of accommodation supply and demand by client group to baseline a 

picture of vulnerable and older people’s housing within the Borough.  

 Use this information as a basis for developing an optimal model of accommodation and 

support provision across all vulnerable client groups to inform Cheshire East’s 

commissioning cycle.  

 Integrate effective and appropriate housing into a multi-disciplinary and cross-agency 

approach for improving well-being for vulnerable and older people. 

 Provide and incite an evolving evidence base to inform planning decisions and emergent 

policies. 

Scope 

Older and vulnerable people can possess a range of needs that may engender specific housing 

requirements. This strategy seeks to order vulnerable and older people by their primary needs, 

though addresses throughout that there is often substantial cross-over between these groups. The 

strategy covers the following client groups: 

 Older People 

 Learning Disabilities 

 Mental Health Issues 

 Cared for Children and Care Leavers 

 Drug and Alcohol Issues 

 Physical and Sensory Disabilities 

 Domestic Abuse 

 Homelessness 

Findings and Priorities 

The strategy surveys the wealth of information surrounding these client groups and, for the first 

time, consolidates and analyses this in one document. The strategy generates a number of findings 

stemming from analysis of the evidence base, which are then used to inform Cheshire East’s 

accommodation priorities for vulnerable and older people. These priorities are summarised below by 

client group; the detailed reasoning and supporting evidence is contained in the main body of the 

strategy.  

It is important to recognise budgetary efficiency in the pursuit of a more optimal accommodation 

landscape. New development will be sustained wherever possible from within existing revenue 

budgets or through the utilisation of personal budgets. With revenue budgets committed, 

Page 42



P a g e  | 5 

 

accommodation services will have to be decommissioned and recalibrated to fund new ones; this 

will be determined on the basis of effective business cases aligned to the priorities of this strategy. 

Older People 

 Promote the development of general needs accommodation suitable for an ageing 

population, with a greater provision of physically amenable properties (such as bungalows) 

and Lifetime homes required on future development sites in accordance with need. 

 Encourage people to proactively engage with services and plan for their futures whilst their 

needs are low, raising awareness of adaptations and supported living options before 

residents develop substantial care needs and an associated requirement for more intensive 

services or accommodation. This will involve a review of existing information and 

consultation work aimed at people over the age of fifty-five. This preventative approach will 

better equip people to remain in an independent setting for longer.  

 For those with escalating needs, the Council will encourage wherever appropriate the 

transition of older people into specialist supported accommodation, and especially housing 

that enables them to live independently for as long as possible. This will involve a greater 

reliance on and promotion of floating support and care, as well as the creation of a more 

mixed economy of housing. Within this, sheltered and extra care schemes will be promoted 

earlier rather than intensive institutional models, which should be used only for those with 

acute or emergency needs.  

 Address projected undersupplies in intermediate accommodation options for older people, 

prioritising the development and promotion of extra care and sheltered housing schemes 

with partners and, where possible, on Council-owned land. New development will be 

sustained wherever possible from within existing revenue budgets or through the utilisation 

of personal budgets. With revenue budgets committed, accommodation services will have to 

be decommissioned and recalibrated to fund new ones; this will be determined on the basis 

of effective business cases aligned to the priorities of this strategy. 

Learning Disabilities 

 Work as part of the Learning Disabilities Lifecourse project to map appropriate housing 

provision to the stages of a client’s care or treatment journey. 

 Work with providers to rationalise and recalibrate supported accommodation stock and 

tenant compositions within existing budgets, prioritising the creation of independent 

tenancies within flats and bungalows, rather than the current preponderance of shared 

housing. 

 Promote and develop sheltered and extra care housing as options for people with learning 

disabilities, working with partners and reviewing Council-held assets to establish prospective 

development opportunities.  

Page 43



P a g e  | 6 

 

 Target families and young people affected by learning disabilities to plan for the future and 

present to services earlier to receive assistance and support. This will entail support for the 

‘Preparing for Adulthood’ campaign promoted for those with SEN and learning disabilities, 

linking the campaigns outcomes and initiatives into the Council’s pathways for this client 

group. 

Mental Health Issues 

 Look to recalibrate interim and temporary accommodation with adequate support in order 

to ensure that short-term placements for people with mental health issues are viable. This 

ensures clients have somewhere to stay until a settled placement - either in general needs 

accommodation with support or a supported accommodation scheme - is sourced. This links 

with similar requirements raised in the ‘homelessness’ chapter. 

 Work with partners and providers to optimise the supply of supported accommodation for 

people with mental health issues in the Borough, supporting schemes that promise self-

contained tenancies with access to flexible support. Any new development of supported 

accommodation will be sustained wherever possible from within existing revenue budgets or 

through the utilisation of personal budgets. With revenue budgets committed, 

accommodation services will have to be decommissioned and recalibrated to fund new 

ones; this will be determined on the basis of effective business cases aligned to the priorities 

of this strategy. 

 Similarly, the provision of assessment flats will be explored in conjunction with RPs. Such 

provision could be used to adequately gauge the extent of someone’s issues should they 

present as homeless, as interim accommodation whilst settled supported accommodation is 

sought, or as a refuge with more intensive provision to help negotiate a heightened episode 

so that such episodes are not exacerbated or allowed to jeopardise access to 

accommodation or treatment. 

 Produce a revised working protocol between the CMHT and the Housing teams in order to 

better assess and source accommodation for mental health clients. This will entail closer 

working with RPs to accessing more tenancies with floating support or treatment for mental 

health clients, thereby alleviating pressure on supported accommodation schemes.  

 Explore alternative models of accommodation provision for dementia clients, including the 

dementia village model that aims to create a safe environment that maximises 

independence for as long as possible through flexible combinations of accommodation and 

care. 

 Continue to raise awareness about the importance of mental health, promoting 

preventative thought and early intervention and/or presentation. 

 Promote greater assessment for, and use of, assistive technologies for people with 

dementia to ensure that more people can live safely at home for longer.  

Page 44



P a g e  | 7 

 

 Establish a mental health strategic working group to forward these actions and ensure full 

integration of accommodation strategy into a bolstered strategic approach to mental health 

in the Borough, including raising awareness of mental health issues and early intervention. 

Young People in Need and Cared for Children 

 Encourage more foster placements within the Borough to delimit the number of residential 

or agency placements required and the distance children are required to relocate. 

 Work with Cheshire Homechoice and Registered Providers to improve the profile and 

priority of social housing for parents and foster carers, to unlock a greater number of these 

placements. 

 Review the current usage of residential provision for cared for children, exploring the 

capacity and prioritisation of provision within the Borough, and the cost and distance of 

external or agency provision. This will inform a rationalisation of capacity and spend, as well 

as recalibrating the focus of provision to within the Borough. 

 Establish a working group to examine barriers identified in this strategy that can inhibit 

young people and care leavers’ pathway through accommodation, including benefits and the 

kinds of accommodation available.  

 There is a need for a more strategic and market-shaping approach to provision for young 

people in need and especially care leavers. Cheshire East will create an ideal accommodation 

offer for care leavers, incorporating the findings of this strategy. This will assume a ‘step-up, 

step-down’ model, and include a greater provision of dedicated long-term supported 

accommodation for care leavers, taster accommodation, and move-on accommodation for 

those deemed tenancy-ready – including shared housing options. Any new development of 

supported accommodation will be sustained wherever possible from within existing revenue 

budgets or through the utilisation of personal budgets. 

 This will involve further work with Registered Providers to scope delivery possibilities and 

identify general needs stock that can be married to floating support for use by known care 

leavers or young homeless people who are deemed tenancy ready. Such move-on is 

important to reduce high demand pressures on supported accommodation.  

 Work to pool the budgets of Children’s Services and Strategic Housing for emergency 

accommodation and bed services to commission a holistic and improved service.  

 Review protocols for young offenders to ensure that access to housing is optimised. Explore 

options for improved short-term, secure accommodation for young people in custody 

awaiting sentencing.  

Drug and Alcohol Issues 

 Support the on-going drug and alcohol service recommissioning work in engraining a 

recovery-oriented and early-intervention approach to substance abuse services, realising a 

Page 45



P a g e  | 8 

 

vision of mixed and flexible services, including specialist accommodation, which will help 

release individuals from substance dependencies. 

 Work with supported and temporary accommodation providers to ensure they are 

promoting move-on of clients and that routes to permanent accommodation are well sign-

posted. 

 Work to establish a more sophisticated accommodation pathway mapped to the relevant 

stages of clients’ recovery programmes. 

 Utilise this mapping exercise as the basis to develop a revised specification of specialist 

accommodation for individuals with drug and alcohol issues, limiting the need to utilise 

inappropriate housing for this client group. 

 As a first port of call, scope the possibility of specialist accommodation for high-needs 

alcohol clients within the Borough, conducting market analysis to understand best practise 

in this field and constructing a business case to drawn down the prerequisite support costs. 

The need for such ‘wet’ accommodation has been identified as a priority amongst a number 

of service managers across client groups, as a conduit to enable clients to engage with 

recovery programmes and reduce the impact on other services that occurs when people 

with acute substance issues are expelled from abstinence schemes or supported tenancies. 

Physical and Sensory Disabilities 

 Continue to promote adaptations, Care & Repair, and the Handypersons service as widely as 
possible, encouraging more proactive, private adaptations. This will allow adaptations to be 
increasingly used as a preventative measure, lowering the potential dependence on care 
downstream, and will enable more people to ‘future proof’ their homes to enable 
independence in situ. 
 

 Remodel the Care & Repair, Handypersons, and Minor Adaptations services so that they 
develop in-line with the personalisation agenda. 

 

 Continue to promote general accessibility standards through planning processes, to ensure 
that an appropriate portion of new build homes are accessible for the physically disabled 
according to need. 

 

 Continue to promote, review, and support assistive technologies and Telecare services. 
 

 Continue to help disabled people in need of affordable and more accessible accommodation 
through the development of more affordable housing designed for their needs as well as the 
continued prioritisation of this client group in the Homechoice social lettings system 

 

 Improve access to intermediate housing for people with physical disabilities – and especially 
younger people. This will entail exploring the possibility of lowering entry ages into the likes 
of extra care schemes and ensuring physically amenable design standards for supported 
accommodation in the future.  

 
 

Page 46



P a g e  | 9 

 

Domestic Abuse 

 Ensure services and accommodation safeguard and assist people affected by domestic 

abuse, particularly creating pathways for victims into supported accommodation. 

 Develop a single point of access for domestic abuse services to streamline and capture total 

demand and create a more systematic approach to referrals and service provision. 

 Review floating support and accommodation services to ensure that optimal move-on and 

throughput is being achieved.  

 Work towards a consolidation of provision, potentially delivered by a single consortium, 

which will allow for a holistic view of available capacity across a range of providers. 

 Continue to commission refuge provision whilst diversifying the range of such provision to 

better address a spectrum of needs. Through recommissioning work, look to balance the 

provision of communal and dispersed refuges. Explore the possibility of support centres in 

the Borough that provide hubs for services and reablement.  

 Foster more peer support groups across to engage the community in aiding those affected 

by domestic abuse.  

Homelessness 

 Services whose clients are liable to present as homeless can struggle to create suitable 

accommodation compositions on their own given geography and the limited pool of clients 

they have to draw upon. Services should therefore take a holistic, partnership approach to 

placements, where possible creating cohorts across services to find suitable compositions 

and create efficiencies in how placements and tenancies are sourced. 

 Improve the access to, and supportiveness of, temporary accommodation, broadening the 

options available to a range of needs and simultaneously reducing the reliance on bed and 

breakfast provision. This will include specialist provision for those with complex or high 

needs, a greater supply of instant-access interim accommodation especially in the South of 

the Borough, and greater support going into temporary accommodation. Interim and 

temporary accommodation should be better supported to enable the well-being and safety 

of those residing within it, with a degree of support available to residents to ensure that 

clients leave temporary accommodation ready to transition into a permanent or supported 

tenancy. 

 Improve the supply of, and access to, supported accommodation placements for homeless 

clients. Supported accommodation should prioritise those with complex needs who cannot 

yet move-on into general needs tenancy. This will help alleviate the pressure on interim and 

temporary accommodation to house those with complex needs (whose average stays are 

longer), freeing it up for lower-needs clients for whom it is a stop-gap en route to settled 

housing. This requires a recalibration of supported accommodation stock within existing 

Page 47



P a g e  | 10 

 

budgets to ensure that supply and support is focused optimally at the accommodation entry-

points in the service journeys of homeless clients.  

 Continue work enabling homeless clients to transition into permanent or supported 

accommodation from interim or temporary accommodation. Homeless clients will continue 

to be prioritised within the Homechoice social lettings policy, and the private sector liaison 

officers will continue to source appropriate move-on in the private rented sector. In each 

accommodation route, wrap-around support services will be brokered where possible to 

ensure that more clients can be safely accommodated by housing providers.  

Policy Framework 

The strategy coordinates these priorities into a policy framework, which cuts across all client groups 

and underpins the Council’s intentions and desired outcomes, as well as the strategy’s action plan.  

 Outcome 1: ‘People are supported to live in their own homes independently for longer.’ 

This will be achieved by: 

o Continuing to review and improve care and support services to ensure that 

independent living and reablement is achievable and promoted to as many vulnerable 

people and older people as possible.  

o Promoting the use of assistive technologies and home adaptations to remove physical 

barriers and enable independent living. 

o Building capacity within local communities to support vulnerable and older people, 

maximising autonomy and limiting social isolation. 

 Outcome 2: ‘People can receive the support they need in a wide range of specialist, 

supported accommodation within the Borough.’ This will be achieved by: 

o Continuing to refine and appropriately adapt the menu of specialist and supported 

housing that caters for vulnerable and older client groups, looking to create synergies 

across groups where appropriate. 

o Working with partners to develop new housing models for vulnerable and older 

people, prioritising sheltered and extra care housing as a means of promoting 

independent living. 

o Promote wherever possible a stepped accommodation model that enables a planned 

transition towards independence through phased options mapped to service journeys.  

 Outcome 3: ‘People are able to make informed choices about the accommodation, care, 

and support options within the Cheshire East.’ This will be achieved by: 

o Working to achieve comprehensive and consistent intelligence on vulnerable and 

older groups to best inform service commissioning and decision-making.  

Page 48



P a g e  | 11 

 

o Ensuring that accommodation services and advice are accessible, clear, and promote 

future planning and proactive service engagement. 

o Utilising the Vulnerable and Older People’s Housing Strategy as a flagship strategy to 

unite and shape the approach to vulnerable person’s accommodation Council services 

and partner organisations.  

  

Page 49



P a g e  | 12 

 

Introduction 

Background and Aims 

Housing is a cornerstone of life, providing safety and security whilst concomitantly improving well-

being, health, and prospects. This is especially true for vulnerable and older people, for whom an 

appropriate range of support services and bespoke housing can be required to achieve independent 

living.  

This is Cheshire East’s strategy for vulnerable and older people’s housing. Its principle aim is to set 

the priorities, direction, and actions designed to improve the performance and choice of housing and 

related accommodation services for vulnerable and older people. It looks to achieve this aim by: 

 Mapping the current picture of accommodation supply and demand by client group to 

baseline a picture of vulnerable and older people’s housing within the Borough.  

 Using this information as a basis for developing an optimal model of accommodation and 

support provision across all vulnerable client groups to inform Cheshire East’s 

commissioning cycle.  

 Integrating effective and appropriate housing into a multi-disciplinary and cross-agency 

approach for improving well-being for vulnerable and older people. 

 Providing and inciting an evolving evidence base to inform planning decisions and emergent 

policies. 

The strategy is a priority within Cheshire East’s three year plan. It is a delivery action to realise 

Priority 5: Securing housing that is locally-led, community-based, and that meets local needs. This 

priority in turn informs the fifth of Cheshire East’s five strategic outcomes for the Borough: People 

live well and for longer. 

The findings and priorities described within the strategy materialise in a number of ways. Firstly, the 

strategy serves as the starting point and evidence base for the service commissioning cycle: it 

reviews the current accommodation and support service provision within Cheshire East to identify 

priorities for the future; these are then taken forward as actions to ultimately create future 

commissioning specifications for accommodation and support services. 

Moreover, the strategy will serve as an evidence base to inform the assessment of planning 

decisions. Its findings will be captured in supplementary planning documentation to augment the 

Cheshire East Local Plan, ensuring that the future physical development of accommodation for 

vulnerable and older people accords with the needs identified in this strategy and subsequent 

commissioning specifications.  

 

 

 

Vulnerable Persons Housing 

Strategy: 

What CEC wants to achieve 

and why. 

Revised service  and planning 

policies: 

How CEC are going to achieve 

this in detail. 

Revised commissioning 

specification: 

What CEC have to purchase 

and develop to meet needs. 

Page 50



P a g e  | 13 

 

Scope 

Older and vulnerable people can possess a range of needs that may engender specific housing 

requirements. This strategy seeks to order vulnerable and older people by their primary needs, 

though addresses throughout that there is often substantial cross-over between these groups. The 

strategy covers the following client groups: 

 Older People 

 Learning Disabilities 

 Mental Health Issues 

 Cared for Children and Care Leavers 

 Drug and Alcohol Issues 

 Physical and Sensory Disabilities 

 Domestic Abuse 

 Homelessness 

Whilst the strategy is principally concerned with accommodation provision, it is important to 

recognise that this frequently is only a part of the solution, with vulnerable and older people 

requiring a coordinated response from a number of agencies through a range of support services. As 

such, the strategy looks to place housing for each client group in its policy, commissioning, and 

service context to best demonstrate the role housing has to play within a matrix of care and support 

that is unique to each client group.  

Finally, the strategy recognises the spectrum of needs that are encountered throughout vulnerable 

groups and older people, meaning a range of accommodation and service combinations can be 

required for different clients at different times. This spectrum is broadly summarised below.  

 

 

High Needs: intensive 
care/support or specialist 
accommodation required 

to live safely due 
heightened needs or 
chaotic behaviours 

Medium Needs: some degree of 
support or care required to live 
safely, but generally capable of 
independent living with some . 

Low Needs: may possess low-level needs or have 
alternative support methods (such as family 

carers) in place. May not currently be vulnerable 
but at risk of escalating needs.  

Fr
e

q
u

en
cy

 

Most commonly located in institutional or high-
tensity supported accommodation with 

ubiquitous care or support services. May be 
accommodated in intermediate 

accommodation (extra care or sheltered 
housing).   

Typically living in intermediate 
or temporary supported 

accommodation with some 
support or care services. 

Possibly living at home with 
adaptations or assitive 

technologies. 

May want to plan for 
the future, considering 

downsizing, or 
supporyed and 
intermediate 

accommodation options 
to ensure continued 

independence. 

C
o

st
 

Page 51



P a g e  | 14 

 

Council Duties 

In doing so, the Strategy supports the Council in fulfilling its duties to vulnerable and older people as 

delineated under legislation including: 

 The Children Act (1989) 

 The  Children Act (2004) 

 Children Leaving Care Act (2000) 

 Mental Health Act (1986) 

 Housing Act (1996) 

 The National Assistance Act (1948) 

 The National Health Service and the Community Care Act (1990)  

 The Homelessness Act (2002) 

 The Legal Aid Sentencing and Punishment of Offender Act (2012) 

These items of legislation underpin the Council’s duties and services to vulnerable and older people, 

which the Strategy is a key component in fulfilling.  

 

  

Page 52



P a g e  | 15 

 

VOPHS Outcome 1 

People are supported to live 

in their own homes 

independently for longer. 

 

VOPHS Outcome 2 

People can receive the 

support they need in a wide 

range of specialist, 

supported accommodation 

within the Borough. 

 

VOPHS Outcome 3 

People are able to make 

informed choices about the 

accommodation, care, and 

support options within 

Cheshire East.  

 

National Strategic Links 

 Laying the Foundations: A Housing Strategy 
for England 

 Lifetime Homes: Lifetime Neighbourhoods 

 Care Bill  No Health Without Mental Health 

 Care Leaver Strategy (2013)  Alcohol (2012) and Drug (2010) Strategies 

 

Local Strategic Links 

 ‘Moving Forward’ CEC Housing Strategy  

 Cheshire East Three Year Plan – Outcome 5: People live well and for longer 

 ‘Ageing Well in Cheshire East’ 

 Cheshire East Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

 Cheshire East Learning Disability Lifecourse Project 

 Cheshire East Placement Sufficiency Statement for Cared for Children 

 The Future of Cheshire East Drug & Alcohol Services- Service Recommissioning 

 DAFSU Annual Report 2012/13 

 Cheshire East Homelessness Strategy 

 Joint Dementia Commissioning Workplan 

  

Vision and Priorities 

The goals and actions of the strategy are held within a ‘Policy Framework’. The Framework has three 

high-level outcomes for accommodation in the Borough, which are intrinsically connected to a range 

of strategic priorities emanating from national directives and Cheshire East’s strategic and service 

initiatives. These are charted below. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



P a g e  | 16 

 

VOPHS Outcome 2 

People can receive the 

support they need in a wide 

range of specialist, 

supported accommodation 

within the Borough. 

 

VOPHS Outcome 3 

People are able to make 

informed choices about the 

accommodation, care, and 

support options within 

Cheshire East.  

 

Each outcome has a number of policy priorities attached to it. These are the housing priorities for 

vulnerable and older people that sit beneath each wider outcome. Each action emerging from this 

strategy is designed to realise one or more of these priorities.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

VOPHS Outcome 1 

People are supported to live 

in their own homes 

independently for longer. 

 

VOPHS 1: Continue to review and improve care and support services 

to ensure that independent living and reablement is achievable and 

promoted to as many vulnerable and older people as possible. 

VOPHS 2: Promote the use of assistive technologies and home 

adaptations to remove physical barriers and enable independent 

living. 

VOPHS 3: Build capacity within local communities to support 

vulnerable and older people, maximising autonomy and limiting 

social isolation. 

VOPHS 4: Continue to refine and appropriately adapt the menu of 

specialist and supported housing for vulnerable and older client 

groups, looking to create synergies across groups as appropriate. 

VOPHS 5: Working with partners to develop new housing models for 

vulnerable and older people, prioritising sheltered and extra care 

housing as a means of promoting independent living. 

 VOPHS 6: Promote wherever possible a stepped accommodation 

model that enables a planned transition towards independence 

through phased options mapped to service journeys.  

VOPHS 7: Work to achieve comprehensive and consistent intelligence 

on vulnerable and older groups to best inform service commissioning 

and decision-making.  

VOPHS 8: Ensure that accommodation services and advice are 

accessible, clear, and promote future planning and proactive service 

engagement. 

 
VOPHS 9: Utilise the VOPHS as a flagship strategy to unite and shape 

the approach to vulnerable and older people’s accommodation 

across Council services and partner organisations.  

 

Page 54



P a g e  | 17 

 

Development and Methodology 

The strategy has served as a unique and innovative piece of work, bringing together for the first time 

comprehensive strategic, service, and consultation findings from housing, adults’ services, and 

children’s services to deliver a complete assessment of the accommodation landscape. Its 

completion is a testament to the commitment across the Council and its partners to work together 

to deliver holistic solutions for vulnerable and older people. The strategy will continue to inform and 

catalyse specific commissioning and strategic work within the represented services.  

The strategy builds upon Cheshire East’s extant supported housing strategy, produced by Red 

Quadrant, expanding upon the remit and client groups contained in the previous work. Such 

expansion was considered necessary to capture the subtle distinction, detail, and overlap between 

client groups, ensuring a more comprehensive and holistic strategy.  

The strategy was constructed through extensive cross-service and pan-organisational consultation. 

This provided a crux of key-findings and priorities that were then expanded, corroborated, and 

tested through consultation. A consultation event was held in November 2013, attended by Cheshire 

East councillors, commissioners, housing providers, and support service providers. Feedback from 

this event informed the strategy, along with the responses received as part of the six-week public 

consultation held between March and April 2014, where people were asked to comment on an 

initial draft of the strategy. The key messages that emerged from all aspects of the strategy’s 

consultation are summarised in each chapter under ‘consultation response’, and shape the nature of 

each chapter. 

Content 

Each chapter contains a wealth of detailed information and analysis, which provides the evidence 

base to inform the priorities and actions emerging from the strategy. To chart a route through this 

information, each chapter follows a basic structural template. 

 A chapter summary provides background on the client group and a summary of the 

following findings. 

 A list of key evidence sources is provided as a one-stop compilation of references. 

 The bulk of the chapter is stratified under ‘Detailed Evidence’ which charts all the relevant 

data and the rationale behind the key findings and strategic priorities. Each ‘Detailed 

Findings’ section encompasses subsections on supply and demand, which form the 

cornerstones of housing assessment. 

 Each chapter finishes with a ‘Chapter Conclusions’ section which summarises the findings of 

the chapter and Cheshire East’s priorities that have emerged from these.  

 The strategy concludes with the action plan covering all client groups. Each action is linked 

back to the relevant strategic priorities as contained in the policy framework, thereby 

making each action explicitly relevant to the strategy’s primary outcomes. 

Page 55



P a g e  | 18 

 

Cross-Cutting Accommodation and Support Services 

There is a core of accommodation and support services that are available in Cheshire East to aid any 

vulnerable individuals and older people with support needs. Moreover, there are a range of generic 

housing services that can help provide information, assistance, and support that can also be drawn 

upon by the client groups served by this strategy.  

Such services frequently provide the basis of an individual’s care or support package, which are then 

augmented depending upon the severity or changing nature of their needs. As such, they frequently 

act as the first point of access for vulnerable people. Such services are therefore effective as early 

intervention and prevention mechanisms, providing lower levels of support that may halt the 

escalation of a client’s condition or need. These services fundamentally reflect the same impulses 

that inform this strategy as a whole: the facilitation of appropriate independent living through the 

fostering of appropriate accommodation, care conditions, and skills.  

This strategy therefore continues to champion these services, recommends their continued review 

and refinement, and exhorts clients to present as soon as possible so their needs can be addressed 

by generic services where possible. Such an approach not only enables a proactive response to the 

needs of vulnerable people, but can create efficiencies in the provision of services, as individuals can 

be aided through generic rather than intensive, specialised services.  

Information and Advice Services 

Cheshire East operates a Housing Options services which is a single point of contact for all housing-

related advice and information. Housing Options will advise clients on homelessness, renting 

property from the social housing register or the private market, how to make living in their own 

homes more sustainable, and how to negotiate relationship breakdown, as well as providing 

appropriate referrals onto the relevant support and care services, including social care if required. 

Therefore, Housing Options is a crucial entry-point for all housing needs, which aids general needs 

clients and vulnerable people alike. Housing Options are supported by the suite of information 

available publically on the Cheshire East website.  

Community Equipment Service 

When people have difficulties with their mobility due to old age or a long term condition, 

appropriate equipment around the house can enable them to remain in their own homes and 

continue living as normal and safe a life as possible. This equipment can range from toilet seats to 

hoists to wheelchairs. The Community Equipment Service provides equipment free of charge 

irrespective of income or capital. The service can also deliver minor adaptations at a cost of less than 

£1,000 free of charge, such as installation of grab-rails. Where an adaptation costing over £1000 is 

required, the client is referred to apply for a Disabled Facilities Grant. 

Disabled Facilities Grants 

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) are designed to aid housing tenants or owner-occupiers with 

adaptations necessitated by the physical disability of an occupant. DFGs are administered by the 

local authority and are means tested.  Nationally, 70% of the grants are made to people over 60. The 

Page 56



P a g e  | 19 

 

adaptations concern more substantial projects than those covered by the Community Equipment 

Service, and can range from the installation of a walk-in shower or lift, through to adding additional 

ground-floor living space to a property.  

Both Disabled Facilities Grants and the Community Equipment Service are covered in greater detail, 

and in the Cheshire East context, in the ‘Physical and Sensory Disabilities’ chapter. 

Telecare 

Telecare and other assistive technologies offer cost-effective and ambient management of many 

common risks for vulnerable and older people, and can serve as a key means of managing needs 

independently within the home, minimising the risks to vulnerable and older people with low-level 

needs and negating care emergencies that can necessitate more intensive models of care provision. 

Telecare includes pendant alarms, fall detectors, smoke detectors, gas shut-off valves, pressure 

sensors, and door sensors. The equipment detects a problem - or the user activates it to report a 

problem - and a monitoring centre will call to the service user and/or identified carers to find out 

more and summon emergency help if necessary. Telecare is therefore a critical component in 

delivering increasingly complex care in independent settings utilising technological advances. It can 

help clients feel safe in their own homes and reduce the reliance on more intensive home care 

packages or a migration to institutional care. Telecare is brokered via social care for those assessed 

as having substantial needs and critical needs in accordance with FACs criteria. There are also 

providers in the private and social housing sectors who can help individuals to broker privately-

commissioned solutions.  

Supporting People 

Introduction 

The Supporting People programme funds a range of housing support services. Services are tailored 
to a variety of vulnerable client groups (including older people with support needs) and are divided 
into floating support services and accommodation services. Individual analysis of the Supporting 
People services catering for each client group is contained in the relevant chapters, but we will here 
look at an overview of the services provided, their nature, benefits, and constitution. 

Services are free at the point of delivery and cater for vulnerable clients who are not eligible for 

social care but have lower-level support needs, and are designed to help people access and maintain 

appropriate accommodation. Critically, these services are designated as ‘support’ services as they 

provide no element of care. Rather these services generally provide the following kinds of support: 

 Engendering the skills to set up and retain a home and/or tenancy  

 Managing finances, debt advice and applying for benefits  

 Gaining access to other services  

 Establishing social contacts and activities  

 Supervising and monitoring of health, wellbeing and medication. 

Accommodation services are a means of providing supported housing. This encompasses any service 
where housing and support are provided by the landlord or organisation in a fixed location: the 
support is offered at a specific property like a hostel or supported housing scheme. Accommodation 

Page 57



P a g e  | 20 

 

support by virtue targets those who do not otherwise have access to a tenancy, potentially because 
they have been evicted, will be evicted, or are struggling to access accommodation due to their 
vulnerability issues and associated behaviours. The goal of accommodation services is to ultimately 
equip clients with the support and skills to transition back into the community in an independent 
tenancy, where they may be further assisted by floating support services.  

Floating support services can be delivered wherever a client lives within Cheshire East. Once an 
individual has been enabled to live independently, the service can be offered to someone else. 
Floating support providers help those who want help to settle in and better manage their lives 
whether they currently live in private rented housing, social housing, or own their own homes. 
Floating support thus serves two chief functions: it acts as a vital preventative measure in helping 
those with a tenancy to sustain it before their needs escalate, they become unsafe at home, or their 
behaviours result in a loss of tenancy, and it allows those who are transitioning back into 
independent accommodation after a period of more intensive care or support to effectively 
reintegrate in the long term. 

Benefits 

As such, the efficacy and importance of these services is manifold within the context of this strategy. 
Firstly, they act preventatively to address the needs of vulnerable people before they escalate. This 
could entail low-level assistance for an elderly person that will enable them to remain safely at 
home, preventing the escalation of risk that could result in a later presentation to social care; or it 
could mean helping a drug user to better manage their issue and avoid being evicted by their 
landlord.  

Moreover, they help sustain the recovery of individuals leaving care or more intensive support 
environments, enabling them to effectively transition back into independent living and bridging the 
crucial skills and experience gap that often delimits reintegration and raises the likelihood of 
representation to multiple services. This could mean equipping a recovering mental health patient 
with the skills to live independently after a lengthy recovery pathway, preventing relapses and 
ensuring that the details of managing a tenancy at not insurmountable.  

These effects are vital in reducing pressure on specialist accommodation and associated services, by 
helping limit the initial number of presentations and the number of representations once clients 
have transitioned back into independent living, compounding the salubrious effects of the service 
journey. Research has quantified these beneficial effects of support services. The Department of 
Communities and Local Government estimates that Supporting People services nationally save £3.41 
billion for the client groups considered for an investment of £1.61 billion. The greatest savings that 
are realised through Supporting People can be found within the domestic abuse, drug and alcohol, 
homeless, learning disabilities, mental health, and older people client groups, as per the below table.  

Client group Cost (£m) Net financial benefit (£m) 

People with alcohol problems (20.7) 92.0  

Women at risk of domestic violence (68.8) 186.9  

People with drug problems (30.1) 157.8  

Homeless families with support needs – settled 
accommodation 

(32.5) (0.5) 

Homeless families with support needs – temporary 
accommodation 

(17.5) 28.5  

Page 58



P a g e  | 21 

 

Single homeless with support needs – settled 
accommodation 

(130.1) 30.7  

Single homeless with support needs – temporary 
accommodation 

(106.7) 97.0  

People with learning disabilities (369.4) 711.3  

People with mental health problems (254.4) 559.7  

Offenders or people at risk of offending, and 
mentally disordered offenders 

(55.4) 40.3  

Older people in sheltered accommodation (198.2) 646.9  

Older people in very sheltered accommodation (32.4) 123.4  

Older people receiving floating support and other 
older people 

(97.3) 628.0  

People with a physical or sensory disability (28.4) 73.3  

Teenage parents (24.9) (18.3) 

Young people at risk – settled accommodation (94.9) 26.6  

Young people at risk – temporary accommodation (38.1) 26.7  

Young people leaving care (12.7) (0.7) 

Total (1,612.4)  3,409.4  

Source: Department of Communities and Local Government, Research into the Financial Benefits of 
Supporting People (2009) 

The research also suggests the savings that can be made across associated services through the 
utilisation of Supporting People services, summarised below. This suggests that the effective 
provision of support services is effective in reducing the escalation of need, reducing the cost of 
residential care, health care, homelessness, and crime. 

Service Area Cost of SP Services (and associated costs) 

Cost of providing SP services 1612.4 

Housing costs 596.1 

Social services costs 407.7 

Benefits and related services 213.8 

Other services 43.8 

Total Costs 2873.8 

Residential care package 5408.7 

Homelessness 95 

Tenancy failure costs 50.7 

Health service costs 315.2 

Crime costs 413.6 

Total of benefits 6283.2 

Overall net benefit 3409.4 

Source: Department of Communities and Local Government, Research into the Financial Benefits of 
Supporting People (2009) 

At a local level, utilising the Cap Gemini assessment model, it is predicted that Cheshire East saves 
£17,982,505 per year through the provision of Supporting People services. This is expanded upon in 
the below table. 

Page 59



Primary Client Group  Net 

Financial 

Benefit  

Total 

Units 

  SP Average 

Unit Cost 

Financial 

Benefit per Unit 

Available 

 SP Annual 

Cost 

Annual 

Financial 

Benefit 

All Client Groups (Average) £2.43 5927  £89.15 £216.63  £7,400,208 £17,982,505 

         
Homeless Families with Support Needs £0.00 28   £91.59 £0.00  £137,181 £0.00 

Offenders or People at risk of Offending £1.00 63   £113.10 £113.10  £157,244 £157,244 

Older people with support needs £4.50 4833   £12.83  £57.74  £1,461,216 £6,575,472 

People with a Physical Disability £0.00 20   £33.09 £0.00  £143,612 £0.00 

People with Drug & Alcohol Problems £4.00 52   £54.75 £219.00  £142,161 £568,644 

People with Learning Disabilities £1.11 379   £136.06 £151.03  £2,649,485 £2,940,928 

People with Mental Health Problems £4.50 187   £106.91 £481.10  £762,073 £3,429,329 

Single Homeless with Support Needs £0.33 190   £114.31 £37.72  £1,086,716 £358,616 

Teenage Parents -£1.00 30   £140.15 -£140.15  £128,174 -£128,174 

Women at Risk of Domestic Violence £4.00 103   £126.64 £506.56  £628,215 £2,512,860 

Young People at Risk £1.00 42   £51.19 £51.19  £104,131 £104,131 

Source: Cap Gemini Supporting People Toolkit (Data inputted from October 2013)

P
age 60



Capacity and Constitution 

Supporting People services (both accommodation services and floating support) for various 

vulnerable client groups, with their respective capacities, are summarised below.  

Client Group Supporting People Accommodation Services Supply 2013 

Short Term Long Term Total 

Older People 0 4193 4193 

Learning Disability 0 187 187 

Physical Disability 0 0 0 

Mental Health 11 76 87 

Homeless 171 0 171 

Drug & Alcohol 16 0 16 

Domestic Abuse 19 0 19 

Total 217 4456 4673 

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 

Client Group Supporting People Floating Services Supply 2013 

North South Total 

Older People 20 20 40 

Learning Disability 96 96 192 

Physical Disability 10 10 20 

Mental Health 50 50 100 

Homeless 93 93 186 

Drug & Alcohol 20 16 36 

Domestic Abuse 39 45 84 

Young People/Care Leavers 15 15 30 

Total 343 345 688 

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 

Floating support by nature has a wide range, and capacity is split largely equally between the north 

and south of the Borough.  

Accommodation services are split between short and long term supported accommodation. The goal 

of accommodation services is to ensure individuals achieve independent living. As such, short term 

accommodation is principally targeted at clients groups who are unable to access or maintain 

independent living, and is designed to impart the skills and support required for them to achieve 

effective move-on. For these groups, a concerted period of support, assistance, or redirection can 

deliver the desired outcomes.  

Longer term supported accommodation is designed to support vulnerable individuals to maintain 

independent living. It is therefore targeted at those groups who require a constant (if low-level) 

degree of support to live safely outside of a care scheme. For instance, many older, frail people or 

those with a learning disability can live longer in an independent setting through the provision of a 

low-level of on-going support, staving off any escalation of condition and the need for more 

intensive forms of care or accommodation. Such support is provided in supported accommodation 

through wardens (fixed or floating), adaptations and telecare, and social support from similar 

people.   

Page 61



P a g e  | 24 

 

The following table summarises Supporting People services by type across all client groups. This data 

suggests that the most prevalent kinds of service are long and short term accommodation-based 

services and short term floating support. However, short term accommodation-based services with 

floating support, as well as long term floating support, are poorly represented. These models 

represent the ‘floating warden’ style of provision, whereby there is not fixed accommodation-based 

support for individuals, but rather floating support that makes regular calls or arrives in a crisis. Such 

provision promises to offer a more flexible model of service provision, whereby vulnerable 

individuals in need of low-level on-going support can be assisted in their original homes rather than 

being relocated, and a more efficient service, whereby ubiquitous, fixed wardens need not be 

funded for every block of supported accommodation but rather float between many.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Such issues will be addressed in the review of the Supporting People programme to optimise and 

improve provision; this is expected to be completed in 2016. The data cited in this strategy has been 

drawn from the initial intelligence-gathering stage of the review. Next, service user consultation will 

take place to establish views before commissioning proposals and specifications are drawn up. The 

review will chiefly consider the model and distribution of services across client groups. The findings 

of this strategy will inform this review, and the review remains a primary on-going initiative within 

this strategy, given the importance of support services to vulnerable people. 

Supporting People Priorities 

 Continue to deliver support services designed to develop practical life skills, improve access to 

education and training, assist in finding work, access further services, manage household and 

personal budgets, and maintain a tenancy. 

 Complete recommissioning work to ensure service optimisation by 2016, continuing needs 

analysis, consulting service users, and designing proposals. 

Service Type 2012/13 2013/14 

Long Term Accommodation Based Service 47% 47% 

Short Term Floating Support Service 25% 20% 

Short Term Accommodation Based Service 12% 16% 

Community or Social Alarm Service 11% 13% 

Short Term Accommodation Based with Floating 3% 2% 

Long Term Floating Support Service 1% 1% 

HIA & Handyperson 1% 1% 

Total 100% 100% 

Page 62



P a g e  | 25 

 

 Ensure providers encourage move-on from services into independent lives and settled 

tenancies. 

 Commission greater levels of floating, rather than fixed, support services to wrap around 

individuals. 

 Improve the use of assistive technologies to reduce the need for fixed wardens and communal 

supported accommodation.  

Glossary and Definitions 

Glossary of Abbreviations 

Abbreviation Title/Definition 

Care4CE Cheshire East’s internal, care-providing arm 

CEDAP Cheshire East Domestic Abuse Partnership 

CWA Cheshire Without Abuse 

CWP Cheshire and Wirral Partnership 

DAAT Drug and Alcohol Action Team 

DAFSU Domestic Abuse Family Safety Unit 

DCLG Department of Communities and Local Government 

DFG Disabled Facilities Grant 

HA Housing Association 

HAPPI Housing our Ageing Population: Plan for Implementation 

IDVA Independent Domestic Violence Advisory service 

IFA Independent Fostering Agencies 

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

LA Local Authority 

LAP Local Area Partnership 

LD Learning Disability 

LEP Local Enterprise Partnership 

Page 63



P a g e  | 26 

 

LSAO Lower Layer Super Output Area 

MARAC Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference 

NATMS National Alcohol Treatment Monitoring Service 

NDTMS National Drug Treatment Monitoring Service 

NEET Not in Education Employment and Training 

NSNO Not Second Night Out 

OCU Opiate or Crack User 

ONS Office National Statistics 

PANSI Projecting Adult Needs and Service Information 

PCT Primary Care Trust 

POPPI Projecting Older People Population Information 

PFI Private Finance Initiative 

RP Registered Provider 

SP Supporting People 

SPA Single Point of Access 

SHMA Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

SHOP Strategic Housing for Older People 

StAR Stepped Approach to Recovery  

SWEP Severe Weather Emergency Protocols  

 

  

Page 64



P a g e  | 27 

 

Key Definitions 

Throughout the strategy, there are a number of key terms that reappear and frame discussion. Given 

the complex (and frequently overlapping) nature of the supported accommodation landscape and 

lexicon, it is important to outline what is meant by these terms in the eyes of Cheshire East and in 

the context of this strategy. 

Domiciliary Care/Care at Home 

These terms are used interchangeably to denote the provision of care in a client’s home. They imply 

that care is being provided by social services, enabling an individual to remain in their own home 

rather than having to relocate to a supported housing or institutional care scheme to receive care 

alongside others. Here it is important to demarcate the difference between care and support: care 

implies the physical manipulation of a client for therapeutic and assistive purposes, and is the sole 

remit of social services. Support can also be delivered in the home, but relates to advice, skills 

coaching, companionship, and monitoring of health; it does not involve physical manipulation and 

focuses on imparting the skills and support network required for someone to live independently.  

Extra Care 

Extra care schemes relate to a concentrated or dispersed housing community constituted of 

independent residencies of variable tenure with the availability of 24 hour care and support for 

tenants. These elements are augmented with a host of communal facilities and amenities (which 

could include a library, shop, hairdressers, restaurant, or IT suite) which ensure there are 

opportunities to engage in a range of activities, promoting wellbeing and participation within the 

community.  Extra care schemes can cater across all need levels, but are at their most effective in 

providing those with moderate to high needs with an independent lifestyle they may not otherwise 

have access to. The below is Cheshire East’s definition of extra care housing.  

Extra care in Cheshire East is based on a number of principles: 

 Extra care tenants are living in their own home, with their own front door – not in an 
institutional care home. They rent or own this property.  

 Tenants receive care tailored to their circumstances that can be adapted to meet changing 
needs.  

 Tenants have access to a range of amenities and services delivered conveniently within a 
familiar locality.  

 The schemes promote and impart the skills and circumstances to enable independent living.  

 They have a physical environment that is accessible and adapted for those with disabilities, 
using technology to enable these individuals to live independently.  

 They foster a diverse and vibrant community across tenures and needs, encouraging 
participatory, communal lifestyles through a range of ancillary services and functions. 

 
Extra care in Cheshire East will accord to a set of minimum standards: 

 Self-contained flats with facilities and spaces tailored for those with disabilities, which 
support and enable independent living and the delivery of care and support services.  

 Staff facilities enabling 24 hour staff availability, including office and sleep-over spaces.  

 Shared spaces and access points that are amenable to disabilities and aid residents’ mobility.  

Page 65



P a g e  | 28 

 

 Communal facilities, lounges, dining, and day rooms that promote community participation 
and sociability.   

 Guest facilities. 

 A range of staff on site to both maintain the building and manage the delivery of care and 
support services in accordance with individuals’ needs.  
 

Extra care in Cheshire East will ultimately aim to: 

 Promote and maintain independence and choice for older people regarding their housing, 
support and care.  

 Provide a long-term housing option that provides care and support in an independent 
setting.  

 Furnish an attractive intermediate housing option that will prevent inappropriate admissions 
into hospital or residential care, or unsafe stays in general needs housing.  

 Lower costs to individuals and public bodies by supporting a smooth transition through 
specialist housing and limiting the escalation of care needs or arrival at a ‘care crisis’ born of 
inappropriate housing.  

 
Independent Living 

Independent living is one of the key outcomes in Cheshire East’s services for vulnerable and older 

people. It relates to an accommodation scenario within the community, rather than in institutional 

or constant care. The underlying premise is that, in an independent scenario, a client has maximum 

agency and choice in terms of their accommodation, living, and social arrangements. This does not 

mean independence from some care or support services: these services, delivered in the right 

contexts and quantities, can enable individuals to live safely outside of intensive care settings. An 

independent living scenario could, for instance, be a sheltered housing scheme where the individual 

has complete privacy in a separate flat and agency in their lives and interactions, but receives some 

support services to ensure that they take their medication or pay their rent.  

Institutional Care 

Institutional care is seen as the antithesis of independent living: it is the umbrella term for 

residential or nursing care homes, which are the most intensive forms of accommodation with care. 

Institutional care involves constant access to staff, and is therefore best suited to those with acute 

needs who cannot live safely on their own, need constant medical attention, or require intensive 

help with everyday tasks. Institutional care is increasingly becoming stigmatised both in terms of 

client perception and service priorities: it is intensive and expensive for users and social services, and 

can reduce quality of life and curtail independence if used inappropriately. However, it is important 

to recognise that institutional care has an important role to play on a care spectrum, catering for 

those with high or complex needs. Cheshire East aspires to see institutional care used appropriately 

in this manner, catering for only the very peak of the care spectrum, with independent living options 

utilised as a first-position in all other cases. 

Nursing Care 

Nursing Care is the highest intensity of care provision available and falls under the banner of 

institutional care. It is designed for those who need constant medical attention as well as ubiquitous 

Page 66



P a g e  | 29 

 

help with everyday activities. They are distinguished from residential care homes by their medical 

focus. 

Reablement 

Reablement can be used as a general term to encompass services that enable vulnerable and older 

people to live independently – often despite substantial needs. Reablement entails utilising support 

mechanisms and appropriate accommodation to allow vulnerable and older people to overcome 

their issues and maximise their independence or agency. Such an approach is particularly effective in 

managing critical or emergency issues, stopping them intensifying through early intervention and 

preventing any dependent behaviours developing. It implies engaging vulnerable and older people in 

helping themselves and managing their own conditions through measured intercession, rather than 

relying on intensive or total intervention as a first position. There are certain reablement services 

provided by adult social care that specifically target individuals with high needs or those who have 

are experiencing a care critical care issue or emergency, preventing it from becoming a long-term 

issue. 

Residential Care 

Residential Care falls under institutional care is intended for those who may not need 24 hour 

medical attention but are unable to live independently, requiring routine help with day-to-day 

activities. Residential care homes are not typically medical facilities, instead providing assistance 

with day-to-day activities for the residents. 

Shared Housing 

Shared housing is a type of (usually supported) accommodation whereby the communal focus 

constitutes one prong of the accommodation’s support matrix. Shared accommodation differs from 

mainstream sheltered housing, which frequently provides independent flats or apartments for 

residents, in that the bulk of facilities and spaces are shared. Such housing works well for those who 

would benefit from added sociability (young people or those with lower needs are often seen to 

benefit from a shared housing arrangement), whereas it can be detrimental for certain 

vulnerabilities: those with higher needs or mixed behaviours, or older people who better appreciate 

their independence.  

Sheltered Housing  

Sheltered Housing provides specialist accommodation and housing support, mostly through a 
dedicated development of mixed tenure units with a variety of support and care options. This 
provides flexibility and independence. Most schemes incorporate a community alarm service which 
enables tenants to call for support in emergencies, usually from an on-site warden. The majority of 
sheltered housing is one bedroom accommodation, often supplemented by a communal lounge 
where tenants can socialise. Many schemes entail independent flats with their own front doors, 
whilst others are entirely shared accommodation where the majority of spaces and facilities are 
communal (addressed above).  
 
Sheltered housing has been traditionally a popular choice for vulnerable and older people who feel 
the need to move to accommodation physically suited to their needs in terms of size and 

Page 67



P a g e  | 30 

 

accessibility, but are still able to live relatively independently with intermittent support. Sheltered 
accommodation therefore provides a flexible solution that can enable independence with 
appropriate care and support, preventing the escalation of need and the risk of becoming unable to 
manage a larger tenancy. Residents experience the benefits of communal support – with varying 
intensity depending on the nature of the scheme in question. 
 
Supported Accommodation 

Supported accommodation is a generic term for housing which is augmented with some kind of care 

or support services, or whose constitution is designed to aid individuals in negotiating their 

vulnerabilities. It is usually used to denote accommodation within the community in which there is 

perpetual or routine support provision built in to help occupants gain tenancy skills and experiences. 

Supported accommodation is usually seen as a temporary form of accommodation, designed to 

prepare individuals for managing their own tenancy. Supported accommodation differs from 

specialist provision, which is generally a permanent housing option that allows for flexible care - 

rather than just support - services. 

Support Service 

As discussed under ‘Domiciliary Care/Care at Home’, support services are those designed to aid 

vulnerable or older individuals with life or tenancy skills, monitoring, and companionship, rather 

than therapeutic manipulation or treatment. Support is delivered by support service providers such 

as those commissioning through the Supporting People programme. 

Page 68



Older People 

Chapter Summary 

Background 

Locally and nationally, population pressures are having profound effects on housing provision. Most 

critically, the number and proportion of older people in the UK is rapidly increasing in line with 

advancements in medical care and general health. Whilst getting older can be a rewarding process, it 

can also present a number of challenges for individuals, particularly surrounding mobility and health. 

Many older people are capable of living independently, but care and support needs or the risk of a 

debilitating care crisis generally increase with age. Cheshire East experiences these pressures in 

heightened terms, given that, as a Borough, the older demographic is more preponderant, and 

growing faster, than in other parts of the country.  

Different housing solutions are required for different levels of need. This chapter seeks to cover all 

of these, but will first contextualise which solutions are appropriate for which people. Not all older 

people are necessarily vulnerable and can live safely in a general needs setting; however, many may 

wish to downsize to a property that is more amenable to their current or future needs. Others 

require some assistance or support to live independently, and may require a specialist housing 

solution (such as a specifically designed or adapted property) or some degree of support or care 

services. Lastly, for those with more acute needs who may be deemed elderly frail, a more intensive 

combination of provision may be required, which could include specialist accommodation (such as 

institutional care or extra care) in which intensive support or care services can be delivered. The 

following diagram seeks to summarise these typical levels of need; this is obviously not a concrete 

stratification with all clients falling into any one rubric, but provides an indication of the needs and 

accommodation spectrum discussed above. 

 

Cheshire East ultimately aims to ensure that the entirety of the population can live a full and 

independent life. Following consultation, we understand that older people prize their independence 

High Needs: intensive 
care and specialist 

accommodation required 
to live safely due to 
frailty or associated 

conditions 

Medium Needs: some degree of 
support or care required to live 

safely but  capable of 
independent living. 

Low Needs: may not currently be vulnerable or 
posses any care or support needs.  

C
o

st
 

Most commonly located in institutional care 
with ubiquitous care and support services. May 

be accommodated in intermediate 
accommodation (extra care or sheltered 

housing).   

Typically living at home 
(possibly with adaptations)or in 

intermediate or supported 
accommodation with some 

support or care services. 

May want to plan for 
the future, considering 

downsizing or 
intermediate 

accommodation options 
to ensure they can 

continue to live safely 
and independently.  

Fr
e

q
u

en
cy

 

Page 69



P a g e  | 32 

 

and autonomy, and would prefer to remain in their own homes for as long as possible rather than 

prematurely moving to a more intensive form of accommodation. Achieving this requires two 

elements:  

 The preventative reduction of need through the provision of appropriate services and 

accommodation to those who currently have low needs. This could encompass the inclusion 

of bungalows and homes with improved accessibility standards, adaptation services, or 

Telecare functionality as part of the type mixture on new developments, or homes built to 

the Lifetime homes standard. This will encourage older people to downsize and consider 

ways in which to negate a care crisis in the future, reducing their future reliance on more 

intensive and less independent provision.  

 A more balanced and attractive range of intermediate accommodation to ensure maximum 

independence and quality of life for those with escalating needs. Where it is not feasible for 

an older person to remain in their home due to financial, care, or accessibility issues, it is 

important that there exists an attractive range of specialist housing options that meet their 

varying levels of need whilst promoting independence. The models best designed to do this 

are sheltered and extra care, which can provide a viable alternative to institutional care 

within the community for those with medium or high needs.  

Key Evidence Sources 

 Moving Forward – Cheshire East Housing Strategy 2011 - 2016 

 Ageing Well in Cheshire East – A Plan for People Aged 50 and Over 2012 – 2017 

 Laying the Foundations: A Housing Strategy for England 

 Lifetime Homes: Lifetime Neighbourhoods – A National Strategy for Housing in an Ageing 

Society 

 Housing our Ageing Population: Plan for Implementation (HAPPI) 

 Cheshire East Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

 Cheshire East SHMA Extra Care Housing Report 

 More Choice, Greater Voice Toolkit 

 SHOP Data 

 Wanless Review 2006 

 Red Quadrant Report 

 Census 2011 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

Page 70



P a g e  | 33 

 

Detailed Findings 

National and Local Policy Context 

UK government policy has increasingly focused on recalibrating the direction of older people’s care 

away from residential care provision towards living at home, community support, and specialist 

housing. These housing models are intended as a means to promote independence, well-being, and 

choice in later life, whilst reducing dependence on state-funded services. This direction was ratified 

in the Government’s housing strategy ‘Laying the Foundations’ as well as the previous Government’s 

‘Lifetime Homes: Lifetime Neighbourhoods.’  

Cheshire East Council has reflected these national trends in its key policies and strategies. Both 

‘Moving Forward’ (the Council’s housing strategy) and ‘Ageing Well’ (its plan for people over 50), 

prioritise the creation of a range of specialist housing for older people, bolstering support services, 

maximising the ability for older residents to live at home, and improving the availability of 

information for older people to sensitise them to the diverse options available to them. 

Consultation Response 

 There is a need to balance choice and affordability in older people’s accommodation. Choice 

is desirable wherever possible and is also beneficial in a preventative sense as clients take 

greater responsibility for their own care. However, lots of specialist community placements 

for high-needs clients will cost more than consolidated provision within larger schemes.  

 People frequently wish to remain their family homes for as long as possible, often remaining 

in situ until their needs reach a level that can no longer be safely supported in their 

property. As such, there is the need to promote intermediate housing options that will help 

limit the risk of a care crisis for those with additional support needs. Intermediate options 

include the likes of extra care and sheltered schemes, which were championed as optimal 

throughout consultation. It was felt that such schemes should emphasise independent living 

with ready access to flexible support and care as required. 

 Flexibility and accessibility emerged as two key themes. Aside from specialist or 

intermediate housing options for those with additional support needs, the construction of 

‘future proof’ houses through accessible building standards was deemed increasingly 

important, as this has the intention to improve the amenability and security of general 

needs stock as occupants age, limiting the escalation of needs and the requirement to 

relocate. 

 It was felt that not all older people are necessarily vulnerable and require specialist or 

supported accommodation. In response, this distinction has been more clearly made in the 

final Strategy and accessible, general needs accommodation better addressed. The title of 

the Strategy has also been revised to ‘Vulnerable and Older People’s Housing Strategy’ to 

emphasise that not all older people are necessarily vulnerable. 

 

Page 71



P a g e  | 34 

 

Current Pathways to Care and Support 

Supporting People 

Supporting People funds a range of short and long-term floating and accommodation support 

services to older Cheshire East residents whose care needs are low or moderate. These services are 

designed to enable independence, facilitate further access to more specialised care or housing as 

required, and prevent more critical care needs in the future. They are therefore in great demand 

given the growing older population and rising demand for in situ care and accommodation support. 

The service reports that, more so than other client groups, demand for older people’s services 

greatly exceeds supply.  

Supporting People play a crucial preventative and early-contact role for those with moderate or low 

care needs. As such, it is important to continue to promote these services widely, and ensure that 

prospective clients are captured early before they present through social care or social housing 

officers – for instance, older people with mounting support needs in the private market.  

Older People Services Need 2020 Supply 2013 Gap 

Accommodation 
Support  

5678 4193 -1485  

Floating Support 1261 40 -1221  

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis  

Adaptation Services 

Adaptation services also form a central pillar of housing provision for older people. Whilst older 

people frequently reach a level of care need that makes home living an impossibility, it is important 

to recognise that adaptation and home maintenance services can prolong the time that people 

spend in their homes by improving the physical amenability and built-in care features. Older people 

chiefly prefer to stay in their own homes, and where possible this should be facilitated. Moreover, 

effective adaptation can act in a preventative manner to negate critical care issues and reduce the 

potential need for time in hospital or residential care.  

In Cheshire East, older people account for the majority (48% between 2010 and 2013) of adaptations 

provided through Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs). This demonstrates the high demand for 

adaptations amongst older people, reflecting the key role they play as an enabler of living in situ. 

However, the average spend per adaptation was £4,035, notably lower than the average spend per 

case on adaptations for young people or working age adults. This implies that older people are 

having a greater frequency of less costly adaptations: preventing escalating care needs. A greater 

discussion of major adaptations can be found in the Physical and Sensory Disabilities chapter, as 

DFGs chiefly cater for radical renovations designed to make a property liveable for someone with a 

disability or severe frailty, rather than lower-level amenability issues as more commonly 

encountered by older people.  

Older people are also the chief customers of the Care & Repair and Handypersons services. Care & 

Repair provides support to people living in their own home to ensure that their property is fit for 

Page 72



P a g e  | 35 

 

purpose and they can continue living independently in their community for as long as possible. The 

service provides support and advice to deliver minor and major adaptations to both users of social 

care services (whereby adaptations can form a part of their rehabilitation or care package) and 

private customers who have identified the need and the funding for adaptations themselves. The 

service is targeted to homeowners, but through partnership working with Registered Providers the 

service is extended to delivering adaptations in a wider range of properties.  

The Handypersons services provide low-level practical support that is highly valued by older people 

and people with physical disabilities, delivering ‘that little bit of help’ that that disabled individuals 

may not be able to perform themselves.  Handyperson services support initiatives to reduce 

unnecessary hospital and care admissions, facilitate the timely transfer of care from hospital to 

home, prevent more costly future repairs, reduce opportunities for cold callers and rogue traders, 

and improve physical and mental health and well-being. Such services deliver a range of minor 

adaptations for this client group, such as grab rails and  hand rails on the stairs to facilitate safe 

movement around the home, ‘key safes’ to enable the provision of care at home, and alterations to 

steps to facilitate safe access into and out of the home. Cheshire East’s handyperson services are 

augmented by similar programmes that are run locally by housing providers on their own properties.  

Moreover, the Council’s vision is for these services to be used in an increasingly preventative 

capacity across all client groups: continuing to branch out beyond those with social care 

requirements to deliver more proactive repairs and adaptations for those whose care needs are 

lower but are at risk of increasing with time, or as a result of inhabiting an unsafe property. Around 

1,300 older and disabled people benefit from minor adaptations prescribed by health and social care 

professionals every year, and a further 400 people self-purchase minor adaptations to supplement 

social care and prepare their home for later life.  

Demand 

Demographic Pressure 

England’s population is rapidly ageing. The number of old people nationally will grow from 10 million 

to nearly 17 million by 2035, and 60% of all new household growth by 2033 will be those aged over 

65, and 21% will be those aged over 85. Trends in household composition are compounding these 

pressures: across all ages groups there is a penchant for smaller households and therefore a greater 

risk of underoccupancy and inefficient stock usage. Indeed, households are now forming at twice the 

rate that houses are being built. Older people are chief contributors to this issue, with 60% 

possessing multiple bedrooms despite having no dependent children. Therefore, increased provision 

of specialist accommodation is recognised as a means to trigger positive market forces: older people 

have more accommodation designed for their needs, whilst general housing is freed up for young 

people and families.  

Cheshire East is due to experience a disproportionately acute accommodation demand for older 

people. The existing proportion of older people in Cheshire East is already above the national 

average and is set to rise at a heightened rate compared with the rest of England. The projected 

increase in the population over 65 by 2030 is 43% for England and 46% for Cheshire East whilst the 

population aged 75 and over is expected to increase by 70% in the same period. Although many 

Page 73



P a g e  | 36 

 

people aged 75 and over live relatively independently, this is the age group with the highest demand 

for accommodation, care, and health services; therefore this projected increase in the size of the 

population will have significant implications for the Council’s housing stock and care budgets.  

Moreover, health standards and life expectancy in Cheshire East consistently exceed national 

averages, indicating that people in the Borough will live longer and require prolonged access to care 

and appropriate accommodation. The average life expectancy for males in Cheshire East is 80.1 

compared to a national average of 78.9; similarly, females tend to live until 83.3 rather than 82.9 

nationally.1 

Age band  2012  2015  2020  2025  2030  % increase 
2012 to 2030  

65-69  23,100  24,800  22,100  23,600  27,800  20  

70-74  17,000  19,200  23,400  21,000  22,500  32  

75-79  14,000  15,100  17,500  21,500  19,400  39  

80-84  10,400  11,000  12,700  15,000  18,600  79  

85-89  6,500  7,100  8,200  9,800  11,800  82  

90 and over  3,700  4,300  5,400  7,000  9,100  146  

65 and over total  74,700  81,500  89,300  97,900  109,200  46  

75 and over total  34,600  37,500  43,800  53,300  58,900  70  

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS) www.poppi.org.uk  

Local Age Profile 

Whilst the above discussion concerns the total elderly population in Cheshire East and its expansion 

in the coming years, this section looks to analyse the distribution of this age profile across the 

Borough, identifying areas with particularly high concentrations of older people. Such information is 

useful in the strategic planning of older people’s housing. Population data is interpreted in the 

Strategic Housing for Older People (SHOP) toolkit to create a projection for specialist housing 

requirements (accommodation catering for mid to high level care and support needs) in later 

sections. However, it is worth presenting the raw data here to discern priority locations for 

accessible general needs or affordable housing for those with lower-level needs, such as bungalows 

or housing built to lifetime homes standards. Such development provide safer, downsizing options 

for communities with high proportions of older people, and Cheshire East will increasingly look to 

foster such accommodation in areas where there is are high proportions of older people in need of 

accessible market or affordable housing. The below table shows the areas (as defined in the 

Cheshire East Local Plan) which contain the highest numbers and the greatest relevant proportions 

of older people. Unsurprisingly, the greatest numbers of older people tend to be found in the larger 

conurbations. However, it is notable that a number of the smaller population centres have a 

disproportionately large elderly population, and may similarly benefit from older persons housing to 

allow their prominent older population to safely remain within their communities.  

 

                                                           
1
 Public Health England, Health Profile 2013: Cheshire East, 24 September 2013, 

http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=126943  

Page 74

http://www.poppi.org.uk/
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=126943


P a g e  | 37 

 

Source: NOMIS (Census 2011) 

The following table shows the number of people over 55 who have expressed a need for affordable 

housing on the Cheshire Homechoice choice-based letting system. This therefore provides an 

indication of areas in which a larger proportion of older persons housing should cost below the 

market-value (be that to purchase or rent) in order to meet demand. Again, this demonstrates that 

the major population centres receive the most Homechoice applications from older people, as more 

older people hail from these larger communities and want to continue living there. However, there 

are a number of smaller townships who receive a comparatively larger proportion of applications 

from older people who require discounted housing: Prestbury demonstrates that it is primarily 

attractive to older people, whilst Poynton, Nantwich, Sandbach, and Alsager are the larger towns 

that are most desirable to older people in need of discounted housing.  

 

Local Plan Definition Town Total Over 55 Local Plan Definition Town Over 55 % 

Crewe 19059 Prestbury 43.6 

Other 18888 Chelford 43.3 

Macclesfield 15124 Audlem 42.2 

Congleton 9208 Goostrey 41.4 

Wilmslow 7235 Mobberley 41.1 

Sandbach 5996 Poynton 40.5 

Nantwich 5886 Disley 38.9 

Poynton 5275 Shavington 38.5 

Knutsford 4654 Holmes Chapel 38.4 

Alsager 4357 Wrenbury 38.3 

Middlewich 3721 Other 37.8 

Bollington 2512 Alsager 37.0 

Handforth 2190 Alderley Edge 36.3 

Holmes Chapel 2153 Bunbury 35.9 

Shavington 2050 Knutsford 35.3 

Alderley Edge 1914 Congleton 34.8 

Disley 1728 Haslington 33.4 

Audlem 1666 Sandbach 33.4 

Goostrey 1593 Handforth 33.3 

Haslington 1584 Bollington 33.1 

Prestbury 1483 Nantwich 32.9 

Mobberley 1254 Wilmslow 30.6 

Bunbury 766 Macclesfield 29.0 

Wrenbury 756 Middlewich 27.4 

Chelford 528 Crewe 26.2 

Over 55 Total 121,580 Total Over 55 % 32.7 

Page 75



P a g e  | 38 

 

First Choice Location Households in which the 
Youngest Applicant is Over 55 

First Choice 
Location 

Over 55s as % of Total 
Applicants  

Macclesfield 221 Prestbury 64.7 

Crewe 168 Macclesfield Rural 48.2 

Congleton 110 Disley 40.4 

Nantwich 98 Bollington 39.6 

Sandbach 89 Holmes Chapel 38.5 

Crewe Rural  80 Nantwich Rural 35.1 

Alsager 59 Holmes Chapel 
Rural 

33.3 

Poynton 57 Poynton 31.0 

Wilmslow 55 Congleton Rural 28.6 

Knutsford 47 Alsager Rural 26.6 

Nantwich Rural 47 Sandbach 26.5 

Macclesfield Rural 40 Alsager 25.9 

Bollington 36 Crewe Rural  21.3 

Holmes Chapel 35 Nantwich 20.8 

Middlewich 27 Congleton 19.4 

Alderley Edge 24 Alderley Edge 18.9 

Alsager Rural 21 Macclesfield 18.7 

Disley 21 Knutsford 18.3 

Knutsford Rural 14 Sandbach Rural 18.2 

Holmes Chapel Rural 11 Wilmslow 14.9 

Prestbury 11 Knutsford Rural 14.6 

Handforth 10 Middlewich 11.6 

Congleton Rural 6 Crewe 10.7 

Sandbach Rural 2 Handforth 6.1 

Source: Cheshire Homechoice April 2014 

Market Aspirations and Expectations 

Nationally, the majority of older people live in owner occupied housing (68%), and 20% of general 

needs social housing is occupied by an older person. In Cheshire East, there is an exaggerated skew 

towards owner-occupation amongst the older populace with 75% of pensioners being owner 

occupiers. This is higher than the national average of 68%. A much lower percentage are in social 

rented accommodation with 11.5% of pensioners and 12.5% of the total population in the social 

rented sector compared with 17% and 19% across England as a whole. This compounds the fact that 

a high percentage of Cheshire East older people are owner-occupiers.  

This colours the aspirations of many older people in the area. The SHMA and Extra Care SHMA 

surveyed older people to gain an understanding of what kinds of housing they would consider for 

the future. The majority (72.1%) would prefer to remain at home with support as required whilst 

another significant proportion (22.9%) would consider purchasing a different (presumably more 

manageable) property on the open market. This partly reflects the fact that most older people in 

Cheshire East own their own homes and partly that the majority of older people are able to live 

safely at home with the right combination of support services. To realise these aspirations, a greater 

Page 76



P a g e  | 39 

 

swathe of accessible houses (for instance bungalows or homes built to the lifetime homes standard) 

need to be developed, so that older people have the option of downsizing or relocating to a property 

that is more manageable. This can prevent the intensification of need and the negation of health 

crises that are borne of older people living in unsuitable general needs accommodation. 

However, for many individuals with escalating care needs the most suitable option will be specialist 

accommodation: housing designed to deliver an optimal physical environment augmented with 

more intensive care and support options. Of the specialist housing options, a growing number of 

older people state their preference for Extra Care (30.1%) and Sheltered Accommodation (39.9%) 

over residential care (6.9%). This reflects the greater degree of independence offered in extra care 

or sheltered housing, which is comparable to a general needs tenancy with a more intensive degree 

of support. These types of provision can, if utilised properly, provide an alternative to residential 

provision in all except the most high-needs cases – an alternative that, according to these figures, 

older people within the Borough would welcome.  

Housing older people may consider over the next five years.  % 

Continue to live in current home with support when needed  72.1  

Buying a property on the open market  22.9  

Rent a property from a private landlord  4.6  

Rent from a Housing Association  14.7  

Rent Sheltered accommodation  17.8  

Buy Sheltered accommodation  16.2  

Part rent & buy Sheltered accommodation  5.9  

Rent Extra Care Housing  13.7  

Buy Extra Care Housing  12.3  

Part rent & buy Extra Care Housing  4.1  

Residential care home  6.9  

Base (no. of respondents answering question)  61147  

Source: SHMA 

Moreover, the Extra Care Strategic Housing Market Assessment, compiled in 2010, enshrines the 

significant market for sheltered housing indicated in its SHMA precursor. The Extra Care Assessment 

identified 20,384 people who expressed an interest in sheltered housing within the Borough, of 

which the largest number (9613) live in the Macclesfield area. Similarly, 11,733 people over 45 

would consider extra care in Cheshire East. Of these 11,733 people, 5,649 are aged between 45 and 

59yrs, 3,951 between 60 and 74, 1,504 between 75 and 84 and 629 are over 85yrs. The highest 

numbers are found in Macclesfield.2  

Supply 

This section discusses the nature of specialist accommodation provision for older people within the 

Borough and attempts to plot this against projected demand to fathom the need for different types. 

To do this, the Council has drawn upon the Strategic Housing for Older People (SHOP) toolkit, which 

                                                           
2
 Extra Care SHMA, 2010 

Page 77



P a g e  | 40 

 

allows projections for housing need to be made based on prevalence rates and population increases 

in each Middle Layer Super Output Area (MSOA).  

Extra Care 

Extra care seeks to capture a nebulous niche in the housing market for those who want to live 

independently but have higher care needs. Extra care housing is designed to: promote independence 

and self-determined quality of life through self-contained accommodation; empower and enable 

individuals through access to support services appropriate to their needs; and promote social 

inclusion through access to a vibrant and amenable community created through physical design and 

resident composition. Cheshire East’s definition of extra care can be found in the glossary and 

definitions section contained in the introduction.  

Many local authorities are looking to develop extra care schemes as an alternative for institutional 

care. In Cheshire East, for instance, residents in the Beechmere extra care scheme are very 

infrequently referred to care homes, despite catering for a number of people with complex needs, 

including elderly frail and dementia. This ability to safely house and inspire improvement for those 

with higher care needs in turn reduces routine demand for expensive in-patient placements and 

holistic care support, lowering costs for health authorities and social services. A study of an extra 

care scheme in Bradford found that the better health and lifestyle enjoyed by those on the scheme 

generated a reduction of health care costs of over 50%.3 

Cheshire East possesses a range of extra care accommodation. These are split between three 

schemes provided as part of a PFI initiative initiated by the local authority, four schemes operated by 

RPs, and 7 privately operated schemes, most of which are small scale and between 12 and 20 units. 

The three PFI funded schemes were originally commissioned to deliver a third/third/third split of 

high/medium/low needs and a 60/20/20 split between rented/shared ownership/full ownership. 

This has proved very difficult to deliver, with particular difficulties in allocating the high needs 

places; the current spilt is: 18% /20%/62%, as at September 2012.4 As such, there is a need to better 

utilise extra care to house those with higher needs, thereby realising its potential as an alternative to 

institutional care. There is potentially a saving of up to £50 per resident per week over institutional 

care if the right balance of high, medium, and low needs is struck.  

There is significant need for increased extra care provision in Cheshire East. Utilising the prevalence 

rates in the Strategic Housing for Older People (SHOP) toolkit, we can determine that Cheshire East 

will have a shortfall of 1063 extra care places by 2030; this is summarised in the below table. In fact, 

the projected need demonstrates that Cheshire East has greater need for extra care and sheltered 

housing than for more traditional residential and nursing homes. It is critical that this need be 

addressed given that, as previously demonstrated, it is specialist housing that promises to deliver 

greater benefits and homes for life for older people.  

                                                           
3
 Joseph Rowntree Foundation, ‘Costs and outcomes of an extra care housing scheme in Bradford’ (2008) 

4
 Red Quadrant Report, March 2013 

Page 78



P a g e  | 41 

 

Given Cheshire East’s commitment to maximum efficiency, new development will be sustained 

wherever possible from within existing revenue budgets or through the utilisation of personal 

budgets. With revenue budgets committed, accommodation services will have to be 

decommissioned and recalibrated to fund new ones; this will be determined on the basis of effective 

business cases aligned to the priorities of this strategy. 

Source: Strategic Housing for Older People Toolkit (Projections calculated in October 2013) 

The below table ranks Cheshire East’s key service centres by need for extra care housing by 2030. 

The majority of areas without adequate extra care provision are rural areas; however, there is a 

substantial projected need in most towns aside from Middlewich, Nantwich, and Crewe. The first 

table in Appendix 1 ranks mid-layer super output areas by extra care need to provide even more 

locally-specific needs data.  

Local Plan Definition Town Extra Care Supply 2030 Extra Care Need 

Macclesfield 0 194 

Sandbach 0 76 

Wilmslow and Handforth 53 73 

Congleton 45 73 

Poynton 0 69 

Knutsford 0 64 

Alsager 0 57 

Crewe 217 14 

Nantwich 115 -3 

Middlewich 71 -25 

Source: Strategic Housing for Older People Toolkit (Projections calculated in October 2013) 

Sheltered Housing 

Sheltered Housing provides specialist accommodation and housing support for older people, mostly 

through a dedicated development of flats of mixed tenure augmented by a variety of support and 

care options. Most schemes incorporate a community alarm service which enables tenants to call for 

support in emergencies, usually from an on-site warden. The majority of sheltered housing is one 

bedroom accommodation, often supplemented by a communal lounge where tenants can socialise. 

Sheltered housing is therefore suitable for those with a range of needs, who benefit from sociability 

and flexible care or support as required.  

Sheltered housing has been traditionally a popular choice for older people who feel the need to 

move to accommodation physically tailored to their needs, but are still able to live relatively 

Supply Need 

Accommodation 
Type 

Current 
Places 

Permitted 
sites 

Total 
Capacity 

2015 2020 2025 2030 2030 
Difference 

Extra Care 501 0 501 942 1122 1389 1564 -1063 

Page 79



P a g e  | 42 

 

independently with intermittent support. Today, schemes vary in popularity according to their 

location, the size of accommodation and the presence of facilities, such as lifts. The presence or 

absence of an onsite scheme manager can also have an impact on demand. Many older people 

dislike the more intimate sharing of space and facilities involved in ‘bed-sit’ style sheltered housing. 

That said, Cheshire East’s SHMA and other feedback has indicated the growing popularity of 

sheltered housing schemes amongst the Cheshire East population in principle. The Council is 

therefore proactively working with Registered Providers and accommodation service providers to 

consistently remodel and decommission hard-to-let sheltered stock, such as bedsits or inaccessible 

properties, replacing them with more popular and attractive units, such as bungalows or 

independent flats. This is slightly reducing total stock levels but greatly improving quality, 

amenability, and popularity. 

The single largest need identified through the SHOP toolkit in Cheshire East is for sheltered housing. 

Projections indicate that sheltered housing will continue to be in steep demand as the older 

population increases, given its capacity to cater for a range of needs in a dispersed manner. The 

table below summarises the total need for sheltered housing in the Borough. Some consideration 

needs to be given to the fact that new extra care schemes may be in direct competition with 

sheltered housing.  

As with other new specialist housing development, Cheshire East will encourage new sheltered 

accommodation to be sustained wherever possible from within existing revenue budgets or through 

the utilisation of personal budgets. With revenue budgets committed, accommodation services will 

have to be decommissioned and recalibrated to fund new ones; this will be determined on the basis 

of effective business cases aligned to the priorities of this strategy.  

Source: Strategic Housing for Older People Toolkit (Projections calculated in October 2013) 

The following table breaks this high-level figure down further into Cheshire East’s key service 

centres, before ranking them by need for sheltered housing. This indicates there is uniformly high 

need for sheltered accommodation, especially in the major population centres. Moreover, the more 

detailed table in Appendix 1 shows that 84% of Cheshire East MSOAs have a high projected need for 

sheltered housing by 2030, meaning such development should be encouraged across the Borough.  

 

 

 

Supply Need 

Accommodation 
Type 

Current 
Places 

Permitted 
sites 

Total 
Capacity 

2015 2020 2025 2030 2030 
Difference 

Sheltered 2439 0 2439 4711 5609 7098 7821 -5382 

Page 80



P a g e  | 43 

 

Local Plan Definition Town Supply 2030 Need 

Crewe 238 915 

Macclesfield 258 712 

Congleton 117 473 

Nantwich 196 362 

Sandbach 82 298 

Wilmslow and Handforth 362 270 

Poynton 95 252 

Alsager 128 159 

Middlewich 94 136 

Knutsford 312 9 

Source: Strategic Housing for Older People Toolkit (Projections calculated in October 2013) 

Residential and Nursing Care 

Residential Care is intended for those who do not need 24-hour care but are unable to live 

independently. Residential care homes are not typically medical facilities, instead providing 

assistance with day-to-day activities for the residents. Nursing Care, on the other hand, is the highest 

intensity of care provision available, and targets those who need constant medical care as well as 

help with everyday activities.  

There is a substantial risk nationwide that institutional care is used as a default gambit for any older 

person who demonstrates complex care needs. However, many institutional residents may not need 

such an intensive solution. Early admission into institutional care can impose otherwise avoidable 

costs. This is especially true of self-funders, who can easily exhaust their savings by entering into 

residential care too early, before eventually having to turn back to publically-funded social care. As 

such, the inappropriate usage of institutional care should be avoided to benefit vulnerable and older 

people and provide more cost effective arrangements.  

Better outcomes can be achieved through a mixed economy of specialist accommodation, where 

individuals are encouraged to live in housing that enables their independence for as long as is safe 

and prevent the escalation of care needs. Such a trajectory could ultimately see someone reside in 

institutional care, but this should be situated as a temporary or final phase in their accommodation 

pathway. Kerslake and Sitwell26, suggest that at least one third of residential care placements and as 

much as 2/3 could be avoided through an earlier move into other forms of specialist housing – such 

as extra care or sheltered – and Cheshire East advocates the use of these intermediate forms of 

accommodation to safely manage need and promote independence for as long as possible.  

Residential care, in terms of both the care culture and accommodation mix, is dominant in Cheshire 

East. Cheshire East has a higher proportion of admissions to residential care directly from hospital 

than other authorities in the North West: 4.5% of hospital discharges were people aged 65 and over; 

this is second only to Cheshire West with 4.6%, whilst for the best regional performers the figure is 

Page 81



P a g e  | 44 

 

less than 1.5%.5 Furthermore, Cheshire East has a notably higher number of resident weeks spent in 

nursing care: 35,000 compared with 19,000 in the North West as a whole.  

However, this landscape has been determined as far from optimal. In its review of Residential Care, 

Cheshire East noted that expensive, intensive institutional care provision was unsustainable in the 

current fiscal landscape: Adult Social Care budgets nationally are reducing by about 5% per annum6 

at a time when, in Cheshire East, there is an annual £4m growth in adult social care accounted for. 

This is currently being met through efficiency savings, but such budgetary recalibration can only go 

so far.7  As such, the report concluded that the Council needed a more radical shift in strategic 

direction away from high-end residential care to preventative, reablement solutions incorporating a 

mixed economy of specialist accommodation with greater degrees of extra care and sheltered 

accommodation.8 

The projected need figures generated utilising the SHOP toolkit indicates the robust residential and 

nursing care provision in Cheshire East. The Borough already possesses places in excess of projected 

demand in 2015 and 2020, only reaching a shortfall by 2025 presuming that no further development 

goes ahead.  

Source: Strategic Housing for Older People Toolkit (Projections calculated in October 2013) 

By 2030, an undersupply is projected in the majority of key service centres in accordance with 

population projections, but this is lower than the respective figures for extra care and sheltered 

housing. This excess of residential care places, over and above the local demand, has the potential to 

draw people from outside the borough; this could include self funders, who may migrate to social 

care funding as they age or their needs intensify. The final table in Appendix 1 shows that 59% of 

MSOAs have a medium or high projected need for residential care in 2030 whilst 53% have a need 

for nursing care; this is a lower proportion than the number of MSOAs with high or medium needs 

for extra care (65%) or sheltered housing (90%).  

 

                                                           
5
 NHS North West Figures 

6
 Association of Directors of Adult Social Services Budget Survey (2011) 

7
 Cheshire East Council Pre-Budget Report 2011/12 

8
 Cheshire East Council: Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee, ‘Residential Provision Review’ 

Supply Need 

Accommodation 
Type 

Current 
Places 

Permitted 
sites 

Total 
Capacity 

2015 2020 2025 2030 2030 
Difference 

Residential 
Care 

1478 300 1778 1658 1974 2444 2753 -975 

Nursing 2431 35 2466 1696 2019 2499 2816 -350 

Page 82



P a g e  | 45 

 

Residential  Nursing 

Local Plan Definition Town Supply 2030 Need Local Plan Definition Town Supply 2030 Need 

Crewe 135 271 Wilmslow and Handforth 60 167 

Wilmslow and Handforth 116 106 Alsager 0 103 

Sandbach 80 54 Sandbach 40 97 

Nantwich 145 52 Poynton 36 89 

Knutsford 64 49 Knutsford 48 67 

Alsager 59 42 Nantwich 139 62 

Middlewich 44 37 Crewe 375 40 

Poynton 102 20 Middlewich 60 23 

Macclesfield 330 12 Macclesfield 378 -29 

Congleton 215 -7 Congleton 245 -33 

Source: Strategic Housing for Older People Toolkit (Projections calculated in October 2013) 

Therefore, Cheshire East is already reasonably well-equipped with residential and nursing care 

places, yet suffers from a marked undersupply in extra care and sheltered housing types. Crucially, 

there is only a projected need for institutional units post-2025, whilst there is a sizeable need for 

sheltered and extra care housing units in the here and now. This informs a strategic direction that 

prioritises the creation of extra care and sheltered housing, whilst recognising there will be an 

expanded future need across all types by 2030 in line with population projections. Such a direction is 

augmented by the policy and funding direction across local and national government, whereby extra 

care and sheltered housing for older people is deemed the superior solution in driving more vibrant, 

independent lifestyles and lower care bills. 

Chapter Conclusions 

Key Findings 

 The number of older people in Cheshire East is expected to increase exponentially in coming 

years. These individuals will need to have access to appropriate housing and associated 

services, without which their potential or future needs cannot be met. Moreover, they may 

contribute to underoccupancy if not encouraged to downsize into attractive specialist 

accommodation, making the Borough’s stock profile less economical in terms of space and 

personal finances.  

 Most older people would prefer to grow old in their own homes and retain their 

independence. They are least amenable to institutional care, though are increasingly 

attracted to sheltered housing and extra care, which offer an intermediate solution 

balancing independence with bespoke care provision. 

 Cheshire East has projected undersupplies in all forms of specialist accommodation for the 

aged. However, these undersupplies are most pronounced in sheltered housing and extra 

care. This situates these types of provision as a development priority, which accords with the 

improved outcomes, independence, and economised care costs such provision can deliver 

for older people. 

Page 83



P a g e  | 46 

 

Strategic Priorities 

 Promote the development of general needs accommodation suitable for an ageing 

population, with a greater provision of physically amenable properties (such as bungalows) 

and Lifetime homes required on future development sites in accordance with need. 

 Encourage people to proactively engage with services and plan for their futures whilst their 

needs are low, raising awareness of adaptations and supported living options before 

residents develop substantial care needs and an associated requirement for more intensive 

services or accommodation. This will involve a review of existing information and 

consultation work aimed at people over the age of fifty-five. This preventative approach will 

better equip people to remain in an independent setting for longer.  

 For those with escalating needs, the Council will encourage wherever appropriate the 

transition of older people into specialist supported accommodation, and especially housing 

that enables them to live independently for as long as possible. This will involve a greater 

reliance on and promotion of floating support and care, as well as the creation of a more 

mixed economy of housing. Within this, sheltered and extra care schemes will be promoted 

earlier rather than intensive institutional models, which should be used only for those with 

acute or emergency needs.  

 Address projected undersupplies in intermediate accommodation options for older people, 

prioritising the development and promotion of extra care and sheltered housing schemes 

with partners and, where possible, on Council-owned land. New development will be 

sustained wherever possible from within existing revenue budgets or through the utilisation 

of personal budgets. With revenue budgets committed, accommodation services will have to 

be decommissioned and recalibrated to fund new ones; this will be determined on the basis 

of effective business cases aligned to the priorities of this strategy.

Page 84



P a g e  | 47 

 

 

Learning Disabilities 

Chapter Summary 

Background 

A learning disability is a condition that manifests in greater difficulties with learning, comprehension, 

communication, and everyday activities. Learning disabilities are diverse and occur across a 

spectrum of needs. These can range from mild to severe, whilst each individual can exhibit a highly 

specialised set of behaviours, characteristics, strengths, and issues. Different degrees requiring 

varying levels of support: severe cases of learning disability may require 24hr care, but many 

individuals may only need occasional support to enable them to live independent and enriching 

lives, such as help with household tasks or managing money.  

Cheshire East Council ultimately aims to enable as many people with a learning disability as 

appropriate to live independently within their own homes, with a wide range of housing options to 

choose from catering for the aforementioned spectrum of needs. To achieve this, the Council is 

looking to continue with a matrix of products and options including in situ social care services for 

those with more acute needs, adaptations and installations to upgrade the amenability of 

properties, and floating support services that allow those with lower care needs - or those 

transitioning into an independent setting - to sustain their tenancy safely in the long-term.  

Such services will be augmented by an attractive and appropriate mix of specialist housing options 

and schemes. Cheshire East aims to work with providers to rationalise and recalibrate supported 

accommodation stock, as well as designing progressive accommodation paradigms that meet the 

future needs and wishes of our residents. This principally entails improving the supported 

accommodation offering in the Borough, ensuring it is ideally composed to promote independence, 

as well as bolstering the uptake of Sheltered Housing and Extra Care schemes by people with 

learning disabilities where appropriate.  

Key Evidence Sources: 

 Moving Forward – Cheshire East Housing Strategy 2011 - 2016 

 Cheshire East Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

 Cheshire East SHMA Extra Care Housing Report 

 Red Quadrant Report 

 Census 2011 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Valuing People 

  Cheshire East Learning Disability Supported Accommodation Register 

Page 85



P a g e  | 48 

 

 

 Social Services Expenditure Return 

 Mencap, ‘Housing for People with Learning Disabilities’ 

 Public Health England, ‘Learning Disabilities Profile 2013 – Cheshire East’ 

 Projecting Adult Needs and Service Information (PANSI) and Projecting Older People 

Population Information (POPPI) 

 Schools Survey 

Detailed Findings: 

National and Local Policy Context 

Nationally, there has been a concerted movement towards independence for those with a learning 

disability. It was once thought that a long-stay hospital was the only suitable accommodation for 

someone with a learning disability, though opinions began to modulate in the 1960s and 1970s, 

when evidence of poor standards and abuse, coupled with exhortations from families to relocate 

people, saw a shift towards a more diffused care paradigm and a focus on the equality of disabled 

people.  

 The legislative changes of the 1970s saw more people with a learning disability move to residential 

care homes or back with their families. Recent policy from central government  - in particular 

Valuing People (2001, revised 2009) - has taken this impetus further, with people with learning 

disabilities encouraged and enabled to live independently within the community. Valuing People 

provided a clear vision for those with a learning disability, based on the principles of rights, 

independence, choice, and inclusion.  

Valuing People was updated in 2009, combining the ethos of independence and choice from its 

previous iteration with an emphasis on supported housing as the optimal delivery paradigm. 

Relocating people with learning disabilities to settled accommodation within communities, rather 

than within the NHS or residential homes, became a priority for central government and local 

authorities under Public Service Agreement 16. Similarly to accommodation for older people, this 

has shifted the paradigm (and the demand) away from residential or nursing care towards supported 

housing models.  

Such impetus has reflected in the emergent Children and Families Bill, which will require local 

authorities to support children with learning disabilities in ‘preparing for adulthood’ by planning 

ahead and gaining formative lifeskills. Cheshire East acknowledge that housing is a crucial strand of 

this, and this strategy can play a major role in readying younger people with learning disabilities for 

independent living; this will entail the provision of support for young people and their parents, as 

well as appropriate and attractive specialist accommodation to encourage timely transition and 

negate long-term dependence on parent carers.  

Cheshire East is striving to promote greater independence and accommodation choice across all 

vulnerable and older groups. A key facet of this is ensuring that those with a learning disability have 

Page 86



P a g e  | 49 

 

 

a wide range of housing options and support services to accommodate a diverse spectrum of need, 

enabling independence where appropriate and fostering integration into a resilience support 

community. We will work with the local market and local providers of accommodation and support 

services to deliver this aim. This strategy will assume the vanguard role in promoting Cheshire East’s 

vision for people with learning disabilities, mobilising and unifying the energies of Council services 

and community partners in a concerted direction.  

Consultation Response 

 Supported accommodation in a sheltered-style model emerged strongly as the ideal 

accommodation type for people with a learning disability. Contributors stressed that the 

best results were driven in accommodation where each individual has their own front door 

but with access to some shared areas. This helps deliver communal support and 

companionship whilst enabling independence as each individual can become responsible for 

their own space and have a place of private sanctuary. For these reasons, many respondents 

and workshop attendees believed that extra care and sheltered housing models could work 

for people with learning disabilities, as they offer individual tenancies with flexible care and 

support arrangements.  

 Groups corroborated that a large proportion of Cheshire East’s existing supported 

accommodation stock is shared housing. This is effective in some cases, but requires a much 

more finely-tuned personnel composition to live amenably in such an intimate environment.  

 It was recognised that close partnership working is required to recognise when there is an 

appropriate property or scheme available for this client group. Financing schemes is 

increasingly difficult across client groups given reductions in government capital funding for 

expensive supported accommodation schemes, and the inability of revenue funding to make 

up the difference. Moreover, one bed flats in close proximity have not been funded in any 

large quantity by housing providers – although given the growing focus on this kind of 

provision in general needs and older persons housing, there are potentially synergies to be 

exploited going forward.  

 A transitional approach was also recognised as important. Many people with a learning 

disability drop off of services’ radars either after leaving children’s services or upon the 

death of their parent carers. It is therefore very important that this client group (or their 

guardians) are encouraged to plan ahead, so that clients become used to the prospect of 

living independently and are prepared for life spent out of direct or corporate parenthood. 

For these purposes, supported accommodation arranged into individual apartments was 

again considered the superior option, allowing people independent space whilst affording 

community and service support as required.  

Current Pathways to Care and Support 

Independent living within the community is Cheshire East’s a priori accommodation target where 

appropriate across all vulnerable groups. As evidenced below, living independently is the most 

sought after housing arrangement amongst those with a learning disability, and provides higher 

Page 87



P a g e  | 50 

 

 

levels of fulfilment and quality of life. In-home care, support services, and supported 

accommodation are the chief mechanisms to realising independent living for people with learning 

disabilities, and it is important that Cheshire East can enable people with learning disabilities to have 

a range of accommodation options to meet the entire spectrum of needs and desires, whether that 

means living at home with family or moving into supported accommodation, or holding a general 

needs tenancy with floating support.  

Social Care Community Services: 

Cheshire East Adult Social Care provided 768 people with a learning disability with care and support 

in the community throughout 2012-13, enabling them to live with friends, family or on their own. 

This figure includes those people who have been moved into specialist supported accommodation so 

that they can live semi-independently with some help. This emphasises the ability of this client group 

to live within the community provided they have access to suitable support and housing, either from 

personal networks or support services.  

Supporting People: 

Supported accommodation (fixed accommodation where services are delivered on-site) and floating 

support services (which journey to assist people living with family or in their own homes) act as a key 

transitional tool that enables individuals with moderate or low care needs to safely sustain a tenancy 

and develop the life skills needed to live independently. Moreover, such provision acts in a 

preventative capacity: by assisting individuals with a learning disability whilst their care needs are 

lower, and furnishing them with the support, environment, and skills required to live independently 

earlier in their lives, escalating care requirements and costs are stymied, and fulfilling lifestyle 

patterns engrained. Ultimately, support services and are a fundamental prong in housing for people 

with learning disabilities as, even if housing stock is improved to better meet the needs of those with 

a learning disability, there needs to be a simultaneously robust offering of services to allow residents 

to effectively transition and remain in these homes for longer.  

In Cheshire East, demand for supported accommodation and support services is currently well met 

by Supported People provision. Floating support services are expected to have the capacity to meet 

future demand, though there is a marginal shortfall in Supporting People accommodation services - 

transitional accommodation designed as an incubator until settled accommodation can be safely 

accessed. These figures reflect that there is support available for those with learning disabilities in 

Cheshire East to ensure that they can live independently; however, it is important to ensure that the 

range of supported accommodation is appropriate and well-matched to the needs and preferences 

of the client group, and that services can flex to meet an anticipated rise in future demand.  

Learning Disabilities 
Services 

Need 2020 Supply 2013 Gap 

Accommodation 
Support  

202 187 -15 

Floating Support 106 192 86 

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 

Page 88



P a g e  | 51 

 

 

Demand 

National Context: 

89% of local authorities agree there has been an increase in the number of people with a learning 

disability requiring housing support in the last three years. While 82% of the local authorities 

surveyed agree there is a shortage of housing for adults with learning disabilities, more pressingly, 

94% of local authorities surveyed agree that more needs to be done to meet the housing needs of 

adults with learning disabilities. Based on current accommodation trends and population growth, it 

is estimated that there will need to be 19,860 new registered care places and at least 14,222 extra 

supported accommodation places in England and Wales over the next 15 years.9  

It is anticipated that the sustained growth of the population and better medical care will engender 

an annual increase of those with a learning disability that equates to between 3.2% and 7.94% of 

those currently requiring social care services.10 This rang true between 2010 and 2011, with an 

increase of 3% in those with a learning disability known to social care services nationally. As with the 

general population, people with learning disabilities are also living longer: by 2030 the number of 

people with a learning disability aged between 65-74 years is projected to increase by 33.5%, those 

aged between 75-84 years are projected to increase by 53%, whilst those aged over 85 will increase 

by 103%. The need for support and care for people with learning disabilities will reciprocally 

increase, will Mencap predicting that there will be the need for an additional 1,324 care home places 

and 941 supported living placements per year nationally. This equates to around a 3% increase 

annually of people with learning disabilities who will require housing with care or support.11   

Adults: 

Cheshire East is experiencing these national pressures distilled at local level to varying degrees. It is 

important to note that, whilst data has been compiled from a number of sources to establish the 

following profile of local demand, there is considerable difficulty in determining a singular and 

universally-agreed figure for people with a learning disability within any geographic area. Cheshire 

East can draw conclusions from the data held by social care, but work is required to establish a 

holistic figure for learning disabilities, taking into account those who have no care plan brokered by 

the Council.  

Taken in context of national and subregional comparators, Cheshire East has a greater prevalence of 

people with learning disabilities known to the Council. However, there is a lower prevalence rate for 

both children with learning difficulties known to schools and adults with learning disabilities known 

to GPs.12  

                                                           
9
 Mencap, September 2011 

10
 Emerson and Hatton, ‘Estimating Future Need for Adult Social Care Services for People with Learning 

Disabilities in England’ (2008) 

11
 Mencap, ‘Housing for People with Learning Disabilities’.  

12
 Public Health England, ‘Learning Disabilities Profile 2013 – Cheshire East’ 

Page 89



P a g e  | 52 

 

 

1159 adults with a learning disability are known to social services at the time of writing; this means 

they have been assessed as having substantial or critical care needs.  This figure roughly accords with 

the number of adults with a learning disability known to Cheshire East GPs, which was projected as 

1163 by Public Health England in their 2013 profile.13 However, this figure potentially furnishes only 

a partial picture: it does not necessarily take account for people with moderate care needs (may not 

have presented or received services from health bodies or Councils), those without a care plan or 

formal support brokered by the Council (those who have not presented to services), or those who 

receive care out of the Borough. Work is currently underway as part of the Learning Disability 

Lifecourse project to collate the intelligence from the local authority with that of GPs, as well as 

tapping into the unknown population who have not presented to services, in order to create a 

definitive cohort of people with learning disabilities in Cheshire East. 

As with older people, it is anticipated that the number of people with a learning disability who will 

require specialist accommodation will increase significantly: by around 10% between 2013 and 2030. 

Cheshire East currently has sufficient supported accommodation for people with a learning disability 

until 2030, if current uptake ratios are projected forward using population growth estimates. 

However, this does not reflect any unmet demand from people who would ideally be placed in 

supported accommodation but cannot be currently – potentially because of a lack of provision or the 

unavailability of suitable co-inhabitants in shared accommodation – or those who have not yet 

presented to services but will be encouraged to by the Preparing for Adulthood initiative. 

 2013 2015 2020 2025 2030 

Projected 18+ Population with LD 

known to CEC 

1159 1176 1205 1235 1272 

Projected 18 + Population with LD as 

Primary Care type known to CEC  

900 914 937 962 991 

Projected 18 + Population with LD 

known to CEC in need of Supported 

Accommodation 

368 374 383 393 405 

 Source: Office of National Statistics (ONS): POPPI; PANSI 

Children 

A major issue regarding future demand is ascertaining the number of young people with a learning 

disability. Most of the figures available (and those quoted thus far) are for the adult population of 

Cheshire East. However, many children will present a range of needs for supported accommodation 

when they enter adulthood and need to be captured early and engaged in future planning so that 

the Council can effectively anticipate which kinds of accommodation are required.  

                                                           
13 Public Health England, ‘Learning Disabilities Profile 2013 – Cheshire East’ 

Page 90



P a g e  | 53 

 

 

School records are an effective means of tracking the young population with learning disabilities or 

related conditions. The latest national statistics regarding Special Educational Needs (SEN) produced 

by the Department for Education showed that in 2013 the number of young people at school with a 

statement of SEN was 2.8% (229,390) pupils.  

A student with special educational needs (SEN) typically has significantly greater difficulty in learning 

than the majority of pupils of their age. A SEN statement sets out a child's needs and the help they 

should be given to help them fulfil their potential. In addition to pupils with SEN statements there 

were 1,316,220 pupils nationally (16%) with certain SEN without statements. These pupils receive 

School Action and School Action Plus,14 and can be charted through figures pertaining to these 

schemes.  In Cheshire East there are around 54,000 school-age children, of which 1,656 (3%) have a 

statement of SEN. The primary needs that inform these statements are broken down below, 

indicating the proportion of children whose SEN are the result of various learning difficulties and 

associated conditions.  

Primary Need 
Pupils with statements of SEN 

National National % CEC CEC % % Variation 

Specific Learning Difficulty 11,128 4.85% 43 2.60% -2.25% 

Moderate Learning Difficulty 35,524 15.49% 253 15.28% -0.21% 

Severe Learning Difficulty 29,243 12.75% 234 14.13% 1.38% 

Profound & Multiple Learning Difficulty 10,316 4.50% 37 2.23% -2.26% 

Behaviour, Emotional & Social Difficulties 31,813 13.87% 292 17.63% 3.76% 

Speech, Language and Communications 

Needs 

31,393 13.69% 203 12.26% -1.43% 

Hearing Impairment 6,674 2.91% 56 3.38% 0.47% 

Visual Impairment 3,759 1.64% 32 1.93% 0.29% 

Multi- Sensory Impairment 557 0.24% 12 0.72% 0.48% 

Physical Disability 14,170 6.18% 123 7.43% 1.25% 

Autistic Spectrum Disorder 50,146 21.86% 318 19.20% -2.66% 

Other Difficulty/Disability 4,667 2.03% 53 3.20% 1.17% 

Total 229,390 100.00% 1,656 100.00%  

Source: School Census 2013 

                                                           
14 ‘School Action’ means that when a class or subject teacher identifies that a pupil has special educational 

needs, the teacher provides interventions that are ‘additional to or different from those provided as part of 

the school’s usual differentiated curriculum offer and strategies’.  

 ‘School Action Plus’ is defined as when the class or subject teacher and the SENCO [Special educational needs 

coordinator] are provided with advice or support from outside specialists, so that alternative interventions 

additional or different strategies to those provided for the pupil through School Action can be put in place. 

Page 91



P a g e  | 54 

 

 

Atop these figures, schools data also furnishes the number of children receiving School Action and 

School Action Plus, who require a lower-level of educational support.  

Area  Pupils with SEN without statements 

School Action Plus School Action 

Plus %  

School Action School 

Action 

%  

Total SEN pupils 

without statements 

Total SEN 

without 

Statements%  

National 473,035 5.7 779,635 9.5 1,316,220 16.0 

Cheshire East 2,375 4.4 4,310 8.0 7,016 13.1 

Source: School Census 2013  

This leads to a total Cheshire East figure of 8,672 pupils with some form of SEN. Of these, it is 

anticipated that only those with severe or moderate learning difficulties will experience the need for 

some kind of specialist accommodation in the future, with others being able to live independently 

despite requiring additional support in a learning environment. However, an exact cohort of young 

people with learning disabilities is difficult to define. Although the numbers of children with severe 

learning disabilities can be estimated reasonably exactly, the scope of children with moderate 

learning disabilities, who may not have presented to public services, is difficult to fathom. Improving 

intelligence on the number of children with learning disabilities will require schools data to be 

reconciled with that from other sources, such as Children’s Development Centres and GPs; this 

exercise is currently being undertaken as part of the needs analysis workstream of Cheshire East’s 

Learning Disabilities Lifecourse project, which will draw upon and refine the data presented here.  

Even with accurate data on the number of children with learning disabilities, an exact cohort who 

will experience housing need is difficult to fathom, given that much depends on the early 

intervention and assistance that these young people access. Moreover, not all young people with 

learning disabilities and associated conditions will present with a housing need upon their 

eighteenth birthday. For this client group, future planning and early intervention are of great 

importance given the established living patterns of those with a learning disability. It is understood 

that a swathe of people with learning disabilities are being cared for at home by family and friends 

and may neither be known to the local authority nor have a plan in place for later life. This is 

especially vital as carers age: a large portion of future housing demand comes from those with 

learning disabilities whose carers have either died or are no longer able to effectively care for their 

charges. Future planning is all too often lacking, with 83% of parents nationally whose son or 

daughter has a learning disability not having planned for a time when they are no longer able to 

provide care. More worrying still, 56% of parents over 70 whose son or daughter has a learning 

disability have not established a plan for the future. Where there are plans in place, there is 

frequently not a joined up approach: nationally, 27% of parents who do have a plan in the event that 

they can no longer provide care have not informed the local authority, who would aim to facilitate 

and help.15   

                                                           
15

 Mencap, ‘Housing for People with Learning Disabilities’ 

Page 92



P a g e  | 55 

 

 

Cheshire East Council therefore aims to target people with learning disabilities living with family and 

friends, encouraging them to present to the Council and develop future care plans. In this way, 

future accommodation demand can be anticipated; independence can be promoted from an earlier 

point in care; and affected people have optimal, planned transitions as carers age or pass away. 

Supply 

900 of the 1159 adults (78%) with a learning disability known to the Council have learning disability 

assigned as their primary care type – meaning it is adjudged by social care to be their chief care 

requirement, potentially amongst a range of other needs. Accommodation status data (see table 

below) is available for those 900 adults with a learning disability assigned as their primary care type. 

This data informs us about the kinds of accommodation utilised by and prescribed for clients of 

social care. 

Client Living Status (LD as primary care type) Total 

Unknown 39 

Acute/Health/Hospital 1 

Adult Placement Scheme 9 

Family/Friends Settled 281 

Family/Friends Short-Term 3 

Lives Alone 4 

Living with Relative (Not Parent) 1 

Other Temporary Accommodation 1 

Owner Occupied/Shared 12 

Registered Care Home 71 

Registered Nursing Home 20 

Sheltered/Extra Care Housing 4 

Supported Accommodation 368 

Tenant (Private Landlord) 41 

Tenant (Local Authority) 45 

Total 900 

Source: Cheshire East PARIS Data (Oct 2013) 

Page 93



P a g e  | 56 

 

 

From this data we can make a number of observations: 

 Whilst a high percentage of people with a learning disability live in their own home with 

friends or family, it is notable that, in comparison with other client groups, the majority of 

people with a learning disability known to social services are housed in supported 

accommodation. This reflects that this client group preponderantly require some degree of 

support that, if needs are low enough, can be provided by family, but in most instances will 

be necessarily provided by support services. Moreover, this indicates that people with 

learning disabilities are generally encouraged to live independently, with supported 

accommodation helping clients to learn to live on their own or with other people besides 

family. Supported accommodation remains the most attractive and beneficial model for the 

majority of clients provided the composition of stock is right, helping clients to gain the skills 

and experiences to live on their own.  

 It is important to note the people not captured by this data. It is anticipated that many more 

people with learning disabilities live in the community unknown to social services, supported 

by solely by their families. This is problematic if care needs rise or carers age or die.  

 There is a relative dearth of individuals placed in sheltered or extra care schemes. This 

represents an area for further exploration as such accommodation models offer similar 

benefits to the best supported accommodation (independent setting with support as 

required) provided that the correct support can be delivered. Consultation feedback 

suggests that these accommodation models offer an environment that people with learning 

disabilities are amenable to, and Cheshire East will further explore the viability and 

development of these models for people with learning disabilities. 

 254 people received services in residential or nursing care (both short-term and long-term), 

of which 91 people are currently settled long-term in residential or nursing homes. This 

figure is high when taken in comparison with neighbouring local authorities. Data from the 

personal social services expenditure return (PSSEX1 2010-11) analysis shows that Cheshire 

East funds a much higher level of nursing care for clients with a learning disability than our 

statistical neighbours: we fund more than double the number of client weeks and our costs 

are about 10% higher. This means that Cheshire East is spending about £1m per year more 

than our neighbours on residential or nursing care for people with learning disabilities. As 

such, a greater provision of supported accommodation or greater uptake of sheltered and 

extra care schemes by people with learning disabilities could redistribute some of the higher 

needs cases away from institutional care and towards an independent setting, reducing the 

reliance on, and expense of, institutional placements.   

Supported Accommodation 

We will now examine the composition of supported accommodation placements in greater detail. As 

of July 2013, Cheshire East has the capacity to house 409 people with a varied range of learning 

disabilities in supported accommodation across the Borough. Care and support in these 

arrangements is provided through the Council’s in-house service Care4CE across five supported 

living networks, as well as through a number of registered providers with whom the Council 

Page 94



P a g e  | 57 

 

 

contracts. Care4CE has capacity for 166 individuals, whilst providers account for 263 units of 

supported accommodation supply. 

Town 

Bungalow Flats House Total 

33% 19% 48% 100% 

Capacity Filled Capacity Filled Capacity Filled Capacity Filled 

Chelford 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 

Congleton 33 31 3 3 25 23 61 57 

Crewe 20 18 12 12 41 33 73 63 

Handforth 18 16 1 1 4 3 23 20 

Holmes 
Chapel 

0 0 0 0 2 2 2 2 

Knutsford 13 12 2 2 27 24 42 38 

Macclesfield 27 25 56 55 56 51 139 131 

Middlewich 2 2 0 0 4 4 6 6 

Nantwich 11 10 3 3 21 19 35 32 

Sandbach 10 10 0 0 4 3 14 13 

Wilmslow 0 0 0 0 3 3 3 3 

Wistaston 0 0 0 0 3 2 3 2 

Total 134 
124 

(93%) 
78 

77 
(99%) 

190 
167 

(88%) 
402 

368   
(92%) 

Source: Cheshire East Learning Disability Supported Accommodation Register (July 2013) 

A number of themes belie these figures: 

 The majority of supported stock in Cheshire East for people with learning disabilities is 

shared houses (48%). However, this can offer accessibility problems for those with more 

serious or deteriorating conditions unless they are specially adapted. Moreover, shared 

houses represent the lowest level of independence for residents, as everything is shared 

communally and each individual does not have their own front door. Therefore, for shared 

housing to work effectively, resident composition must be carefully tailored to ensure a 

palliative, mutually-supportive composition.  

 This is often a difficult balance to achieve with the clients available, resulting in a higher 

degree of voids. 88% of shared houses are filled; whilst this generally reflects the high 

demand for supported accommodation, 88% is lower than uptake for bungalows and flats. 

These latter two types of provision are generally more accessible and popular, having an 

uptake of 93% and 99% respectively. This is indicative of the greater levels of accessibility 

(especially in the case of the bungalow) and independence (particularly in the case of flats, 

which are let individually and have their own front doors) that these types of provision 

afford, as well as the decreased onus on achieving a perfect need or behavioural 

composition given that shared space or functions are limited.  

 This corroborates consultation findings, which emphasised that, for people with learning 

disabilities, individual tenancies within a wider shared scheme are the ideal model, allowing 

Page 95



P a g e  | 58 

 

 

an optimal balance between communal support, independent living, and private boundaries: 

maximising support whilst eliminating social friction born of total commune. This is why 

services believe that supported accommodation consisting of individual tenancies is the 

ideal model. Such a model could potentially be delivered in a sheltered housing and extra 

care scheme, given that they offer private tenancies with adaptable support on site.  

 There is therefore a need to both continually refresh supported accommodation stock, 

ensuring it is amenable and appropriate, and create a wider array of specialist provision to 

better meet the broad spectrum of needs that is unique to the learning disability client 

group. The Council will therefore strive to work with partners to create more up-to-date, 

attractive, and diverse supported accommodation, giving preference to more specially 

adapted bungalows and flats to rebalance the current preponderance of shared houses. This 

will inform a wider piece of work between Strategic Housing, Adult Services, and Children’s 

services to create an ideal model of stock that can then be used as a development 

specification going forward. 

 Finally, current supported accommodation is unevenly distributed, with Poynton, Wilmslow, 

Holmes Chapel, Sandbach, and Knutsford possessing significantly less supported 

accommodation for people with learning disabilities than the major population centres of 

Macclesfield, Crewe, and Congleton. 

Chapter Conclusions 

Key Findings 

 Social care clients with learning disabilities require some level of support to live 

independently. This is chiefly provided through supported accommodation and community 

care. 

 However, Cheshire East has a greater proportion of people with a learning disability placed 

in institutional care than comparator authorities. 

 There is a projected increase in the population with learning disabilities in coming years, 

though ascertaining the total affected population is a difficult task that requires on-going 

refinement as part of the Learning Disabilities Lifecourse project. 

 Consultation and client feedback indicates that individual tenancies (with their own front 

door) within a communal scheme are the optimal supported accommodation paradigm for 

people with learning disabilities. 

Strategic Priorities 

 Work as part of the Learning Disabilities Lifecourse project to create an increasingly accurate 

picture of the number of people with learning disabilities in the Borough, as well as their 

levels of need and associated housing requirements.  

Page 96



P a g e  | 59 

 

 

 Work with providers to rationalise and recalibrate supported accommodation stock and 

tenant compositions within existing budgets, prioritising the creation of independent 

tenancies within flats and bungalows, rather than the current preponderance of shared 

housing. 

 Promote and develop sheltered and extra care housing as options for people with learning 

disabilities, working with partners and reviewing Council-held assets to establish prospective 

development opportunities.  

 Target families and young people affected by learning disabilities to plan for the future and 

present to services earlier to receive assistance and support. This will entail support for the 

‘Preparing for Adulthood’ campaign promoted for those with SEN and learning disabilities, 

linking the campaigns outcomes and initiatives into the Council’s pathways for this client 

group. 

Page 97



P a g e  | 60 

 

 

Mental Health Issues 

Chapter Summary 

Background 

Everybody has an oscillating state of mental health that changes according to experiences and 

events. Cheshire East Council looks to help and support those whose mental health nadirs impact on 

their ability to live healthy and safe lives. As such, mental health occurs across a spectrum of severity 

and condition; it captures depression, anxiety, schizophrenia, psychosis, dementia, and many other 

conditions pertaining to mental state. Notably, there is a distinction between dementia and other 

mental health issues: the Council systematically looks to enable recovery and rehabilitation in the 

bulk of mental health ailments; however, dementia is by nature degenerative, shifting the emphasis 

slightly towards enabling maximal independence and quality of life at a given time. 

Mental health issues are common across the population and, in many cases, can be managed 

through robust support or treatment networks and stable lifestyles, allowing the majority of those 

with a low frequency mental health disorder to live independently in the community in general 

needs housing. As such, Cheshire East primarily aims to provide preventative, rehabilitative or short-

term care and support to people with mental health issues, in the hope of supporting them to 

overcome their condition and return to a fulfilling life within the community. Such a support network 

is largely delivered by the Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs): a public health partnership 

involving Cheshire East social care workers and NHS-funded health professionals. The CMHTs 

provide different treatment tiers scaled to the needs of clients, referring to care services, support 

services, health services, supported accommodation or institutional care as appropriate.  

For people with heightened or enduring mental health issues who are unable to be housed safely 

within the community or those with a pre-existing housing need (for example, clients with acute 

depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, or latter stage dementia) the right mixture of specialist 

and supported accommodation is critical. These people have more specific and acute care needs, 

and can often fall victim of social isolation unless properly accommodated. This can entail sheltered 

accommodation or institutional schemes; however, Cheshire East, as with other client groups, aims 

to reduce reliance on residential care as a long-term solution, and aspires to instead maximise use of 

supported accommodation to enable individuals live independently.  

Cheshire East strives fundamentally for a recovery and rehabilitation model of mental health care 

delivered through a phased programme; ultimately this chapter recommends that there needs to be 

a flexible and mixed menu of accommodation and support that can cater for a range of needs and 

allows clients to effectively engage with each stage of their treatment. 

Key Evidence Sources: 

 Moving Forward – Cheshire East Housing Strategy 2011 - 2016 

 Cheshire East Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

Page 98



P a g e  | 61 

 

 

 Cheshire East SHMA Extra Care Housing Report 

 Red Quadrant Report 

 Census 2011 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 CWP Data 

 No Health Without Mental Health 

 Social Services Monitoring Data (PARIS) 

 Cheshire East Monitoring Data for Specialist Mental Health Supported Accommodation 

 Cheshire East Monitoring Data for Institutional Care Facilities 

 Supporting People Needs Analysis 

 Social Services Expenditure Return 

 NOMIS (Office of Labour Market Statistics) 

 PANSI and POPPI projections 

Detailed Findings 

National and Local Policy Context 

The Government’s strategy ‘No Health without Mental Health’ set the tone in emphasising the 

importance of prevention and recovery in mental health treatment, as opposed to previous trends 

of institutional management of mental health issues. The strategy heavily connects housing to these 

outcomes, stressing the importance of equality of access and highlighting the role of appropriate 

housing as a preventative and convalescent measure. 

There is a strong history of joined-up partnership working – reified in the CMHTs – and joint 

commissioning for elements such as dementia. Throughout its partnerships and commissioning, 

Cheshire East recognises that people with mental health issues should be given every opportunity to 

live a fulfilling life within the community, with ready access to accommodation and services that 

facilitate this across a spectrum of needs. As such, the Council champions a concerted focus on 

recovery and rehabilitation – or, in the case of dementia, a phased management of the condition 

that seeks to mitigate degenerative effects and maximise quality of life. Cheshire East’s treatment 

services follow a Stepped Approach to Recovery (StAR) Model, and has a throughput process taking 

those with mental health needs through a single-point of access for services, to a recovery team who 

look to stabilise a client’s condition through intensive services, followed by a review procedure of 

transitional and lower-intensity services, to discharge and aftercare.  

Page 99



P a g e  | 62 

 

 

It is important that accommodation provision is capable of supporting this process, for instance by 

providing stable accommodation in which recovery can take place; without this, clients may struggle 

to engage with rehabilitative treatment and services may be unable to reach those they are treating.  

Dementia 

Cheshire East Council currently does not have a holistic commissioning strategy for people with 

mental health issues, though there is a Joint Commissioning Plan for people with dementia between 

the Council and the South and East Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). The vision of this 

commissioning plan is to:  

‘... make a real and positive difference to the lives of people affected by dementia. We want to 

ensure that people with dementia and their carers receive high quality, compassionate, timely care 

whether they are at home, in hospital or in a care home.’ 

The Joint Commissioning Plan identifies the following objectives for people with dementia. These 

will be reinforced through their housing and associated services: 

1. Individuals are diagnosed in a timely manner. 

2. Individuals, their carers/families have information and support to enable them to help them 

make choices appropriate to their needs. 

3. Individuals, their carers/families are supported and provided with information about local 

travel schemes to enable them to access services. 

4. All health and social care staff will receive appropriate dementia training to support 

individuals, carers/families. 

5. Individuals have access to treatment and support to enable them to have a sustained and 

improved quality of life. 

6. Individuals and their families/carers have access to Assistive Technologies to enable them to 

have a sustained and improved quality of life. 

7. Individuals, their carers/families have appropriate, timely support to enable them to make 

informed choices about power of attorney/financial planning/advanced decisions/end of life 

planning. 

8. Individuals and their carers/families are safeguarded and treated with dignity and respect. 

9. Individuals, their carers/families will be guided and supported to access information relating 

to NHS funded Continuing Healthcare Assessments, Personal Health Budgets and Social Care 

funded individual personalised budgets.. 

10. Individuals are enabled and supported to have a dignified death in their chosen place of 

care. 

11. Individual’s experiences and those of their carers/families are captured and inform future 

research at local and national levels. 

12. Individuals have the right level of support to manage pain and receive appropriate 

medication for their needs. 

 

Principally situated within the joint commissioning strategy is the need to ensure that Cheshire East 

is a dementia-friendly community, where both public services and the wider community are 

equipped with the knowledge and understanding to effectively assist people with dementia in all 

Page 100



P a g e  | 63 

 

 

aspects of their lives. A flagship event will be hosted and coordinated by Cheshire East to galvanise 

energies towards this central pillar of the Plan, in conjunction with other public agencies in the 

Borough. 

 

Other Mental Health Issues 

In terms of trends in treatment, medical advances are allowing for better means to chemically 

address mental imbalances and reduce side-effects. However, an increasing emphasis is placed on 

non-medical factors in mental health: diet, exercise, sociability, employment, family stability, etc. 

This creates a more nuanced picture of cause and treatment, connecting an individual’s mental 

health to things such as fluctuations in the economy, society, and personal circumstance. This 

ultimately supports the recent impulse towards holistic and preventative support, where mental 

health is treated most effectively by early intervention, raising awareness, and supporting people to 

negotiate contingent hardship or alienation. These are distinctly non-medical factors that are 

captured in large part by the Council’s wider objectives to improve prosperity and well-being in the 

Borough.   

Many mental health issues are caused or exacerbated by contingent and transient circumstance; 

support during difficult periods is therefore vital and ultimately beneficial, as proportionate 

intervention can stymie the effects of difficult conditions and curtail the chance of a condition 

escalating. As such, support, care, and housing services must be flexible and scalable to meet the 

uniquely fluctuating nature of mental health: it is important that services do not fall into a ‘one-size 

fits all’ operating model and can adapt to (often rapidly) changing needs.  

The Council aims to explore a more strategic and cross-service approach to mental health issues as 

an outcome of this strategy, to unify the objectives of mental health services, create superior 

protocols for helping people with mental health issues, and better inform a detailed specification of 

accommodation requirements. Such work will use the information and conclusions of this strategy 

as its starting point.  

Consultation Response 

 Consultation feedback attested that the majority of people with mental health needs were 

able to live in the community and benefit from being allowed to flourish in an independent 

setting.  

 Stability is an important issue for mental health patients, and it is important that, where 

possible, individuals can remain in one setting with support and care that wraps around 

them. This requires a flexible stock of accommodation that can meet a range of client and 

service needs. 

 It was recognised that this group are high users of institutional care, and this needs to be 

rebalanced where possible. Supported accommodation will always be needed and can help 

combat the isolation and loneliness that many people with mental health issues experience. 

Page 101



P a g e  | 64 

 

 

 The provision of assessment flats was thought to be a progressive concept, where clients 

experiencing a crisis or emergency could be housed temporarily. This negates compatibility 

and social issues that can emerge during times of crisis. 

 The provision of accommodation is the key issue. Cheshire East can provide the appropriate 

support, provided that there is a property in which to house the mental health client. 

Considerable pressure on supported accommodation was noted by providers and CMHTs, 

with the number of clients with mental health issues presenting to social services and GPs 

increasing.  

 The specific requirements of high-needs and dementia clients were highlighted. It was felt 

that adaptations and assistive technologies can achieve great results for the complex end of 

the needs spectrum, and extra-care and sheltered housing schemes can be put to greater 

use as an effective alternative to institutional care.  

Current Pathways to Care and Support 

Supporting People 

Supporting People provides a range of accommodation and floating services for people with mental 

health issues who have lower care requirements and are not eligible for social care. Floating support 

is designed primarily to assist individuals to integrate effectively into the community and manage 

long-term independent tenancies. Accommodation support takes the form of short-term hostel 

services that serve as a mid-point between intensive care and independent living, aiding the 

transition between the two. These services are therefore vital in stopping low-level mental health 

conditions escalating, supporting individuals to negotiate heightened episodes, and providing 

transitional support for those recovering from a more severe mental condition. 

Data from Supporting People indicates that mental health services are currently under considerable 

demand and do not have the capacity to meet this. Moreover, this issue is forecast to grow more 

pressurised. In 2013/14, mental health issues accounted for 19% of all applications to the Supporting 

People single point of access and 15% of all referrals. This placed mental health as the most 

prominent client group outside of single homeless people, meaning the undersupply registered in 

supported accommodation provision for this group constitutes a priority in the context of this 

strategy.  

Mental Health Services Need 2020 Supply 2013 Gap 

Accommodation Support 143 87 -56 

Floating Support 150 100 -50 

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 

Social Care 

CMHTs contain social workers employed by Cheshire East as well as health professionals. As such, 

much mental health treatment is delivered through social services to complement the more clinical 

treatment (such as prescriptions) provided by the health element of the CMHTs. Treatment services 

look to help people in their own homes or, where possible, encourage contact at CMHT resource 

Page 102



P a g e  | 65 

 

 

centres. However, this is not possible for many people, either because the chaotic or high-level 

nature of their needs necessitates more intensive monitoring, or because the client has a housing 

need and requires placement into supported or specialist accommodation. The following table 

surveys the number of care interventions (individual units of care) received by people with a range 

of mental health issues. These figures capture all kinds of intervention, both short and long-term, 

and chart the number of times a service is delivered – potentially multiple times to the same client.  

Care Type Dementia Non-Dementia Total 

Day care 43 21 64 

Direct payments 33 165 198 

Equipment and adaptations 17 6 23 

Extra care housing 6 15 21 

Family based care 8 33 41 

Home care 92 297 389 

Intermediate care 14 13 27 

Mental health day care 1 3 4 

Nursing 136 44 180 

Other 81 42 123 

PCMH 1 1 2 

Professional support 0 3 3 

Residential 106 76 182 

Respite nursing 3 1 4 

Respite residential 18 14 32 

Grand Total 559 734 1293 

Source: Social Services Monitoring Data (PARIS) 

They demonstrate: 

 Amongst the clients of social services, care at home or in the community is still the most 

viable and desired option for those members of this client group – including those with 

dementia. This highlights that for the majority of clients with mental health issues, 

treatment and care can be provided on a floating or flexible basis provided the client has 

settled accommodation. This accommodation can be the client’s own home or, if they had a 

Page 103



P a g e  | 66 

 

 

housing requirement or sufficiently high needs, supported accommodation sourced for 

them. 

 For those individuals who cannot be safely cared for within the community due to high or 

complex needs, residential and nursing care are the most common recourse, and occur at a 

significant frequency (31%) compared with other client groups. The majority of those are 

dementia sufferers, but 18% of non-dementia clients are still utilising institutional care. This 

reflects the historic proclivity to treat mental health with intensive institutional care, 

focusing on managing a condition rather than recovery. It is therefore important that 

nursing care is used appropriately as a stage in a wider rehabilitation process, and Cheshire 

East will continue to review its assessment processes and move-on protocols to reduce the 

relatively high usage of institutional care for people with mental health issues.  

 Equipment and adaptations represent a relatively low proportion of social services provided 

to people with mental health issues. However, there are progressive assistive technologies, 

equipment, and adaptations that can deliver significant positive outcomes for people with 

dementia. Cheshire East is committed to promoting these more extensively, with the Joint 

Commissioning Strategy for Dementia highlighting that more people should be assessed for 

assistive technologies when presenting to social services with dementia. Principally, these 

technologies, items of equipment, and adaptations can enable people with dementia to live 

in their own homes for longer, negating both the risk of a care crisis and the need for 

relocation into more costly specialised accommodation.  

Reablement 

In addition to the work of Supported People, Care4CE operates a mental health reablement service 

designed to impart the skills required effectively transition back into community living and maintain 

a general needs tenancy. This service is targeted for when clients are leaving the review stage of 

their care process, but performs work with clients earlier in their programme depending on their 

level of need. The service operates well, though Cheshire East needs to review the prospect of 

bolstering such provision, drawing on best practise in other authorities to operate an aftercare team 

that facilitates a phased recovery plan for 12 months after a client’s care plan expires.  

Demand 

Dementia: 

There is a direct correlation between those suffering from dementia and increasing levels of old age. 

The occurrence of dementia starts to increase over the age of 65, with one in twenty having a form 

of dementia at this age. Dementia is most common in people in their eighties (10-20% affected) and 

nineties (30% affected). Women are about 30% more likely than men to develop dementia.16 

Dementia costs the UK economy £17bn a year and this will increase to £50bn in the next 30 years.17 

                                                           
16 Cheshire East Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, Dementia and its Impacts, September 2012 

17
 Audit Commission, ‘Under Pressure: Tackling the Financial Challenges for Councils of an Ageing Population’ 

(2010) 

Page 104



P a g e  | 67 

 

 

There is a predicted 78% increase in dementia sufferers in Cheshire East by 2030, which will place 

considerable strain on current accommodation, care capacity, and funding.  

Age Band  2012  2015  2020  2025  2030  % increase  

People aged 65-69  289  308  274  293  346  20  

People aged 70-74  465  528  640  575  617  33  

People aged 75-79  820  884  1,023  1,251  1,127  37  

People aged 80-84  1,250  1,304  1,516  1,784  2,213  77  

People aged 85-89  1,311  1,428  1,633  1,967  2,339  78  

People aged 90 
and over  

1,105  1,281  1,605  2,046  2,693  144  

Total population 
aged 65 and over  

5,240  5,732  6,690  7,915  9,335  78  

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS) www.poppi.org.uk  

As of October 2013 there were 604 clients of social care who received dementia care. The 

discrepancy between this figure and the estimated total cohort (shown in the above table) arises 

because this figure captures only those who have presented to social care and are FACs eligible, 

meaning that those people with low or moderate dementia needs are not included. If the number of 

social care clients moves in-line with the total estimated cohort, it will increase to 1075 by 2030. 

Dementia clients are higher users of institutional care (see following section on ‘Supply’), which 

poses a cost risk should the expanding demand continue to be met through this kind of provision. As 

identified in the Joint Commissioning Plan for Dementia, it is therefore increasingly important to 

adopt an early-intervention and staged approach to care with dementia clients, to ensure that, 

where appropriate and safe, institutional care is relied on less frequently or only at the latter stages 

of an individual’s care programme, with escalating demand managed through better preventative 

measures and phased, transitional housing.  

Other Mental Health Issues 

Cheshire East CMHTs (one based in Crewe and the other in Macclesfield) currently provide 

treatment for the following number of people with mental health issues. They chiefly receive 

referrals from GPs, who are expected to try pharmaceutical treatments before referring to the 

CMHTs should the problem prove to be persistently serious.  

Treatment Stage Crewe Macclesfield Total 

SPA 103 151 254 

Recovery 261 306 567 

Review 382 485 867 

Outreach 27 37 64 

Total 773 979 1752 

Source: CMHTs Casenotes Reporting April 2014 

Mental health issues are tied to wider societal factors, and have experienced an increase during the 

recent recession. It is notable at an operational level that demand for mental health services is on 

the rise, with both CMHT and Supporting People services (to whom CMHTs refer) reporting 

Page 105

http://www.poppi.org.uk/


P a g e  | 68 

 

 

congested service through-puts and accommodation undersupplies. This partially reflects reductions 

in funding to healthcare, meaning more people are leaving hospital with acute mental health needs 

that must be met within the community.  

Accommodation Status 

The accommodation status of this client group is a relatively incomplete dataset given that there is 

no statutory obligation to record it as part of a client’s social care records. However, it can give us a 

snapshot of the accommodation requirements and preferences of this client group. The sample of 

134 social care clients whose accommodation status is recorded has below been extrapolated to 

provide a projection for the living arrangements of the 1035 mental health clients captured by adult 

social care data. As stated above, social care data does not reflect the entire mental health cohort 

given that it captures only those who are eligible for social care - meaning that those people with 

low or moderate mental health needs, who may still be receiving some lower-intensity treatment or 

support brokered by CMHTs, are not included.  

The below table suggests that, even amongst the higher-needs clients who qualify for social care, 

people with mental health issues prefer to live in the community within their own homes, and that 

community care and support can effectively enable this. A significant proportion resides in 

institutional care, with more dementia clients utilising institutional care - and especially nursing care 

– than non-dementia clients, who have a greater tendency to reside in supported accommodation 

and intermediate housing options such as extra care and sheltered. Cheshire East aims to ensure 

that any institutional placement is part of a structured care plan that aspires to rehabilitate rather 

than simply manage a mental health issue, and that other supported or intermediate 

accommodation options are explored first as part of someone’s treatment journey.  

Non-Dementia Dementia 

Living Status Projected Non-
Dementia Total 

% Living Status Projected Dementia Total % 

Family/Friends 
Settled 

192 32 Lives Alone 127 30 

Registered Care 
Home 

115 19 Registered Nursing 
Home 

79 18 

Lives Alone 48 8 Owner 
Occupied/Shared 

73 17 

Living Alone with 
Relative (Not 
Parent) 

48 8 Registered Care Home 67 15 

Registered Nursing 
Home 

48 8 Family/Friends 
Settled 

42 10 

Supported 
Accommodation 

48 8 Living Alone with 
Relative (Not Parent) 

24 6 

Owner 
Occupied/Shared 

38 6 Sheltered/Extra Care 
Housing 

6 1 

Tenant (Local 
Authority) 

38 6 Tenant (Local 
Authority) 

6 1 

Sheltered/Extra 10 2 Tenant (Private 6 1 

Page 106



P a g e  | 69 

 

 

Care Housing Landlord) 

Temporary Local 
Authority 
Accommodation 

10 2 Supported 
Accommodation 

0 0 

Tenant (Private 
Landlord) 

10 2 Temporary Local 
Authority 
Accommodation 

0 0 

Grand Total 604 100 Grand Total 431 100 

Source: Social Services Monitoring Data (PARIS) 

Supply 

Accommodation provision for people with mental health issues currently takes a number of formats, 

ranging from institutional care to supported housing options. The picture is complicated by the fact 

that some residents of Cheshire East (especially those placed through adult social care) are housed 

outside of the Borough; this applies mainly to institutional care but there are also a small number of 

external supported accommodation placements funded by Cheshire East. 

Supported Accommodation 

The following table summarises the kinds of supported accommodation provision available within 

Cheshire East. Supported accommodation for people with mental health issues can be difficult to 

broker, given that this client group above all others requires careful monitoring of social 

developments, and are often the most combustible in a shared environment. 87 of the units detailed 

below are directly funded through Supporting People, with the remaining 61 being provided outside 

of this programme.  

Consultation has revealed that CMHTs and supported accommodation providers are wary of utilising 

shared housing as an a priori position for clients with higher needs – or those in the early, recovery 

phases of their StAR programme: without close monitoring from a warden or care workers, people 

with mental health issues can easily develop social dependencies or are at risk of incendiary 

relationships. Moreover, clients with mental health issues respond better to a stable tenancy which 

is wholly their own and is unlikely to change. As such, the preferred approach where possible is self-

contained accommodation where each individual has their own front door, combined with routine 

monitoring and support that can adapt to care needs.  

For these reasons, beneficial results for people with mental health issues can be realised in sheltered 

housing or extra care schemes as well as supported accommodation placements, seeing as the 

former housing models combine stable, individual properties with the possibility of regular and 

adaptive support. Indeed, as shown under the ‘Demand’ section, CMHTs do currently refer mental 

health clients to extra care and sheltered housing schemes where appropriate.  

 

 

 

Page 107



P a g e  | 70 

 

 

Location Units 

Congleton 30 

Middlewich 23 

Sandbach 7 

Macclesfield 55 

Crewe 29 

Alsager 4 

Total 148 

Source: Cheshire East Monitoring Data for Specialist Mental Health Supported Accommodation 

There are a number of themes and issues that surround the supported accommodation stock in 

Cheshire East: 

 The current provision is well-divided between shared properties (arrangements where a 

small community of clients receives floating and on-demand support) and independent flats. 

The latter paradigm, as per the above analysis, is often deemed the most preferable 

composition for clients with higher needs. As demonstrated in the previous section, extra 

care and sheltered schemes also admit individuals with mental health issues (including 

dementia) with good outcomes. It is therefore important that a range of accommodation 

and support services are appropriately designated and mapped to evolving care needs.  

 Whilst the distribution of unit types is relatively even, the spread across localities is not. 

Congleton LAP area (comprising Congleton, Middlewich, and Sandbach) possesses the 

majority of supported accommodation for people with mental health. The bulk of specialist 

stock in Congleton is shared accommodation, whilst Crewe and Macclesfield have a 

monopoly on sheltered accommodation. This distribution is an issue that needs to be 

considered with providers as part of the on-going commissioning cycle.   

 A key issue is the undersupply of supported accommodation felt within the Borough, as 

reported by Supporting People. This creates issues for people whose mental health issues 

prohibit them placement within general needs accommodation – those who require a 

degree of support to live independently. This results in a growing number of mental health 

clients who are presenting to the homeless team having been unable to secure 

accommodation upon discharge from hospital or upon entry to treatment. This is 

problematic given that the majority of interim or temporary accommodation provision 

within the Borough is not able to cater for people with complex needs (including mental 

health patients), meaning that mental health clients are increasingly being placed in bed and 

breakfast through lack of appropriate alternatives. As such, there is a need for:  

o A recalibration of interim and temporary accommodation to cater for those with 

complex needs (including mental health) in the short term whilst they await 

placement in supported accommodation – this could include assessment flats (see 

next point) 

Page 108



P a g e  | 71 

 

 

o Bolstered working arrangements between the CMHTs and the homelessness team 

to better address mental health clients who have a housing need and find more 

routine placements in general needs accommodation. The demand pressure on 

supported accommodation could be alleviated if the required support levels were 

able to be delivered on a regular, floating basis to clients residing within general 

needs tenancies. This requires a coordinated approach between the CMHTs and 

housing teams in securing accommodation within the community, with assurances 

given to landlords that the required support levels to stabilise the tenant’s condition 

and enable them to live safely will be provided.   

 Consultation has also suggested the creation of a number of assessment flats in conjunction 

with RPs. This could be used to adequately gauge the extent of someone’s issues should 

they present as homeless, as interim accommodation whilst settled supported 

accommodation is sought, or as a refuge with more intensive provision to help negotiate a 

heightened episode so that such episodes are not exacerbated or allowed to jeopardise 

access to accommodation or treatment. 

 It is evident that Cheshire East’s accommodation provision and approach for people with 

mental health issues has been inherited from the legacy authorities and has evolved 

organically over time with minimal strategic direction: there is not currently a mental health 

strategy within Cheshire East, for instance.  

 Crucially, it is important that there is suitable accommodation provision mapped to each 

stage of the StAR process, ensuring that all clients can be housed appropriately at the 

various stages of their treatment and can ‘step-down’ into less intensive care and 

accommodation combinations as they move from recovery to aftercare. The creation of such 

a specification follows sector best practise, following on from the vaunted pathways 

approach of Camden and Oxford, which create a holistic process for a range of care needs 

supported by stratified routes through different accommodation types.  For others who are 

able to be treated at home from the outset, this will simply entail the recalibration of their 

treatment services, which is done by CMHTs at StAR gateway reviews.  

Institutional Accommodation 

The below table details the number of institutional placements that Cheshire East funds both inside 

and outside the Borough. The majority (66%) of these placements are for people with dementia, 

which frequently requires a residential or nursing setting given the degenerative nature of the 

ailment. The remaining 34% are for non-dementia sufferers with high care needs.  

The preponderance of institutional care is within the Borough, with just 15% of institutional care for 

people with mental health issues located outside of Cheshire East, which is low in comparison to 

other client groups. However, a higher proportion of non-dementia clients receive institutional care 

outside of the Borough compared with dementia clients, indicating that Cheshire East is better 

equipped to accommodate dementia sufferers than other high-level mental health issues.  

 

Page 109



P a g e  | 72 

 

 

  Provision Type Dementia Non-Dementia Total 

Provision 
in CEC 

Nursing 120 33 153 

Residential 94 60 154 

Respite Nursing 3 1 4 

Respite Residential 11 2 13 

Total 228 96 324 

Provision 
Outside 

CEC 

Nursing 13 11 24 

Residential 9 16 25 

Respite Nursing 1 0 1 

Respite Residential 0 7 7 

Total 23 34 57 

CEC 
Provision 
(Care4CE) 

Nursing 0 0 0 

Residential 0 0 0 

Respite Nursing 0 0 0 

Respite Residential 6 2 8 

Total 6 2 8 

Grand 
Totals 

Nursing 133 44 177 

Residential 103 76 179 

Respite Nursing 4 1 5 

Respite Residential 17 11 28 

Total 257 132 389 

Source: Cheshire East Monitoring Data for Institutional Care Facilities 

As aforementioned, it is important that Cheshire East looks to reduce dependency on institutional 

care to encourage preventative and rehabilitative outcomes whilst lowering social care costs. The 

non-dementia cohort will especially be targeted for community care or supported accommodation 

as a priority, given that, as shown previously, they are capable of being treated or housed in such 

settings – especially if captured by services before their mental health issue intensifies.  

Dementia clients are more likely to require institutional accommodation at some point in their 

treatment journey, given that there condition will intensify by nature with limited scope of 

prevention. For these clients, it is important that their entry into intensive, institutional settings is 

made at an appropriately late point in their treatment journey to maximise independence; such 

transition should arise only after lower-level supported or intermediate accommodation options 

have been utilised. Given that the intensification of dementia needs is expected as a client ages, it is 

pragmatic for the full range of accommodation options to be available in one place. This has led to 

the popularisation of dementia villages in places such as Holland, where dementia clients can 

transition from low-level accommodation and care packages (such as independent flats with flexible 

care) to more intensive provision within the same, specially-designed site. Cheshire East will explore 

Page 110



P a g e  | 73 

 

 

such options for future development to ensure that accommodation for people with dementia is 

optimal.    

Chapter Conclusions 

Key Findings 

 Numbers of mental health patients with a housing need is currently rising, with a large 

increase also projected in dementia clients in coming years.  

 Given the diverse spectrum of mental health issues, the majority of mental health clients are 

able to live independently within the community with an appropriate package of care and 

support. Stable accommodation is beneficial for mental health clients, so there is added 

onus on adaptive support services being able to reach them in situ. This is more easily 

achieved in supported accommodation or sheltered or extra care schemes, but can be 

realised in general needs accommodation with appropriate floating support.  

 For those with more acute mental health needs (such as dementia clients) nursing and 

residential care remain the most commonly-used provision. There is a greater degree of 

institutional provision for dementia clients within the Borough, whilst greater numbers of 

high-need, non-dementia clients are placed outside of the Borough.  

 Current supported accommodation stock predominantly encompasses shared and 

independent units, with the former being the most prevalent – despite independent 

tenancies within a communal scheme being deemed the better paradigm.  

 Supported accommodation places are under considerable demand pressure, resulting in 

difficulties in placing mental health clients who require some degree of support to live 

safely. More people with mental health needs are presenting as homeless, and current 

interim and temporary accommodation is not always able to support these needs.  

Strategic Priorities 

 Look to recalibrate interim and temporary accommodation with adequate support in order 

to ensure that short-term placements for people with mental health issues are viable. This 

ensures clients have somewhere to stay until a settled placement - either in general needs 

accommodation with support or a supported accommodation scheme - is sourced. This links 

with similar requirements raised in the ‘homelessness’ chapter. 

 Work with partners and providers to optimise the supply of supported accommodation for 

people with mental health issues in the Borough, supporting schemes that promise self-

contained tenancies with access to flexible support. Any new development of supported 

accommodation will be sustained wherever possible from within existing revenue budgets or 

through the utilisation of personal budgets. With revenue budgets committed, 

accommodation services will have to be decommissioned and recalibrated to fund new 

ones; this will be determined on the basis of effective business cases aligned to the priorities 

of this strategy. 

Page 111



P a g e  | 74 

 

 

 Similarly, the provision of assessment flats will be explored in conjunction with RPs. Such 

provision could be used to adequately gauge the extent of someone’s issues should they 

present as homeless, as interim accommodation whilst settled supported accommodation is 

sought, or as a refuge with more intensive provision to help negotiate a heightened episode 

so that such episodes are not exacerbated or allowed to jeopardise access to 

accommodation or treatment. 

 Produce a revised working protocol between the CMHT and the Housing teams in order to 

better assess and source accommodation for mental health clients. This will entail closer 

working with RPs to accessing more tenancies with floating support or treatment for mental 

health clients, thereby alleviating pressure on supported accommodation schemes.  

 Explore alternative models of accommodation provision for dementia clients, including the 

dementia village model that aims to create a safe environment that maximises 

independence for as long as possible through flexible combinations of accommodation and 

care. 

 Continue to raise awareness about the importance of mental health, promoting 

preventative thought and early intervention and/or presentation. 

 Promote greater assessment for, and use of, assistive technologies for people with 

dementia to ensure that more people can live safely at home for longer.  

 Establish a mental health strategic working group to forward these actions and ensure full 

integration of accommodation strategy into a bolstered strategic approach to mental health 

in the Borough, including raising awareness of mental health issues and early intervention.  

Page 112



P a g e  | 75 

 

 

Young People in Need and Cared for Children 

Chapter Summary 

Background 

This chapter concerns all vulnerable young people within Cheshire East. To capture the different 

ways in which vulnerable young people access services, it makes a tripartite distinction between: 

 Cared for Children: children to whom the authority has a parental duty and are in Cheshire 

East’s care. 

 Care Leavers: a subgroup within Cared for Children, care leavers are children in the local 

authority’s care who are nearing adulthood. These children are placed on a pathway plan to 

help them gain the specific skills and experiences required to live independently as adults 

once the local authority’s duty of care expires.  

 Young People in Need: those 16-25 years olds who have not been through the care system, 

but present to the authority with a housing need – often described as ‘young homeless’. 

Appropriate accommodation shapes the variety and experience of placements available to young 

people, as well as patterning the pathways out of care for by care leavers, which can be abrupt or 

phased depending on the flexibility of the accommodation menu and associated support services in 

the area.  

Cheshire East recognises the need to deliver a range of housing and housing support options 

appropriate to the needs and preferences of young people. Whilst children in care have a range of 

provision especially for them (in the form of residential homes and foster placements), there is 

substantial cross-over between young people in need and care leavers, who routinely access 

mainstream housing, generic floating support services, hostels, supported lodgings, as well as settled 

supported accommodation.  

Outcomes for chiefly concern giving young people in need the same opportunities and quality of life 

as their peers. Throughout the entire gamut of accommodation options available to young people, 

Cheshire East aims to support young people to develop the tenancy management and independent 

living skills required to live on their own in the long-term and void future loss of accommodation. 

This entails providing a stepped menu of accommodation that allows planned moves for young 

people out of care or supported accommodation and into independent living. To achieve this a 

multi-disciplinary approach will continue to be utilised in determining and addressing the broader 

needs of young people that may act as barriers to them achieving settled accommodation or 

independent living.  

Key Evidence Sources 

 Moving Forward – Cheshire East Housing Strategy 2011 - 2016 

 Cheshire East Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

Page 113



P a g e  | 76 

 

 

 Red Quadrant Report 

 Census 2011 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Social Services Monitoring Data (PARIS) 

 Supporting People Needs Analysis 

 Social Services Expenditure Return 

 NOMIS (Office of Labour Market Statistics) 

 Cared For Children Monitoring Report (October 2013) 

 Cheshire East Placement Sufficiency Statement for Cared for Children (April 2013) 

 Response to Children and Families Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group’s Care Leavers 

Report (July 2013) 

 Care Leaver Strategy: A cross-departmental strategy for young people leaving care (October 

2013) 

Detailed Findings 

National and Local Policy Context 

The Children’s Act (1989) identifies a number of key duties owed by local authorities to children. 

Those duties that chiefly concern accommodation are detailed in sections 17, 20, and 23 of the Act. 

Section 17 concerns a general duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children – including 

through accommodation provision as required; section 20 requires the authority to provide 

accommodation for children in need; and section 23 necessitates continued support for children 

beyond the usual duty of care. 

Children in Care 

 ‘Care Matters: Time for Change’ was a government strategy published in 2007 that outlined the 

focus and direction of children’s care. Crucially, the strategy stated that the key aim of children’s 

care is to reduce the gap in quality of life often experienced between cared for children and their 

peers. To realise this, the strategy recognised that a multi-agency approach was required to 

holistically ensure access and total care solutions, and that the right placement was critical to the 

well-being and outcomes for each child.  

Cheshire East Council is developing a Cared for Children Strategy to be the framework by which 

agencies and services in Cheshire East will ensure that cared for children have the same 

opportunities as their peers to enable them to fulfil their potential, and make a good start in adult 

life. It will set out shared priorities for cared for children and young people, and the actions to be 

taken over the next 3 years to make a positive difference to their lives and outcomes. 

Page 114



P a g e  | 77 

 

 

A key element in Cheshire East’s plan for aiding children in care is the Early Help Strategy, which 

recognises the link between local variations in social and economic conditions and outcomes for 

children. As such, the strategy ties children’s outcomes to wider improvements in prosperity and 

well-being, as well as encouraging a joined up approach across all Council services. These measures 

will help ensure that children’s needs are considered at an early stage across all departments and 

are best met by universal services and outcomes before there is a need for a child to enter care. 

It is important to recognise that the provision of an improved accommodation offering for children 

in care will also encompass (and benefit) those children remanded into local authority 

accommodation on bail. 

Children Leaving Care 

The Southwark ruling (May 2009, G vs. Southwark) clarified that the Section 20 duty of the 1989 

Children Act takes precedence over the duties within the 1966 Housing Act. Moreover, the Statutory 

guidance on Securing Sufficient Accommodation for Children in Care (May 2010) places a duty on 

local authorities to source and plan for a range of accommodation options for Cared for Children and 

Care Leavers which meets their needs and delivers good outcomes for them. These legislative 

developments reaffirmed that local authorities hold the duty to provide for children in need who 

require accommodation, leading to local authorities developing protocols for young people who may 

otherwise present as homeless when leaving care. The recent nature of this ruling has meant that 

the policy and accommodation response across the country is still embryonic.  

In October 2013 the government published a care leavers’ strategy which looked to, for the first 

time, create coordinated and cross-departmental action for care leavers, recognising that the 

journey of care leavers is patterned by a range of services for whom, individually, this client group 

may not be a priority. The strategy calls for a more integrated approach to services from the top-

down rather than the fragmented landscape that currently exists. These messages were 

foreshadowed by the 2012 report Access All Areas, which called for each central government 

department to scrutinise their policies with care leavers in mind and begin to operate in a 

coordinated manner. 

These national strategies prioritise a greater menu of accommodation options designed specifically 

for care leavers, whose needs are chronically underrepresented in housing nationally, leaving many 

care leavers feeling unsecure. The focal point of this is an improved offer of ‘staying put’ 

arrangements, where care leavers can still receive support and housing with their foster parents 

beyond 18. Fostering will always remain the priority for children in care, though by nature this 

housing strategy will focus on the kinds of specialist provision that can be developed – such as 

shared accommodation options for care leavers not in foster care.  

Young People in Need 

Adolescence is a difficult time for young people, which is compounded when they have a disruptive 

or abusive relationship with a primary carer. The majority of young homeless people have such a 

relationship, and their homelessness is a product of this relationship or the issues that formed it, 

such as mental health or substance abuse on the part of the carer or young person. Young people in 

Page 115



P a g e  | 78 

 

 

need are typically those who have left home or have been evicted from accommodation and are 

rough sleeping or sofa-surfing prior to presentation to services. As with care leavers they may 

require emotional as well as practical support.  

Care leavers can easily present as young homeless people following their departure from care, given 

that they frequently have behaviours or needs that mean they are unable to maintain a tenancy 

without appropriate support. Indeed, around a quarter of rough sleepers nationally have a 

background in care.18 This emphasises the need for local authorities to deliver outcomes first time 

for children in care, starting individuals upon accommodation pathways that equip them with the 

support and skills required to live independently, thus reducing costs and representation later on. 

Consultation Response 

 Consultation asserted the need for accommodation that supported a phased approach to 

independence utilising a ‘step-up, step-down’ model, whereby a range of phased 

accommodation options are available for clients to transition through depending on changes 

in need.  

 Alongside the need to recruit more foster placements, it was recognised that both 

supported lodgings and shared accommodation worked well for young people with less 

challenging behaviours - or those at a later stage of their transition. 

 However, for these types of accommodation to be effective it is important to impart the 

relevant skills so that young people can effectively manage a tenancy. This involves a staged 

process involving taster accommodation that allows young people the chance to experience 

independent living for a short time before returning to a more structure environment. There 

is no taster accommodation in the Borough at the minute and this was considered a priority 

for this client group.  

 Alongside the bricks and mortar, children leaving care need services to support them in their 

transition out of care. It is largely through services that young people will be readied and 

upskilled to manage a tenancy; moreover, floating support will need to be provided to those 

in shared housing at the latter stages of their transition. As such, appropriate support 

services were deemed of equal importance to any new specialised provision. 

 A market-management approach is increasingly desired for care leavers accommodation, 

which was recognised as being largely spot-purchased. This would involve the creation of a 

provider’s forum. 

  Council protocols were also considered as a means to unlock greater access to 

accommodation for care leavers, parents, and foster carers. Joint protocols with housing 

were identified for revisiting, and work with Cheshire Homechoice recommended to look at 

the status of care leavers, parents, and prospective foster carers in the housing allocations 

policy.  

                                                           
18 CRISIS, ‘The hidden truth about homelessness: Experiences of single homelessness in England.’ 

Page 116



P a g e  | 79 

 

 

 The chapter has been expanded beyond its initial scope to holistically cover young people 

with housing needs, rather than just those known to the care system. This has been in 

response to consultation feedback that a general chapter on children is a logical place for 

information on homeless young people, rather than its previous location under 

homelessness. Young people in need encompasses those young people who present to 

services with a housing need, rather than just those that are already known to the Council by 

virtue of a parental duty.  

Demand 

Children in Care 

The below graph demonstrates the number of children in the care of Cheshire East Council. This 

number is currently falling and children’s services anticipate that this will fall further. It is important 

to note that the number of children subject to a protection care plan is aggregately rising, indicating 

that whilst cared for children may be decreasing, the complexity - and therefore cost and support 

requirement – of each case is steadily rising.  

 

Source: Cheshire East Sufficiency Statement 

Cheshire East is characterised by great social and economic diversity, with large variations present 

between places in close proximity. Deprivation and family income are known to affect attributes 

such as educational attainment and NEET rates amongst children. This correlation can be extended 

to cared for children: as the table below demonstrates, 65% of cared for children come from Crewe 

and Macclesfield; this corresponds with the fact that 8 schools in these towns have a Free School 

Meal percentage of over 35%, and contain the majority of Cheshire East’s worst performing Lower 

Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in terms of skills and deprivation: Crewe contains 8 of the 10 LSAOs in 

Cheshire East with the highest percentage of adults with no or low qualifications and the highest 

Page 117



P a g e  | 80 

 

 

levels of deprivation. 7 of these LSAOs fall within the bottom 15% nationally for lack of skills, with 3 

in the bottom 10%. Crewe wards have a 16-18 NEET percentage of 12.25%, in comparison to 4.2% 

borough-wide. As such, we can deduce that the major centres of deprivation will produce more 

children in need of care, and should be the primary target for early intervention and support 

services.  

Home Address at Time of Presenting for 
Care 

Cared for Children Percentage 

Crewe  172  46%  

Nantwich  14  4%  

Middlewich  4  1%  

Congleton  30  8%  

Knutsford  22  6%  

Sandbach  10  3%  

Wilmslow  24  6%  

Macclesfield  71  19%  

Alsager  7  2%  

Other (e.g. outside boundary/ UASC)  22  6%  

Total 376 100% 

Source: Cared for Children at 31/03/13 

Children Leaving Care 

The next graph shows that the number of care leavers in October 2013 was 247. This fluctuates 

regularly given that catchment for this group is largely determined by age. A slight decrease is 

charted in recent months, but service leads anticipate that this will stabilise to give a relatively 

constant picture. This client group is divided as per the distinctions within the Children Leaving Care 

Act 2000 and the Children’s Act 1989: 

 59 people who are eligible: those who are either 16 or 17 and have been in the local 

authority’s care for a substantive period (over 13 months) following their fourteenth 

birthday. The local authority has a duty to assist and support these children and promote 

their interests even when their conventional duty of care elapses. This is primarily done 

through the construction of a pathway plan that determines the kinds of support and 

assistance required. 

 10 people who are relevant: those who are 16 or 17 years old who are no longer in the care 

of the local authority but once were for a substantive period of time (over 13 months). In 

other words, those under 18 who were eligible until last leaving the local authority’s care. 

The local authority has a duty under section 23 of the Children’s Act to maintain contact with 

these children and perform an assessment of their needs, implementing a pathway plan if 

appropriate as a means to further maintenance and assistance.  

 36 people who are potentially eligible: those people aged 16 or 17 who are under the local 

authority’s care – but for less than 13 months at present.  

Page 118



P a g e  | 81 

 

 

 142 people who are formerly relevant: those over 18 who once were in the local authority’s 

care for a substantive period of time at their eighteenth birthday. In other words, someone 

over 18 who would be eligible or relevant were they younger. The local authority has a duty 

to provide assistance (with education, training, welfare, etc.) and monitor their pathway 

plan until the age of 21. 

 Source: Cared For Children Monitoring Report (October 2013) 

Children’s services must find accommodation for all care leavers once they reach the age of 

eighteen, though pathway planning (which entails the sourcing of transitional accommodation) 

begins when they are 16-17. There are 66 children in Cheshire East’s care in 2014/15 who will qualify 

as care leavers (aged 16 or 17). Of these, 36 will turn 18 in 2014-15 and will thus require placement 

beyond residential or fostering care. This is similar to the 2013-14 year, in which 42 cared for 

children turned 18.  

Young People in Need 

There are a prominent proportion of young people threatened with homeless. In total, there were 

75 presentations by 16-17 year olds to homelessness officers in 2013-14. Further to this, 256 

applications were made for Supporting People funded services and accommodation by young people 

at risk of homelessness. 39 of these were from care leavers. This shows that youth homelessness is 

particularly prominent amongst those transitioning out care, but that there is still a significant 

proportion (217 people) threatened with homelessness that do not have a background in care –

those who have left home or been evicted from accommodation.  

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

123 
145 145 145 145 148 142 

6 

9 9 10 12 13 13 

79 

68 68 70 66 63 
59 

41 
43 41 40 38 37 

38 P

o

p

u

l

a

t

i

o

n

 

Potentially Eligible Eligible Relevant Former Relevant 

26 263 26 261 249 261 25

Page 119



P a g e  | 82 

 

 

These figures for youth homeless presentations do not fully represent the housing problems faced 

by young people. This should also be taken in conjunction with the 180 referrals received by the 

Young Person’s Housing Support workers (funded by Cheshire East) in 2012/13. This service alone 

made 43 youth homelessness preventions (the sourcing of alternative accommodation for young 

people for six months) in this period and helped the majority of those remaining return home.   

Most 16-17 year olds threatened with homelessness but are not care leavers are assisted under 

Section 17 of the Children’s Act, meaning that they are not formally accepted into the local 

authority’s care and remain eligible for benefits. A small proportion become ‘looked after’ under 

Section 20 of the Children’s Act, meaning the local authority assumes corporate parenting duties and 

the young person becomes ineligible for benefits.  

Not all of those young people who present to services are accepted under the homelessness duty or 

housed in supported accommodation through Supporting People. This could be due to chaotic and 

challenging behaviours prohibiting acceptance under the homeless duty or into supported 

accommodation, or it could be due to their housing need being resolved in other ways, such as the 

young person returning to their family home. As with older homeless clients, where young people in 

need of accommodation cannot be housed in temporary or supported accommodation, they are 

placed in bed and breakfast, which places them at considerable further risk given that it offers 

limited structured support.  

Thus we can conclude that young people are a major priority within the wider homeless client group, 

with prevention and referrals to specially designated supported accommodation continuing to be a 

priority in Cheshire East through appropriate support.  

Supply  

The table below illustrates the changing spread of placements for children under Cheshire East 

Council’s care. This incorporates both cared for children and care leavers; the latter constitute the 

bulk of the independent living and supported accommodation placements under the ‘other’ 

category.  

Page 120



P a g e  | 83 

 

 

 

Source: Cared For Children Monitoring Report (October 2013) 

Cared for Children 

Cared for Children access accommodation that is unique to their situation – chiefly residential 

children’s homes and foster care placements. There are a number of themes that specifically 

concern these types of provision: 

 Cheshire East houses the majority of its cared for children in foster placements within the 

Borough. However, whilst the number has been steadily increasing in recent years, it still 

lags behind demand for placements. This disparity has had a number of impacts: chiefly, this 

has resulted in the growing use of Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA), which has risen by 

over 350% in Cheshire East between 2009 and 2012 – the highest increase in the North 

West. These agencies provide spot placements for children; such placements can be further 

afield and cost more than internal provision: the additional 92 IFA placements between 2009 

and 2012 equated to an increase of £2m per year when compared with internal fostering 

provision.  

 Cheshire East accommodates around 10% of children in our care within residential children’s 

homes. This is in line with best practise guidance. Cheshire East has increased capacity for 

children in residential placements and now has 16 beds in 4 children’s homes across the 

borough. However, some residential provision remains external to the Borough. Such 

provision is also more costly especially when considering hidden costs such as travel, social 

work time etc. Cheshire East needs to both reduce external residential usage and 

systematically commission more places within the Borough.  

Page 121



P a g e  | 84 

 

 

 The use of IFAs and external residential providers are some contributing factors in the above 

average distance that cared for children in Cheshire East must journey to access placements. 

20% of the children cared for by Cheshire East are accommodated over 20 miles from their 

previous address, which compares reasonably well amongst neighbouring authorities but is 

not exemplary, with some nearby local authorities able to place all cared for children within 

20 miles of their previous address. It tends to be placements with external agencies (either 

IFAs or private residential homes) that are further afield: 50 external agency placements are 

beyond 20 miles, accounting for 38% of all placements with external agencies. Placements 

further afield are not only more expensive but are more difficult and costly to monitor in 

terms of quality of care; moreover, far away placements remove a child from their family or 

community networks, jeopardising positive care outcomes.  

 There are a range of housing issues experienced by parents and foster carers that can affect 

a child’s care. Many parents live in a property that is deemed unsuitable to care for a 

returning child, but then are unable to afford - or are not allocated via social housing - a 

property that enables them to resume parenting responsibilities. Moreover, many people 

who would foster a child, or additional children, are limited by their housing situation, 

requiring either adaptations or a larger property. As such, Cheshire East will explore the 

access to housing for potential parents and carers, and work towards greater aid and 

prioritisation. Moreover, children’s services will continue to promote the Foster Carer 

Capacity Scheme to fund improvements to houses in order to enable Foster Carers to foster 

more children.  

 The menu of provision is currently limited, being majorly divided into two types (fostering 

and residential) that are delivered by different agencies. Therefore, there is currently little 

variety and nuance in provision, and accommodation types are not mapped to the stages of 

a child’s transition through and out of care. Notably, supported accommodation constitutes 

only 4% of the total active placements, although it promises to deliver superior outcomes for 

children in the latter stages of their care programme in readying them for general needs 

tenancies. There is therefore a need to not only remodel the current provision menu but 

recalibrate it with additional models. This could include progressive paradigms such as the 

‘foyer’ model whereby training and skills provision is provided on-site alongside a supported 

accommodation complex. Such a model has proven successful for the homeless client group 

and holds great potential for older children in care or those leaving care, providing the 

relevant toolkit of skills, social support, and residency experience.  

Children Leaving Care 

Accommodation for care leavers is arranged with them during the latter stages of their care (16-17) 

as part of their pathway plan to best enable them to segue into a general needs tenancy (possibly 

with some support) beyond 18. As such, Cheshire East Council aspires for a menu of specialist 

accommodation options to be available for incorporation into a care leaver’s pathway plan 

depending on their needs, facilitating their effective transition out of care. Some care leavers may 

still be located in residential or foster care at 16-17, but social workers will be planning 

Page 122



P a g e  | 85 

 

 

accommodation pathways for these young people that will enable them to live independently when 

they turn 18.   

The below table shows the types of accommodation that care leavers inhabit as of April 2014. This 

demonstrates that the majority of care leavers are split between foster care, residential placements, 

and supported accommodation (which is largely delivered by a small number of private providers 

located in the south of the Borough).  

Accommodation Type 16-17 Total 

Fostered with Family/Friend 7 

Residential Homes 14 

Independent Living 3 

Other Foster Carer 25 

Placed with Own Parents 2 

Other Residential (Supported Accommodation 
and Supported Lodgings) 

13 

Residential School 2 

Total 66 

Source: Cared for Children Monitoring Reports (April 2014) 

There are a number of conclusions we can draw surrounding the supply of accommodation currently 

available for care leavers: 

 Supported accommodation and independent placements for care leavers are currently 

managed on an ad-hoc basis utilising the accommodation landscape that has organically 

developed in the Borough. Due to lack of specialist supply, many care leavers utilise 

accommodation that is intended for young homeless people (such as short-term hostel 

accommodation funded through Supporting People); this creates additional demand 

pressure on these services, even though they are not always optimal for care leavers. The 

Council will therefore work to use the conclusions of this strategy to forge an increasingly 

structured menu of planned and dedicated accommodation options for care leavers that can 

be proactively incorporated into their pathway plans, ensuring that they do not drop off a 

‘care cliff’ when their duty under children’s services expires and instead are supported to 

transition into adulthood.  

 Service modelling has demonstrated that the chief gaps in provision lie in long-term 

supported accommodation, which can house care leavers unable to make the transition into 

independent living. Such provision is currently sought in the private sector, but it is limited 

and often expensive. Where no long-term supported accommodation placements can be 

found, care leavers are often placed in Supporting People funded short-term 

accommodation or emergency beds alongside young homeless people. This is an imperfect 

and temporary solution that does not always equip care leavers with the skills required to 

live independently, given the time restrictions on such accommodation. Cheshire East will 

therefore prioritise the creation of long-term supported accommodation for care leavers, 

which can provide a settled housing solution until they are ready to live independently.  

Page 123



P a g e  | 86 

 

 

 To make this accessible for young people, supported accommodation provision needs to be 

better balanced between the north and south of the Borough, given that the private 

providers in the area are located solely around Crewe.  

 Taster accommodation would also make a beneficial addition to Cheshire East’s supported 

accommodation stock. This type of accommodation would provide a short-term 

independent living experience for care leavers as part of their tenancy-readiness 

assessment. This can provide care leavers with a short-term experience of the realities of 

tenancy management before they are tasked with living independently, with the option of 

‘stepping down’ into supported accommodation if required.  

 The landscape of move-on accommodation needs to be diverse and appealing enough to 

encourage care leavers to make the transition from supported accommodation to 

independent living, once they have the prerequisite skills and behaviours. Consultation 

suggested that many young people would prefer shared housing arrangements initially, 

which can provide the sociability preferred by many young people, before living on their 

own further down the line. To make this effective, enhanced client matching is required to 

establish compositions that will be supportive and stable. Moreover. further agreement will 

be explored with RPs regarding the availability of properties for identified care leavers able 

to live in the community in a shared or solo setting - possibly with some floating support 

 Care leavers are often unable to sustain independent tenancies following drops in their 

housing benefit at the age of 22. Some local authorities are agreeing an exemption on the 

benefit reduction until the age of 25 to allow care leavers greater time to become settled 

and sustain their independent tenancy, rather than having to seek supported or emergency 

accommodation having made progress into independence. Cheshire East will explore the 

viability of a similar exemption. 

 In terms of foster care, the Council will look to secure as many ‘staying put’ placements as 

appropriate and viable to ensure that any extant support networks are prolonged and 

utilised to provide a bridge into adulthood. These placements are of great value to care 

leavers where available, as they allow the extension of their placement into technical 

‘adulthood’ beyond 18. 

Young People in Need 

There is much cross-over between the kinds of accommodation utilised by care leavers and that 

available to young people who present as homeless. The kinds of accommodation available to young 

homeless people (and some care leavers) are discussed below. The goal of services at this point is to 

find independent accommodation placements for these young people and enable them to sustain 

them through the provision of appropriate support and skills.  

 Cheshire East has a supported lodgings contract which allows access to 14 short-term beds 

for young people with a housing need. Alongside general young homeless people, a number 

of care leavers are placed in supported lodgings if no placements can be sourced in 

supported accommodation or independent tenancies.  

Page 124



P a g e  | 87 

 

 

 In addition to this, there is the Night Stop incentive that uses volunteers to provide 

emergency accommodation for up to three nights for people aged 18-25. Since Night Stop 

started in April 2009, 153 young people in Cheshire East have accessed the service and 286 

bed nights have been offered – though 54 of those offered were not used. The majority of 

these users (94, or 61%) were aged 16 to 17 years. 59 young people (39%) were aged 18 to 

27 years. 45% were homeless due to family breakdown, 10% due to eviction from hostels or 

tenancy, and 15% could no longer sofa surf. This indicates that Night Stop, unlike supported 

lodgings, is primarily used as emergency accommodation to capture those young people 

who have left home at short-notice and have nowhere to stay, rather than care leavers. Such 

crises can often be resolved by relationships being repaired with family members, 

emphasised by the fact that 34% of young people who accessed Night Stop returned home 

to family rather than requiring further placement. 

 Provided they are over 18, general needs accommodation for young people can be sought 

through choice-based lettings in conjunction with RPs. However, the complex issues that 

many homeless young people or care leavers exhibit can often make this combination 

unfeasible and difficult to broker without some level of support or time spent in a supported 

living environment, to ensure the young people are ready and able to live independently. 

 Supported accommodation for young people is provided through a combination of private 

companies commissioned on an ad hoc basis and regular bed spaces funded through 

Supporting People. There are three private providers of supported accommodation who 

work in the Crewe area; however, there are no private supported accommodation providers 

in the north of the Borough, limiting the options for placing children there.   

 As for supported accommodation funded through the Supporting People programme, there 

are 92 units of supported accommodation and 78 units of floating support available for 

young homeless people (including teenage parents and young offenders). The Supporting 

People needs analysis projects that there is an undersupply in both supported 

accommodation placements and floating support. Young people represented 8% of the total 

applications to the Supporting People single point of access and 9% of the total accepted 

referrals from 2013/14.  

Young People Need 2020 Supply 2013 Gap 

Accommodation 
Support  

83 77 -6 

Floating Support 37 30 -5 

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 2013 

Young Offenders 

Young offenders are largely captured under young people in need, and utilise much of the 

accommodation detailed in the above section. However, there are some specific accommodation 

issues for young offenders that need to be discussed separately.  

Page 125



P a g e  | 88 

 

 

There were 163 young offenders in Cheshire East in 2013/14. The unstable living situations of many 

of these young offenders contribute to their issues and offending history. As with other children in 

need, children’s services and the homelessness team work together to try and find accommodation 

for young offenders in general needs or supported housing. Young offenders experience other issues 

common across all young people in need, such as being unable or unwilling to travel to 

accommodation placements sourced for them. 

However, aside these general considerations, sourcing such placements is particularly difficult if a 

young person has offended seriously, multiple times, or has been sentenced. This can lead to young 

offenders being placed in inappropriate temporary settings for want of an alternative, such as bed 

and breakfast, or being remanded into custody early.  

 There are 15 units of supported accommodation commissioned through Supporting People 

specifically for offenders. However, this is not always appropriate for young offenders for whom 

placements in children’s accommodation are sought to best enable rehabilitation and prevent future 

offences. Demand is projected to remain high from young offenders, who are subsumed within the 

children’s figures for demand and supply presented above.  

Cheshire East is committed to improving its protocols and housing offer to ensure that young 

offenders are able to access secure and supported accommodation that can set them on a path to 

independent living, rather than compounding their issues and increasing the likelihood of future 

offences. Alongside this general requirement to improve access to supported accommodation, 

Cheshire East will also explore further the options for secure, short-term accommodation for young 

people who are awaiting sentencing in custody, to ensure they are safe until a decision is made.  

Chapter Conclusions 

Key Findings 

 In Cheshire East, the cohort of children being accommodated in care has a tangible link to 

areas of deprivation, and children leaving care are more likely than their peers to suffer 

additional issues later in life, such as homeless or unemployment. 

 For cared for children, the number of foster placements is increasing but not at a rate which 

is sufficient for the current population. A comparatively high percentage of residential 

provision is outside the Borough. There is an over-reliance currently on agency placements, 

driving up costs and the distance children must travel to be in placement. 

 Care leavers are chiefly split between foster care, residential placements, supported 

accommodation, and independent placements. There is little accommodation (and 

specifically long-term supported accommodation) allocated specifically for care leavers, 

meaning they are frequently reliant on emergency beds or short-term hostel services 

nominally intended for young homeless people.  

 Many young people in need of accommodation (including care leavers and young offenders) 

struggle to access accommodation, either because of demand pressures on supported 

accommodation or their needs and behaviours precluding them from acceptance into 

Page 126



P a g e  | 89 

 

 

independent or supported housing. This leads to an over-reliance on emergency 

accommodation or inappropriate temporary placements – such as bed and breakfast.  

Strategic Priorities 

 Encourage more foster placements within the Borough to delimit the number of residential 

or agency placements required and the distance children are required to relocate. 

 Work with Cheshire Homechoice and Registered Providers to improve the profile and 

priority of social housing for parents and foster carers, to unlock a greater number of these 

placements. 

 Review the current usage of residential provision for cared for children, exploring the 

capacity and prioritisation of provision within the Borough, and the cost and distance of 

external or agency provision. This will inform a rationalisation of capacity and spend, as well 

as recalibrating the focus of provision to within the Borough. 

 Establish a working group to examine barriers identified in this strategy that can inhibit 

young people and care leavers’ pathway through accommodation, including benefits and the 

kinds of accommodation available.  

 There is a need for a more strategic and market-shaping approach to provision for young 

people in need and especially care leavers. Cheshire East will create an ideal accommodation 

offer for care leavers, incorporating the findings of this strategy. This will assume a ‘step-up, 

step-down’ model, and include a greater provision of dedicated long-term supported 

accommodation for care leavers, taster accommodation, and move-on accommodation for 

those deemed tenancy-ready – including shared housing options. Any new development of 

supported accommodation will be sustained wherever possible from within existing revenue 

budgets or through the utilisation of personal budgets. 

 This will involve further work with Registered Providers to scope delivery possibilities and 

identify general needs stock that can be married to floating support for use by known care 

leavers or young homeless people who are deemed tenancy ready. Such move-on is 

important to reduce high demand pressures on supported accommodation.  

 Work to pool the budgets of Children’s Services and Strategic Housing for emergency 

accommodation and bed services to commission a holistic and improved service.  

 Review protocols for young offenders to ensure that access to housing is optimised. Explore 

options for improved short-term, secure accommodation for young people in custody 

awaiting sentencing.  

 

Page 127



P a g e  | 90 

 

 

Drug and Alcohol Issues 

Chapter Summary 

Background 

The treatment of drug and alcohol issues is undergoing an important shift in terms of responsibility 

and focus. Local authorities such as Cheshire East are playing a growing role in drug and alcohol 

services as part of broadened public health responsibilities. Simultaneously, there is a national 

impulse to increasingly engrain recovery patterns into substance abuse treatment: helping 

individuals to overcome their dependency rather than to simply manage it.  

The provision of appropriate housing for those with problematic drug and alcohol use - or those 

recovering from such dependencies - can break the cycle of negative outcomes for affected 

individuals. Without such accommodation, the negative impacts for clients, the Borough, and its 

residents are manifold: increases in crime, visible signs of substance misuse, increased 

homelessness, and street drinking or begging. Crucially, appropriate housing provision allows people 

with substance abuse issues to access propitious support cycles to start recovery, deliver a stable 

environment for long-term treatment, and can provide the mechanism for individuals to transition 

back into the community when appropriate.  

Addressing drug and alcohol issues assume a central place in Cheshire East’s priorities, given the 

impact it can have on people’s lives and across a range of client groups. If substance abuse is not 

addressed early it can escalate and inform a range of complex needs including mental health issues, 

domestic abuse, and homelessness. These linkages make substance abuse a complex picture to 

unpick in terms of demand and supply, but attests to its widespread implications and importance.  

Key Evidence Sources 

 Moving Forward – Cheshire East Housing Strategy 2011 - 2016 

 Cheshire East Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

  The Future of Cheshire East Drug & Alcohol Services- Draft commissioning intentions 

 National Drug Treatment Monitoring Service (NDTMS) 

 National Alcohol Treatment Monitoring Service (NATMS) 

 Red Quadrant Report 

 Census 2011 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Cheshire and Wirral Partnership (CWP) Data 

 Drug Strategy 2010: Supporting People to Live a Drug Free Life 

Page 128



P a g e  | 91 

 

 

 The Government’s Alcohol Strategy (2012) 

 Social Services Monitoring Data (PARIS) 

 Cheshire East Monitoring Data for Institutional Care Facilities 

 Supporting People Needs Analysis 

 Social Services Expenditure Return 

 NOMIS (Office of Labour Market Statistics) 

 PANSI and POPPI projections 

Detailed Findings 

National and Local Policy Context 

Drugs 

The Government’s National Drug Strategy (2010) contains two overarching strategic priorities: 
reducing illicit and harmful drug use, and increasing the emphasis on recovery from dependency 
within drug treatment. The government identified three prongs to achieve these priorities:  
 

 Reducing demand by engendering an environment and culture that reinforces those who 
have never taken drugs and encourages those who have to stop, bolstering the ‘drugs 
conversation’ with the provision of high-quality information from a range of agencies.  
 

 Working across agencies and departments to reduce the supply of drugs into the country, 
depriving the drug trade and drugs users at the source. 

 

 Engraining recovery paradigms into care and communities, working across support networks 
to centralise overcoming rather dependency rather than managing it.  

 
Alcohol 

In March 2012 the Government published a National Alcohol Strategy stating their intention to 
radically reshape the approach to alcohol issues and reduce the number of people drinking to 
excess. The key outcomes that would underpin this vision include: 
 

 Engendering a change in behaviour so that people think it is not acceptable to drink in ways 
that could cause harm to themselves or others. 

 

 A reduction in the amount of alcohol-fuelled violent crime and alcohol-related deaths. 
 

 A reduction in the degree of binge-drinking and the number of adults drinking above the 
NHS guidelines. 

 

 A sustained reduction in both the numbers of 11-15 year olds drinking alcohol and the 
amounts consumed. 

 

Page 129



P a g e  | 92 

 

 

These are messages are corroborated in the Public Health Outcomes Framework 2013-16, which 
identifies three key indicators in relation to drug and alcohol misuse:  
 

 Reduction in illicit and other harmful drug use. 
 

 Reduction in alcohol-related admissions to hospital.  

 Reduction in people entering prison with substance dependence issues who are previously 
not known to community services. 
 

Cheshire East Council’s Recommissioning Outcomes 

As of April 2013, Cheshire East has the responsibility of commissioning some aspects of Public Health 
services, including substance misuse services. These services involve elements of treatment that 
were previously the remit of health bodies. This has led to a reassessment of substance misuse 
services within the area (enshrined in the recommissioning specification, which are summarised 
below) and their relationship to housing (covered in this strategy). 
 
Substance Misuse Services in Cheshire East are currently focussed on the treatment of drugs and 
alcohol misuse. Nationally, there are moves towards commissioning services which concentrate 
more on reducing harm to people from misusing substances (prevention and management of 
dependency) than on recovery (reducing dependency on substances for life). Realising this impetus 
in local services underpins the on-going recommissioning work for drugs and alcohol services in 
Cheshire East. 
 
Our services for alcohol and drug misuse are currently separate, and the recommissiong work is 
exploring bringing these together into a holistic set of services delivered by one provider (potentially 
at the head of a consortium) to improve access and outcomes for people who may use more than 
one service. The services are also separate for young people and adults and again, we are 
considering whether to join these services together. 
 
Building on these themes, the vision in Cheshire East for the future Substance Misuse Service is to 

inspire a future without substance misuse for all, through services that are accessible at the right 

time, in the right place, and through the right people and a commitment to improving personal 

health and wellbeing. The specification for new drug and alcohol services will ensure that future 

services will provide: 

 Will improve our prevention and early intervention service approaches, aftercare support 

and ongoing recovery support to maximise the potential for achieving a substance free life. 

 Will be adaptable and flexible to respond to changing local service demand, as well as being 

responsive to the changing demographics of our population and the challenge of a large 

local authority area of both rural and urban conurbations. 

 Will understand that service users can have multiple needs, have responsibilities such as 

being a parent, partner or a carer within a wider family context.  ‘Case Co-ordination’ and 

‘Seamless’ movement or transition between services must be assured to succeed in 

providing a ‘holistic’ ‘whole family’ approach to substance misuse services. Multi-disciplinary 

working is essential.  

Page 130



P a g e  | 93 

 

 

 Will ensure continuity of care through this holistic model, including for those leaving the 

criminal justice system. 

 Will offer ‘step up and step down’ treatment and support that is seamless, co-ordinated and 

monitored. Follow-up review arrangements will occur upon treatment exit to monitor 

achievements of a life free from substance misuse, and learning from relapse.   

 Will support parents, partners, families, and carers* through step up and step down 

treatment and support services in a clear and integrated manner.  

The Role of Housing 

Evidence suggests that appropriate housing (frequently with elements of support) plays a critical 

part in the recovery phase of drug and alcohol users’ treatment journey: supporting their transition 

back into the community following treatment or rehabilitation and equipping them with the skills 

and behaviours required to manage a tenancy in the long-term. Housing, and particularly supported 

housing, can therefore encourage and prolong recovery beyond the treatment phase of a client’s 

journey. 

The provision of appropriate housing for those with drug and alcohol dependencies - or those 

recovering from such dependencies - can break the cycle of negative outcomes for affected 

individuals. The needs of this client group are quite unique and variable depending on the stage of 

their recovery, but appropriate housing provision can enable community reintegration by furnishing 

a stable lodging with support packages as required. Without such accommodation, the negative 

impacts for the Borough and its residents are manifold: increases in crime, visible signs of substance 

misuse, increased homelessness, and street drinking or begging.  

Indeed, the extent of the negative impacts that ripple outwards from this client group situate them 

as a priority within this strategy. Evidence (flagged in the appropriate chapters) strongly links 

substance abuse with other client groups: those with substance abuse problems, be they in 

treatment or yet to present, cross-contribute to the clients of domestic abuse, mental health, and 

homelessness services especially. By housing substance misuse clients appropriately upon exit from 

treatment, their condition can be prevented from worsening and their need for other services 

downstream mitigated.  

It is therefore vital that both the Council and communities recognise the multiplicity of benefits 

embodied by specialist housing provision for people with substance abuse issues, as a preventative 

measure, an agent of recovery and rehabilitation, and a community safeguard.  

Consultation Response 

 A pathway approach to recovery is most desirable, with stepped accommodation to support 

individuals to transition through the stages of their treatment. 

 There is a need for specialist ‘wet house’ provision within the Borough to accommodate 

those with high-level alcohol needs who are still using and are unable to enter an 

abstinence-based scheme. This provision will ideally promote plans that encourage a phased 

Page 131



P a g e  | 94 

 

 

approach to reducing alcohol dependency. For on-going and repeat users, this could entail 

the inclusion of observation beds for those who present in a highly intoxicated state. 

 Abstinence accommodation was thought to be of a good standard within the Borough, but 

there needed to be a greater offering in a wider range of localities.  

 Moreover, it was felt that better pathways needed to be made out of abstinence-based 

accommodation and into ‘move-on’ accommodation within the Borough. This is offered by 

certain providers and needs to remain a mainstay in future provision.  

 It was also stressed that accommodation provision should also be twinned with floating 

services to high-needs individuals living in other accommodation types. It emerged as a 

prominent theme that beyond bricks and mortar, a greater, more flexible array of support 

services were needed for those with substance dependencies to address the projected and 

experienced undersupplies. This could be greatly aided by the fomentation of mutual aid 

groups across the Borough, which work well but are limited in number – especially in the 

south.  

Current Pathways to Care and Support 

Current Drug and Alcohol Services 

Drug and Alcohol services are in flux in Cheshire East, with recommissioning work on-going in 

response to a redistribution of responsibility. Previously, the Cheshire Drug Action Team (DAT)19 

commissioned structured drug treatment services for adults, along with structured substance misuse 

services for young people designed as preventative measures. The majority of this funding came 

from the National Treatment Agency (Department of Health) and the former PCTs’ (Primary Care 

Trusts) treatment budgets for adults and young people.  

Alcohol services have been commissioned separately from drug services with the majority of this 

work being managed by the former Central and Eastern Cheshire PCT. Brief interventions for alcohol 

continue to be provided by primary care services supported by a DES (Directed Enhanced Service) 

incentive scheme in 2013/14. Hospital based alcohol misuse management is undertaken by 

appropriate specialties as well as an Alcohol Liaison team at both Mid Cheshire and East Cheshire 

Hospital Trusts. 

From April 2013 the distribution of duties has been recalibrated, with community substance misuse 

services becoming the responsibility of Cheshire East Council as part of a wider agenda of public 

health reforms that has seen agency in this field transferred to local authorities. In response to this 

new responsibility, Drug and Alcohol Services are currently going through a recommissoning process 

to ensure the delivery of superior outcomes. Drug misuse services are currently available in both 

primary care and community settings. Services include harm reduction, brief interventions, 

                                                           
19 The DAT was a non-statutory partnership between Cheshire East and Cheshire West and Chester (CW&C) 

Councils, Western Cheshire and Central and Eastern Cheshire PCT, and related organisations such as Cheshire 

Police, HMP Styal prison and the voluntary sector. 

Page 132



P a g e  | 95 

 

 

substitute prescribing, psychosocial interventions, and residential rehabilitation. Current services are 

primarily based in the chief population centres of Crewe and Macclesfield with satellite provision in 

smaller communities and rural areas.  

Services are currently structured into different tiers to address different levels and client entry 

points, these are summarised and stratified in the following table: 

 
 
In addition to these services, there is a structured substance misuse service aimed at younger 

people. During the first quarter of 2013/14, 34 young people were engaged with structured 

substance misuse treatment across Cheshire East. Seventeen young people started a new treatment 

journey during the quarter. Most of the young people engaged in structured substance misuse 

treatment are male (76%), and 16 or 17 years of age (71%). The vast majority of clients are cannabis 

users (82%) around half identify alcohol misuse (47%). Amphetamines, cocaine, and ecstasy are 

identified by 18% each. Just one client reported opiate use. These young people will either be 

homeless, sofa serving or living in hostel accommodation awaiting permanent accommodation. 

Area of Service Model  Type of activities that may be carried out  Who may support the activity  

Information and 
Advice  

Websites  
Booklets  
Posters  
 

GP practices  
Pharmacists  
Support groups  
Education facilities (e.g. schools and Youth 
centres)  
 

Identification  NHS Health Checks Programme  
Web-based assessment or magazine 
quizzes  
Police/prison assessment  
 

Hospitals  
GP practices  
Criminal and justice system  
Self- assessment  
Friends and family  
 

Early Intervention  Brief interventions assessments  
 

GP practices  
Hospitals  
Community nurse  
 

Structured Treatment  Medicine prescribing  
Behaviour change therapy  
Detoxification and initial rehabilitation  
Group work  
 

Community based specialist substance 
misuse services  
Residential/in-patient services  
 

Intensive Recovery 
Support  

Ongoing rehabilitation  
 

Community based specialist substance 
misuse services  
Support groups  
Key worker  
 

Drop In  Day care  
Shared care  

Community based specialist substance 
misuse services  
GP practices  
 

Page 133



P a g e  | 96 

 

 

All young people with a housing need identified by the service are referred to a Young Person’s 

Housing Officer within Cheshire East, who coordinates their referral to supported accommodation 

provided through Supporting People. 

Supporting People 

The Supporting People Needs Analysis emphasises the underprovision for drugs and alcohol services 

in the Borough currently. There is an acute need reported for both accommodation services and 

floating support services – and especially accommodation services within these. Given the centrality 

of substance abuse afforded by its close links to other client groups, this is a particular concern, 

making both the recommissioning work and the development of this housing strategy timely.  

Drug and Alcohol 
Services 

Need 2020 Supply 2013 Gap 

Accommodation 
Support  

286 16 -270 

Floating Support 253 36 -217 

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 

Demand 

The figures commented on below comprise individuals known to public services: those people who 

have presented and engaged with treatment. This totals around 1500 people for 2012/13. However, 

total estimates for people with substance abuse problems in the Borough stand at around 9000 

people. This shows the disparity between the total affected populace and those known to services. It 

is notable that a much higher percentage of drug clients are engaged in treatment than alcohol 

clients, implying that there is a wider cultural and social need to raise awareness of the dangers of 

excessive alcohol use.  

Client Group Estimated Cohort in 

Borough 

Total Engaged in Treatment 

12/13 

% Cohort Engaged in 

Treatment 

Drugs 2000 903 45% 

Alcohol 7000 581 8% 

Total 9000 1484 16% 

Source: NATMS/NDTMS – Cheshire East 

This disparity between the total estimated cohort and those engaged in treatment can be attributed 

to a number of factors. Firstly, the number of people with substance abuse issues who do not 

present to authorities. Many of these sofa surf between friends and family, and as such have a 

personal housing need but do not present to authorities with the need for accommodation to be 

sourced for them. Many more do not present at all and may have a low-level issue that is left 

unmanaged until it manifests as an acute problem. This emphasises the importance of the general 

awareness and unacceptability campaign highlighted in the service recommissioning work. 

Page 134



P a g e  | 97 

 

 

Secondly, many people affected with substance abuse issues present in other client groups, or are 

deemed to have a matrix of issues within which substance abuse is not adjudged to be their primary 

care type. This reflects the aforementioned cross-over between this client group and others, and 

underlines wider the point that if drug and alcohol issues are curtailed, it can stop them escalating 

and modulating into wider issues, for instance mental health problems or domestic abuse.  

Drugs 

There were an estimated 2000 drug users within the Borough, of which 903 engaged in drug 

treatment throughout 12/13. Of these, 261 clients entered treatment in 2012/13, 55 of which 

demonstrated an urgent housing need. The below table demonstrates that the total number of 

people engaged in drugs treatment is steadily rising, increasing by 5% between July 2012 and June 

2013. To be ‘engaged’ in treatment is to actively participate for over 12 weeks – or, if treatment is 

left prior to that point, it is done so in a planned way. 82% of all those who presented for drugs 

treatment engaged, meaning there were 1105 people who presented to treatment and 906 engaged 

clients. This engagement rate is below the national and North West average, which stands at 85%. 

 

 Aug1
1 

Jul12 

Sep11 
Aug1

2 

Oct11 
Sep12 

Nov1
1 

Oct12 

Dec11 
Nov1

2 

Jan12 
Dec12 

Feb12 
Jan13 

Mar1
2 

Feb13 

Apr12 
Mar1

3 

May1
2 

Apr13 

Jun12 
May1

3 

Jul12 
Jun13 

OCUs (All 
Ages) 

830 828 829 816 813 815 815 815 819 826 831 832 

All Drugs 
(Over 
18s) 

857 857 857 849 847 852 856 864 871 887 900 903 

Source: NDTMS, OCUs/Adults – Cheshire East 

As for 2013/14, a snapshot of those in treatment taken in November 2013 demonstrates that there 

were 782 clients receiving drug treatment at that time. This is notable as there are circa 900 people 

every year who engage with drugs treatment, as indicated by the 2012/13 figures. If 782 of these are 

engaged with treatment at a single point in the year, we can conclude that the vast majority of these 

clients are engaged with services for the best part of a year. This is elucidated in the table below, 

from which we can glean a number of things about the 13/14 cohort: 

 The majority of individuals in drug treatment are receiving this treatment in Macclesfield 

and Crewe, with Congleton and Wilmslow also containing significant clients. This indicates 

that these should be priority areas for supported accommodation options the assist those 

leaving treatment with a housing need.  

 Of the 13/14 treatment cohort engaged in drug services at November 2013, the majority 

have been receiving treatment for four years or more. This highlights that, for those in drug 

treatment, there is not a focus on recovery and move-on from treatment to abstinence, with 

most clients remaining in long-term treatment. For move-on to be a feasible option, there 

Page 135



P a g e  | 98 

 

 

needs to be suitable provision of supported accommodation options for when clients leave 

treatment, so that they do not relapse and can transition into an abstinent lifestyle.  

Town a) Less than 2 
yrs 

b) 2 to 4 yrs c) 4 yrs or more Total 

Alsager 9 <5 11 20 

Congleton 26 13 51 90 

Crewe 69 26 92 187 

Eastern Cheshire CCG Rural 5   14 19 

Knutsford 11 <5 13 24 

Macclesfield 71 24 142 237 

Middlewich 11 6 9 26 

Nantwich 10 <5 s 10 

Poynton     <5 0 

Sandbach 10 <5 13 23 

South Cheshire CCG Rural 12 <5 15 27 

Wilmslow 25 5 26 56 

Other areas / inaccurate postcode 20 <5 18 38 

Cheshire East total 279 92 411 782 

Source: NDTMS 

This second point is affirmed in the treatment completion ratios. The key issue that emerges is the 

low percentage of successful treatment completions for those in drug treatment. This rate is 

significantly lower than regional comparators, and partially reflects the prolonged period of time 

that clients are spending in treatment compared with neighbouring authorities; this means that 

clients are not frequently enabled or encouraged to move-on out of treatment and therefore remain 

there for a long time. A low completion rate for treatment also results in a high level of clients 

representing to local organisations at a later date, and will impact on the number of people who 

have the capacity to effectively manage a tenancy in the community. There is thus a need to 

improve the ratio of treatment completions to improve outcomes for clients in the first instance and 

drive down future treatment costs.  

Client/Rate Treatment Completion Rate Representation Rate 

Cheshire 
East 

Cluster National Cheshire 
East 

Cluster National 

Opiate and 
Crack 
Users 

7% 8% 8% 17% 20% - 

Non-
Opiate and 
Crack 
Users 

32% 41% 40% 17% 6% - 

Total 9% 14% 15% 17% 13% 13% 

Source: NDTMS 
 

Page 136



P a g e  | 99 

 

 

Alcohol 

There are an estimated 7000 dependent drinkers within the Borough, of which 581 people entered 

specialist alcohol treatment in 12/13. 9% of those that entered treatment during the year have an 

urgent housing need: 40 people.  

Following on from the 12/13 picture, the below figures stratify the number of people in treatment at 

November 2013 by their location and length of treatment. We can draw the following from these 

figures: 

 Treatment lengths are considerably shorter for alcohol services than drug services.Almost 

the entire cohort are in treatment for less than a year. This is corroborated by the fact that 

there were 581 people who received alcohol treatment in 12/13, but only around 200 are 

actually in treatment at any one time.  

 As with drugs, the areas that lead demand for treatment are Macclesfield and Crewe, with 

significant clients also found in Congleton, Wilmslow, and rural areas.  

Town a) Less than 1 yr b) 1 to 2 yrs c) 2 to 4 yrs d) 4 yrs or more Total 

Alsager 5       5 

Congleton 13 <5     13 

Crewe 37 <5     37 

Eastern Cheshire CCG Rural 14       14 

Knutsford <5       0 

Macclesfield 64 <5     64 

Middlewich 5 <5     5 

Nantwich 7       7 

Poynton <5 <5     0 

Sandbach 7       7 

South Cheshire CCG Rural 16 <5     16 

Wilmslow 22 <5     22 

Other areas / inaccurate postcode <5       0 

Cheshire East total 199 12 1 1 213 

Source: NATMS 

Treatment completion ratios also run contrary to drugs services, with treatment completions above 

national and regional comparators, and a representation rate in line with regional rates. This 

cements the general conclusion that alcohol treatment is inherently short-term with superior 

through-put to the more containment-focused drug treatment. This does, however, mean that there 

is a greater burden on supported accommodation for those recovering from alcohol addiction, as 

there are comparatively more of this cohort leaving treatment every year and requiring 

accommodation support to negate relapse.  

 

Page 137



P a g e  | 100 

 

 

Client/Rate Treatment Completion Rate Representation Rate 

Cheshire 
East 

North 
West 

National Cheshire 
East 

North 
West 

National 

Alcohol 
Total 

41% 38% 36% 14% 13% - 

Source: NATMS 

Total Housing Need 

The below table demonstrates the number of people with substance abuse issues who were 

engaged in treatment in 12/13 and had a housing need: in other words, they lack accommodation to 

move back into upon completion of care. This gives a snapshot of the number of people who will 

need housing at the point they leave care. The above table uses the percentage of new treatments 

in 12/13 that had a housing need as a prevalence rate that is then applied to the total number of 

individuals in treatment to construct an estimate of total housing need in 12/13.   

Client Group Total Engaged 

in Treatment 

12/13 

New 

Treatments 

12/13 

New 

Treatments 

with Housing 

Need 12/13 

Housing need 

prevalence 

rate 12/13 

Estimated 

Total Housing 

Need 

Drugs 903 261 55 22% 199 

Alcohol 581 440 40 9% 52 

Total 1484 701 90 13% 251 

 

The table demonstrates that: 

 There is a greater treatment throughput amongst alcohol clients: more new treatment 

journeys begin each year than within the drug cohort - though more also end in that time, 

producing a lower total engaged in treatment. 

 Though a similar number of individuals from each client group on a new treatment journey 

had a housing need in 12/13, the percentage of people with a housing need was 

substantially higher amongst the drug cohort, implying that the total housing need for all 

individuals with drug issues will be significantly higher than amongst alcohol clients.  

 Ultimately, Cheshire East can expect some 250 people in treatment to have a housing need. 

This exceeds current supply significantly and does not even account for the 84% of 

estimated drug and alcohol dependents who have not presented to treatment. 

 However, determining waves of housing need is more difficult, as predicting throughput of 

clients with a housing need is fraught: all 90 people with a housing need in 12/13 will not 

exit care in a regulated manner, as duration of care will vary hugely between client groups 

Page 138



P a g e  | 101 

 

 

and individuals. Moreover, new individuals with different needs are constantly presenting to 

services. This can be seen in an analysis of the figures for the first quarter of 2013/14, where 

only 4 people with a housing need left care whilst 11 people with housing needs entered.  

Supply 

Housing for people with substance abuse issues covers the accommodation of clients upon their exit 

from treatment. Treatment concerns the detoxification and initial rehabilitation of clients (usually 

for a period of 12 weeks), after which they have to return home – provided they have somewhere to 

go. Many have a housing need upon exiting treatment, because they have no fixed accommodation; 

have health risks associated with their dependency, or are unable to maintain a tenancy because of 

their substance abuse issues; others will require further support (provided either in a supported 

accommodation placement or through floating support to their residence) to achieve abstinence in 

the long-term and the behaviours required to maintain a tenancy.  

Institutional Care Homes 

A small minority of people with substance abuse issues are housed in institutional care by social 

services. Those that are have acute health issues as a result of, or relating to their substance 

problem, or are using respite provision as a part of their rehabilitation programme, and are 

therefore not in institutional care for a prolonged period. There are five people currently funded by 

social care in institutional placements: two within Cheshire East and three outside.  

  Provision Type Substance Abuse Client Count 

Provision 
in CEC 

Nursing 2 

Residential 0 

Respite Nursing 0 

Respite Residential 0 

Total 2 

Provision 
Outside 

CEC 

Nursing 0 

Residential 0 

Respite Nursing 0 

Respite Residential 3 

Total 3 

Source: Cheshire East Monitoring Data for Institutional Care Facilities 

Supported Accommodation 

Supported accommodation is the most prevalent and effective means of helping those with 

substance misuse issues transition out of treatment and back towards independent living, gaining 

the skills and behaviours to live on their own and manage a tenancy.  

The Supporting People needs analysis goes a long way to emphasising the shortage of specialist 

accommodation for people with substance abuse issues within the Borough. Similarly to the 

discussion of demand, gauging total supply is fraught given the miscegenation between client 

groups: there is limited provision that caters specifically for those with substance misuse issues, but 

Page 139



P a g e  | 102 

 

 

most clients are housed in accommodation nominally intended for other clients – most commonly 

homelessness, given that the majority of people with substance misuse issues and a housing need 

are also homeless. For this reason, the hostels and homeless accommodation throughout the 

Borough are skilled at catering for clients with substance issues.  

However, the dearth of specialist accommodation for people with substance abuse issues means 

that the majority only access supported accommodation once their condition has worsened and 

they present as part of another client group. In other words, a bolstered provision of specialist 

housing for people with drug and alcohol issues can in itself act as an early intervention measure in 

reducing demand across other client groups: appropriate housing can facilitate effective recovery 

and stop substance abuse issues that will later result in homelessness, mental health issues, 

domestic abuse, or a complex matrix of these.  

This perspective accords with service experience. For instance, a major problem faced with 

accommodation provision for homeless people is the acute substance issues that many of these 

individuals have, making it problematic for them to sustain a tenancy. However, if substance abuse 

issues had been remedied earlier, this would improve the chances of positive outcomes through the 

homelessness service – or indeed eliminate an individual’s presentation to the service at all by 

removing the root cause of their homelessness.  

There are currently only two institutions that provide specialist accommodation for people with 

substance abuse issues. These are outlined in the table below alongside the other provision that is 

frequently used for this client group.  

Area Client Group Total 

Capacity 

Type 

Macclesfield Drug and Alcohol 

Specialist 

8 Sheltered recovery scheme (abstinence-based). 

Drug and Alcohol 

Specialist 

8 Sheltered recovery scheme (abstinence-based). 

Homelessness  10 Sheltered recovery scheme (Requires abstinence). 

Homelessness  9 Temporary accommodation for homeless clients – 

limited support available. 

Congleton Homelessness and 

Mental Health  

8 Sheltered recovery scheme (Requires abstinence. 

Shared with mental health clients). 

Crewe Homelessness  39 Sheltered recovery scheme (Requires abstinence). 

Young homeless  12 Sheltered recovery scheme (Requires abstinence). 

Total 85 

 

Page 140



P a g e  | 103 

 

 

A number of themes can be evinced from this picture of supply: 

 There is a dearth of specialist accommodation for people with substance abuse issues. Only 

the two institutions above cater solely for this client group, whilst others house those with 

substance misuse issues but also cater for other client groups, who also compete for places 

in these schemes. 

 The majority of these institutions are located in the Macclesfield and Crewe areas of the 

Borough. Whilst this does not represent an equitable spatial distribution, this configuration 

reflects that these locations are the largest urban population centres and experience the 

greatest degree of accommodation pressure. 

 In addition to being insufficient in terms of quantity of placements, these facilities do not 

adequately cover the entire needs spectrum and treatment pathway. Because the majority 

of these schemes are not dedicated to substance misuse clients, they are chiefly abstinence-

based recovery schemes (which require clients to stop abusing substances upon entry) and 

sit at the more intensive end of the recovery spectrum. The abstinence-based schemes 

provide excellent transitional accommodation for those capable of the abstinence, 

community support engagement, and upskilling that takes place in these schemes. However, 

there is a noticeable gap for those with acute substance abuse issues, usually following their 

exit from detoxification and rehabilitative treatment, who will not be able to make the sharp 

transition into an abstinence scheme. As such, the most apparent model needed within the 

Borough is wet provision: accommodation where alcohol may be used in a regulated manner 

in accordance with a phased ‘stepping down’ programme. This will allow a greater number 

of people to make the transition into abstinence-based schemes or independent move-on 

housing in the future, rather than failing to adapt to abstinence requirements and being 

ejected – at which point they cease to receive support and risk the escalation of needs.  

Chapter Conclusions 

Key Findings 

 There are a steadily increasing number of drug users in treatment within the Borough. There 

is a low treatment completion rate for drug users implying that: services are not recovery-

focussed and engender long treatment cycles, leading many clients to go back into the 

community without the capacity to manage a tenancy. 

 The number of alcohol clients in treatment is a steadier figure with a high throughput. 

Treatment completion is higher with alcohol users, though engagement is a problem given 

the greater prevalence of drinking within society, whereby people with an issue will rarely 

present for treatment until their needs are acute.  

 There is an extensive (and slowly rising) unmet need for specialist housing for people with 

drug and alcohol issues, evidenced in the Supporting People needs analysis and the number 

of clients entering and leaving treatment with an unmet housing need.  

Page 141



P a g e  | 104 

 

 

 Specialist provision for drug and alcohol clients is underrepresented and imbalanced within 

the Borough. A limited number of housing schemes exist, and those that do are abstinence-

based and cater predominantly for people in an intermediate stage of their recovery. A 

bolstered provision of supported accommodation places are required, as is specialist 

accommodation catering for those with high or complex alcohol needs who may not be able 

to abstain upon entry to treatment.  

Strategic Priorities 

 Support the on-going drug and alcohol service recommissioning work in engraining a 

recovery-oriented and early-intervention approach to substance abuse services, realising a 

vision of mixed and flexible services, including specialist accommodation, which will help 

release individuals from substance dependencies. 

 Work with supported and temporary accommodation providers to ensure they are 

promoting move-on of clients and that routes to permanent accommodation are well sign-

posted. 

 Work to establish a more sophisticated accommodation pathway mapped to the relevant 

stages of clients’ recovery programmes. 

 Utilise this mapping exercise as the basis to develop a revised specification of specialist 

accommodation for individuals with drug and alcohol issues, limiting the need to utilise 

inappropriate housing for this client group. 

 As a first port of call, scope the possibility of specialist accommodation for high-needs 

alcohol clients within the Borough, conducting market analysis to understand best practise 

in this field and constructing a business case to drawn down the prerequisite support costs. 

The need for such ‘wet’ accommodation has been identified as a priority amongst a number 

of service managers across client groups, as a conduit to enable clients to engage with 

recovery programmes and reduce the impact on other services that occurs when people 

with acute substance issues are expelled from abstinence schemes or supported tenancies. 

Page 142



P a g e  | 105 

 

 

Physical and Sensory Disabilities 

Chapter Summary 

People with a physical disability occupy a unique position on the accommodation spectrum: their 
care needs are frequently not substantial enough to require long-term placement by social services, 
yet general or supported housing is often ill-suited to their needs or in short supply: a pattern that 
emerges in Cheshire East.  
 
As such, this vulnerable group benefit most acutely from low-level support or property adaptations 
rather than dramatic intervention, with the majority capable of independent living if the right 
enabling mechanisms or services are in place. Cheshire East therefore aims to deliver more 
accessible design specifications for general access housing, a sophisticated offering of adaptations 
and assistive technologies to enable independent living in as many cases as possible, a robust menu 
of support services that facilitate a shift to independence or aging in place, whilst ensuring that any 
admission to residential or nursing care is temporary or rehabilitative.  

Key Evidence Sources 

 Moving Forward – Cheshire East Housing Strategy 2011 - 2016 

 Cheshire East Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

 Cheshire East SHMA Extra Care Housing Report 

 Improving the Life chances of Disabled People (2005) 

 Putting People First: A shared vision and commitment to the transformation of adult social 

care (2007) 

 Red Quadrant Report 

 Census 2011 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Valuing People 

 Social Services Monitoring Data (PARIS) 

 Cheshire East Monitoring Data for Institutional Care Facilities 

 Supporting People Needs Analysis 

 Social Services Expenditure Return 

 NOMIS (Office of Labour Market Statistics) 

 PANSI and POPPI projections 

Page 143



P a g e  | 106 

 

 

Detailed Findings 

National and Local Policy Context 

In 2005 the Government published ‘Improving the Life chances of Disabled People’. This created a 
vision that disabled people should have the same opportunities and choices as non-disabled people 
to improve their quality of life and be respected and included as equal members of society. This 
involves giving disabled people access to support services and accommodation that enabled them to 
live independently and make informed choices about their care.  
 
In 2007 ‘Putting People First: A shared vision and commitment to the transformation of adult social 
care’ was published. At its heart was a pledge to ensure that all public bodies work together towards 
a society that enables individuals to have maximum choice and control over their lives, unlocking 
their ability to contribute and be fulfilled.  
 
These strategies encourage choice and empowerment in accommodation options, and Cheshire East 
aims to allow disabled people to have access to a wide range of housing provision suitable to their 
needs and a robust menu of support services that allow care and adaptations in situ; these impulses 
will guide us to become a Borough where disabled people are facilitated to grasp independent living 
arrangements, remaining safe and comfortable in their homes and as central agents in the 
community. These goals are ratified in our commissioning intentions. 
 
Consultation Response 

 Feedback reflected the need to ensure that, as far as possible, general needs housing is 

increasingly able to accommodate disabled people in its accessibility and design. This will 

largely be enforced in new build developments through planning policy and the Local Plan, 

with an appropriate proportion of Lifetime Homes and higher accessibility standards 

prescribed in accordance with local needs.  

 Regarding existing stock, groups asserted the importance of refreshing and upgrading stock 

to make it safer, more accessible, and ultimately more liveable in the long term for disabled 

people. The chief means of realising this through adaptations and assistive technologies. 

Such measures allow homes to better tolerate care and support without the need for 

intensive care packages or the relocation of clients, and their expanded usage was 

advocated by attendees. 

 Workshop feedback also noted that other kinds of supported housing can offer benefits for 

those with physical disabilities, despite a current lack of specialist accommodation available 

for this client group. Extra care schemes are by nature built with disability in mind and can 

provide an alternative to institutional care for those with physical disabilities. Indeed, the 

potential admittance of physically disabled people across the age and need spectrum into 

extra care schemes was deemed a positive thing by focus groups, helping forge a more 

varied and aspirational community. Moreover, shared living and sheltered housing can 

create an amenable environment for a number of disabled people; such properties are more 

expensive to construct but offer a cheaper alternative to institutional care in the long term. 

 Much comment was made on the need to prevent and predict some of the demand by 

addressing physical and sensory disability from a young age. Attendees suggested that DFGs 

Page 144



P a g e  | 107 

 

 

could be increasingly used to invest to save, recognising the social model of disability where 

physical barriers need to be overcome to enable disabled people to be independent and 

equal in society, with choice and control over their own lives. Furthermore, it was thought 

that extra care schemes, which usually impose a minimum age of 55 could be expanded to 

include younger people: allowing the physically disabled access to better, more independent 

facilities, whilst improving the age and need mixture in each scheme.  

Current Pathways to Care and Support 

More so than other client groups, adaptations and accessibility make a huge difference in the lives of 
people with a physical or sensory disability. This client group can generally be catered for effectively 
through adaptations or support services, rather than requiring intensive (and expensive) social care, 
negating the need for complex home care packages and stays in institutional care. Such services are 
delivered through a variety of means, whose character and performance are discussed in this 
section. This is reflected in the high number of disabled people who utilise adaptations, assistive 
technologies, and floating support; moreover, of those who do require social care, the majority can 
be treated at home rather than requiring residential or nursing care packages.  
 
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) 

Adaptations and handyperson services are a cornerstone of Cheshire East’s strategy for this client 
group. The Council has an annual budget of around £1 million for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) to 
ensure that disabled people are able to maintain independent living and receive the care and 
support that they need in the home of their choice.  
 
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) are the Council’s statutory funding provision for major adaptations. 
These means-tested grants of up to £30,000 fund around 160 adaptations each year, including 
ramps to enable safe access into and out of the property, stair lifts and vertical lifts to enable people 
to access their bedroom or bathroom, conversion of bathrooms to enable people to shower safely, 
and extensions to provide ground floor sleeping accommodation. The average value of a DFG in 
2012/13 was a one-off cost of £5,600, reducing to £3,700 in 2013/14 – when compared to the 
recurrent annual cost of a residential care placement of £19,500, or a yearly home care package of 
£4,153, the value for money of DFGs is demonstrably high.  
 
The following table breakdowns the comparative DFG expenditure on different age groups. 
Expenditure on adaptations for children with physical disabilities is proportionately higher than 
other age groups. Children and young people represent 11% of DFG beneficiaries, but have received 
23% of the funding. Conversely, older people represent 48% of DFG beneficiaries but only 37% of the 
funding. Whilst adaptations for young people are more expensive per case, they are critical in 
preventing care issues and funding pressures downstream, acting as a preventative influence that 
will enable individuals to remain at home with lower care needs. This is especially important given 
the greater number of children living with disabilities as a result in advances in medical care, 
meaning that accommodation and care services will struggle to cope with the increases (covered 
under ‘Demand’).    
Disabled clients, and particularly the elderly frail, are also the chief customers of the Care & Repair 
and Handypersons services. As older people are the chief users of this service, they are covered in 
greater detail under the Older Persons chapter; DFGs are largely required for major home 
renovation to accommodation a physical or sensory disability, so are better addressed here.  
 
 

Page 145



P a g e  | 108 

 

 

Community Equipment Service 

Similar facilitative and preventative outcomes are driven by the Community Equipment Service, 
which provides specific pieces of small equipment that can make all the difference to a disabled 
person’s livelihood – such as an adapted toilet seat. The service vastly improves the accessibility and 
comfort of homes whilst lowering the risk involved in day-to-day activities, thereby enhancing the 
associated viability of independent living in situ.  
 
Supporting People 

Supporting People provide a range of short-term accommodation and floating support services to 
people with a physical disability with lower care needs, who can be supported to realise community 
living or self-sufficiency. Capacity is comparatively low compared with larger groups with greater 
care needs (such as older people), but the figures indicate that existing supply for support services is 
overstretched, and that there is a need (albeit a slim need) for both short and long-term supported 
accommodation places tailored specifically to the needs of people with a physical or sensory 
disability.  
 

Physical and Sensory Disability  
Services 

Need 2020 Supply 2013 Gap 

Accommodation Support 16 0 -16 

Floating Support 34 20 -14 

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 

Demand 

Demand is difficult to gauge for people with a disability given that it overlaps heavily with other 

client groups – particularly older people, which captures many of the frail elderly who develop a 

physical or sensory impairment by virtue of their age. As such, throughout this section, comparisons 

have been made between the number of people with a physical disability over 65 and the number of 

people under 65, in order to give an indication of how many people have a long-term disability, and 

how many have developed physical or sensory conditions as they have grown older.  

Homechoice Demand 

The Homechoice social housing register tracks the number of people awaiting allocation to social 

housing who require properties that have been designed or adapted to meet the accessibility 

requirements of disabled people. This data captures the demand for affordable properties (priced at 

below market value) that are also physically amenable for the disabled. This demand could 

encompass social care clients (discussed below) who will then receive services within these 

properties.  

The table is useful in indicating which areas have the greatest need for accessible properties in the 

community, for those individuals whose needs are not high enough for specialist accommodation 

(such as residential, nursing, or extra care) who could live independently and safely provided they 

have a property physically suited to their needs. Cheshire East is therefore committed to ensuring a 

greater proportion of properties designed to greater accessibility standards and built with the 

disabled in mind. This could encompass properties with wider doors or bungalows.  

Page 146



P a g e  | 109 

 

 

It is notable that, of these 111 households who require an affordable, accessible home, 54% of these 

are over 55, indicating that the majority require specially-designed housing because of frailty 

brought on by age, rather than long-term disability.  22% of these households are a family containing 

a disabled person, whilst 14% of these applicants are single, disabled people currently living in an 

unsuitable property. 

Area Number of First Choice Applications 

Crewe 15 

Macclesfield 14 

Congleton 12 

Sandbach 12 

Nantwich 7 

Alsager 6 

Nantwich Rural 5 

Knutsford 4 

Alderley Edge 4 

Bollington 4 

Crewe Rural 4 

Wilmslow 3 

Middlewich 3 

Poynton 3 

Alsager Rural 3 

Holmes Chapel 3 

Holmes Chapel 
Rural 

3 

Disley 2 

Handforth 1 

Knutsford Rural 1 

Macclesfield Rural 1 

Northwich 1 

Total 111 

Source: Cheshire Homechoice March 2014 

Current Service Demand 

The number of people with a physical or sensory disability and an active social care plan is detailed 

in the table below. The figures demonstrate that, as suspected, the majority of people with a 

physical or sensory disability are over 65 – and, moreover, fall within the ‘frail/temporary illness’ 

category. This implies that the number of people with a long-term physical or sensory disability (and 

thus a specialist housing need prior to old age) is relatively low: estimated to be around 414. 

 

 

Page 147



P a g e  | 110 

 

 

Client Type  Under 65 65 and Over Total 

Dual Sensory Loss 1 8 9 

Frail/Temporary Illness 87 2169 2256 

Hearing Impairment 1 33 34 

Other Phy/Sen Impairment 321 587 908 

Visual Impairment 4 72 76 

Grand Total 414 2869 3283 

Source: Social Services Monitoring Data (PARIS) 
 
People with physical and sensory disabilities have a unique demand for housing that is physically 
designed to cater for their vulnerabilities. The type of housing required is dependent on the severity 
of need, with lower-level needs being able to live safely and independently in their own homes with 
the help of adaptations, Telecare, or home care; whilst those with higher needs may require more 
routine assistance which can be most appropriately provided in specialist accommodation such as 
sheltered housing, extra care, or institutional provision.  
 
Specialist accommodation, home care, and Telecare are all brokered through social services, making 
social care data an effective indicator of demand for different types of accommodation or associated 
services. The following table surveys the number of care interventions (individual units of care) 
received by adults with a range of physical or sensory disabilities. These figures capture all kinds of 
intervention, both short and long-term, and chart the number of times a service is delivered – 
potentially multiple times to the same client.  
 

  Under 65 Under 65 % Over 65 Over 65 % Total Total % 

Adaptations 0 0.0 5 0.1 5 0.1 

Day Care 36 5.8 147 3.5 183 3.8 

Direct Payment 203 32.9 406 9.6 609 12.6 

Equipment 6 1.0 54 1.3 60 1.2 

Extra Care 20 3.2 291 6.9 311 6.4 

Family-Based Care 24 3.9 62 1.5 86 1.8 

Homecare 141 22.9 959 22.7 1100 22.7 

Independent Living Fund 1 0.2 0 0.0 1 0.0 

Intermediate Care 34 5.5 475 11.2 509 10.5 

Network Care 2 0.3 1 0.0 3 0.1 

Nursing Care 24 3.9 408 9.6 432 8.9 

Professional support 3 0.5 17 0.4 20 0.4 

Reablement 7 1.1 59 1.4 66 1.4 

Residential Care 8 1.3 406 9.6 414 8.5 

Respite Nursing 4 0.6 62 1.5 66 1.4 

Respite Residential 8 1.3 104 2.5 112 2.3 

Telecare 96 15.6 772 18.2 868 17.9 

Transport 0 0.0 4 0.1 4 0.1 

Total 617 100 4232 100 4849 100 

Source: Social Service Monitoring Data (PARIS) 
 

Page 148



P a g e  | 111 

 

 

In addition to the above, adaptations to properties and specialist equipment (stair lifts, shower 

seats, assisted chairs) for those living within the community are monitored separately. This reveals 

the high number of low-level and preventative interventions performed in the Borough for those 

with various disabilities, enabling them to live in their own homes safely.  

Regarding equipment services (the provision of assistive equipment to enable people to live more 

easily and safely in their homes, negating the need for more intensive care or support), there are 

around 5000 equipment allocations each year in Cheshire East to people receiving Health and Social 

Care. A great many more are signposted to purchasing assistive equipment as a preventative 

measure, even if their needs do not yet qualify them for social care. The chief pieces of equipment 

required are profiling beds and mattresses, shower chairs, walking frames, and commodes.  

Year Equipment Provisions  

2012-13 5092 

2013-14 5301 

Source: CES Monitoring Data 

Similarly, there are a high number of adaptations (physical augmentations to a property carried out 

chiefly via the Care and Repair Service and DFGs) utilised in Cheshire East. These are broken down 

for the 2013-14 financial year in the table below.  

Type of Adaptation 2013-14 Frequency 

Disabled Facilities Grants 169 

Social Services funded Minor Adaptations 1,291 

Self-funded Minor Adaptations 330 

Privately funded Major Adaptations 22 

TOTAL 1,812 

Source: Private Sector Housing CRM Monitoring Data 

The following table looks specifically at the major adaptations for the last three years to identify the 

cohorts served most frequently and the comparative spend. Whilst the majority of these are for the 

elderly frail, it has been observed by services that adaptations for children and young people are 

rising at a higher rate, reflecting the growing number of young people with physical disabilities 

known to services. It is notable that the cost of an adaptation is significantly lower than, for instance, 

the cost of care at home; moreover, research suggests that £1 sent on adaptations saves around 

£1.50 over three years, with further benefits accruing annually thereafter. 

 

 

Page 149



P a g e  | 112 

 

 

Age Group Spending 2010-2013 Cases Average spend  
per case 

Children and Young 
People 

£ 591,300 56 £ 10,559 

Adults £ 1,067,300 
 

205 £ 5,206 

Older People £ 972,400 241 £ 4,035 

Total £2,631,000 502 £5,241 

Source: Private Sector Housing CRM Monitoring Data 

There are a number of conclusions that we can glean from these datasets: 

 Adaptations, equipment services, Telecare, and care at home remain the most prominent 

accommodation services for this client group, emphasising their ability to live within the 

community with the correct environment and support. The high frequency of preventative 

services such as equipment services, Telecare, and adaptations help lower the risk of crisis, 

negating the need for intensive care services to be provided at home or in an institutional 

setting in the future. This compounds the aim of the Care & Repair service to encourage 

greater proactive engagement with adaptations from an earlier age – especially seeing as 

the majority of adaptations are still only being delivered for those over 65. However, this 

trend is slowly changing, with the rate of adaptations for children and young people 

increasing faster than older groups. This partly reflects the growing number of younger 

people with physical disabilities (discussed below).  

 Under 65s are substantially more likely to engage with direct payments and take greater 

control of their own care, whereas the older category prefer to have the Council broker their 

care plan. 

 Whilst the majority of this client group are able to live independently at home with the help 

of adaptations, Telecare, or floating services, there is a notable minority (around 24%) of 

disabled people whose higher needs mean that they require relocation to specialist 

accommodation. The above figures demonstrate that the majority of disabled people who 

require specialist accommodation are over 65, and access a combination of residential, 

nursing, and extra care - with a greater emphasis on the former two options.   

 There are a smaller number of under 65s whose need necessitate specialist accommodation. 

This group may be characterised by lifelong disability, or that brought about by a serious 

accident, rather than frailty borne of old age. This cohort proportionately accessed nursing 

care with greater regularity, rather than residential or intermediate accommodation. This 

partially reflects the age threshold placed upon most intermediate housing options, such as 

extra care, limiting the options of younger disabled people. Extra care has the potential to 

yield benefits for younger people with physical disabilities provided the composition of 

entrants is balanced, and this should be explored in the development of any future schemes. 

The presence of younger people in such schemes could also serve to enliven and diversify 

the communities there.  

Page 150



P a g e  | 113 

 

 

 In sum, there are a relatively low number of people with a physical or sensory disability in 

Cheshire East that is not a result of advanced years. Of those whose impairment is not 

captured under provision for older people – those with long term disabilities acquired earlier 

in life - the majority are best served by support services, adaptations, and community care, 

and are preponderantly able to function effectively in an independent environment if 

properly enabled. However, around a quarter of disabled people known to social services 

have needs that can only be catered for in specialist accommodation (residential, nursing, 

sheltered, or extra care), which boasts a physically amenable environment as standard and 

allows constant access to care or support. Evidence suggests that nursing care is, in this 

comparatively small number of cases, the most used, and the Council must ensure this is 

accessible and suitable. The Council needs to examine the number of long-term placements 

it is supporting for those with severe needs and, where possible, ensure provision is 

weighted towards sheltered or Extra Care models rather than institutional care, given the 

superior well-being and reablement outcomes such provision can realise. 

Future Demand: 

The need to deliver more adaptations and provide a wider range of specialist housing options for 

younger people with physical disabilities is particularly acute given the high number of children with 

disabilities projected downstream. Currently, a much lower percentage of people under 65 are 

receiving adaptations than those over 65, and accommodation provision for those under 65 is 

polarised into home or institutional care.  

The below figures demonstrate that the numbers of children claiming Disability Living Allowance in 

the Borough is rising. The figures show a total increase in the number of disabled children by 22% in 

the six year period between 2007 and 2013 alone. This rise can perhaps be explained by rising 

population levels and advancements in medical care ensuring that more disabled children live 

healthier for longer. In practical terms this amounts to an additional 10-30 people with a physical 

disability each year who are transitioning from childhood to adulthood, and this extra demand must 

be met with suitable housing provision. This is a slight rather than an exponential increase, but 

implies that there is a growing need from people with physical disabilities emerging that must be 

addressed through appropriate housing and related services.  

Year Cheshire East Disability Living Allowance Claimants By Age 

Under 5 5-11 11-16 16-17 Total 

2007/Q1 190 540 610 190 1530 

2008/Q1 200 580 620 220 1620 

2009/Q1 220 610 670 220 1720 

2010/Q1 220 640 720 240 1820 

2011/Q1 220 630 740 250 1840 

2012/Q1 240 670 760 270 1940 

2013/Q1 230 700 770 250 1950 

Source: NOMIS (Office of Labour Market Statistics), Benefits: Disability Living Allowance 
 

Page 151



P a g e  | 114 

 

 

These figures flow through into population projections from the Office of National Statistics (utilising 

prevalence rates from the Health Survey for England 2001), which indicate that a rise is anticipated 

in the number of adults with a moderate and serious disability in Cheshire East by 2030. However, 

this figure is not an exponential increase, and is predicted to ebb and flow on a yearly basis whilst 

equating to a net increase by 2030. 

Age 
Range 

2012 2015 2020 2025 2030 

Moderate Serious Moderate Serious Moderate Serious Moderate Serious Moderate Serious 

18-24  1,091 213 1,058 206 963 188 959 187 1,054 206 

25-34  1,655 158 1,798 171 1,907 182 1,835 175 1,739 166 

35-44  2,761 838 2,554 775 2,531 768 2,873 872 3,024 918 

45-54  5,529 1,539 5,665 1,577 5,286 1,472 4,627 1,288 4,637 1,291 

55-64  7,167 2,790 7,122 2,772 7,986 3,109 8,567 3,335 8,016 3,120 

Total  18,202 5,537 18,196 5,502 18,674 5,718 18,862 5,857 18,469 5,700 

Grand 
Total 

23,739 23698 24392 24719 24169 

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS) www.pansi.org.uk 

Supply 

As indicated within the previous ‘Demand’ section, there is limited housing specifically designed for 
those with physical or sensory disabilities, given the overlap between this client group and others – 
particularly older people. Those physically disabled people whose higher needs necessitate specialist 
accommodation (residential, nursing, extra care, etc.) or supported accommodation will occupy 
schemes shared with other client groups, rather than having dedicated provision.  
 
Moreover, as previously demonstrated, most members of this client group are able to live in their 
own homes rather than in specialist or supported accommodation, so the supply of adaptation 
services, floating support, and assistive technologies is more important to augment existing living 
arrangements, as opposed to stand-alone, dedicated housing supply.  
 
As such, the challenge lies in unpicking the members of this client group from the range of provision 
they utilise. The next table attempts to fathom the kinds of accommodation those with physical 
disabilities go into by examining the accommodation status of clients known to social care. However, 
this is an incomplete dataset as the accommodation status of most clients is unknown as it is not 
captured within the system, meaning that the below is taken from a sample of around 700 clients 
with a physical or sensory disability whose accommodation status is known.  
 

Accommodation Status Sample 
Total 

Total 
% 

Under 
65 

Under 65 
% 

65 and 
Over 

65 and Over 
% 

Adult Placement Scheme                           2 0.3 2 2.3 0 0.0 

Family/Friends - Settled                             42 6.0 21 24.1 21 3.4 

Family/Friends – Short Term                         2 0.3 0 0.0 2 0.3 

Lives Alone                                        378 54.3 31 35.6 347 57.0 

Living With Relative (Not Parent)                     20 2.9 2 2.3 18 3.0 

Other Temporary Accommodation                      3 0.4 1 1.1 2 0.3 

Owner Occupied/Shared                              62 8.9 6 6.9 56 9.2 

Registered Care Home                               47 6.8 2 2.3 45 7.4 

Page 152



P a g e  | 115 

 

 

Registered Nursing Home                            43 6.2 6 6.9 37 6.1 

Sheltered/Extra Care Housing                       48 6.9 3 3.4 45 7.4 

Supported Accommodation                            11 1.6 4 4.6 7 1.1 

Temporary Accommodation                              1 0.1 0 0.0 1 0.2 

Tenant (Local Authority)                                        29 4.2 5 5.7 24 3.9 

Tenant (Private Landlord)                          8 1.1 4 4.6 4 0.7 

Grand Total 696 100.0 87 100.0 609 100.0 

Source: Social Services Monitoring Data (PARIS) 
 
In of itself, this data corroborates the conclusions of the previous section, in that the vast proportion 
of people with a physical or sensory disability do not have substantial care needs and can be 
adequately supported in the community through the likes of adaptations and Telecare; this is 
reflected by the high percentage of those whose accommodation status is known living alone, or 
with friends and family. However, a minority proportion has needs that merit relocation into 
specialist accommodation; of these, the majority are over 65. This cohort is equitably split between 
residential, nursing, and extra care or sheltered housing schemes, highlighting that these options can 
be effectively utilised for people with physical disabilities. Of those under 65 whose needs 
necessitate specialist accommodation, the majority are found in nursing provision.  
 
Supported Accommodation 

Only a small proportion of people with physical disabilities live in supported accommodation, and 

there is no dedicated supply of fixed supported accommodation for people with physical disabilities. 

The above analysis of accommodation status shows that, proportionately, a slightly larger 

percentage of people under 65 utilise supported accommodation – though this still represents a low 

proportion of all accommodation outcomes. This is corroborated in the Supporting People needs 

analysis, summarised below.  

Physical and Sensory Disabilities Need 2020 Supply 2013 Gap 

Accommodation Support 16 0 -16 

Floating Support 34 20 -14 

Older People Services Need 2020 Supply 2013 Gap 

Accommodation Support  5678 4193 -1485  

Floating Support 1261 40 -1221  

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 

However, there are a grand total of 4193 units of supported accommodation for older people with 

support needs, which could include a number of people whose old age has induced physical frailty 

and vulnerability: the people who would generally fall into the over 65 category identified within this 

chapter. This includes the provision of Telecare and alarms to dispersed properties as well as on-site 

support within an identified scheme.  

Indeed, with regards to support services, more people with a physical or sensory disability that is not 

a product of their age will receive support in their own homes from the floating services funded 

through Supporting People.  

 

Page 153



P a g e  | 116 

 

 

Intermediate Housing 

The accommodation status data above indicates that a significant portion of people with physical 

and sensory disabilities live in intermediate housing options: extra care or sheltered housing. 

However, this is a lesser number than those in institutional care. Intermediate housing options have 

the potential to deliver greatly improved outcomes for people with physical and sensory disabilities 

given that they are designed and built to higher accessibility standards to accommodate a range of 

needs. 

They therefore provide a viable alternative to institutional care for many people of mid to high levels 

of need who are unable to continue in general needs housing. When used appropriately, such 

accommodation can offer greater levels of independence and safety with a lower cost than 

institutional care. It is therefore important that, where appropriate, clients with physical and sensory 

disabilities are encouraged to enter extra care or sheltered housing schemes rather than institutional 

care. This is especially true of younger people with physical disabilities who cannot remain in general 

needs housing; this cohort utilise extra care and sheltered housing at almost half the frequency of 

those over 65 and, of the specialist housing models, are most commonly found in nursing care.  

The provision of intermediate housing in the Borough is detailed in the ‘Older People’ chapter, and 

totals 501 extra care units and 2439 sheltered units.  

Institutional Care 

The below table indicates that the bulk of institutional care caters for those over 65, supporting the 

assessment that the majority of people with a physical or sensory disability have acquired this 

impairment with age. The majority of people under 65 with a severe physical or sensory disability 

utilise nursing care provision; those over 65 equally use residential and nursing provision – but in 

much greater quantities. The table demonstrates that, for those under 65, 36% of their total 

provision (and 42% of their nursing care – their most used type) is found out of Borough; this 

represents a huge disparity with the over 65s, for whom 88% is located within the Borough. This 

suggests that Cheshire East is better provisioned to deal with older people with frailties and 

impairments than it is to deal with the long-term severely disabled, for whom appropriate care is 

found outside of the Borough – at greater cost to social services.  

 Provision Type Under 65 65 and Over Total 

Providers In CEC 

Residential 3 363 366 

Nursing 14 342 356 

Respite Residential 2 59 61 

Respite Nursing 3 52 55 

Total 22 816 838 

Providers Residential 5 31 36 

Page 154



P a g e  | 117 

 

 

Outside CEC Nursing 10 52 62 

Respite Residential 1 3 4 

Respite Nursing 0 8 8 

Total 16 94 110 

CEC Provision 

(Care4CE) 

Residential 0 0 0 

Nursing 0 0 0 

Respite Residential 6 40 46 

Respite Nursing 0 0 0 

Total 6 40 46 

Grand Totals 

Residential 8 394 402 

Nursing 24 394 418 

Respite Residential 3 62 65 

Respite Nursing 3 60 63 

Total 38 910 948 

 Source: Cheshire East Institutional Care Monitoring Data 

Chapter Conclusions 

Key Findings 

 This client group can generally be enabled to live independently with access to the right 
services and support. Chiefly, the majority of this group can benefit from home adaptations, 
largely provided by the Council through Disabled Facilities Grants and the Care & Repair 
team. Such adaptations allow individuals to live safely and independently at home, negating 
the need for costly care and accommodation options later in life. 
 

 Medical and care advances are ensuring that many disabled children are living healthily and 
for longer. It is anticipated that this will create an upsurge in demand from disabled children, 
with younger people increasingly requiring home adaptations and specialist accommodation 
offerings. Currently, a much lower percentage of people under 65 are receiving adaptations 
than those over 65 – though demand for adaptations from the younger cohorts is rising at a 
faster rate.  

 

 There are many disabled people whose disability is the result of frailty borne of old age. It is 
therefore a challenge to unpick those individuals or young people with a long-term disability 
who have a need for specialist accommodation. 

 

Page 155



P a g e  | 118 

 

 

 Those individuals who cannot be enabled to live independently through adaptations or 
assistive technologies chiefly receive care packages at home, or go to live in institutional 
care, extra care, or sheltered housing schemes. There is a lack of dedicated supported 
accommodation for people with physical and sensory disabilities, though many of the older 
disabled or frail will utilise the c.4000 units nominally for older people with support needs. 

 
Strategic Priorities 

 Continue to promote adaptations, Care & Repair, and the Handypersons service as widely as 
possible, encouraging more proactive, private adaptations. This will allow adaptations to be 
increasingly used as a preventative measure, lowering the potential dependence on care 
downstream, and will enable more people to ‘future proof’ their homes to enable 
independence in situ. 
 

 Remodel the Care & Repair, Handypersons, and Minor Adaptations services so that they 
develop in-line with the personalisation agenda. 

 

 Continue to promote general accessibility standards through planning processes, to ensure 
that an appropriate portion of new build homes are accessible for the physically disabled 
according to need. 

 

 Continue to promote, review, and support assistive technologies and Telecare services. 
 

 Continue to help disabled people in need of affordable and more accessible accommodation 
through the development of more affordable housing designed for their needs as well as the 
continued prioritisation of this client group in the Homechoice social lettings system 

 

 Improve access to intermediate housing for people with physical disabilities – and especially 
younger people. This will entail exploring the possibility of lowering entry ages into the likes 
of extra care schemes and ensuring physically amenable design standards for supported 
accommodation in the future.  

Page 156



P a g e  | 119 

 

 

Domestic Abuse 

Chapter Summary 

Background 

Cheshire East Council wishes to take a holistic response to tackling the problem of domestic abuse. 

This involves a number of facets, the first of which is to continue the strong partnership 

arrangements that currently exist across the Borough in the CEDAP (Cheshire East Domestic Abuse 

Partnership). The strength of this partnership enables widespread awareness and referrals, and 

collectively funds the DAFSU (Domestic Abuse Family Safety Unit), which provides support to high 

risk cases and administers the MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferencing) process. 

This partnership seeks to reduce the risk of domestic abuse by preventing it in the first instance 

through outreach work and target hardening. The latter provides physical safeguards for homes, and 

is an effective and cost-efficient means of intervening early in emerging patterns of abuse and 

allowing families to live safely in their own homes without presenting to services. Expanding this 

preventative work is a priority and offers a proactive, preventative solution that will hopefully 

reduce the need for the consistent expansion of refuge care. 

However, for those individuals who are affected by domestic abuse, there is a need to deliver an 

appropriate and flexible mixture of refuge accommodation and support services, the combinations 

and quantities of which occupy this chapter. 

Key Evidence Sources 

 Moving Forward – Cheshire East Housing Strategy 2011 – 2016 

 DAFSU Annual Report 2012/13 

 DAFSU Reporting Data 

 DAFSU Service Specification Mapping 

 Meeting the needs of households at risk of domestic violence in England: The role of 

accommodation and housing-related support services. 

 Cheshire East Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

  Red Quadrant Report 

 Census 2011 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Cheshire and Wirral Partnership (CWP) Data 

 Social Services Monitoring Data (PARIS) 

 Supporting People Needs Analysis 

Page 157



P a g e  | 120 

 

 

 Social Services Expenditure Return 

 NOMIS (Office of Labour Market Statistics) 

 PANSI and POPPI projections 

Detailed Findings  

National and Local Policy Context 

The government defines domestic abuse as ‘Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, 
coercive or threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are or 
have been intimate partners or family members regardless of gender or sexuality. This can 
encompass but is not limited to the following types of abuse: psychological, physical, sexual, 
financial, and emotional.’ It is important to recognise that domestic abuse is not simply one-off 
incidents but frequently manifests as a pattern of abusive or controlling behaviour over time. It can 
occur in the home, within an active relationship, following a break-up or divorce, and has a profound 
impact on victim, perpetrator, and any children or associated family members.  
 
Domestic Abuse has assumed an increasingly central role in the strategies of national and local 
government. The Departments of Communities and Local Government produced ‘Meeting the needs 
of households at risk of domestic violence in England: The role of accommodation and housing-
related support services’, which made the link between effective accommodation and support 
services and improved well-being for those at risk of domestic violence.  
 
Domestic Abuse services are coordinated in Cheshire East by the CEDAP: a multi-agency partnership 
that oversees the implementation of a co-ordinated community response involving all key partners 
in protection, provision, and prevention. The CEDAP involves the local authority, health sector, 
probation, specialist service providers and the police, and is accountable to both Adults’ and 
Children’s Safeguarding Boards. It has a mission statement to: ‘Reduce the human and service cost 
of domestic abuse through partnership and whole family work to prevent abuse from occurring, 
protect and support those affected and reduce the likelihood of further harm.’ 
 
The CEDAP follows national best practice in overseeing a DAFSU which monitors high-risk cases and 
administers the MARAC process: a multi-agency methodology supported by strong evidence of 
efficacy, and administered by IDVAs (Independent Domestic Violence Advocacy Services).  
 
The CEDAP provides: 
 

 Strategic governance. 

 Co-ordination of individual and multi-agency interventions. 

 Independent domestic violence advocacy and the administration of the MARAC process for 
high-risk cases. 

 Co-ordination of refuge and floating support services through its Commissioning and 
Development Group. 

 Recovery programmes for adult and child victims. 

 Change programmes for young people (prevention). 

 A voluntary change programme for those who abuse. 
 
CEDAP has a number of key strategic priorities that fundamentally inform the accommodation 
outcomes that will be delivered through this strategy: 

Page 158



P a g e  | 121 

 

 

 

 Developing a Commissioning Strategy that maps which services and processes need to be 
provided for people in Cheshire East to enable their safety and recovery – as well as agreeing 
who should pay for them.  

 Ensuring a ‘whole family approach’ to domestic abuse to address the needs of victim, 
perpetrator and children in a safe and integrated way.  

 Focusing on prevention and early intervention.  

 Co-ordinating efforts to prevent Teenage Relationship Abuse and to support any young 
people who are at risk.  

 Improving monitoring and evaluation of interventions.   

 Involving stakeholders (including partner agencies, other Council services, and clients) in 
delivering integrated solutions and making appropriate decisions about the best way 
forward. 

 
The emergent Domestic Abuse strategy for Cheshire East (produced by CEDAP) is anchored by the 
following mission statement: Reduce the human and service cost of domestic abuse through 
partnership and whole family work to prevent abuse from occuring, protect and support those 
affected and reduce the likelihood of further harm. 
 
This will be delivered through the focus on six strategic principles: 
 

 Prevention and Early Intervention 

 Protection 

 Provision 

 Partnership 

 Participation 

 Performance 
 

National Demand 

Across England and Wales: 

 There were over 1 million victims of domestic abuse during 2009/10. 
  

 One incident of domestic abuse is report to the police every minute.  
 

 Domestic abuse has the highest rate of repeat crime, 35% of all households will have had a 
second incident within 5 weeks of the first. 

 

 On average 2 women every week are killed by a current or former partner. 
 

 1 in 10 men (10.2%) and 1 in 5 women (19.9%) aged 16 or over have been victims of stalking 
in their lifetime. This equates to a gender-victim ratio of 1 in 3 victims of stalking are male. 

 

 In the UK, it is estimated that up to 24,000 girls under the age of 15 are at risk of female 
genital mutilation. 

 

Page 159



P a g e  | 122 

 

 

 At least 12 “honour” killings per year in the UK20 and 5,000 “honour killings” worldwide. 
 

 In 2010 the Forced Marriage Unit (the joint initiative between Foreign & Commonwealth 
Office and Home Office), gave advice or support to 1735 cases. 86 percent of these cases 
involved females and 14 percent involved males. (These statistics reflect an upward trend). 

 

 "In relationships where there is domestic violence, children witness about three-quarters of 
the abusive incidents." (Royal College of Psychiatrists, 2004). This comes to a total of at least 
750,000 children in the UK per year.  

 

 Of 130 Serious Case Reviews since 2008 relating to children under 1yr old, domestic abuse 
was a factor in at least 60 cases, substance misuse was a factor in at least 46 cases and 
parental mental health in 34 cases (NSPCC 2011). 

 

 Women who experience domestic violence are 15 times more likely to use alcohol and nine 
times more likely to use drugs than women that have not been abused (Barron, 2004). 

 
Consultations Response 

Consultation with services and providers has commenced and yielded the following key messages, 

most emerging from a stakeholder engagement workshop ran during the construction of the 

strategy: 

 Feedback stressed that the nature of domestic abuse cases means that there will always be 

a need for fixed, short-term accommodation to remove someone from a dangerous 

environment – though it was thought that the focus should be on recalibrating current 

provision rather than necessarily commissioning more. Refuge remains the most appropriate 

accommodation for people in the MARAC process, given the high-risk nature of those 

clients, but dispersed can offer superior outcomes in certain circumstances. It was felt that 

the lack of specialist accommodation provision in Macclesfield was a key area for 

improvement.  

 Dispersed provision was considered the superior option for high-needs, longer-stay 

accommodation. This model allows for clients to retain their independence despite the 

upheaval in their personal lives. However, such provision is potentially more difficult to fund 

or acquire given its diffuse nature. One solution raised at the event was further partnership 

with housing associations to furnish vacant units that can then be supported with floating 

services.  

 A single access point for domestic abuse services was considered to be the best means to 

improve service uptake and improve reporting data by capturing all throughput. This would 

be best aided by the commissioning of services en masse from a consortium of providers, 

whose stock could then be monitored as a whole and drawn upon as a holistic pool.  

                                                           
 

 

Page 160



P a g e  | 123 

 

 

 Peer support services were touted as an effective support solution to augment formal 

services. A number of providers currently help coordinate such services with great success 

and more would be welcomed to bolster the support networks of clients. 

 It was also recognised that movements need to be considered on a sub-regional and even 

national scale given the importation and exportation of clients. Monitoring this diverse 

spectrum of clients would be aided by a single point of access for services, which should be 

able to capture the origin and eventual placement of clients. 

Local Demand 

Demand for Domestic Abuse services is only a partial picture given that currently there is no single-

point of access for clients. The CEDAP relays a strategic approach that is then followed by partner 

agencies when a client is identified as at risk. However, one success is a unified referral process for 

high-risk cases, whereby all partner agencies utilise the same assessment protocols. Once a case is 

deemed high-risk, it is referred to the DAFSU, the central body which administers the MARAC 

process and employs the IDVAs. As this is a central body, data can be provided on the number of 

high-risk cases that reach the DAFSU, broken into those accounted for under MARAC (the top 10% of 

high risk cases) and the caseload of the IDVAs.  

As a general indicator, there were 1065 cases of domestic abuse reported to the police in 2012-13, 

of which 22% were repeat cases. There were in addition a total of 3171 domestic incidents that the 

police attended.  

474 persistent or high risk domestic abuse cases were referred to the DAFSU in 2012/13; this 

represents a 3% decrease from the previous year but data from the first two quarters of 2013-14 

shows a steep rise in referrals again. Of the 2012-13 referrals, 360 (76% of total referrals) were 

successfully contacted. Of those contacted, 306 (66% of total referrals) engaged actively with the 

service.  

387 of the above clients were referred to the MARAC process in 2012/13. These cases represent the 

top 10% of all cases across the Borough in terms of risk, where a multi-agency approach is required 

to delimit a severe risk of serious injury or death. This is an 8% decrease on the previous year but is a 

22% increase in the 2010/11 figure, demonstrating a fluctuating picture.  

The repeat rate of MARAC re-referrals was 30% which, according to national guidelines, indicates 

demonstrable confidence from victims and agencies in re-referring incidents. The repeat rate has 

risen consistently over the last three years, indicating a mounting confidence in the service’s 

benefits.21  

In 2011/12, the greatest prevalence of high risk domestic abuse cases occurred in Crewe (158) and 

Macclesfield (100). Moreover, the rate of victimisation per head is highest in Crewe and 

Macclesfield, indicating that the prevalence of domestic abuse is tied to the greater level of social 

deprivation in these areas.   

                                                           
21

 DAFSU Annual Report 2012/13 

Page 161



P a g e  | 124 

 

 

LAP No. High Risk Cases Rate of victimisation per 1000 population 

Crewe 158 2 

Macclesfield 100 1.5 

Congleton 78 1 

Wilmslow 33 1 

Nantwich 15 0.5 

Knutsford 14 0.5 

Poynton 6 0.2 

Source: DAFSU Reporting Data 2011/12 

In sum, we can conclude that: 

 A complete picture of demand will be achieved with the development of a single point of 

access for all domestic abuse presentation. 

 There is evidence from the first two quarters of 2012/13 that as the referral process is 

streamlined across agencies, the number of high risk cases has been rising. 

 The greatest numbers of high risk cases occur in the major urban centres of Crewe and 

Macclesfield. This reflects population density and deprivation prevalence, which all serve as 

heightening factors in domestic abuse Additionally in Crewe and Macclesfield there are 

growing East European communities who use the services of a Polish IDVA. However, the 

numbers could also indicate that rural residents struggle to access services and are not 

presenting to authorities. This community and other minority groups require increased 

attention in strategy and intervention. 

 Recent rises in referral and engagement rates indicate that domestic abuse services in 

Cheshire East are increasingly inspiring confidence and positive action amongst clients.  

 There are still some concerns that the numbers are deflated as a process of low self-referrals 

and, in some cases, low numbers of referrals from partner agencies. It is therefore important 

to ensure that outreach work and information is disseminated as widely as possible to 

sensitise and encourage those who suffer from domestic abuse to present to one of the 

partner authorities.  

Supply 

Provision for families impacted by domestic abuse is split into two areas: floating support and refuge 

accommodation for victims who need to be removed from the home for their safety. Refuge 

provision is deemed as an extreme measure for high risk cases, whereas floating support can be 

Page 162



P a g e  | 125 

 

 

preventative as well as reactive in nature, and includes work to sensitise vulnerable people to the 

dangers of domestic abuse and direct support to increase safety and wellbeing for all those affected.  

Services are commissioned by partners within CEDAP and beyond in the north and south of the 

Borough. These partners comprise the Council, Clinical Commissioning Groups, the Police and the 

Police and Crime Commissioner. Additionally Supporting People commissions some supported 

accommodation and floating support for people affected by domestic abuse. Services are greatly 

bolstered by the presence of Cheshire Without Abuse (CWA): a voluntary organisation that offers 

outreach services and refuge accommodation and is a very active member of CEDAP. Indeed, CWA, 

though not a contracted provider, is a lynchpin in providing for those affected by domestic abuse, 

and augments the accommodation and floating support delivered through contracted partners.  

Supporting People 

Supporting People commissions a number of accommodation and floating support services 

independently from CEDAP to aid those affected by domestic abuse. The needs analysis indicated 

that there is a current and projected undersupply in both accommodation and floating support 

services. 

Domestic Abuse 
Services 

Need 2020 Supply 2013 Gap 

Accommodation 
Support  

27 19 -8 

Floating Support 107 84 -23 

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 2012/13 

Support Services 

Support to remain safely at home is the first option considered by CEDAP in response to risk and 

needs assessment. The following table charts the capacity and uptake of support service provision. 

There is a degree of overlap between these figures as clients are referred between them. It is hoped 

that the development of a single point of access will streamline referrals and remove this element of 

ambiguity.  

2012/13 Support Services South North Cheshire 

Without Abuse 

(CWA) 

Total 

Referrals 142 118 496 756 

Provided For  96 96 116 308 

% Referrals Provided For 68% 81% 23% 41% 

Units 45 32 - - 

Throughput Rate Per Unit 2.1 3 - - 

Source: DAFSU Specification Service Mapping November 2013 

Page 163



P a g e  | 126 

 

 

From this table we can deduce a number of things: 

 CEDAP is heavily dependent on the work of CWA for support services in conjunction with 

contracted partners. This is a fine example of partnership working within the community, 

but this organisation must be adequately supported to ensure that it can properly manage 

its high caseload in an effective manner. The higher number of referrals dealt with by the 

CWA (and their higher throughput rates) partially reflects the fact they operate a 24/7 

helpline, making them one of the most accessible contact points in the area, and their long-

standing presence in the area, which enables them to move-on clients to peer and volunteer 

support programmes developed over time, creating space for new clients. The low 

percentage of referrals that CWA actually provides for indicates that Cheshire East 

contracted provision could assist by expanding provision and absorbing a higher proportion 

of the case load.  

 A review of the floating support services is required to ensure that maximum value for 

money and productivity is being achieved from contractors. As such, CEDAP is planning to 

recommission contracted services by 2015, producing an enhanced, revised commissioning 

specification. This would look to extend the lessons of the CWA, looking to foment peer 

support groups within the community to improve support and expedite throughput.  

 Demand is distinctly higher than supply at any given time; however, this could be better 

managed by improving the rate of throughput as conditions improve for those affected and 

they are supported back to independent living. It is therefore vital to ensure that this 

throughput rate is as high as possible, either by shortening support programmes, increasing 

unit supply, or moving clients into peer support mechanisms at an earlier but appropriate 

stage of their journey to independence.  

 This specification will seek to aid in the creation of a holistic and well-sighted picture of 

supply and demand. Currently there are a range of providers receiving referrals from a 

number of sources. The CEDAP would ideally have a unified picture, with a single-point of 

access and a single provider (or consortium) with a pooled supply of support units. 

Refuge/Accommodation Services 

Refuge services are utilised when it is necessary to remove an individual from their home because of 

the risk they face. Refuge accommodation is contracted in north and south zones; however, there is 

only actually refuge stock in the south, with the northern provider instructed to focus their 

resources into outreach and floating support. Thus, refuge provision is clustered in the Crewe area, 

where the contracted shared and communal units are augmented by the dispersed refuge operated 

by CWA. 

The picture is complicated by the fact that refuge is regionally and nationally linked. When refuge is 

required, it is frequently to distance the victim of domestic abuse from the perpetrator, meaning 

that victims are ’exported’ across local authority boundaries. As such, the commissioned Cheshire 

East refuge contains large quotas of people from outside the Borough; similarly, many Cheshire East 

residents occupy refuge spaces in neighbouring authorities. As such, a prosaic picture of local supply 

and demand is not appropriate given this unique nature of refuge provision. This strategy therefore 

Page 164



P a g e  | 127 

 

 

supports ongoing work to map this export and import flow more fully, which will be aided by the 

planned implementation of a single point of access for domestic abuse services. 

2012/13 Refuge 

Services 

South North Cheshire Without 

Abuse (CWA) 

Total 

Referrals 169 - 156 325 

Provided For  87 - 51 138 

% Referrals 

Provided For 

51% - 33% 42% 

% CEC Residents 

Provided For 

27% - 66% 42% 

Units 10 

(6 Communal, 4 

Shared) 

- 14 

(All Dispersed) 

24 

Throughput Rate 

Per Unit 

8.7 - 3.6 5.8 

Source: DAFSU Specification Service Mapping November 2013 

The following conclusions have been drawn regarding supply: 

 As with floating services, refuge services are always in high demand. However, given the 

transitional and temporary nature of refuge, it is the throughput rate combined with results 

which is the truest measure of success: how many people are effectively sheltered and 

supported to transition back into independent living in a timely manner. This is especially 

true in the case of those who present with complex needs, who may require longer or more 

intensive accommodation and floating support provision. CEDAP’s recommissioning work, 

due for completion in 2015, will consider the efficacy and productivity of current refuge 

provision, and will look to consolidate provision into a central pool provided by a single 

contractor or consortium in order to provide a unified and lean service model with minimal 

voids.  

 Lack of refuge provision in the north of the Borough is deemed to limit and imbalance the 

accessibility to refuge within the Borough and would ideally be redressed. However, services 

have stressed that this is not a fundamental issue given the peripatetic nature of refuge 

provision, which sees affected individuals leave their immediate vicinity as part of the 

process.  

 Again, this client group are heavily dependent upon the work of CWA to provide refuge 

accommodation, though the number of referrals CWA provide for is comparatively low 

compared with contracted services. The balance of referrals and cases needs to be 

Page 165



P a g e  | 128 

 

 

considered to ensure that service coverage is appropriately spread across all providers with 

relevant mechanisms to transfer cases as required.  

 Similarly, local demand is hard to capture given the number of people who leave the 

Borough to obtain refuge support. The implementation of a single point of access for 

domestic abuse services will allow total demand from Cheshire East residents to be 

captured, rather than just those Cheshire East residents who receive refuge support within 

the Borough. Linked to this, CEDAP is considering a system of prioritisation for refuge 

support to help stratify and regulate referrals that are received by local contacts, regional 

partners, and national agencies.  

 The pressing issue is the composition rather than the quantity of refuge/accommodation 

supply. Experience proves that the communal units that Cheshire East commissions work 

well for residents with no complicating factors (older male children, significant mental 

health or substance misuse needs); however, the dispersed model currently operated by the 

CWA is an appropriate model for those with complex and longer term support needs. 

Dispersed accommodation provides a greater degree of independence, normalcy, and 

anonymity from abusers, and is often superior.  As such there is a need for Cheshire East to 

move towards a mixed economy of supply in our contracted provision, rebalancing the 

communal units with a greater supply of dispersed accommodation. 

 Contributing to this mixed model of provision should be greater integration with other client 

groups. Families affected by domestic abuse can benefit from being housed in mixed 

accommodation schemes, such as sheltered or extra care housing, where they can benefit 

from the community and support on offer therein. This is especially true of those individuals 

affected by domestic abuse who have substance abuse or mental health issues, as there is 

strong cross-over between these issues.   

 Moreover, sector best practice indicates that a support centre model can drive superior 

benefits. In Cheshire East context, this would entail the provision of two specialised centres 

(one in the north and another in the south) that provide recovery and support activities, a 

crèche for children, as well as skills training to enable affected individuals to transition into 

independent living. These centres would act as contact points for clients, supporting the 

move towards a single point of access. This possibility of this model of provision will be 

explored and appropriately developed to inform future commissioning work.  

Supply Conclusions 

As such, an ideal model of refuge accommodation emerges in which there is a better distribution of 

communal, shared, and dispersed accommodation across the Borough, as well as greater integration 

of families affected by domestic abuse with complex needs into other supported schemes. This 

refuge provision, along with a rationalised floating services offer, is enhanced and supported 

through a small number of specialised support centres, which act as hubs for contact and 

enrichment services. This prospective model will form the basis for the CEDAP’s recommissioning 

work, which will simultaneously look to realise consolidated and optimised service provision, with 

higher through-put rates for clients with less complex needs and a unified pool of floating and refuge 

Page 166



P a g e  | 129 

 

 

units that can be drawn upon with minimum confusion and wastage and maximum clarity of 

reporting. 

Further work needs to be conducted to finalise a commissioning specification for floating services 

and, especially, the new model of accommodation provision outlined above. This will take place as 

part of the recommissioning work, with the strength of the evidence base bolstered by the creation 

of a single point of access by 2015, which will allow the CEDAP to capture holistic referrals and 

usage, rather than simply those that present to the range of providers currently in place. 

Links with Substance Abuse and Mental Health 

There is a demonstrable link between issues with drugs, alcohol, and mental health in the frequency 

and severity of domestic abuse incidents. Substance misuse and mental ill health are frequently 

related to domestic abuse and while their interrelationship is complex and not always causative it is 

important to address these issues together at a strategic and operational level in order to minimise 

the harm that is often associated with co-presentation.  

One quarter of victims and perpetrators known to MARAC have some form of mental health 

problem and the vast majority of those who present to the CWA have some form of mental health 

issues. Regarding perpetrators, there is an even greater number (double that of victims) who have 

issues with substance abuse.  

It is therefore important to recognise the associated benefits of adequately treating and housing 

those with mental health or substance abuse problems, as figures suggest this will have a positive 

residual effect on the frequency of domestic abuse cases. 

                         

MARAC Victims       MARAC Perpetrators 

Sources: DAFSU Annual Report 2012/13 

 

 

 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

Apr to 
June 

Jul to 
Sept 

Oct to 
Dec 

Jan to 
Mar 

N
o

 o
f 

C
lie

n
ts

 

Total Cases Mental Health Alcohol Drugs 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

Apr to June Jul to Sept Oct to Dec Jan to Mar 

N
o

 o
f 

C
as

es
 

Total Cases Mental Health Alcohol Drugs 

Page 167



P a g e  | 130 

 

 

Chapter Conclusions  

Findings 

 The combination of an increased number of incidents (including high-risk cases), a growing 

trust in services, and an increasing number of referrals between agencies has resulted in 

mounting demand on services. 

 Determining total numbers and outcomes for clients is a difficult task – especially those of 

low to moderate risk. The wide reach of services, the number of referrals between them, 

and the frequency with which clients are imported and exported from the Borough creates a 

complicated picture given that clients enter the system at a number of points and are not 

centrally logged unless they are of sufficiently high risk to reach the DAFSU or the MARAC 

process. 

 There are strong correlations between domestic abuse prevalence rates, deprivation, and 

other vulnerable issues – especially mental health and substance abuse. Crewe and 

Macclesfield, which house the Borough’s highest levels of deprivation, have the highest 

rates of domestic abuse per head. Moreover, a high proportion of people affected by 

domestic abuse have mental health issues or problems with substance abuse. 

 There are imbalances within the provision of specialist accommodation that must be 

addressed in the upcoming recommissioning work. There is a lack of refuge accommodation 

in the north of the borough, and the majority of refuge provision is communal rather than 

dispersed.  

Strategic Priorities 

 Ensure services and accommodation safeguard and assist people affected by domestic 

abuse, particularly creating pathways for victims into supported accommodation. 

 Develop a single point of access for domestic abuse services to streamline and capture total 

demand and create a more systematic approach to referrals and service provision. 

 Review floating support and accommodation services to ensure that optimal move-on and 

throughput is being achieved.  

 Work towards a consolidation of provision, potentially delivered by a single consortium, 

which will allow for a holistic view of available capacity across a range of providers. 

 Continue to commission refuge provision whilst diversifying the range of such provision to 

better address a spectrum of needs. Through recommissioning work, look to balance the 

provision of communal and dispersed refuges. Explore the possibility of support centres in 

the Borough that provide hubs for services and reablement.  

 Foster more peer support groups across to engage the community in aiding those affected 

by domestic abuse.  

 

Page 168



P a g e  | 131 

 

 

Homelessness 

Chapter Summary 

Having a roof over one’s head is a catalyst towards a better, safer, healthier, and more prosperous 

life. As such, it is the right of everyone to have access to accommodation when they need it. 

Cheshire East is committed to ensuring that assistance is offered to those who need help accessing 

accommodation, be they looking to source a property from the private or social rented sectors or if 

they have lost their accommodation and are vulnerable by virtue of having nowhere to go.  

Homelessness in Cheshire East is a priority issue. Whilst there is not the same visible homelessness 

that is evident in England’s larger cities, there are a great many people who are prevented from 

becoming homeless or who are placed in a variety of accommodation settings upon their journey 

towards secure housing.  

The recurrent theme in Cheshire East is that, whilst the number of homeless duties being accepted 

(those to whom Cheshire East has a legal obligation to find housing) is declining - largely due to 

preventative work - there is a steep rise in the number of people who present as homeless (often 

multiple times) with complex or multiple needs, such as mental health issues or drug and alcohol 

dependencies. These individuals emphasise that homelessness is often the contact point at which a 

number of vulnerabilities intersect and manifest. Ultimately, by addressing the issues that inform 

homelessness, either before or after presentation, the long-term cycle of representation can be 

broken or the path to independence started upon. Indeed, by addressing many of the issues raised 

in the other chapters of this document, homelessness will be combated simultaneously, as the 

vulnerabilities that engender homelessness are resolved before accommodation is lost.  

Cheshire East primarily encourages this preventative approach, working hard with housing 

providers, adult’s and children’s services to capture and find accommodation for those threatened 

by homelessness. This can be as simple as providing information and guidance to those whose 

homelessness can be resolved with matching to general needs housing, or as complex as sourcing a 

placement in a supported housing programme.  

For those whose homelessness cannot be prevented, who present to services with a pre-existing 

accommodation need, pathways of accommodation need to be fostered that can adequately 

capture and house vulnerable people in the short-term upon their presentation (interim and 

temporary accommodation), before enabling their move-on into more settled accommodation – be 

this general needs housing for those that are able, or supported accommodation for those who need 

help to cultivate the skills and behaviours to manage an independent tenancy.  

This chapter distinguishes that, principally, Cheshire East is in need of instant-access and short-term 

accommodation that can cater for those with complex and multiple needs, giving them stability 

support from the outset whilst needs are determined and appropriate accommodation solutions 

devised across services.  

 

Page 169



P a g e  | 132 

 

 

Key Evidence Sources 

 Moving Forward – Cheshire East Housing Strategy 2011 – 2016 

 Cheshire East Council Homelessness Strategy 2010 – 2013 

 Cheshire East Temporary Accommodation Review 

 Sustainable Communities: Settled Homes; Changing Lives (2006) 

 More than a Roof (2003) 

 Cheshire East Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

  Red Quadrant Report 

 Census 2011 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Cheshire and Wirral Partnership (CWP) Data 

 Social Services Monitoring Data (PARIS) 

 Cheshire East Monitoring Data for Institutional Care Facilities 

 Supporting People Needs Analysis 

 Homelessness Services Single Point of Access (SPA) Reporting Data 

 Social Services Expenditure Return 

 NOMIS (Office of Labour Market Statistics) 

 PANSI and POPPI projections 

Detailed Findings 

National and Local Policy Context 

The Government has published a range of documents concerning homelessness. ‘Sustainable 

Communities: Settled Homes; Changing Lives’ looked to reduce the number of people living in 

unsettled temporary accommodation by preventing homelessness, providing support for vulnerable 

to address issues that could inform homelessness, tackle the symptoms and wider causes of 

homelessness rather than addressing clients when already homeless, helping people avoid rough 

sleeping, and providing more settled homes.  

This strategy, among other reports such as ‘More than a Roof’ identified that homelessness is best 

addressed through appropriate accommodation and by treating the personal issues that can drive 

homelessness. Such priorities recognised the interconnected nature of homelessness, and the fact 

Page 170



P a g e  | 133 

 

 

that by providing adequate accommodation and care for other vulnerable groups, homelessness can 

be reduced.  

In 2010 Cheshire East published its own Homelessness Strategy. The strategy identified a number of 

priorities to tackle homelessness within the Borough echoing Government impulses. The strategy 

chiefly focuses on prevention, processes, temporary accommodation, tenancy support, and 

permanent accommodation. The strategy emphasises that prevention and treatment of associated 

issues (such as substance abuse or mental health) are critical to reduce demand for homeless 

services in the future. As such, the homelessness strategy (as with this document) makes substantial 

connections across client groups.  

For those whose homelessness cannot be prevented and who present with a housing need, 

sufficient temporary accommodation needs to be readily accessible. However, sourcing temporary 

accommodation should only be seen as one part of the process: homeless clients need to then be 

supported to transition into permanent accommodation, reclaiming their independence and freeing 

temporary accommodation spaces for new clients.  

Consultation Response 

Consultation, at both events and through the public survey, yielded the following primary themes: 

 Homelessness is a complex picture and represents a point where a variety of needs 

intersect. As such, the reduction and prevention of homelessness frequently involves 

appropriate accommodation and support for other client groups: for instance, housing care 

leavers and those with substance issues, as well as giving them the skills to manage a 

general needs or supported tenancy, will vastly reduce homelessness. 

 More specialised accommodation was said to be needed for homeless people with complex 

needs, with a higher intensity of support at first (such as a wet house for substance 

misusers) so homeless people can access temporary or supported accommodation, followed 

by a stepping down model that leads to effective move-on into community living via a 

bolstered provision of hostels, shared housing, and self-contained rooms or flats. Crucially, it 

was thought that accommodation provision (even that which is temporary) needed to be 

stable, affordable to the client (in light of benefits cuts which result in clients potentially 

having to pay a portion of their rent), and befitting of the intensity of a client’s needs. 

Realisation of this would result in a reduction in bed and breakfast spend, which is 

inappropriate for high-needs clients who are best served with specialist accommodation or 

hostels. 

 It was stressed throughout the consultation that, given the complex and diverse needs that 

homeless clients present with, it is important to ensure that throughout their 

accommodation pathway they are supported by a consistent multi-agency approach. 

Homelessness clients are liable to fall in the gaps between services given these complex 

needs, and it was recognised that these clients often need time within the support system so 

services can develop a clear picture their needs. This involves finding them stable 

Page 171



P a g e  | 134 

 

 

accommodation – though this could come from a number of areas depending on the specific 

nature of their need.  

 This partnership should chiefly entail a multi-agency approach to assessing and placing 

clients, drawing on the skills and resources of all relevant Council services and partners. This 

will help unpick and appropriately address the often complex web of issues that result in 

homelessness, as well as creating opportunities and efficiencies across services to find 

placement cohorts and appropriate accommodation compositions.  

Current Pathways to Care and Support 

Single Point of Access 

Access to homelessness services are now coordinated via a Single Point of Access (SPA). This 

mechanism governs access to accommodation services (detailed under ‘supply’) and floating support 

services, delivered under Supporting People, as well preventative work. The SPA encourages a 

joined-up approach to referrals and assessments. It is promoted as the one-stop access point for 

homelessness services, ensuring that clients are not missed by the homelessness team; this in turn 

makes comprehensive monitoring data available to the service. Finally, the SPA helps ensure that 

service capacity is pooled and can be drawn from as a whole. 

Supporting People 

Supporting People funds floating support services, interim and temporary accommodation, as well 

as settled supported accommodation placements for homeless individuals and families. Support 

services are vital in ensuring that homeless clients have the networks in place around them to 

sustain a tenancy and garner independency skills, improving the likelihood that they will be accepted 

into (and be able to sustain) a general needs tenancy. These placements also act as an effective 

prevention tool, providing support for clients to overcome any connected issues (for instance, 

substance abuse) and better manage a tenancy before they have an accommodation crisis or 

become homeless.  

The needs analysis below demonstrates that accommodation services are notably oversubscribed; 

this reflects the number of homeless people or those at risk of homelessness in need of 

accommodation with some level of support. Floating support services report an oversupply, 

reflecting the greater need for accommodation-based services amongst this client group, given their 

lack of fixed housing for floating support to go into. These figures also indicate the difficulty faced in 

placing homeless clients, particularly those with complex needs, into private or housing association 

properties from where they could access floating support: the risks and behaviours involved mean 

that specialised supported accommodation is frequently the only option available for these clients, 

which places further pressure on accommodation services.  

 

 

 

Page 172



P a g e  | 135 

 

 

Homelessness 
Services 

Need 2020 Supply 2013 Gap 

Accommodation 
Support  

315 171 -144 

Floating Support 121 216 95 

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 

This supported accommodation undersupply is indicative of a number of key themes. It emphasises 

that homeless people with support needs are generally the most voluminous and problematic client 

group, with about a third of all applications and referrals to Supported People services coming from 

single homeless people with support needs, creating a lot of pressure on supported accommodation. 

The behaviours and vulnerabilities that necessitate support (such as persistent substance misuse or 

mental health issues) also mean these individuals will frequently not have a homeless duty accepted, 

leading to the disparity between the decreasing number of homeless duties accepted and the 

increasing number of people requiring accommodation with support. This shows that whilst the 

number of homeless duty acceptances is decreasing, this should not be conflated with reduced 

demand for homeless supported accommodation services, and should instead be seen as indicative 

that a greater number of homeless presentations have complex and support needs and cannot be 

housed in conventional accommodation or accepted under a legal homeless duty.  

This conclusion is corroborated in the referral acceptance rates. Of referrals to Supporting People 

services in 2013/14, the majority (70%) of homeless families are accepted into services, given that 

their support needs are generally lower, whilst only 34% of single homeless people are accepted into 

interim, temporary, or supported accommodation, reflecting that this group contains a high 

proportion of individuals possessive of complex needs. This is felt most acutely in interim and 

temporary accommodation provision, which is frequently unsupported and cannot safely house 

clients with complex needs. These clients would ideally find places in supported accommodation 

that is better equipped to deal with their needs but, given the undersupply reported above, there is 

not enough of this kind of accommodation in which to place them.  

Moreover, all these clients still require short-term accommodation upon presentation to services 

until a settled placement in supported accommodation is sourced. Again this is problematic, as the 

majority of interim or temporary accommodation in Cheshire East has a low-level (or an absence) of 

the support provision that can stabilise those with chaotic behaviours and complex needs. As such, 

these clients are frequently refused admission into interim or temporary accommodation by 

providers, resulting in increased bed and breakfast admissions in-line with the growing number of 

complex homeless clients.  

This analysis leads to the current experience of interim, temporary, and supported accommodation 

services, whereby high-needs clients are often placed in inappropriate settings such as bed and 

breakfast because there is not enough supported accommodation to move them into, and 

insufficiently supported interim or temporary accommodation in which to place them until settled 

accommodation can be found. This pressure could partially be alleviated through homelessness 

officers working with Supporting People providers to prioritise the placement of those with complex 

needs into supported accommodation, ensuring that those with the most complex needs can receive 

Page 173



P a g e  | 136 

 

 

adequate support sooner and freeing up spaces in interim and temporary accommodation for those 

who can be more readily moved-on, as well as by bolstering the support provision married to interim 

and temporary accommodation.  

Housing Advice and Homechoice 

The homelessness team strive to uphold a preventative approach to contacts, and will look to 

furnish housing information and advice as a means to combat homelessness before it happens. 

Referrals for housing advice and information are chiefly made to the Housing Options service via the 

Homechoice team, with referrals to the Homelessness team where necessary. 550 contacts with the 

homelessness team were resolved with the provision of advice and information in 2012/13. 

Rough Sleeping 

The ‘No Second Night Out’ (NSNO) initiative was launched in July 2012 in conjunction with Cheshire 

West and Chester Council, Adullam, and Shelter. Its goal is to respond quickly to provide emergency 

interim accommodation and referrals to services for those who are new to sleeping on the streets, 

stopping them from doing so endemically. The service targets non-priority homeless, who the 

Council would not otherwise have a duty to house in the long-term. As such, NSNO is largely a 

preventative service aimed at catching those who are new to sleeping on the street and may 

continue unchecked unless captured and signposted to services at this early point. In 2013-14, there 

were 166 rough sleepers aided by NSNO; all of these were new rough sleepers (on the street for less 

than six months). The majority of these (147) had more than one vulnerability (substance abuse 

problems, mental health issues, physical health problems, etc.), whilst the most prominent 

vulnerabilities informing homelessness were mental health issues (109 clients affected) and alcohol 

issues (90 clients affected).  

In addition to this, the Government encourages all Council’s to have Severe Weather Emergency 

Protocol (SWEP) arrangements in place as part of its pledge to end rough sleeping. The SWEP is a 

process that is put in place to ensure that people sleeping rough are not at risk of harm or, in the 

worst case, of dying during periods of cold and severe weather. The arrangements detailed in the 

protocol are triggered when the night time temperature is predicted to be zero degrees Celsius or 

below for three consecutive nights. For the first time in 2013/14 the protocol will be operated in 

conjunction with Crewe YMCA, who will be providing units of emergency accommodation to reduce 

the need to use Bed and Breakfast placements. In 2012/13 28 clients were accommodated under the 

SWEP provision for 100 nights collectively, averaging 3.6 nights per client.   

Demand 

The first table, below, demonstrates the number of contacts the homelessness team have resolved 

in the last year and the nature of these resolutions. The first two categories pertain to services for all 

homelessness presentations (not just those who were accepted as statutory homeless), whilst the 

latter two relate to contacts that were resolved with more general housing advice or redirection to 

the Homechoice service. This shows that the service resolved 2574 contacts over the course of the 

year. 

 

Page 174



P a g e  | 137 

 

 

 

Month Threatened with 
homelessness 

Emergency 
Homeless 

Housing 
Advice 

Homechoice 
Information 

Other Total 

Apr-12 71 53 51 2 16 193 

May-12 73 66 26 4 14 183 

Jun-12 82 65 26 6 15 194 

Jul-12 111 65 57 4 10 247 

Aug-12 101 79 44 18 61 303 

Sep-12 80 63 56 14 62 275 

Oct-12 74 64 34 14 29 215 

Nov-12 76 57 24 6 22 185 

Dec-12 53 43 20 5 15 136 

Jan-13 95 78 42 9 28 252 

Feb-13 94 67 48 5 13 227 

Mar-13 77 47 34 1 5 164 

Total 987 747 462 88 290 2574 

Source: Homelessness Services Single Point of Access (SPA) Reporting Data 

Of these total presentations, there were 108 people who were assessed as statutorily homeless in 

the year (4%). This partially reflects the prominent preventative focus that underpins the work of the 

homeless team, whereby many contacts can be resolved successfully before the person becomes 

statutorily homeless – normally when contact is made when an individual is threatened with 

homelessness but is not yet street homeless. 727 cases of homelessness were prevented in the year 

ending 31st March 2013, a slight increase on the previous year when there were 724 preventions. 

The main prevention tools utilised are advice and information, appropriate referrals, and the 

appropriate souring of accommodation. The latter is achieved through a combination of the private 

sector (with and without landlord incentives), the social housing waiting list (Homechoice), and 

referrals to interim, temporary, and supported accommodation projects.  However, preventions can 

only take place where contact is made with the service at an early stage, and there is thus an 

emphasis on encouraging contact as soon as possible; however, many people only present to the 

homelessness team when already street homeless and in need of interim accommodation, rather 

than when threatened with homelessness. 

The success of preventions is one reason for the declining number of total homeless acceptances: 

the other is that whilst conventional homeless presentations are on the decline (those who are 

homeless by virtue of, for instance, economic hardship, who can be placed in general needs 

accommodation sourced for them) the rise in homeless clients with complex needs (i.e. persistent 

substance misuse or mental health issues) is increasing. The needs and vulnerabilities of these 

clients frequently mean that a homeless duty cannot be accepted for them, given that they may 

have been ejected from accommodation because of their chaotic behaviours.  

This reflects the changing landscape of homelessness in Cheshire East, whereby prevention is the 

main weapon of homeless officers and the greatest challenge comes in housing the growing number 

of people whose homelessness is a product of their complex needs. The total number of homeless 

Page 175



P a g e  | 138 

 

 

people has been in steady decline since 2004/5; however, it has started to increase again from 

2009/10 – reflecting the pressure on households brought about by recession. 

Year 2004/5 2005/6 2006/7 2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Homeless 

Acceptances 

525 376 304 203 109 55 80 111 108 

Source: Homelessness Services Single Point of Access (SPA) Reporting Data 

Of the 108 people who were assessed as statutorily homeless, the majority are adults, with 83 (77%) 

of the homeless population falling within the age range of 25-59. Young people who present as 

homeless (the 16-25 bracket) are covered in greater detail in the Young People in Need and Cared 

for Children chapter. 

 

Supply 

Despite the decreasing number of total people to whom Cheshire East have accepted a homeless 

duty, the provision to accommodate those accepted is becoming more limited and polarised. There 

are a number of accommodation outcomes for those who present as homeless. The majority will be 

placed in interim accommodation (which can include bed and breakfast) in the first instance once 

they present as homeless. Referrals will be made to supported accommodation if required if the 

client has support needs. Once a homelessness decision has been made, those to whom the Council 

owes a homeless duty will be declared homeless at home, transition into temporary 

accommodation, or have a general needs tenancy sourced for them in the private sector or with 

social housing providers.  

The following table shows the immediate outcomes for individuals once a duty of homelessness has 

been accepted. As demonstrated below, the spread of accommodation options for statutorily 

homeless individuals has narrowed in recent years, with a mixed economy of qualifying offers, 

assured tenancies, and client-driven arrangements falling away to a majority of temporary 

18 

59 

24 

4 3 

AGES OF CLIENTS OWED DUTY 

16-24 

25-44 

45-59 

60-64 

65-74 

Page 176



P a g e  | 139 

 

 

accommodation and homelessness at home. This reflects a greater reliance on interim and 

temporary accommodation, as well as the supersession of qualifying offers and assured tenancies by 

homeless 1 offers and assured shorthold tenancies, which are now used to place homeless clients in 

stable housing some time after the acceptance of duty, as they take time to broker.  

Outcome 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 

Placed in Interim/ Temporary 
Accommodation (including B&B) 

70 76% 65 59% 33 41% 21 38% 

Homeless at home  37 34% 46 41% 35 44% 21 38% 

Accepted qualifying offer  0 0% 0 0% 2 3% 7 13% 

Accepted assured tenancy  0 0% 0 0% 8 9% 4 7% 

Made own arrangements  1 0% 0 0% 2 3% 2 4% 

Total 108 111 80 55 

Source: P1E Reporting Data 

Interim and Temporary Accommodation 

The following table breaks down the current accommodation provision that is used as interim 

accommodation (to place those whose homelessness application is being decided) and temporary 

accommodation (to place those with an accepted duty until permanent accommodation is found). 

The table demonstrates both that the type of provision is imbalanced across the Borough and is 

insufficient to adequately meet the number of people for whom the homeless duty is accepted – as 

well as the number of emergency homeless who need interim accommodation whilst they are 

assessed.  

Location Temporary 

Accommodation Units 

Unit Composition 12/13 Clients 

(average length 

of stay) 

Congleton 13 Thirteen units across 

six properties. Two 

units adapted for 

disabled clients. 

(13 months) 

Crewe 3 Two three-bed flats 

and one three-bed 

bungalow commonly 

used for families. 

(6 months)  

Macclesfield 9 CEC hostel. Three bed-

sits, four one-bed flats, 

one two-bed flat, and 

one three-bed flat.  

(6 months) 

Total 25  855 (8 months) 

Page 177



P a g e  | 140 

 

 

Regarding the constitution of temporary accommodation provision, three key themes that emerged 

through consultation were: the unsuitability of temporary accommodation to deal with clients with 

complex needs; the lack of direct access temporary accommodation; and the need for more 

supported accommodation placements to cater for complex needs clients and alleviate the pressure 

of housing these individuals in temporary accommodation.  

 The only direct-access accommodation in the Borough is the Council-owned hostel in 

Macclesfield. This means that Macclesfield is the only place where individuals who present 

out of office hours can be housed quickly, creating problems for those with transport 

problems. It also means that, if the Macclesfield hostel is full, individuals in need of 

emergency accommodation have to be placed in bed and breakfast, which is not appropriate 

or cost-effective. This places an excessive reliance on the Macclesfield hostel, which is not 

helped by its composition mixture and the higher average length of stay there.  

 Many people present with a range of issues that have informed their homelessness, such as 

mental health or drug and alcohol issues. However, this makes them problematic to house 

within the temporary units in Congleton and Crewe, which are managed by housing 

providers who vet occupants to minimise risk. This leads to the majority of high-needs cases 

being housed in the Council-owned hostel in Macclesfield, creating difficulties surrounding 

client composition and environment. In 2012/13 30% of clients housed in the Macclesfield 

hostel declared themselves as having serious drug or alcohol issues; many more may not 

have declared at all. The hostel is not specially tailored to help them cope with the complex 

issues that inform their homelessness, and they subsequently struggle to transition into 

general needs housing. Again, when the Macclesfield provision is full, the only current 

recourse is bed and breakfast, which is an imperfect solution for those with complex needs 

and chaotic behaviours. As such, it is a priority for Cheshire East to recalibrate the weighting 

of the current interim and temporary accommodation provision, commissioning interim and 

temporary provision that is sufficiently supported to accommodate homeless clients with 

complex needs in the short-term until settled supported accommodation can be sourced.  

 Moreover, the majority of complex needs homeless clients are from the Crewe area, and 

many cannot access the Macclesfield hostel, resulting in a high bed and breakfast spend in 

the south of Cheshire East.  

As such, consultation yielded the suggestion that there needs to be better interim and temporary 

provision to support those with complex needs, as well as an increased provision of supported 

accommodation for them to move into, freeing up space in interim accommodation for other clients 

and reducing the reliance on the Macclesfield hostel as a place for homeless people with complex 

needs. Similarly, the prioritisation of complex homeless clients in Supporting People funded 

supported accommodation would help alleviate the pressure to accommodate these individuals in 

interim accommodation through lack of alternatives.  

Bed and Breakfast 

Bed and breakfast spend can be seen as a litmus test for the suitability of (and access to) 

homelessness provision within the Borough. If there are no vacancies within interim or temporary 

Page 178



P a g e  | 141 

 

 

accommodation (either through lack of suitable provision or low through-put rates) then the 

authority will firstly try and access hostel accommodation out of the area. Failing that, they will be 

placed in bed and breakfast which, for those who have support needs, is not ideal but can be the 

only available option. 

The table below records the number of bed and breakfast placements at crucial years. 2008/09 

represented the high point of homelessness acceptances in recent years, reflected in the high level 

of bed and breakfast spend. However, despite the relative decline in the number of homeless people 

for whom a duty has been accepted, the amount of people housed in bed in breakfast provision is 

comparably high in 2012/13.  

This implies that whilst the number of people who have a homeless duty accepted has declined, the 

number of people who cannot be housed in interim and temporary accommodation has increased 

(i.e. those with complex needs and/or chaotic behaviours), leaving no alternative recourse aside 

from placement in bed and breakfast in the short-term. As aforementioned, this pattern is 

particularly profound in Crewe: despite the majority of clients with complex needs originating in 

Crewe there is no interim or temporary accommodation that they can access in the short-term, 

unlike in Macclesfield, resulting in a disproportionately high bed and breakfast spend in the area. 

Indeed, in 12/13, there were 93 people referred to B&B in Crewe (many multiple times) and 45 in 

Macclesfield.  

Year 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 

Number of 

People 

Housed in 

B&B 

138 154 No data 42 188 126 

Average 

Duration 

6 18 No data 8 17 17 

Source: Homelessness Services Single Point of Access (SPA) Reporting Data 

Supporting People 

Supporting People placements are aimed at those with on-going support needs that are inhibiting 

their ability to secure move-on or general needs accommodation beyond initial placements in 

interim and temporary accommodation or bed and breakfast. As shown above, Supporting People 

accommodation services report a large undersupply, and are unable currently to match the demand 

for them. As aforementioned, such pressures are symptomatic of the growing number of homeless 

clients with complex needs who need support to live safely in a settled environment. However, the 

demand pressures experienced by supported accommodation mean that many complex clients 

cannot be placed, resulting in these clients remaining in interim and temporary accommodation or 

bed and breakfast. This in turn is inimical for their progression and recovery, lowering through-put 

rates and stifling the ability of these clients to gain the skills required to manage a general needs 

tenancy in the future. This cycle could be combated through a greater provision of supported 

Page 179



P a g e  | 142 

 

 

accommodation, the prioritisation of complex needs clients by Supporting People services, and the 

creation of interim and temporary accommodation with some degree of support, which could serve 

to lower demand for settled supported accommodation by addressing support needs upon 

presentation.  

Supporting People accommodation services are delineated in the table below, indicating that the 

majority of provision is in Congleton and Crewe, with a limited number in the major population 

centre of Macclesfield. This poses issues for those individuals with limited means to travel. 

Town Homeless Families Homeless 

Individuals 

Offenders Total 

Congleton 20 51  0 71 

Crewe 8 67 0 75 

Macclesfield 0 10 4 14 

Wilmslow 0 0 8 8 

Knutsford 0 0 3 3 

Total 28 128 15 171 

Source: Supporting People Monitoring Data October 2013 

Supply Conclusions 

These findings lead us to conclude the following surrounding supply: 

 More direct-access accommodation is required. Currently, only the Macclesfield hostel is 

direct access (available for entry outside of office hours). This creates problems when it is 

full, as individuals have to be placed in bed and breakfast in the short-term because other 

units, even if available, are not accessible until office hours.  

 More interim and temporary accommodation is required catering for complex or high needs 

– particularly those with drug and alcohol issues. Currently, homeless clients with complex 

needs are frequently unable to be placed in existing interim or temporary accommodation 

given that the support provision going into this accommodation is limited. This too 

frequently results in complex needs clients being dependent on bed and breakfast and the 

instant-access Macclesfield hostel. This inhibits them from recovering from their issues and 

securing a settled tenancy, driving up the time they spend in temporary accommodation, 

slowing throughput rates, and ultimately increasing bed and breakfast spending as interim 

and temporary accommodation remains full.  

 As such, interim and temporary accommodation needs to be equipped with a degree of 

support functionality to aid those with higher needs and help others prepare for 

transitioning into a stable, general needs tenancy. Such a service is currently employed to a 

Page 180



P a g e  | 143 

 

 

degree in temporary accommodation in Congleton, and needs expanding across the 

Borough. Such support makes accessing a wider range of provider-owned temporary 

accommodation easier for higher-needs clients, mitigating the reliance on bed and breakfast 

or the Council-owned Macclesfield hostel for those with complex needs.  

 A greater supply of supported accommodation placements for complex homeless clients 

needs to be procured so there is a more viable alternative for this cohort than prolonged 

stays in temporary accommodation or bed and breakfast – creating a greater capacity for 

through-put for complex needs clients. This will free up temporary accommodation for 

lower-needs clients for whom it is a stop-gap en route to a settled accommodation option.  

Links with other client groups 

This chapter has already discussed at length the issues in accommodating an increasing cohort of 

homeless clients with complex needs; this section seeks to unpick exactly what this definition entails 

and groups with complex needs are most frequently presenting as homeless. Homelessness has 

strong causal links with a range of other issues and client groups. Many people who present as 

homeless are in need because of the culmination or manifestation of other issues, primarily 

substance abuse, mental health, domestic abuse, or a history of care. Consultation across 

organisations coming into contact with homeless people in Cheshire East highlighted there were 

gaps in provision for clients with complex needs: a matrix of primarily mental health, drug, and 

alcohol issues. 

Rough Sleeping 

The links between homelessness and other vulnerabilities are chiefly highlighted in the number of 

rough sleepers. The below table examines the number of rough sleepers helped by No Second Night 

Out (NSNO), and demonstrates that the majority of rough sleepers in Cheshire have a mental health 

issue, a substance abuse problem, or multiple issues. The total number of rough sleepers assisted 

was 166, showing that the vulnerability groups below are not mutually exclusive. These figures are 

illuminating, as they cover those people who present with a housing need but to whom the local 

authority does not necessarily owe a homelessness duty. It is also important to note that, given that 

NSNO is delivered jointly between Cheshire East and Cheshire West, these figures incorporate clients 

from Cheshire West as well.  

Client Status and Vulnerabilities Number of Clients 

Mental health needs 109 

Physical health needs 59 

Drugs / recovering from drug use 68 

Alcohol related needs 90 

Reporting more than 1 health-related need 147 

Page 181



P a g e  | 144 

 

 

(mental/physical/drug/alcohol) 

Employed in last 12 months 69 

In contact with Criminal Justice System in last 12 months 58 

Total  Clients 166 

Source: Homeless Link Annual Report 2013-14 

Homelessness Duty 

The below graph shows the number of people the Council owed a homelessness duty to in 2012/13, 

broken down by priority need. As can be seen, after the possession of a dependent child, the most 

prominent reasons for someone being homeless are old age, physical disability, mental disability, 

drug and alcohol dependency, and domestic abuse (violence).  

As such, much preventative work that will positively affect homelessness is the successful support 

and treatment of other client groups, delimiting the number who cannot be supported into suitable 

accommodation and subsequently present as homeless. It was chiefly considered in consultation 

exercises that the key to addressing homelessness is to take a multi-agency approach that targets 

the root issues that result in the loss of housing. By recognising the significant interchange of client 

groups that occur under the homelessness banner, the Council is better placed to provide solutions 

that address the specific and often multiple needs of each client. Similarly, services can better source 

placements by looking to appropriately match people with housing needs from across service areas, 

creating new cohorts and better accommodation compositions from a broadened pool of clients.  

 

Source: P1E Reporting Data 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

40 

45 

REASONS FOR PRIORITY NEED   

Page 182



P a g e  | 145 

 

 

However, as previously discussed, the majority of those who present with complex needs may not 

have a duty accepted given their associated chaotic behaviours.  

Older People 

Older people are significantly under-represented amongst those in housing need accessing services. 

This is most likely due to the high priority afforded to them by public services and the large supply of 

specialist housing provision to meet their needs – although projected demand shows more will soon 

be required. In 2012/2013 just 7 people over the age of 60 were accepted as homeless across 

Cheshire East, 7% of all those accepted.  

Physical Disability 

The below table shows the number of people with a physical disability that the Council accepted as 

homeless in the last three years. The figures show that disabled people constitute a sizeable 

minority that has remained a relatively constant proportion of the Council’s total duty. The minority 

representation in the homelessness duty perhaps reflects the range of services and adaptations 

open to this group through the Council. 

For the small number of homeless people who are disabled, the provision of temporary 

accommodation is limited for their needs: there is one adapted flat in Crewe and two units in 

Congleton, though no such provision in Macclesfield. Those that cannot be accommodation due to 

disability have temporary accommodation sourced in suitable B&Bs. 

Financial Year Number of acceptances where 

vulnerable due to Physical 

Disability 

Percentage of all accepted 

cases 

2012/2013 8 7% 

2011/2012 14 12% 

2010/2011 9 11% 

Source: P1E Reporting Data 

Drugs and Alcohol 

Moreover, it is accepted amongst services that the effects of drug and alcohol dependency are not 

accurately reflected in the figures concerning priority need. Alcohol dependency is not one of the 

main reasons for priority need when assessing homelessness: only two cases in the last three years 

have this as the acceptance reason. However, it is clear from an analysis of clients placed in the 

Council’s hostel accommodation in the last twelve months that this is a major contributory factor to 

people losing their homes. This is corroborated by looking at wider substance abuse figures. In a 

previous chapter we saw that an estimated 250 people in drug and alcohol treatment have an acute 

housing need. Moreover, of those in treatment, six identified themselves as street homeless upon 

entry and eight declared that they were currently sofa-surfing. As such, drugs and alcohol are a 

Page 183



P a g e  | 146 

 

 

major contributing factor in homelessness that is not necessarily captured in figures pertaining to 

statutory duties.  

Mental Health 

The number of people with mental health issues accepted as homeless is a notable proportion of the 

total client group, and has been steadily rising over the last three years. This corroborates 

consultation responses that emphasise the prominent role mental health plays in homelessness 

clients, frequently presenting in conjunction with substance abuse issues. 

In terms of homelessness services specifically aimed at people with mental health issues, a protocol 

with the mental health unit at Macclesfield hospital has been developed to deliver planned 

discharges where adequate support and accommodation are sourced. Protocols between the 

homelessness team and mental health services will continue to be improved to ensure that people 

with mental health services who present as homeless will be given the wrap-around support they 

need to be properly assessed and housed in suitable accommodation.  

Furthermore, Cheshire East Council’s internal care provider Care4CE operates a Reablement team. 

This service aims to give clients extra support to transition out of care or treatment and remain 

independent. It is open to anyone over 18 years old who has been referred following assessment. 

Financial Year Number of acceptances 

where vulnerable due to 

Mental Health 

Percentage of all accepted 

cases 

2010/11 11 14% 

2011/12 19 16% 

2012/13 20 18.5% 

Source: P1E Reporting Data 

Pregnant Women and Single Parents 

The prospect of having a child will radically alter the life of any individual; it can also affect the 
pressures placed upon a mother, be these financial or social. This is especially true of teenage 
parents, who are at increased risk of postnatal depression and poor mental health in the three years 
following birth. They are also more likely than older mothers to have low educational attainment, 
experience adult unemployment, and be living in poverty at age 30. Their children experience higher 
rates of infant mortality and low birth weight, A&E admissions for accidents, and have a much higher 
risk of being born into poverty. As such, pregnant women are a key subgroup within the homeless 
population, with there being a particular risk of pregnant teenagers presenting to homeless services. 
 
Pregnancy also impacts upon the housing rights of an individual: pregnant women are a priority 
group for whom local authorities must provide temporary accommodation. Pregnancy also ensures a 
priority banding on the social housing waiting list.  
 

Page 184



P a g e  | 147 

 

 

Figures from the Office of National Statistics indicate that indicate that nationally conceptions for 

under 18’s are in decline. This pattern is reflected in Cheshire East, which also has a lower 

percentage of youth pregnancies than the regional average. 

Year 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

(Q1-3) 

Conceptions to 

Under 18s in 

Cheshire East 

202 239 237 197 209 151 118 

Source: Office of National Statistics (ONS) 

This decline in youth pregnancies is reflected in the reducing number of people whose priority need 

was due to pregnancy upon presentation to the homelessness team.  

Year 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Priority Need 

Due to Pregnancy 

17 14 6 1 2 3 2 

Source: P1E Reporting Data 

There are many units of specialist mother and baby accommodation in Cheshire East, with provision 

evenly split between the north and south as depicted in the below table. Demand for these services 

has reduced in-line with the figures above, despite the promotion of the services through the Single 

Point of Access.   

Area Accommodation Units 

North 14 

South 16 

Total 30 

Source: Supporting People Needs Analysis 

  

Page 185



P a g e  | 148 

 

 

Chapter Conclusions 

Key Findings 

 Homeless clients are a complex group that encompass those affected with a range of issues 

and vulnerabilities. Addressing the accommodation and support needs of other client groups 

will positively impact upon homelessness as the issues that inform an individual’s potential 

homelessness are treated before they manifest. 

 The preventative work done by the homelessness team had helped engender a large fall in 

homeless numbers in previous years, though levels of homelessness are currently rising once 

again. 

 However, in this time, accommodation options for homeless people have narrowed, with a 

greater reliance on bed and breakfast provision to account for interim, temporary and 

supported accommodation that is insufficient and, at times, difficult to access for clients 

located in certain areas or possessive of complex needs.  

 Specifically, there is limited instant-access interim and temporary accommodation within the 

Borough - especially in the South of Cheshire East. Moreover, there is limited interim or 

temporary accommodation specifically catering for those with complex needs – especially 

those with drug and alcohol issues. These factors inhibit effective transition through 

temporary accommodation towards permanent, independent tenancies as clients are 

unable to access the support and skills they need.  

Strategic Priorities 

 Services whose clients are liable to present as homeless can struggle to create suitable 

accommodation compositions on their own given geography and the limited pool of clients 

they have to draw upon. Services should therefore take a holistic, partnership approach to 

placements, where possible creating cohorts across services to find suitable compositions 

and create efficiencies in how placements and tenancies are sourced. 

 Improve the access to, and supportiveness of, temporary accommodation, broadening the 

options available to a range of needs and simultaneously reducing the reliance on bed and 

breakfast provision. This will include specialist provision for those with complex or high 

needs, a greater supply of instant-access interim accommodation especially in the South of 

the Borough, and greater support going into temporary accommodation. Interim and 

temporary accommodation should be better supported to enable the well-being and safety 

of those residing within it, with a degree of support available to residents to ensure that 

clients leave temporary accommodation ready to transition into a permanent or supported 

tenancy. 

 Improve the supply of, and access to, supported accommodation placements for homeless 

clients. Supported accommodation should prioritise those with complex needs who cannot 

yet move-on into general needs tenancy. This will help alleviate the pressure on interim and 

temporary accommodation to house those with complex needs (whose average stays are 

Page 186



P a g e  | 149 

 

 

longer), freeing it up for lower-needs clients for whom it is a stop-gap en route to settled 

housing. This requires a recalibration of supported accommodation stock within existing 

budgets to ensure that supply and support is focused optimally at the accommodation entry-

points in the service journeys of homeless clients.  

 Continue work enabling homeless clients to transition into permanent or supported 

accommodation from interim or temporary accommodation. Homeless clients will continue 

to be prioritised within the Homechoice social lettings policy, and the private sector liaison 

officers will continue to source appropriate move-on in the private rented sector. In each 

accommodation route, wrap-around support services will be brokered where possible to 

ensure that more clients can be safely accommodated by housing providers.  

 

Page 187



P a g e  | 150 

 

 

Action Plan 

Outcome 1: People are supported to live in their own homes independently for longer. 

VOPHS 

Policy 

Target Client Group Action  Lead Agency Timescale 

VOPHS 1 Cross-cutting Complete the recommissioning of the Supporting People services, addressing 

shortfalls and changing needs as identified in this strategy 

Supporting 

People 

 Gather client data – 

July 2014 

 Compile findings and 

analysis – March 2015 

 Consult on proposals – 

August 2015 

 Tender documents 

produced and signed-

off – March 2016 

 

VOPHS 1 Cross-cutting Implement the findings of the review of the handypersons service to deliver 

improved outcomes 

Strategic Housing June 2014 

VOPHS 1 Cross-cutting Review the Housing Options service and assess a range of delivery models. Strategic Housing June 2014 

VOPHS 1 Mental Health Review the mental health reablement service with the view to extending it to a 

staged aftercare programme. 

Social Services; 

CMHTs 

October 2014 

P
age 188



P a g e  | 151 

 

 

VOPHS 1 Mental Health Work with colleagues in the CWP to review the primary care mental health 

service. 

Social Services; 

CMHTs 

October 2014 

VOPHS 1 Young People in 

Need/Cared for 

Children 

Utilise the established working group to complete the review of care leavers 

accommodation to inform the service commissioning for this client group. 

Children’s 

Services; 

Strategic Housing 

June 2014 

VOPHS 1 Drugs and Alcohol Continue to liaise with and inform the drug and alcohol service 

recommissioning work, engendering a recovery focus in future services. 

Public Health; 

Strategic Housing 

On-going 

VOPHS 1 Domestic Abuse Input findings of this strategy in the DAFSU service recommissioning work 

intended for completion by 2015, particularly regarding the composition of 

refuge provision within the Borough. 

Strategic 

Housing; CEDAP 

2015 

VOPHS 1 Homelessness Input findings of this strategy into the on-going homelessness review. Strategic Housing June 2014 

VOPHS 2 Physical and Sensory 

Disabilities 

Review the care and repair services to ensure they are being delivered in the 

optimal model to meet the changing needs of clients 

Strategic Housing Cabinet update to inform 

direction in March 2014 

VOPHS 2 Physical and Sensory 

Disabilities 

Continue to deliver and promote the pilot project to unlock adaptations 

services for self-purchasing customers, those with personal budgets, and those 

who do not meet FACS criteria for social care. 

Strategic Housing On-going 

VOPHS 2 Physical and Sensory 

Disabilities 

Work with partners to devise an accessibility standard for general needs 

housing to ensure universal accessibility for disabled people. 

Strategic Housing April 2015 

VOPHS 2 Cross-cutting Continue to support the provision of existing Telecare and contribute to the 

development of more sophisticated Telecare provision to support the 

independence of clients. 

Strategic Housing On-going 

P
age 189



P a g e  | 152 

 

 

VOPHS 2 Physical and Sensory 

Disabilities 

Continue to modernise and rationalise the Disabilities Facilities Grants 

programme, working with Registered Providers to achieve value for money and 

optimal performance. 

Strategic 

Housing; Social 

Services 

On-going 

VOPHS 2 Physical and Sensory 

Disabilities 

Continue to deliver and develop adaptations services for self-purchasing 

customers and those with personal budgets, who proactively look to improve 

their living situation. 

Strategic 

Housing; Social 

Services; Public 

Health 

On-going 

VOPHS 3 Cross-cutting Promote specialist accommodation for older people via neighbourhood plans, 

Community Right to Build Orders, and Community Land Trusts. 

Strategic 

Housing; Planning 

Policy 

On-going. Concerted 

engagement with 

planning officers and 

community land trusts by 

April 2014 

VOPHS 3 Cross-cutting Include a requirement for external engagement (community activity, inviting 

other groups to use scheme facilities) in future contracts for extra care and 

sheltered housing schemes.  

Adults Services On-going 

VOPHS 3 Young People in 

Need/Cared for 

Children 

Continue promoting foster care and adoption to prospective carers and 

parents, utilising the award-winning Four4Adoption programme 

Children’s 

Services 

On-going 

VOPHS 3 Domestic Abuse Work with community partners and providers to foster more peer support 

groups to improve the support networks of those affected by domestic abuse. 

 

 

CEDAP On-going 

P
age 190



P a g e  | 153 

 

 

Outcome 2: People can receive the support they need in a wide range of specialist, supported accommodation within the Borough. 

VOPHS 

Policy 

Target Client Group Action  Lead Agency Timescale 

VOPHS 4 Cross-cutting Utilise the findings of this strategy as a basis to develop an ideal model of stock 

composition for each client group, which can be used as a specification for 

future commissioning. 

Strategic 

Housing; Social 

Services 

 Mapping exercise for 

each client group – 

June 2014 

 Needs analysis – 

October 2014 

 Draft accommodation 

specifications and 

pathways produced – 

April 2015 

VOPHS 4 Cross-cutting Hold delivery group meetings involving service commissioners to identify any 

stock that can be effectively repurposed or refreshed to better meet supported 

accommodation needs across client groups. 

Strategic 

Housing; 

Supporting 

People; Social 

Services 

On-going 

VOPHS 4 Cross-cutting Work individually with providers to review supported accommodation with a 

view to rationalise stock and client compositions. This is particularly relevant to 

accommodation for people with learning disabilities, where a recalibration of 

available stock has been identified as a priority.  

Supporting 

People; Social 

Services 

commissioning 

managers 

On-going 

P
age 191



P a g e  | 154 

 

 

VOPHS 4 Older People Link the findings in this strategy into the general needs Cheshire East housing 

strategy, to ensure that accessible housing is constructed for older people to 

negate the need for specialist or supported housing. 

Strategic Housing Refresh of Housing 

Strategy by February 

2015. 

VOPHS 4 Learning Disabilities Work with housing, care, and support providers to explore the opportunity for 

people with learning disabilities to be supported in future schemes. 

Strategic 

Housing; Social 

Services 

On-going 

VOPHS 4 Young People in 

Need/Cared for 

Children 

Establish stronger relationships with local providers of placements and a 

providers’ forum to better manage the market. 

Children’s 

Services 

On-going 

VOPHS 4 Young People in 

Need/Cared for 

Children 

Review of residential and external agency placements to account for optimal 

source, cost, location, capacity, and support mix. 

Children’s 

Services 

June 2014 

VOPHS 4 Care Leavers/ 

Homelessness 

Explore as part of established working group the pooling of emergency 

accommodation budgets. 

Children’s 

Services; 

Strategic Housing 

October 2014 

VOPHS 4 Cross-cutting Continue to foster the development of more flexible social rented 

accommodation through planning processes and the reuse of empty homes, 

prioritising one and two bedroom flats which vulnerable clients generally 

require. 

Strategic Housing On-going 

VOPHS 5 Cross-cutting Continue to deliver through the development of the Local Development 

Framework the allocation of sites available specifically for specialist housing. 

Strategic 

Housing; Planning 

Policy 

On-going 

P
age 192



P a g e  | 155 

 

 

VOPHS 5 Cross-cutting Review Council-held assets for development opportunities. Strategic 

Housing; Engine 

of the North 

On-going.  

Begin work developing 

proposals for pre-

identified sites by June 

2014. 

VOPHS 5 Cross-cutting Work with partners and providers to identify opportunities for the 

development of further extra care or sheltered housing schemes. 

Strategic 

Housing; Social 

Services 

On-going.  

VOPHS 5 Cross-cutting Review existing extra care and sheltered schemes to identify outcomes, 

investment implications, and delivery models. 

Strategic Housing June 2014 

VOPHS 5 Cross-cutting Establish cross-service briefings prior to quarterly RP meetings, to ensure the 

Council presents a unified picture of vulnerable accommodation requirements 

to RPs. 

Strategic 

Housing; Social 

Services; 

Supporting 

People 

Commissioners working 

group already 

established during 

strategy’s construction.  

VOPHS 5 Drugs and 

Alcohol/Mental 

Health/Homelessness 

Utilise the established cross-agency working group to explore and the develop 

options to address the need for high-needs, specialist accommodation within 

the Borough. 

Public Health; 

Strategic 

Housing; Adults 

Services 

Business case to be 

submitted by June 2014. 

VOPHS 5 Physical and Sensory 

Disabilities 

Work with partners (developers, RPs, support service providers) to examine and 

assess the benefits of Extra Care and Sheltered Housing models for people with 

physical and sensory disabilities across all ages in any future developments. 

Strategic 

Housing; Adults 

Services 

On-going 

P
age 193



P a g e  | 156 

 

 

VOPHS 5 Domestic Abuse Explore the possibility, outcomes, and delivery models of support centres to 

inform future commissioning work. 

CEDAP; Strategic 

Housing 

As part of 

recommissioning work, 

scheduled for completion 

in 2015.  

VOPHS 6 Cross-cutting Utilise this strategy as the basis to create revised accommodation specifications 

and accommodation pathways for all client groups to inform future 

commissioning work. 

To inform this specification, complete a mapping exercise for each client group 

using the working groups to be established as part of the implementation of 

this strategy, determining which accommodation options are needed in which 

quantities at each stage of any client’s possible service journey. This is 

especially a priority for care leavers and people with mental health issues.  

Strategic 

Housing; Public 

Health; Social 

Services; 

Supporting 

People 

 Mapping exercise for 

each client group – 

June 2014 

 Needs analysis – 

October 2014 

 Draft accommodation 

specifications and 

pathways produced – 

April 2015 

VOPHS 6 Cross-cutting Ensure that where clients are assessed as requiring an accommodation service, 

individuals are supported to consider the options that enable optimal 

independence and agency. 

Social Services On-going 

VOPHS 6 Young People in 

Need/Cared for 

Children 

Develop a model, alongside current foster carers, for ‘staying put’ placements 

for care leavers. 

 

Children’s 

Services 

April 2014 and on-going 

VOPHS 6 Homelessness Improve access and sign-posting to permanent accommodation for those 

leaving temporary or supported accommodation, continuing to prioritise 

temporary accommodation leavers in the Homechoice social lettings policy, and 

Strategic Housing On-going 

P
age 194



P a g e  | 157 

 

 

utilising the private sector liaison officer to source appropriate accommodation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome 3: People are able to make informed choices about the accommodation, care, and support options within the Cheshire East 

VOPHS 

Policy 

Target Client Group Action  Lead Agency Timescale 

VOPHS 7 Cross-cutting Develop a housing GIS functionality to accessibly and visually map housing 

provision across the Borough. 

Strategic Housing April 2015 

VOPHS 7 Cross-cutting Promote the newly-developed Single Point of Access for all Supporting People 

services.  

Strategic Housing; 

Supporting People 

On-going 

VOPHS 7 Cross-cutting Work with Cheshire Homechoice to review the social housing allocations policy 

and the priority and access of various vulnerable groups.  

Strategic Housing On-going 

VOPHS 7 Learning Disabilities Continue, as part of the Learning Disabilities Lifecourse Project, to develop 

agreed intelligence on the number and distribution of people with learning 

Adults Services April 2014 

P
age 195



P a g e  | 158 

 

 

disabilities, to better inform housing need and planning. 

VOPHS 7 Domestic Abuse Explore information-sharing protocols to create better shared databases of client 

movements and status. 

CEDAP June 2014 for initial 

scoping and 

explorative work 

VOPHS 8 Cross-cutting Review existing information and advice services to ensure that proactive 

engagement is maximised and the benefits of intermediate accommodation 

options explained. 

Strategic Housing; 

social services 

June 2014 

VOPHS 8 Cross-cutting Continually review social care assessment and referral processes to ensure that 

independent living is promoted where appropriate. 

Social Services On-going 

VOPHS 8 Older People Deliver a consultation exercise aimed at over 55s to promote later life planning. Social Services April 2015 

VOPHS 8 Mental Health Deliver a high-profile event to launch Cheshire East’s leading role in making 

Cheshire East a dementia-friendly community. 

Adult Services June 2014 

VOPHS 8 Young People in 

Need/Cared for 

Children 

Utilise the established working group to improve the protocols and address the 

issues surrounding the issues and barriers to young people in need (including 

care leavers and young offenders) accessing housing, such as benefits and 

placements durations. 

Children’s Services; 

Strategic Housing 

June 2014 

VOPHS 8 Learning Disabilities Support the ‘Preparing for Adulthood’ campaign promoted for those with SEN 

and learning disabilities, linking the campaigns outcomes and initiatives into the 

Council’s pathways for this client group. 

Social Services On-going 

VOPHS 8 Mental Health Continue to raise awareness about the importance of mental health, promoting 

preventative thought and early intervention/presentation 

Social Services On-going 

P
age 196



P a g e  | 159 

 

 

VOPHS 9 Cross-cutting Establish cross-service delivery group to further the individual actions for each 

client group, and link the strategy’s conclusions into pre-established groups.  

Strategic Housing; 

Social Services; 

Public Health; 

Supporting People 

June 2014 

VOPHS 9 Cross-cutting Use the strategy to create criteria to inform the capital planning process, 

enshrining the strategy’s outcomes in financial assessment. 

Strategic Housing; 

Finance 

April 2014 

VOPHS 9 Cross-cutting Create a supplementary planning document for Vulnerable Persons Housing 

utilising this strategy as the base to inform the Local Plan and future 

development of specialist accommodation in accordance with residents’ desires 

and needs. 

Strategic Housing; 

Planning Policy 

April 2015 

VOPHS 9 Cross-cutting Provide named contacts in operational housing and social service roles to 

improve working practises and knowledge sharing between the two services, 

generating better and more joined up solutions for clients. 

Strategic Housing; 

Social Services 

June 2014 

VOPHS 9 Mental Health Establish a working group to develop a new protocol between housing and 

mental health teams to eliminate barriers to people accessing accommodation 

and receiving services at optimal times in their treatment journeys.  

Adults Services June 2014 

 

P
age 197



P a g e  | 160 

 

 

Appendix One: SHOP Data Tables (Older Persons Specialist Housing Need 

by MSOA) 

Extra Care Housing 

Middle Layer Super Output Area 2030 Extra Care Need (Units) 

Knutsford Rural 59 

Macclesfield Rural 52 

Sandbach & Alsager Rural 50 

Crewe & Nantwich Rural West 49 

Chelford & Alderley Edge 45 

St Marys & Wells Green 39 

Poynton Parish East 38 

Acton, Minshull & Wybunbury 38 

Haslington & Englesea 36 

Knutsford Town South 35 

Alsager East 34 

Macclesfield Town East 33 

Macclesfield Town Centre 32 

Wilmslow Town South East 32 

Bollington Town 32 

Adlington & Prestbury 32 

Macclesfield Town Bollinbrook & Ivy 32 

Wilmslow Town South West 32 

Poynton Parish West 31 

Sandbach North 31 

Shavington & Willaston 30 

Congleton Central 30 

Macclesfield Town Weston 29 

Congleton and Holmes Chapel Rural 29 

Knutsford Town North 29 

Disley Rural 28 

Holmes Chapel 28 

Waldron 28 

Congleton South 27 

Sandbach South 27 

Congleton East 26 

East Coppenhall 25 

Macclesfield Town Broken Cross 25 

 

  

Page 198



P a g e  | 161 

 

 

Sheltered Housing 

Middle Layer Super Output Area Sheltered Need 2030 (Units) 

Knutsford Rural 256 

Sandbach & Alsager Rural 248 

Crewe & Nantwich Rural West 224 

St Marys & Wells Green 197 

Acton, Minshull & Wybunbury 190 

Haslington & Englesea 180 

Macclesfield Town Bollinbrook & Ivy 158 

Poynton Parish West 155 

Sandbach North 154 

Shavington & Willaston 152 

Congleton West 149 

Congleton and Holmes Chapel Rural 147 

Disley Rural 141 

Adlington & Prestbury 139 

Congleton South 136 

Macclesfield Rural 130 

Congleton East 130 

Bollington Town 129 

East Coppenhall 127 

Macclesfield Town Broken Cross 124 

Wistaston Green 120 

Waldron 110 

West Nantwich 109 

Macclesfield Town East 105 

Macclesfield Town Tytherington 100 

Macclesfield Town South 100 

Poynton Parish East 97 

Wilmslow Town South West 97 

Middlewich East 94 

Sandbach West and Wheelock 93 

Alexandra 85 

Macclesfield Town Weston 82 

Alsager West 82 

Wilmslow Town North West 81 

Wilmslow Town Dean Row & Handforth 79 

Alsager East 78 

St Johns 76 

Central & Valley 71 

West Coppenhall & Grosvenor 70 

Page 199



P a g e  | 162 

 

 

Leighton 67 

East Nantwich 63 

Congleton Central 58 

Sandbach South 51 

 

Institutional Care 

Residential Nursing 

Middle Layer Super Output Area Residential 
Need 2030 
(Units) 

Middle Layer Super Output Area Nursing Need 
2030 (Units) 

Macclesfield Rural 92 Knutsford Town South 63 

Sandbach & Alsager Rural 87 West Nantwich 62 

St Marys & Wells Green 69 Alsager East 62 

Acton, Minshull & Wybunbury 67 Macclesfield Town East 59 

Knutsford Rural 65 Wilmslow Town South East 57 

Crewe & Nantwich Rural West 64 Wilmslow Town South West 57 

Haslington & Englesea 63 Poynton Parish West 56 

Macclesfield Town East 57 Sandbach North 55 

Wilmslow Town South West 56 Shavington & Willaston 55 

Shavington & Willaston 53 Congleton and Holmes Chapel Rural 53 

Congleton Central 52 Macclesfield Town Weston 53 

Macclesfield Town Weston 52 Disley Rural 51 

Congleton and Holmes Chapel 
Rural 

52 Waldron 50 

Knutsford Town North 51 Middlewich West 49 

Waldron 49 Sandbach South 48 

Sandbach South 47 West Coppenhall & Grosvenor 47 

Wistaston Green 42 Congleton East 47 

Macclesfield Town Tytherington 41 Wistaston Green 43 

Alsager East 40 Macclesfield Town Tytherington 42 

Wilmslow Town North West 39 Alsager West 42 

Chelford & Alderley Edge 38 Wilmslow Town North West 40 

Middlewich East 33 St Barnabas 40 

Sandbach West and Wheelock 33 Macclesfield Rural 39 

Alexandra 30 Poynton Parish East 33 

East Nantwich 28 East Nantwich 30 

Poynton Parish East 28 St Johns 27 

St Johns 27 

Central & Valley 26 

Congleton West 26 

 

Page 200



 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet 
 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
27th May 2014 

Report of: Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Director of 
Economic Growth and Prosperity 

Subject/Title: Congleton Link Road - Preferred Route Assessment 
and Next Steps 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Cllr David Brown, Strategic Outcomes 

                                                                  
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 The Council has set out a clear vision and strategy for jobs-led 

economic growth, which articulates the rationale and plans for 
increasing productivity and creating new jobs. This is based on the 
strong competitive advantage and track record that the borough has in 
terms of its skilled workforce, existing business base, its national, 
regional and local infrastructure and strong connectivity. 

1.2 The proposed Congleton Link Road is a key component of the 
Council’s economic growth strategy and new Local Plan; enabling job 
creation, delivering housing growth and addressing longstanding traffic 
congestion and environmental issues in the town. 

 
1.3 The report highlights the findings of the recent pubic consultation 

exercise, recommends a preferred route for the road and seeks 
approval to undertake the further work necessary to submit a planning 
application for the scheme. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

1. Note the findings of the Public Consultation report. 
 

2. Approve the findings of the Preferred Route Assessment report, namely that 
a modified hybrid of the Red and Purple routes be taken forward as the 
preferred route. 

 
3. Approve that the necessary steps are taken to protect the preferred route 

shown in Annex A from future development including introducing the 
necessary modifications (as a minor amendment) to the submission draft of 
the Local Plan Core Strategy at the earliest opportunity. This protection will 
also apply to the linking spur roads to Radnor Park and Congleton Business 
Park. 

Page 201 Agenda Item 9



 

 
4. Authorise the Director of Economic Growth and Prosperity in consultation 

with the Portfolio holder and other relevant Cabinet members to determine 
the proposed  boundaries of the ‘strategic locations’ as set out in the 
submission draft of the Core Strategy to reflect the preferred route as the 
boundary of development. 

 
5. To make a minor amendment to the submission draft of the supporting 

Policy Principles document of the Local Plan (Policy C0 2) to specify that 
the protected route status of the proposed new highway will extend to 100m 
either side of the proposed new centre line. 

 
6. Approve that the alignment of the preferred route and spur roads are further 

developed and to note the costs of the project development to enable the 
submission of a planning application and further development of the 
business case and that the professional support required for this is provided 
by Jacobs through the Highways Contract with Ringway Jacobs.  

 
7. Approve that officers immediately commence detailed discussions with 

affected landowners, local residents, businesses, parish councils and 
recognised community groups to refine the design details (including access 
arrangements and traffic management measures) and that supplementary 
formal consultation be undertaken to inform planning submission material. 

 
8. Approve that a ‘pre planning application’ consultation is held and that the 

details and arrangements are delegated to the Head of Strategic 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Portfolio Holder. 

 
9. Note the anticipated programme for the next stage of work. 

 
10. To delegate authority to the Director of Economic Growth and Prosperity to 

authorise entering into licences for the purposes of gaining access to third 
party land for the purposes of carrying out surveys or in the event the use of 
a licence is not possible or appropriate then to authorise the use of the 
highway authority’s powers to gain access to land pursuant to ss289-290 of 
the Highways Act 1980.  

 
11. Agree in principle that a capital provision be identified in 2015/16 to make 

allowance for possible acquisition of land / blight claims subject to a more 
detailed business case. 

 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 To confirm a protected route for the link road from the public 

consultation exercise. Both the Blue and Green options passed through 
(or very close to) the Eaton quarry mineral workings. Independent 
assessment has concluded that the potential costs to the disruption of 
this business would be significant. Moving the alignment even further to 
the North added additional costs to the scheme whilst sterilising future 
mineral resources. The Red and Purple options received the highest 

Page 202



 

levels of public support; the best solution was found to be blending the 
lower cost of the Red route with the additional land that could be 
unlocked for growth from the Blue Route. The full assessment is 
contained in the Preferred Route report. 

 
3.2 To react to the feedback from the public consultation and take forward 

the best performing / most acceptable alignment for the proposed new 
road. 

 
3.3 To complement the Local Plan submission for examination. 
 
3.4 To protect the land required for the link road from development. 
 
3.5 To enable detailed design and the planning application process to 

commence. 
  
3.6 To ensure that the council’s financial planning reflects the costs of 

delivering this scheme. 
 
3.7 To reduce uncertainty in the Congleton area as to the location of the 

route. 
 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 Brereton Rural, Congleton East, Congleton West, Gawsworth, Odd Rode. 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 Brereton Rural – Cllr John Wray 

Congleton East – Cllr David Brown, Cllr Peter Mason and Cllr Andrew 
Thwaite 
Congleton West – Cllr Gordon Baxendale, Cllr Roland Domleo and Cllr 
David Topping 
Gawsworth – Cllr Lesley Smetham 

 Odd Rode - Cllr Rhoda Bailey and Cllr Andrew Barratt 
 
6.0 Policy Implications  
 
6.1 A minor amendment to Local Plan Submission Strategy is required to refine the 

corridor of interest to a specific route. 
 
7.0 Financial Implications  
 
7.1  The formal protection of the route of the link road in the Core Strategy may 

trigger blight claims against the council. If such claims are made they will need 
to be dealt with by means of a supplementary capital estimate. It is difficult to 
assess the scale of possible blight notices or the timescales. An assessment of 
the possible liability has been undertaken and ranges from between £1.5m - 
£4m. 

 

Page 203



 

7.2 Ultimately, these properties / land would have to be acquired as part of the 
main scheme and in that regard any investment made at this stage effectively 
reduces the outturn estimate of the scheme. 

 
7.3 It is recommended that a capital provision be identified in 2015/16 to make 

allowance for possible acquisition of land. 
 
7.4 The scheme estimate, subject to further work, is in the region of £77m, 

excluding the links to Radnor Park Industrial Estate and Congleton Business 
Park. This is currently unfunded and will be subject to the success of a funding 
bid to Government via the Cheshire and Warrington Local Enterprise 
Partnership’s Strategic Economic Plan. The initial funding strategy is for 
external funding to cover between 60-70% of the cost, leaving a gap in the 
region of £30m to be found locally from development value and with council 
direct funding. 

 
7.5 The budget estimate to develop the scheme to submission of a planning 

application is approximately £950,000. The can be accommodated in the 
approved capital programme for this scheme. The detailed approval of the work 
programme will be subject to the usual contract processes to assure that value 
for money is being achieved. This will include cross checking quoted prices for 
similar tendered works with other local authorities. 

 
7.6 If, ultimately, the scheme is not funded the resources set aside for the 

development of the scheme will have to be met from the revenue budget. 
 
7.7 As some of the surveys now required will be invasive (such as geotechnical 

surveys) the authority will be liable to pay compensation for loss or damage 
(such as crop damage, etc). These will be assessed on an individual basis, but 
in any case will be small in comparison to the scheme development budget.  

 
8.0 Legal Implications  
 
8.1 One of the implications of the proposed modification to the Local Plan 

is that it may give rise to claims arising from ‘Planning Blight’. 
 
8.2 Planning Blight can arise where land is shown as being proposed or 

allocated for the purpose of a local authority in a deposited draft Local 
Plan. In this case the purpose being the proposed Link Road. 

 
8.3 The blight liability will become effective when the Local Plan is 

submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination: 
Schedule 13, paragraph 1A (2)(c) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

 
8.4 The Planning Blight procedure is in effect a ‘reverse’ compulsory 

purchase process order (CPO) in the sense that a person whose 
property is affected by blight may, in certain circumstances, require the 
Council to purchase his property by the service of a ‘blight notice’ 

 

Page 204



 

8.5 This right is conferred in recognition of the fact that property values 
may be adversely affected by, in this case, a proposed new highway. 

 
8.6 If a property owner serves a blight notice then, if his interest in the 

property is a qualifying interest, the Council will have the options to 
accept the blight notice, drop the scheme or alter the scheme so that it 
does not affect the blighted property. 

 
8.7 If the Council accept the blight notice, then it will be compelled to 

purchase the relevant property on the same terms that would apply if 
the property were purchased pursuant to a CPO. 

 
8.8 Claimants must show reasonable endeavours to sell their interests and 

demonstrate that as a consequence of blight they were unable to - or 
only at a substantially lower price.   It is not sufficient to make no 
attempt to sell.  The costs of any attempts to sell are not recoverable 
as compensation.  Blight cannot be served for part of a unit.  

 
9.0 Risk Management  
 
Project Development 
 
9.1 The project development costs necessary to deliver this scheme would 

be at risk if funding for the scheme is not available or the scheme does 
not achieve the necessary statutory permissions.  However, it has been 
demonstrated that the scheme does have a strong initial transport and 
wider economic business case and there is broad public support for the 
proposal. 

 
9.2 Continuing to progress the development of the scheme to ‘shovel 

ready’ status will ensure that if (and when) funding opportunities arise 
the scheme is well placed to take full advantage. 

 
9.3 The scheme will be reviewed by the councils established project 

management process (TEG and EMB) to review the risks. 
 
Blight Costs 
 
9.4 There will be some instances where landowners believe that they 

cannot sell their properties because of the link road proposals, but are 
not directly affected by the proposal in terms of physical land take and 
thus not entitled to make a blight notice. In these circumstances it may 
be possible for the Council, subject to review on a case by case basis, 
to make open market acquisitions of property. 

 
9.5 If property / land were to be acquired under a blight notice the council 

would become the title holder. In this regard, should, for any reason the 
link road scheme not progress, the Council would be able to recoup its 
investment costs through the sale of the property / land. It is possible 

Page 205



 

that the Critchell Down rules will apply and that the land would need to 
be offered back for sale to the original land owner first. 

 
9.6 It will be possible to at least partly offset the holding costs of potential 

properties by seeking tenants. 
 
9.7 There is some local opposition to the scheme, mostly from those who 

interests are directly affected. The Council will work closely with 
affected groups and individuals in the design of the scheme to try to 
address all concerns. The Council is committed to providing the highest 
level of mitigation possible in the scheme design and will develop a 
package of complementary and mitigation measures. 

 
Scheme Costs 
 
9.8 The findings of the geotechnical studies may reveal more challenging 

ground conditions  from those assumed (from desk study assessment), 
with consequential adjustments to the scheme estimates. As the 
scheme design is refined, further revisions of the cost estimate are 
likely. 

 
9.9 Any delay to the assumed construction start date of the scheme (2016) 

would increase the costs due to the affect of inflation.  
 
10.0 Background and Options 
 
Development of the Link Road proposals 
 
10.1 In September 2012 Cabinet authorised the investigation of options to 

improve the transport infrastructure of Congleton, reflecting the 
emerging Local Plan. 

 
10.2 A full range of measures were examined and reported to Cabinet in 

July 2013. The report concluded that a link road between the A534 
Sandbach Road and the A536 Macclesfield Road was the preferred 
Improvement Strategy as it had a high contribution to the scheme 
objectives and also helped to resolve the traffic problems currently 
experienced by Congleton. It was also agreed that improvements to the 
existing A34 corridor through the town be further developed – as a ‘low 
cost’ option. 

 
10.3 Following this, a number of link road route options were developed and 

appraised. This process is documented in the Route Appraisal Report. 
A total of four link road options were identified, which were assessed 
specifically from an engineering, environment and traffic perspective in 
the Stage 2 Scheme Assessment Report. 

 
10.4 The ‘Low Cost’ option was also developed further (Annex E) to fully 

understand the viability and performance of improvements to the 
existing road network. It does offer some traffic benefits, but much less 

Page 206



 

than the new link. It also does little to address air quality, severance or 
allow the redistribution of existing road space to other uses (cycleway, 
enhanced bus provision, etc.). It is considered that this scheme would 
allow the delivery of the proposed Local Plan allocations - but without 
the significant additional transport benefits the link road could deliver 
(and hence access to external funding) 

 
10.5 Following this extensive assessment process, four link road options 

were presented at a Public Consultation in January/February 2014. 
The intention of the Public Consultation was to gauge public interest in 
the scheme, capture public opinion of the four link road options 
presented and help identify any constraints/considerations which may 
have been previously overlooked. 

 
10.6 The initial business case for the full scheme is currently strong and has 

been completed to the necessary DfT standards.  To access funding a 
full business case will need to be developed. This will require some 
additional project development funding. The timing of developing the 
business case will be kept under review and will be subject to the 
outcome of the Local Growth funding settlement via the Strategic 
Economic Plan. 

 
10.7 If, ultimately, funding for the delivery of the full link road could not be 

achieved, it may be necessary to consider building the road in phases. 
 
Public Consultation  
 
10.8 The Public Consultation for the Congleton Link Road scheme was held 

over a 7-week period from the 13th January to the 28th February 2014. 
 
10.9 The Public Consultation consisted of the following: 
 

• A Public Exhibition held over three days at Congleton Town Hall; 

• Displays for consultation material located in Congleton, Crewe, 
Sandbach and Macclesfield council buildings; 

• Newsletter distribution to local residents through the winter edition of 
Congleton’s ‘Bear Necessities’ newsletter; 

• A consultation leaflet sent out to identified stakeholders; 

• A leaflet and questionnaire drop initiated for residents within a 500m 
boundary of the scheme; 

• Consultation material uploaded to Cheshire East Council’s (CEC) 
website providing details of consultation venues and times, PDF’s of 
the exhibition boards and ability to complete an online questionnaire; 
and 

• Meetings with Local Parishes, individual landowners and the business 
community. 

 
10.10 Face to face meetings with 27 of the most affected landowners were 

undertaken as part of the scheme. It was not possible due to time 
constraints to meet with each landowner individually on all of the 

Page 207



 

possible routes, though clearly every effort has been made to make 
these key stakeholders fully aware of the consultation. 

 
Consultation report 
 

10.11 During the Public Consultation period, a total of 1279 questionnaires 
were received in response to the link road scheme.  

10.12 The results illustrate that there is widespread support for the link road 
with 77.1% of respondents indicating that they support the scheme and 
therefore at least one of the proposed options. In contrast, opposition 
to the link road was relatively low with 18.4% of respondents against 
the scheme. 

 
 
10.13 In order to establish the public’s preferred route, it was necessary to 

determine the individual support for the four proposed options, this 
involved a breakdown analysis of the 77.1% of respondents who had 
expressed general support for the scheme. 

 
10.14 The total number of respondents for each option varied; however, each 

option received a large enough response for the results to be 
considered representative. 

10.15 The business community submitted a significant number of responses 
(231 questionnaires, 18.1% of the total response) and it was necessary 
to assess how the support for the scheme fluctuated when these views 
were discounted.  

10.16 The results indicate that there is widespread support for the scheme 
regardless of whether the business community’s views are included or 
excluded with percentages of 77.1% and 72.0% respectively. 
Additionally, opposition to the scheme remains low with values of 
18.4% and 22.4% respectively. It should also be noted that typically 
those who strongly object to a proposal are more likely to respond to a 
consultation than those who support but are not directly affected. 

10.17 The Purple Option received excellent support with the highest public 
endorsement and least opposition regardless of whether the business 

Total number of questionnaires: 1279 

Option Respondents Respondent % 

Support the scheme 986/1279 77.1% 
Ø  In favour of only one option 564/1279 44.1% 
Ø  In favour of two options 300/1279 23.5% 
Ø  In favour of three options 13/1279 1.0% 
Ø  In favour of all options 109/1279 8.5% 

Against the scheme 235/1279 18.4% 

Other 58/1279 4.5% 

Total 1279/1279 100.0% 

Page 208



 

community’s views are discounted or not. Support for the option when 
including the views of the business community roughly represents an 
80/20 split in favour of the option. Conversely, discounting the business 
community causes this to reduce to roughly a 70/30 split in favour of 
the option. 

10.18 The Red Option and Blue Option received very similar levels of support 
and opposition. Support for these options was generally good, with 
roughly a 60/40 split in favour of both options regardless of whether the 
business community’s views are included or excluded. 

10.19 The Green Option received the weakest support and strongest 
opposition of the four options, although support received was slightly 
more than opposition. The data illustrates that support and opposition 
for the option (regardless of whether the business community’s views 
were included or not) roughly equals a 50/50 split. 

10.20 Spatial analysis was also performed so that the views of specific 
regions could be assessed in relation to the proposed scheme. The 
analysis separated the questionnaires into two categories, responses 
received from within the CW12 postcode district and responses which 
were received from outside of the CW12 postcode district. CW12 was 
selected as this area encompasses Congleton and the parishes within 
the immediate vicinity of the link road. The full analysis is contained 
within the Public Consultation report (Annex B) 

10.21 A number of key issues have been identified throughout the Public 
Consultation which was considered to be important by the public. 
These issues have been identified based upon the frequency of the 
comments made or where repeat requests for further information have 
been sought: 

The key issues identified throughout the Public Consultation are as 
follows: 

• A34 Newcastle Road extension; 

• A54 Buxton Road extension; 

• Online Improvements, ‘the 5th Option’; 

• Funding of the RPTE and CBP links; 

• Property Devaluation; 

• Effect on Local Businesses/Town centre; 

• Pollution. 

• Potential ‘rat running’ 
 

These issues are fully considered in the Public Consultation Report. 
 

Page 209



 

10.22 Where suggestions to improve or reduce the impact of the scheme 
have been made these have been assessed on an objective basis. 
These are fully reported in the Preferred Route Assessment report 
(Annex C) 

 
10.23 A meeting was held with Somerford Parish Council on the 27th January 

2014. The meeting was attended by approximately 120 people with 
unanimous opposition to the link road. 

 
10.24 A meeting was held with Eaton Parish Council on the 14th January 

2014. The meeting was attended by approximately 80 people. There 
was a mixed response to the scheme. A key conclusion was that traffic 
on the A536 through the village was already a problem and that 
(irrespective of the proposed link road) measures should be put in 
place to reduce the impacts of this traffic. 

 
10.25 A meeting was held with Newbold Astbury Parish Council on the 12th 

February 2014. The Parish do not support any of the link road options 
– including an extension of the road to the A34. Strong representation 
from the residents of WallHill Lane – who consider that this route would 
attract additional traffic if the link road were not to be extended to the 
A34. 

 
10.26 Lafarge Tarmac operates the Eaton Hall quarry and must be 

considered as a key stakeholder. They support the scheme in principle 
but strongly object to the northern routes (Blue and Green) due to the 
affect on their business operation. Given the scale of this operation and 
the national significance of the minerals extracted this has to have a 
significant bearing on the route choice.  

 
10.27 It is clear that a range of off site mitigation measures will need to be 

developed in consultation with affected communities. This should 
include traffic management measures on Padgbury Lane, WallHill Lane 
and the A536 through Eaton. Any proposals will need to be included 
and committed as part of any future planning application for the link 
road. 

 
Preferred Route Assessment report 
 
10.28 The report documents the methodology used to define the Preferred 

Route. It provides the reasoning and justification for the decisions 
made in establishing the Preferred Route, and explains the 
scoring/weighting system used to rank the four options that were taken 
to Public Consultation.   The full report is contained at Annex C. 

 
10.29 Following feedback received from members of the public, modifications 

to the alignments taken to Public Consultation were developed. These 
alignment modifications are presented in the Public Consultation 
Report. An assessment of the proposed alignment modifications and 

Page 210



 

full justification / assessment of any of the proposed alignment 
modifications are contained in the Preferred Route Assessment report. 

10.30 The assessment of the four link road options was carried out using the 
following factors: 

• Scheme Cost Estimate  

• Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) 

• Quality of Local Plan  

• Scheme Length and Earthworks Volume  

• Engineering Constraints  

• Road User Safety.   

• Public Endorsement  

• Environmental Impacts  
 

10.31 A scoring system was developed to allow a quantitative comparison of 
the four options, and also allow them to be ranked in order of 
performance against the assessment factors.  This included a 
weighting assigned to each factor so that the relative importance of 
each could be established i.e. so that the factors considered most 
important had a larger influence on the overall assessment.  

 
10.32 Sensitivity tests were carried out by varying the weighting assigned to 

each assessment factor to investigate whether the outcome/results of 
the quantitative assessment would be altered if the weighing values 
were adjusted. 

10.33 It can be seen from the results of the assessment that the Red and 
Purple Options outscore the Blue and Green Options. Based on the 
results of the assessment, it would seem rational to discount the ‘low 
scoring options’ (Blue and Green Options) at this point, while 
continuing to investigate the ‘high scoring options’ (Red and Purple 
Options).  

10.34 Both the Red and Purple Options have been shown to have different 
strengths. The Red Option performs particularly well in the areas of 
Scheme Cost and BCR, and also has a relatively low impact on the 
environment. Conversely, the Purple Option is anticipated to allow a 
Local Plan of ‘very high’ quality to be delivered and was the option 
which was most supported by the public 

10.35 It should therefore be concluded that the optimum or ‘best’ option 
would be a combination of the Red and Purple Options. It is 
recommended that the Red Option is taken forward as the Preferred 
Route but is modified immediately east of the River Dane so that it ties 
in with the Purple Option. This would act to increase the area of 
developable land to the south of the Scheme, thereby increasing the 
Quality of the Local Plan.  The proposed route would also not preclude 
any future possible (though currently not planned) extension to the A34 
(south), which was a key finding of the consultation.  

Page 211



 

10.36 Finally, following feedback received from members of the public, 
modifications to the alignment in some areas have been investigated. 
In order to reach a final Preferred Route alignment, the modifications 
must be considered and incorporated into the alignment if they are 
considered to be an improvement on the existing design.  

10.37 The appraisals of all alternative alignments which were prepared are 
included within the Preferred Route Report for completeness and also 
to illustrate the effort and time that was taken in an attempt to improve 
the link road design following requests made throughout the 
consultation period.     

 
Links to the Local Plan 
 
10.38 The current submission draft of the Local Plan Core Strategy contains 

a ‘Corridor of Interest’ for the proposed link road. 
 
10.39 In order to refine and strengthen the policy support for the road it will 

be necessary to ensure that the Local Plan considers this new 
information as a minor variation - in effect, the proposal of a preferred 
route is actually just providing more certainty and accuracy to 
information already contained within the plan. 

 
10.40 The formalisation of the route of the road will also protect the interests 

of residents living close-by to the route. Currently, there is widespread 
public knowledge that a road may be built – with its approximate 
position known. This uncertainty could potentially lead to vendors 
finding it difficult to achieve a sale of their property at a fair market 
value. Once the Local Plan has been submitted for inspection the 
council will be liable for blight claims, which, in certain circumstances, 
will mean that the council would be compelled to purchase a property 
at its open market value. 

 
10.41 The submission draft of the Core Strategy was written to make the 

exact boundaries of the strategic locations flexible depending on the 
alignment and support for the link road. The new road is considered to 
provide an effective ‘boundary’ to development and provide a 
defendable boundary to speculative development. 

10.42 All of the options taken to public consultation were capable of unlocking 
the housing and development required to meet the allocations 
proposed for Congleton. Now that a preferred route has been 
established this will allow for comprehensive Masterplanning of the 
preferred allocations to be developed. 

10.43 The delivery of the road will require land for environmental mitigation 
measures and drainage, etc. Experience has shown that these will be 
more readily accommodated outside of potential development land. 
This suggests that from a practical delivery point of view, development 
is constrained to the inner edge (Congleton side) of the new road.  This 

Page 212



 

is also the reason for the recommendation to protect a strip of land 
100m each side of the road from development. This will also allow 
some further minor flexibility in the design of the route. 

 
10.44 The placement (where possible) of environmental / scheme mitigation 

on the non-development side of the link road will make further 
speculative development more difficult. 

 
Further work and programme 
 
10.45 In order to deliver a planning application for the scheme it is necessary 

to work up in more detail the preferred route. Issues that will need to be 
considered include access arrangements, mitigation measures, 
drainage, environmental impacts and off-site traffic management. This 
will also allow the refinement of the scheme estimate. 

 
10.46 Given the scale of the scheme it is also necessary and good practice to 

undertake another round of formal public consultation. 

10.47 It is also advised that the services of a consultant-contractor be 
procured to advise on build-ability issues. 

10.48 Key activities and dates include: 

 Activity Indicative Dates 

Preliminary Design (including 
structures, drainage strategy, etc) 

May’14-Sept’14 

Traffic forecasting update June’14 – July’14 

Topographical and geotechnical 
surveys 

July’14 

Pre-Application Consultation Sept’14-November’14 

Production of Environmental 
Statement 

December’14 

Submission of Planning 
Application 

To be decided 

 

10.49 The extended programme is clearly subject to the success and 
availability of funding for the road. However, assuming a public inquiry 
is required and funding is provisional secured for the scheme, 
construction could begin at the earliest by October 2016. 

10.50 The project programme also shows that if funding for the scheme is not 
provisionally secured by Quarter 2 2015, the assumed date for the 

Page 213



 

public inquiry would slip and the current construction start date be 
delayed. 

 Annex D contains the high level project programme 

Other Factors to Consider 

10.51 A successful planning permission for the road would ordinarily be valid 
for a period of 3 years only. Depending on success with external 
funding this may require an extension to be requested or a re-
submission. 

 
10.52 Environmental information is usually only valid for 2 years. Discharge 

of any planning conditions and granting of Protected Species licences 
(assuming they are required) would require the revisiting of these 
surveys if the further development / delivery of the road did not 
continue in short order after any planning permission. 

 
10.53 The submission of any future planning permission would be subject to 

a further cabinet paper and take into account the views of the pre-
planning application consultation. There may be a risk that any 
planning application is called in by the Secretary of State. 

 
10.54 Given that the planning application would be for the whole road, if only 

part of the road were to be constructed (first) this would require the 
variation of any planning application through a S73 variation. This 
would require the updating of supporting information such as the 
Environmental Statement. 

 
10.55 Access to land for surveys will be required in a timely manner to achieve this 

programme. Thus far, most land access has been achieved by agreement 
though there have been occasions where formal notices to enter the land have 
been sought on an individual basis as necessary. It is anticipated that access 
will continue to be discussed and agreed where possible, but that in the 
absence of agreement the authority to serve notice will avoid any further delay. 

 
10.56 The Highways Terms Contract includes the delivery of consultancy services 

and the estimated cost for delivering this next stage of work is within the 
financial scope of the contract. A rigorous challenge exercise will be undertaken 
to ensure that ‘best value’ is being achieved through the contract, including 
comparisons of hourly rates and outturn costs for delivering a similar scope of 
works. Any future construction contract would of course be tendered through an 
EU compliant procurement process. 

 
10.57  As part of resource for delivering the strategic infrastructure programme Jacobs 

have been working with the Councils HR team to build on the authorities 
apprentice programme to provide further opportunities for local people. 

 
 
 

Page 214



 

11.0 Access to Information 
 

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting 
the report writer: 
 
Annex A – Preferred route drawing 
Annex B – Public consultation report * 
Annex C – Preferred route assessment report 
Annex D – Scheme Programme 
Annex E – Low Cost (on-line A34) improvement scheme 
 
* Note: the appendices referred to in Annex B are available for inspection in 
hard copy form on request and may also be viewed on the agenda web page. 
 
Name:  Paul Griffiths 
Designation: Major Projects Officer 
Tel No: 01270 686353 
Email:  paul.griffiths@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 
 
 

  
 

  

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 217



This page is intentionally left blank



Congleton Link Road 

Public Consultation Report 
OD020 

April 2014 

Page 219



OD020 Public Consultation Report 

Highways

Contents 

1 Introduction 1
1.1 Background 1
1.2 Purpose of Consultation 1
1.3 Scope of this Report 1
1.4 Structure of the Report 2 

2 Consultation Proposals 3

2.1 Scheme Background 3
2.2 Scheme Benefits 3
2.3 Scheme Objectives 3
2.4 Link Road Options 4 

3 Consultation Arrangements 7
3.1 General Approach 7
3.2 Consultation Strategy 7
3.3 Public Exhibition 8
3.4 Exhibition Boards 8
3.5 Website 9
3.6 Leaflet Distribution 9
3.6.1 Stakeholder letter drop 9
3.6.2 Letter drop 10
3.7 Questionnaire 10
3.8 Newsletter 10
3.9 Period for Comments 11
3.10 Information made available to the public 11 

4 Consultation Response 13
4.1 Questionnaire Response 13
4.2 Exhibition Attendance 13
4.3 Written Contributions 16 

5 Questionnaire Responses 17
5.1 Questionnaire Response 17
5.2 Questionnaire Analysis 17
5.3 Question 1 17
5.4 Question 2 18
5.4.1 General results (business community included) 18
5.4.2 Option analysis (business community included) 19
5.4.3 General results (excluding the business community) 21
5.4.4 Option analysis (excluding the business community) 22
5.4.5 Options Summary 24
5.4.6 Spatial Analysis 25
5.4.7 Response within the CW12 boundary 25
5.4.8 Response outside the CW12 boundary 27
5.5 Question 3 30
5.6 Question 4 31
5.7 Question 5 33
5.8 Question 6 33
5.9 Question 7 34

Page 220



OD020 Public Consultation Report 

Highways

5.10 Question 8 35
5.11 Question 9 36 

6 Written Responses 37

6.1 Schedule of written responses 37
6.2 Actions and Comments Schedule 37
6.3 Key Issues 37
6.3.1 A34 Newcastle Road extension 38
6.3.2 A54 Buxton Road extension 38
6.3.3 Online improvements, the ‘5th’ Option 39
6.3.4 Funding of RPTE and CBP links 40
6.3.5 Property devaluation 40
6.3.6 Effect on local business/town centre 41
6.3.7 Pollution 41
6.3.8 Impact on farmland/agricultural land 42
6.3.9 Loss of woodland 42
6.3.10 Loss of countryside 42
6.3.11 Habitat destruction 43
6.3.12 White Elephant Leaflet 44
6.3.13 Protect Congleton Civic Society letter 50
6.4 Petitions 57
6.5 Further Consultation 57 

7 Special Consideration 59
7.1 Further Consultation 59
7.1.1 Somerford Parish Council 59
7.1.2 Eaton Parish Council 59
7.1.3 Newbold Astbury Parish Council 60
7.1.4 Congleton Business Consultation 61
7.1.5 Individual Landowners 62
7.1.6 Marton Parish Council 64
7.1.7 Lafarge Tarmac 64 

8 Other Routes Suggested 65

8.1 Alternative alignments 65
8.2 Summary of Investigated Alternative Alignments 65
8.2.1 Zone A Alignment Alterations 65
8.2.2 Zone B/C Alignment Alterations 66
8.2.3 Zone D/E Alignment Alterations 67
8.2.4 Zone F Alignment Alterations 67
8.2.5 Incorporation of Alignment Alterations into the Preferred Route 

Alignment 68 

9 Summary 69 

10 Conclusion 71 

Page 221



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   

 

Highways

  Appendix A Congleton Link Road Route Options 

 
  Appendix B Consultation Questionnaire 
 
  Appendix C Consultation Leaflet 
 
  Appendix D Consultation Newsletter  
 
  Appendix E Public Exhibition Boards 
 
  Appendix F Stakeholder List 
 
  Appendix G Letter to Stakeholder 
 
  Appendix H Actions & Comments Schedule 
 
  Appendix I Alternative Alignment Drawings 
 
  Appendix J White Elephant Leaflet 
   
  Appendix K Protect Congleton Civic Society Letter 
 
  Appendix L Parish Council meetings 
 
  Appendix M Response from Lafarge Tarmac 
   
  Appendix N Spatial Analysis Drawings & Figures 
 
         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 222



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   

 

Highways

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page Not Used 

Page 223



OD020 Public Consultation Report 1 

Highways

1 Introduction 

1.1 Background 

This report describes the Public Consultation for the Congleton Link Road scheme, 
which was held over a 7-week period from the 13th January to the 28th February 
2014, and assesses the feedback received from the public. 

The Public Consultation consisted of the following: 

• A Public Exhibition held over three days at Congleton Town Hall;

• Displays for consultation material located in Congleton, Crewe, Sandbach
and Macclesfield;

• Newsletter distribution to local residents through the winter edition of
Congleton’s ‘Bear Necessities’ newsletter;

• A consultation leaflet sent out to identified stakeholders;

• A leaflet and questionnaire drop initiated for residents within a 500m
boundary of the scheme;

• Consultation material uploaded to Cheshire East Council’s (CEC) website
providing details of consultation venues and times, PDF’s of the exhibition
boards and ability to complete an online questionnaire; and

• Meetings with Local Parishes and individual landowners.

1.2 Purpose of Consultation 

The purpose of the Public Consultation was to gauge the general interest in the 
Congleton Link Road scheme. Residents were invited to attend a consultation 
exhibition and complete an associated questionnaire allowing them to indicate their 
level of support for each of the four proposed options. The objectives of the Public 
Consultation can be summarised as follows: 

• To inform the public and other stakeholders of the Congleton Link Road
scheme and the route options available for consideration;

• To provide an opportunity for the public and other stakeholders to discuss
and ask questions of the scheme with members of the project team;

• To gauge the level of support for the four link road options and the support
for the scheme in general;

• To determine the main areas of concern for residents; and

• To identify areas for further consideration or development.

1.3 Scope of this Report 

The Public Consultation Report provides an overview of how the consultation 
process was executed. The general interest of the public towards the link road is 
assessed, and the results from the questionnaires are compiled and analysed with a 
summary of the findings presented. The report lists any actions that have been 
taken in response to feedback from the Public Consultation and discusses key 
issues. 

Page 224



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   2 

 

Highways

1.4  Structure of the Report 

The report is broken down into the following sections: 

Chapter 1 – Introduction: an introduction to the background of the Public 
Consultation and the scope of the report. 

Chapter 2 - Consultation Proposals: a brief explanation of the background to the 
scheme, scheme benefits and objectives, and the proposed link road options. 

Chapter 3 – Consultation Arrangements: explains the consultation arrangements 
including utilised venues/locations, exhibition boards, methods employed to 
distribute material and efforts made to generate publicity and awareness for the 
consultation period. 

Chapter 4 – Consultation Response: breakdown of the level of response received 
during the consultation period including the number of written responses and 
questionnaires. Exhibition attendance levels can also be found in this section. 

Chapter 5 – Questionnaire Responses: this section contains an analysis of the 
questionnaires; a brief explanation of each question is given, and results are 
summarised and presented in tabular and graphical format. ‘Other’ factors that have 
been identified are listed and grouped accordingly. 

Chapter 6 – Written Responses: presents any actions that were required following 
the consultation. A summary of how the information was received and the response 
taken is provided. 

Chapter 7 – Other information: any other information relevant to the report is listed in 
this section. 

Chapter 8 – Special Consideration: summary of meetings held with local Parish 
Councils and landowners. 

Chapter 9 – Other Routes Suggested: details any route alterations that have been 
considered in response to feedback. 

Chapter 10 – Summary: presents a summary of the major findings of the report. 

Chapter 11 – Conclusions: conclusions based upon the findings of the report will be 
listed in this section. 

 

 

  

  

 

Page 225



OD020 Public Consultation Report 3 

Highways

2 Consultation Proposals 

2.1 Scheme Background 

As part of their development plan for Congleton, Cheshire East Council has 
identified a Development Strategy which is founded on employment-led growth. 
Expansion of existing businesses which operate within the area and inward 
investment are seen as pivotal to the Development Strategy and the future success 
of Congleton. The Congleton Link Road is considered an essential element in the 
successful delivery of the Development Strategy. 

The principle of the link road was consulted on as part of Congleton Town Strategy 
which was held between the 2nd March 2012 and 2nd April 2012. Feedback from the 
Congleton Town Strategy consultation indicated that there was support for a 
northern link road and that this should be investigated further. An indicative route for 
the northern link road was approved by Congleton Town Council on the 4th 
September 2012.  

Further information related to the Congleton Town Strategy and the Development 
Strategy can be found at: 

www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/local_
plan_consultations/town_strategies_2012/congleton_town_strategy_2012.aspx 

www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/local_
plan_consultations/development_strategy.aspx 

2.2 Scheme Benefits 

Congleton is a market town located in Cheshire, situated south of Manchester, and 
north of Stoke-on-Trent. Several major A-roads converge on Congleton which link 
the town to the various outlying villages, towns and cities. The A34 runs through 
Congleton Town Centre and connects Stoke-On-Trent with Manchester. The A534 
runs east-west through the town connecting Crewe with the M6. The A536 runs 
north-eastwards to link Congleton to Macclesfield. 

The road network experiences significant levels of congestion, particularly during 
peak hours, which causes severe delays along the town centre corridor. The 
Congleton Link Road aims to reduce congestion by providing a bypass for traffic 
using the town as a through-route. In addition to improving travel times for 
commuters wishing to bypass the town, the link road is expected to improve journey 
times within Congleton by removing excess traffic from major roads.  

As part of Cheshire East Council’s Local Plan for the area, the link road is expected 
to bring several other benefits to the town; these include improved air quality within 
the town centre and promoting urban regeneration. The link road will secure much 
needed investment for the town by improving access to the local trading parks and 
opening up developable land. 

2.3 Scheme Objectives 

The Scheme Objectives for the Congleton Link Road can be listed as follows: 

Page 226



OD020 Public Consultation Report 4 

Highways

Figure 2.0 – Congleton Link Road options 

• To support economic, physical and social regeneration of Congleton by
creating and securing jobs;

• To relieve existing town centre traffic congestion/HGV’s, remove traffic from
less desirable roads and facilitate town centre regeneration;

• To open up new development sites and improve access to Radnor Park
Trading Estate (RPTE) and Congleton Business Park (CBP);

• To improve strategic transport linkages across the Borough facilitating wider
economic and transport benefits;

• To reduce community severance along key town centre corridors;

• To reduce traffic related pollutants within the town’s declared Air Quality
Management Areas.

2.4 Link Road Options

Four link road options were identified with the potential to address the Scheme 
Objectives. These have been referred to as the Red Option, the Blue Option, the 
Green Option and the Purple Option. These route options are shown in Figure 2.0; a 
larger copy of this plan can be found in Appendix A. 

The proposed link road has been divided into a number of sections (Zones A to F, 
Radnor Park Trading Estate Link, and Congleton Business Park Link). All routes 
share a common starting point beginning west of Congleton at a junction with the 
A534. 

Zone A consists of the section between the A534 Sandbach Road and the A54 
Holmes Chapel Road.  

Page 227



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   5 

 

Highways

Zone B consists of the section between the A54 Holmes Chapel Road and Chelford 
Road.  

Zone C consists of the section between Chelford Road and a new junction to the 
west of the River Dane valley.  

Zones D crosses the River Dane valley.  

Zone E consists of the section between a new junction to the east of the River Dane 
valley and A34 Manchester Road.  

Zone F consists of a section between the A34 Manchester Road and A536 
Macclesfield Road.  

Radnor Park Trading Estate Link and Congleton Business Park Link provide 
connections from the proposed link road into Radnor Park Trading Estate and 
Congleton Business Park respectively. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 228



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   6 

 

Highways

 

 

Page Not Used 

Page 229



OD020 Public Consultation Report 7 

Highways

3 Consultation Arrangements 

3.1 General Approach 

The Public Consultation took place over a 7-week period from the 13th January to 
the 28th February 2014. The Public Consultation was held as an opportunity for the 
public to express their views and opinions with respect to the scheme.  

The target audience for the consultation included any organisation, stakeholder or 
individual who may have an interest in the scheme. Due to the proximity of the link 
road, the majority of people who took part in the consultation were either residents 
of Congleton or from surrounding villages and Parishes. 

The main event during the consultation period was a three-day Public Exhibition 
which was held at Congleton Town Hall from the 23rd - 25th January 2014. The 
exhibitions invited the public to come and view the consultation material related to 
the scheme and complete the associated questionnaire; the opportunity to converse 
directly with members of Jacobs UK Ltd and Cheshire East Council was also 
available. 

In order to capture views from surrounding towns, displays containing the exhibition 
material and questionnaires were setup in the following locations:  

• Westfields, Sandbach;

• Town Hall, Macclesfield; and

• Delamere House, Crewe.

An additional display was also setup at Congleton Library for the duration of the 
consultation period. 

3.2 Consultation Strategy 

The consultation process had three core elements – information dissemination, 
obtaining feedback, and analysis and reporting. In order for the public to make an 
informed decision regarding the scheme, it was important that information was 
communicated clearly and effectively with a robust means of providing feedback. 

The consultation material was designed to provide a concise overview of the 
scheme, guiding the reader through the identification of the need for improvement 
through to the development of the link road options. 

The means of acquiring feedback was primarily through the completed 
questionnaires, although comments made about the scheme in emails, letters or in 
conversation with members of Cheshire East Council or Jacobs UK Ltd were also 
taken into account. 

The information gathered during the consultation stage forms the basis of this 
report. 

The methods employed to promote awareness of the scheme and generate interest 
for the Public Consultation are provided in the following sections within this chapter. 

Page 230



OD020 Public Consultation Report 8 

Highways

3.3 Public Exhibition 

The venue utilised for the Public Exhibition was the Bridestones Suite within 
Congleton Town Hall. The exhibition ran for a three day period, the time and dates 
of which were as follows: 

• Thursday 23rd January 2014 (12pm – 5pm)

• Friday 24th January 2014 (9am – 8pm)

• Saturday 25th January 2013 (10am – 5pm)

Boards displaying the consultation material were displayed around the room with a 
separate table provided for the public to complete a questionnaire.  

The main aims of the Public Exhibition were as follows: 

• To present information of the scheme to the public;

• To provide an opportunity for the public to converse directly with members of
the Jacobs UK Ltd project team and the Cheshire East Council; and

• To invite feedback on the scheme based on the information presented.

3.4 Exhibition Boards

The consultation material was displayed across fourteen A0 size boards which were 
distributed around the room. The boards presented key information related to the 
scheme such as how the need for improvement was identified, the link road options, 
traffic flows, costs, and a comparison of the proposed options. A scheme timeline 
was also provided to illustrate the current stage of the project. The information and 
themes contained within each board are summarised below and included in 
Appendix E: 

• Board 1 – Welcome to the Public Consultation

• Board 2 – Why is it needed?

• Board 3 – Local Plan

• Board 4 – Environmental Considerations

• Board 5 – Route Appraisal

• Board 6 – Link Road Options

• Board 7 – Link Road Options (Red & Blue Options)

• Board 8 – Link Road Options (Green & Purple Options)

• Board 9 – Traffic Flows

• Board 10 – Economic Assessment and Funding

• Board 11 – Quality of Local Plan

Page 231



OD020 Public Consultation Report 9 

Highways

• Board 12 – Option Comparison

• Board 13 – Option Summary

• Board 14 – What Happens Next?

Members of the project team were available to discuss any specific queries related 
to the boards or the scheme. 

Attendees were invited to complete a questionnaire based upon the information 
displayed on the boards. 

An Actions and Comments Register was created to record outstanding actions or 
requests made by the public which needed to be addressed after the exhibition 
ended.  

3.5 Website 

Details of the Congleton Link Road Scheme were made available at the CEC 
website at www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/congleton_link_road. 
Information provided included a project overview, key programme dates, progress to 
date and frequently asked questions. 

Several reports were made available providing additional information about the 
scheme; reports included the Stage 1 Scheme Assessment Report, Route Appraisal 
Report, and Environmental Appraisal Report. 

The fourteen exhibition boards were available in PDF format alongside the various 
contact details for Cheshire East Council. 

Additionally, an electronic version of the consultation questionnaire was made 
available to ensure the best possible response to the survey. 

The scheme website went live on the 13th January 2014. 

3.6 Leaflet Distribution 

Two leaflets drops were initiated prior to the Public Exhibition, one to the general 
public and another to identified stakeholders. Information provided in the leaflet 
included scheme objectives, link road options, link road comparison, and details of 
how to provide feedback. Time and dates of the Public Exhibition were also 
included. 

A copy of the Consultation Leaflet can be found in Appendix C. 

3.6.1 Stakeholder letter drop 

A list of stakeholders was compiled; this included any organisation or body that was 
identified who may be affected by the scheme or who was thought to have an active 
interest. Examples of stakeholders include local businesses, Parish Councils, 
Government agencies, non-statutory bodies, and local authorities.  A total of 231 
stakeholders were identified. 

The Stakeholder List can be found in Appendix F. The accompanying Letter to 
Stakeholders can be found in appendix G. 

Page 232



OD020 Public Consultation Report 10 

Highways

3.6.2  Letter drop 

Leaflets with attached questionnaires were distributed to residents living within a 
500m boundary of the link road corridor. A 500m boundary was chosen to ensure 
that the views of those living within close proximity of the link road could be 
captured. Approximately 1,500 properties were identified in the mailing list. Delivery 
was handled by DBS Distribution, a company that specialises in leaflet distribution.  

3.7 Questionnaire 

The questionnaire acted as the main source of feedback during the consultation 
stage and was designed to ascertain the views of the public with respect to the 
scheme. Respondents were asked to indicate their level of support for each of the 
proposed options and to specify which factors they considered most important when 
considering the scheme. Other important information such as the respondents 
preferred mode of transport was also acquired. 

Prior to the commencement of the Public Exhibition, questionnaires were distributed 
to the following locations: 

• 1,500 questionnaires distributed to residents living with a 500m boundary of the
scheme (as described in section 3.6.2).

• 150 questionnaires issued to Congleton Library.

• 100 questionnaires issued to Macclesfield Town Hall.

• 100 questionnaires issued to Delamere House, Crewe.

• 100 questionnaires issued to Westfields, Sandbach.

In addition to the above, the following questionnaires were issued during the Public 
Consultation period: 

• 500 approx. questionnaires made available during the Public Exhibition.

• 50 additional questionnaires issued to Congleton Library.

• 50 additional questionnaires issued to CEC.

• 140 questionnaires issued to Eaton Parish.

• 500 approx. questionnaires issued to the business community.

In total, 3190 paper copies of the questionnaires were issued throughout the 
Consultation Period. 

A copy of the Consultation Questionnaire can be found in Appendix B. 

3.8 Newsletter 

A newsletter presenting a summary of the scheme was issued in the winter 2014 
edition of Congleton Town Council’s ‘Bear Necessities’ newsletter prior to the Public 
Consultation’s commencement. This represented an ideal opportunity to generate 
interest and awareness of the scheme due to Bear Necessities having a circulation 

Page 233



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   11 

 

Highways

of approximately 12,000 recipients. The newsletter essentially provided the same 
information as the leaflet, albeit a slightly shortened version; information included 
the scheme overview, link road options, times and dates of the upcoming 
consultation, and contact details for further information.  

A copy of the Consultation Newsletter can be found in Appendix D. 

3.9 Period for Comments 

A 5-week period was provided after the Public Exhibition to allow adequate time for 
the public to consider their views on the scheme. The closing date for feedback was 
the 28th February 2014 which was made clear on both the consultation material and 
the Cheshire East Council website. 

3.10 Information made available to the public 

The following information was made available to the public throughout the 
Consultation Period: 

• Stage 1 Scheme Assessment Report 

• Route Appraisal Report 

• Environmental Appraisal Report 

• Local Model Validation Report  

• Traffic Survey Report 2012 

• Traffic Survey Report 2013 

• Congleton Town Strategy  

• Report of Consultation 

- Summary of Consultation Findings 

- Full report of Consultation Findings 

- Report of Consultation Process 

• Draft Congleton Town Strategy Sustainability Appraisal 

• Cabinet Paper 17th September 2012 

• Congleton Link Road Consultation documents 

- Exhibition Boards 1 – 14 

- Traffic Flow Information to the South of Congleton 

- Typical cross-section of the link road 

 

 

Page 234



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   12 

 

Highways

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page Not Used 

Page 235



OD020 Public Consultation Report 13 

Highways

4 Consultation Response 

4.1 Questionnaire Response 

During the Public Consultation period, a total of 1279 questionnaires (paper and 
electronic) were received in response to the link road scheme. 

Questionnaires were received via one of the following methods: 

• By post;

• Submitted electronically; or

• Completed at the Public Exhibition.

A breakdown of how the responses were received is provided below in Table 4.0. A 
detailed analysis of the questionnaire responses is provided in Chapter 5. 

In total, 962 paper questionnaires were received out of the 3190 that were 
distributed; this equates to an average response rate of 30%. 

4.2 Exhibition Attendance 

Over the course of the three-day Public Exhibition a total of 396 attendees were 
recorded as having attended an exhibition held at Congleton Town Hall. A 
breakdown of the number of attendees per day is provided in Table 4.1 below. 

A selection of photos taken during Congleton Town Hall Public Exhibition is shown 
overleaf in Figures 4.0 to 4.3. 

Questionnaire responses 

Questionnaire received via Number 

Post 630 

Electronically 317 

Completed at Public Exhibition 332 

Total 1279 

Table 4.0 – Breakdown of the returned questionnaires 

Public Exhibition Attendance 

Date of Event Number 

Thursday 23rd January 2014 (12pm – 5pm) 112 

Friday 24th January 2014 (9am – 8pm) 173 

Saturday 25th January 2014 (10am – 5pm) 111 

Total 396 

Table 4.1 - Breakdown of the Public Exhibition attendance 

Page 236



OD020 Public Consultation Report 14 

Highways

 Figure 4.0 - Layout of the Exhibition Boards in the Bridestones Suite 

Figure 4.1 - Members of the public viewing the Exhibition Boards (1) 

Page 237



OD020 Public Consultation Report 15 

Highways

 Figure 4.2 - Members of the public viewing the Exhibition Boards (2) 

Figure 4.3 - Questionnaire Ballot box 

Page 238



OD020 Public Consultation Report 16 

Highways

4.3 Written Contributions 

Written contributions were received either by email, letter, recorded during the 
Public Exhibition, or in meetings with landowners, stakeholders, and Parish 
Councils. 

Emails were received via the dedicated email address at: 
congletonlinkroad@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Letters were received via the Cheshire East Council address: 

Cheshire East Council 

Strategic Highways and Transportation 

Floor 6 

Delamere House 

Delamere Street 

Crewe  

CW1 2LL 

Responses were recorded in a register and logged according to whether an 
outstanding action was required, or whether the comment was a general remark in 
relation to the scheme. 

A breakdown of the written contributions and the actions taken in response is 
discussed in Chapter 6 of this report. The most frequently raised and important 
issues are summarised and accompanied by a written response. 

The Actions and Comments Register can be found in Appendix H. 

Page 239



OD020 Public Consultation Report 17 

Highways

5 Questionnaire Responses 

5.1 Questionnaire Response 

A total of 1279 questionnaires (paper and electronic copies) were received during 
the Public Consultation period. The questionnaire asked a total of nine questions 
with questions 1-6 considered mandatory, and questions 7-9 considered optional.  

The feedback obtained from the online and paper questionnaires was merged into a 
single spreadsheet so that the information could be processed. Data was grouped 
according to the criteria set out by the question. 

5.2 Questionnaire Analysis 

Each question has been analysed in sections 5.3 to 5.11 with the following 
information provided for each: 

• A brief description of the question;

• The level of response;

• Ranking of the results (where appropriate);

• A graphical/tabular representation of the results; and

• A discussion of the results.

The nine questions from the questionnaire are stated for convenience. It should be 
noted that the questionnaire contained both open (i.e. multiple choice) and closed 
(i.e. ‘yes’ or ‘no’) type questions. The nature of the question, whether open or 
closed, is stated for each question. 

A copy of the Consultation Questionnaire can be found in Appendix B. 

5.3 Question 1 

Please provide us with your name and postcode, or, if you would prefer your 
comments to remain anonymous, your postcode only. Please note that we will 
require your full postcode to validate your response. 

This question requested the name and home postcode of respondents so that the 
location of responses could be analysed using Geographical Information System 
(GIS) software. Respondents could choose to remain anonymous if they desired, 
however, postcode data was required in order to include each questionnaire in the 
spatial analysis. Due to the closed nature of the question, the percentage 
breakdown is out of 100%. Table 5.0 shows the percentage breakdown of 
respondents who provided their name for question 1. 

Option Respondent Count Respondent % 
Provided 1043 81.5% 

Not Provided 236 18.5% 
Total Response 1279 100% 

Table 5.0 – Name of respondent 

Page 240



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   18 

 

Highways

The number of respondents who chose to provide their name was high, with 81.5% 
providing the requested information. Conversely, 18.5% of respondents chose to 
remain anonymous. Out of the 1279 questionnaires received, 5 respondents failed 
to provide a postcode and as such could not be processed during the GIS spatial 
analysis. 

5.4 Question 2 

Please indicate your level of support for each of the four options (shown in 
the Public Consultation Leaflet and at 
www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/congletonlinkroad) by ticking one box on each line. 

This open question was designed to gauge the general support for the scheme and 
each of the four proposed options by asking respondents to indicate their support 
based on a 5-point scale; options ranged from ‘Strongly Support’, ‘Support’, ‘No 
Preference’, ‘Oppose’, and ‘Strongly Oppose’. A sixth option, ‘Don’t Know’, was also 
available. It was noted that of the 1279 returned questionnaires, 231 were submitted 
by the business community (e.g. RPTE, CBP, businesses within the town centre). In 
response, two separate data sets have been created to illustrate how the support for 
the scheme differs when the views of the business community are discounted. 

5.4.1 General results (business community included) 

In order to gauge the general support for the scheme, it was necessary to determine 
the number of respondents in favour of the scheme in relation to the number of 
respondents who opposed the scheme. Respondents who expressed support for at 
least one option were considered to be in favour of the scheme whereas 
respondents who expressed opposition to all the proposed options were considered 
to be against the scheme. Respondents who neither supported, nor opposed the 
proposed options (i.e. selected ‘No Preference’, ‘Don’t Know’ or failed to provide a 
response for all four options) were placed in the ‘Other’ category. 

Table 5.1 provides a breakdown of the general support for the scheme based on the 
total number of returned questionnaires.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

The results illustrate that there is widespread support for the link road with 77.1% of 
respondents indicating that they support the scheme and therefore at least one of 
the proposed options. In contrast, opposition to the link road was relatively low with 
18.4% of respondents against the scheme.  Further analysis of the support for the 
scheme reveals that the majority of respondents were in favour of only one option at 
44.1%. Approximately a quarter of the respondents were in favour of two options at 
23.5% 

Total number of questionnaires: 1279 
Option Respondents Respondent % 

Support the scheme 986/1279 77.1% 
� In favour of only one option 564/1279 44.1% 
� In favour of two options 300/1279 23.5% 
� In favour of three options 13/1279 1.0% 
� In favour of all options 109/1279 8.5% 

Against the scheme 235/1279 18.4% 
Other 58/1279 4.5% 
Total 1279/1279 100.0% 
Table 5.1 – Support for the scheme based on total returned questionnaires 

(including business community) 

Page 241



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   19 

 

Highways

5.4.2 Option analysis (business community included) 

In order to establish the public’s preferred route, it was necessary to determine the 
individual support for the four proposed options, this involved a breakdown analysis 
of the 77.1% of respondents who had expressed general support for the scheme. 

To simplify the analysis the results were generalised by identifying respondents who 
selected ‘Strongly Support’ or ‘Support’ and grouping them together in a new 
category titled ‘Support’. Similarly, respondents who selected ‘Strongly Oppose’ or 
‘Oppose’ were grouped together in a new category titled ‘Oppose’.  

It was noted that 18.4% of the respondents were against the scheme and these 
results were isolated from the breakdown analysis as it had already been 
established that these respondents were opposed to all the four proposed options. 
Including these results would dilute the analysis and not represent a true breakdown 
of how respondents who support the scheme feel about the individual options. For 
similar reasons, respondents in the ‘Other’ category were also omitted from the 
analysis. In other words, the breakdown of the support is focused purely on the 
77.1% of respondents who has been grouped in ‘support’ for the scheme. 

It should be noted that although the respondents in the ‘oppose’ or ‘other’ categories 
have been removed; opposition to each option will be present in the breakdown 
analysis. This is due to the open nature of the question which allows a respondent to 
be in favour of the scheme whilst opposing at least one of the options (e.g. a 
respondent may support the Red, Blue and Green Options but oppose the Purple 
Option). 

Figure 5.0 illustrates the support for the individual options based on the 77.1% of 
respondents who were in favour of the scheme. The levels of support and opposition 
are summarised in Table 5.2. Respondents were able to provide one response for 
each individual option (4 responses for Question 2 per questionnaire). As such, the 
total number of responses in the ‘Support’, ‘Opposition’ and ‘Other’ categories can 
exceed the number of questionnaires under consideration. The total number of 
positive responses received in support was 1639. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 Figure 5.0 – Support for the scheme (including business questionnaires) 

Page 242



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   20 

 

Highways

Route Option Support Oppose Other  

Purple Option 
42.0% 

689/1639 
19.8% 

180/907 
8.4% 

117/1398 

Red Option 
20.6% 

338/1639 
25.5% 

231/907 
29.8% 

417/1398 

Blue Option 
20.8% 

341/1639 
25.9% 

235/907 
29.3% 

410/1398 

Green Option 
16.5% 

271/1639 
28.7% 

261/907 
32.5% 

454/1398 

Total 
100.0% 

1639/1639 
100.0% 
907/907 

100.0% 
1398/1398 

Table 5.2 – Data summary for support of the individual options based on 
respondents in favour of the scheme (including business community) 

 

The levels of support, opposition and ‘other’ can be analysed independently as each 
category received a different number of total responses across the four option 
range. Therefore, the summation of the responses within each of the support, 
opposition, and other categories equals 100.0%.  

The analysis was executed by determining the total number of responses that were 
received in a particular category and then determining the number of responses 
allocated to each of the individual options within this category. 

In terms of support, 1639 responses were received and these were then broken 
down out of 100.0%. It can be seen that the Purple Option received the majority of 
the support with 42.0%. The levels of support for the Blue Option and Red Option 
were similar at 20.8% and 20.6% respectively. The Green Option received the least 
endorsement with only 16.5% of respondents being in favour of this option. 

A total of 907 responses were received in opposition to the four options. The Purple 
Option received the least opposition at 19.8%. Opposition to the Blue Option and 
Red Option was similar at 25.5% and 25.9% respectively. The Green Option 
received the largest amount of opposition at 28.7%. 

Further analysis was undertaken by omitting the data from the ‘other’ category as 
these respondents influenced neither the support, nor opposition of the options. For 
this analysis the breakdown was based on the combined number of responses an 
option received in support and opposition (e.g. the Purple Option received 689 
responses in support and 180 responses in opposition, therefore the breakdown is 
out of 869). This allowed for a direct comparison of the internal support and 
opposition of a particular option. 

Table 5.3 presents the results for the proposed options when the ‘other’ category is 
omitted.  

Option Support Oppose Total 

Purple Option 
79.3% 

689/869 
20.7% 

180/869 
100.0% 
869/869 

Red Option 
59.4% 

338/569 
40.6% 

231/569 
100.0% 
569/569 

Blue Option 
59.2% 

341/576 
40.8% 

235/576 
100.0% 
576/576 

Green Option 
50.9% 

271/532 
49.1% 

261/532 
100.0% 
532/532 

Table 5.3 – Option summary omitting ‘other’ category (including business community) 

Page 243



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   21 

 

Highways

The total number of respondents for each option varies; however, each option 
received a large enough response for the results to be considered representative of 
the total population and could therefore be used to draw several conclusions. 

The Purple Option received the highest support and lowest opposition with values of 
79.3% and 20.7% respectively. This represents an excellent result for the Purple 
Option with roughly an 80/20 split in favour of the option. 

The Red Option and Blue Option received very similar levels of support (59.4% and 
59.2% respectively) and opposition (40.6% and 40.8% respectively). The results 
were good with roughly a 60/40 split in favour of either option. 

The Green Option received the lowest support and highest opposition of the four 
options at 50.9% and 49.1% respectively; this roughly equates to a 50/50 split. 
Despite receiving the lowest support of the four options, the Green Option still 
received slightly more support than opposition. 

Comparing the above results with those of Table 5.2 indicates that omitting the 
‘Other’ category does not affect the public’s views with respect to the options. In 
both cases the Purple Option receives the most endorsement and least opposition, 
the Red Option and Blue Option receive similar levels of support and opposition, 
and the Green Option receives the least endorsement and most opposition. 

It can therefore be concluded that the numbers provided are robust and accurately 
reflect the respondent’s views of the proposed options. 

5.4.3 General results (excluding the business community) 

The business community submitted a significant number of responses (231 
questionnaires, 18.1% of the total response) and it was necessary to assess how 
the support for the scheme fluctuated when these views were discounted. Removing 
these views reduces the total number of questionnaires under consideration to 
1048. Table 5.4 presents the breakdown of the general support of the scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
By discounting the questionnaires submitted by the business community, it can be 
seen that support for the link road drops slightly from 77.1% to 72.0%. It can be 
observed that the number of respondents who were ‘In favour of only one option’ 
has reduced from 564 to 333. This suggests that the business community was 
entirely in favour of one option due to this reduction being equal to the number of 
questionnaires submitted by the business community (which have been discounted 
in this analysis). The number of respondents who are in favour of two, three or four 
options remains the same although their respective percentages have increased 

Total number of questionnaires: 1048 
Option/s Respondents Respondent % 

Support the scheme 755/1048 72.0% 
� In favour of only one option 333/1048 31.8% 
� In favour of two options 300/1048 28.6% 
� In favour of three options 13/1048 1.2% 
� In favour of all options 109/1048 10.4% 

Against the scheme 235/1048 22.4% 
Other 58/1048 5.5% 
Total 1048/1048 100.0% 
Table 5.4 – Support for the scheme based on total returned questionnaires 

(excluding business community) 

Page 244



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   22 

 

Highways

due to the smaller population of questionnaires under consideration. Similarly, the 
percentage of respondents who are against the scheme or in the ‘other’ category 
has also increased for identical reasons. 

The results indicate that there is widespread support for the scheme regardless of 
whether the business community’s views are included or excluded with percentages 
of 77.1% and 72.0% respectively. Additionally, opposition to the scheme remains 
low with values of 18.4% and 22.4% respectively. 

5.4.4 Option analysis (excluding the business community) 

By discounting the views of the business community a second set of data detailing 
the respondent’s individual support and opposition of the proposed options was 
produced. 

Similar to the analysis carried out in section 5.4.2, the respondents who were 
against the scheme, 22.4% in this case, were omitted as including them would dilute 
the analysis and not present a true breakdown of how respondents who were in 
favour of the scheme felt about the individual options. Likewise, respondents in the 
‘other’ category were similarly omitted. The breakdown of the support is focused 
purely on the 72.0% of respondents who were in favour of the scheme. 

It should be noted that, as in section 5.4.2, despite omitting respondents in the 
‘against’ and ‘other’ categories, opposition to each option will remain due to the 
open nature of the question which allows a respondent to be in favour of the scheme 
whilst opposing at least one of the options. 

Figure 5.1 illustrates the support for the individual options based on the 72.0% of 
respondents who were in favour of the scheme. The levels of support and opposition 
are summarised In Table 5.5. Much like the analysis carried out in section 5.4.2, the 
total number of responses in the ‘Support’, ‘Opposition’ and ‘Other’ categories can 
exceed the number of respondent who were in favour of the scheme. The number of 
respondents in favour of the scheme was 755 and the total number of positive 
responses in the support category was 1408. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Figure 5.1 – Support for the scheme (excluding business questionnaires) 

Page 245



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   23 

 

Highways

Route Option Support Oppose Other  

Purple Option 
32.5% 

458/1408 
19.8% 

180/907 
16.6% 

117/705 

Red Option 
24.0% 

338/1408 
25.5% 

231/907 
26.4% 

186/705 

Blue Option 
24.2% 

341/1408 
25.9% 

235/907 
25.4% 

179/705 

Green Option 
19.2% 

271/1408 
28.7% 

261/907 
31.6% 

223/705 

Total 
100.0% 

1408/1408 
100.0% 
907/907 

100.0% 
705/705 

Table 5.5 – Data summary for support of the individual options based on 
respondents in favour of the scheme (excluding business community) 

 

The levels of support, opposition and other, can be analysed independently as each 
category received a different number of total responses across the four option 
range. Therefore, the summation of the responses within each of the support, 
opposition and other categories equals 100.0%. 

The analysis was executed by determining the total number of responses that were 
received in a particular category and then determining the number of responses 
allocated to each of the individual options within this category. 

In terms of support, 1408 responses were received and these were then broken 
down out of 100.0%. It can be seen that the Purple Option received the majority of 
the support with 32.5%. The number of positive responses for the Purple Option has 
decreased from 689, in section 5.4.2, to 458. As the number of responses for the 
remaining options remains the same, it seems to suggest that the business 
community was wholly in favour of the Purple Option.  

Support for Blue Option and Red Option were similar at 24.2% and 24.0% 
respectively. The Green Option received the least endorsement with just under a 
fifth of the response being in favour of this option at 19.2%. The percentage support 
for the Red Option, Blue Option, and Green Option has increased when compared 
to the values stated in Table 5.2; which is due to the smaller number of 
questionnaires under consideration. 

Further analysis was undertaken by omitting the data from the ‘other’ category as 
these respondents influenced neither the support, nor opposition of the options. This 
allowed for a direct comparison of the support and opposition of a particular option. 

Table 5.6 presents the results for the proposed options when the ‘other category is 
omitted. 

Option Support Oppose Total 

Purple Option 
71.8% 

458/638 
28.2% 

180/638 
100.0% 
638/638 

Red Option 
59.4% 

338/569 
40.6% 

231/569 
100.0% 
569/569 

Blue Option 
59.2% 

341/576 
40.8% 

235/576 
100.0% 
576/576 

Green Option 
50.9% 

271/532 
49.1% 

261/532 
100.0% 
532/532 

Table 5.6 – Option summary omitting ‘other’ category (excluding business community) 

Page 246



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   24 

 

Highways

As with the results presented in Table 5.3, the number of respondents for each 
option differs; however, each option received a large enough response for the 
results to be considered representative of the total population and therefore suitable 
for drawing several conclusions. 

The Purple Option received the highest support and lowest opposition with values of 
71.8% and 28.2% respectively. This represents a minor drop in support when 
compared with when the business community is included. Nevertheless, the support 
remains very good with roughly a 70/30 split in favour of the option. 

The levels of support and opposition for the Red Option, Blue Option and Green 
Option remain identical to when the business community is included as the number 
of responses in each category remains the same. 

Discounting the views of the business community only affects the levels of support 
and opposition for the Purple Option. 

5.4.5 Options Summary 

Table 5.7 presents a comparison of the results for each of the proposed options 
when omitting data in the ‘other’ category. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Based on the above data, the following conclusions can be drawn: 

• The Purple Option received excellent support with the highest public 
endorsement and least opposition regardless of whether the business 
community’s views are discounted or not. Support for the option when 
including the views of the business community roughly represents an 80/20 
split in favour of the option. Conversely, discounting the business community 
causes this to reduce to roughly a 70/30 split in favour of the option. 

Route Option Support Oppose Total 

Purple Option (in. business community) 
79.3% 

 689/869 
20.7%  

180/869 
100.0%  
869/869 

Purple Option (ex. business community 
71.8%  

458/638 
28.2%  

180/638 
100.0%  
638/638 

    

Red Option (in. business community) 
59.4%  

338/569 
40.6%  

231/569 
100.0%  
569/569 

Red Option (ex. business community) 
59.4%  

338/569 
40.6%  

231/569 
100.0%  
569/569 

    

Blue Option (in. business community) 
59.2% 

341/576 
40.8% 

235/576 
100.0% 
576/576 

Blue Option (ex. business community) 
59.2% 

341/576 
40.8% 

235/576 
100.0% 
576/576 

    

Green Option (in. business community) 
50.9% 

271/532 
49.1% 

261/532 
100.0% 
532/532 

Green Option (ex. business community) 
50.9% 

271/532 
49.1% 

261/532 
100.0% 
532/532 

Table 5.7 – Data summary for the proposed options 

Page 247



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   25 

 

Highways

• The Red Option and Blue Option received very similar levels of support and 
opposition. Support for these options was generally good, with roughly a 
60/40 split in favour of both options regardless of whether the business 
community’s views are included or excluded. 

• The Green Option received the weakest support and strongest opposition of 
the four options, although support received was slightly more than 
opposition. The data illustrates that support and opposition for the option 
(regardless of whether the business community’s views were included or not) 
roughly equals a 50/50 split. 

5.4.6 Spatial Analysis 

Spatial analysis was performed so that the views of specific regions could be 
assessed in relation to the proposed scheme. The analysis separated the 
questionnaires into two categories, responses received from within the CW12 
postcode district and responses which were received from outside of the CW12 
postcode district. CW12 was selected as this area encompasses Congleton and the 
parishes within the immediate vicinity of the link road. Of the 1279 questionnaires 
received, 5 respondents failed to provide a postcode and as such could not be 
analysed using the GIS software; a further 4 questionnaires produced erroneous 
results and were subsequently discounted. Therefore, the total number of 
questionnaires which were included in the analysis was 1270 (99.3% of the total 
response). The methods employed to determine the breakdown of the results were 
identical to those used in sections 5.4.1 – 5.4.4 (i.e. omitting respondents in the 
‘oppose’ and ‘other’ categories and focusing on the respondents in favour of the 
scheme). 

Detailed data and figures illustrating the response for each parish are provided in 
Appendix N. 

5.4.7 Response within the CW12 boundary 

A total of 1083 questionnaires (84.7% of the total response) were submitted from 
within the CW12 postcode boundary. The questionnaires were categorised based 
on the parish the response was issued from. A total of 9 parishes were identified 
within the CW12 boundary which included the following: 

• Brereton; 

• Congleton; 

• Eaton; 

• Hulme Walfield; 

• Moreton cum Alcumlow; 

• Newbold Astbury; 

• North Rode; 

• Somerford Booths; and 

• Somerford. 

Page 248



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   26 

 

Highways

Table 5.8 provides a breakdown of the general support for the scheme based on the 
response from the individual parishes.  

Parish 
Respondent 

no. 
Support the 

scheme 
Against all 

options 
Other Total 

- - No. % No. % No. % No. % 

Brereton 16 11 68.8% 3 18.8% 2 12.5% 16 100.0% 

Congleton 786 672 85.5% 85 10.8% 29 3.7% 786 100.0% 

Eaton 118 59 50.0% 47 39.8% 2 10.2% 118 100.0% 

Hulme Walfield 57 37 64.9% 18 31.6% 2 3.5% 57 100.0% 

Moreton cum 
Alcumlow 

4 2 50.0% 2 50.0% 0 0.0% 4 100.0% 

Newbold Astbury 15 3 20.0% 9 60.0% 3 20.0% 15 100.0% 

North Rode 7 7 100.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 7 100.0% 

Somerford Booths 6 5 83.3% 1 16.7% 0 0.0% 6 100.0% 

Somerford 74 23 31.1% 47 63.5% 4 5.4% 23 100.0% 

Table 5.8 – General support for the scheme based on responses from within CW12  

 

It can be seen that there is generally good support for the scheme, with at least 50% 
of respondents in 7 out of the 9 parishes being in favour of the scheme. 

The largest response was submitted by Congleton with a total of 786 questionnaires 
received; support was positive with 85.5% of respondents in favour of at least one 
option. Conversely, only 10.8% of respondents were against the scheme. 

Newbold Astbury and Somerford were the only parishes that were largely against 
the scheme with opposition values of 60.0% and 63.5% respectively. A fair 
percentage of respondents from Eaton were opposed to the scheme at 39.8%. 

Table 5.9 illustrates the percentage support and opposition for each individual option 
based on results from the CW12 parishes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Parish  Purple Red  Blue Green 

- Support Oppose Support Oppose Support Oppose Support Oppose 

Brereton 55.6% 44.4% 80.0% 20.0% 50.0% 50.0% 57.1% 42.9% 

Congleton 82.2% 17.8% 55.1% 44.9% 69.4% 30.6% 57.1% 42.9% 

Eaton 58.7% 41.3% 81.4% 18.6% 24.0% 76.0% 24.5% 75.5% 

Hulme Walfield 38.2% 61.8% 72.7% 27.3% 47.2% 52.8% 56.7% 43.3% 

Moreton cum 
Alcumlow 100.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Newbold Astbury 33.3% 66.7% 0.0% 100.0% 66.7% 33.3% 100.0% 0.0% 

North Rode 50.0% 50.0% 42.9% 57.1% 28.6% 71.4% 42.9% 57.1% 

Somerford Booths 40.0% 60.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 33.3% 66.7% 

Somerford  40.9% 59.1% 65.0% 35.0% 36.8% 63.2% 25.0% 75.0% 

Table 5.9 – Support/opposition for the individual options based on respondents in 
favour of the scheme (CW12 parishes) 

Page 249



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   27 

 

Highways

As with the analysis that was undertaken in sections 5.4.2 and 5.4.4, the figures 
presented are based on the respondents who supported the scheme; respondents 
who were against the scheme and/or in the ‘other’ categories have been omitted. 
 
The responses for support and opposition have been combined to form the total 
response that an option received; the percentage breakdown represents the 
distribution of these responses in terms of support and opposition. This allowed for a 
direct comparison of the internal support and opposition for a particular option with 
respect to the individual parishes.  
 
It should be noted that due to the varying number of respondents within each parish, 
the results can appear skewed. For example, the Purple Option received a total of 1 
response from Moreton cum Alcumlow, this response was in support of the option 
which therefore equates to 100.0% support due to this being the only response 
received. A more detailed breakdown of the results is provided in Appendix N. 
 
A summary of the findings are presented in table 5.10. 

Parish Comments 

Brereton • 16 total respondents – 11 in favour of the scheme. 

• Good support for the scheme (68.8%). 

• Red Option received the highest support (80.0%). 
Congleton • 785 total respondents - 672 in favour of the scheme. 

• Excellent support for the scheme (85.5%). 

• Purple Option received the highest support (82.2%). 

Eaton • 118 total respondents – 59 in favour of the scheme. 

• Average support for the scheme (50.0%). 

• Red Option received the highest support (81.4%). 
Hulme 
Walfield 

• 57 total respondents – 37 in favour of the scheme. 

• Good support for the scheme (64.9%). 

• Red Option received the highest support (72.7%). 

Moreton cum 
Alcumlow 

• 4 total respondents – 2 in favour of the scheme. 

• Average support for the scheme (50.0%). 

• Purple Option and Red Option received joint highest support (100.0%). 
Newbold 
Astbury 

• 15 total respondents – 3 in support of the scheme. 

• Poor support for the scheme (20.0%). 

• Green Option received the highest support (100.0%). 

North Rode • 7 total respondents – 7 in support of the scheme. 

• Excellent support for the scheme (100.0%). 

• Purple Option received the highest support (50.0%). 
Somerford 
Booths 

• 6 total respondents – 5 in support of the scheme. 

• Excellent support for the scheme (83.3%). 

• Red Option received the highest support (100.0%). 

Somerford • 74 total respondents – 23 in support of the scheme. 

• Poor support for the scheme (31.1%). 

• Red Option received the highest support (65.0%). 

Table 5.10 – Summary of response from the CW12 parishes 

 

5.4.8 Response outside the CW12 boundary 

A total of 187 questionnaires (14.6% of the total response) were submitted from 
areas outside the CW12 boundary. The GIS software identified the following major 
areas where responses had originated (sporadic responses were grouped into the 
‘Other’ category within the Location column): 

Page 250



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   28 

 

Highways

• Crewe; 

• Macclesfield; 

• Manchester; 

• Middlewich; 

• Nantwich; 

• Newcastle-under-Lyme; 

• Sandbach; 

• Stoke-on-Trent; 

• Wilmslow; and 

• Other. 

Table 5.11 provides a breakdown of the general support for the scheme based on 
responses from outside CW12. 

Location 
Respondent 

no. 
Support the 

scheme 
Against all 

options 
Other Total 

- - No. % No. % No. % No. % 

Crewe 16 12 75.0% 3 18.8% 1 6.2% 16 100.0% 

Macclesfield 26 23 88.5% 3 11.5% 0 0.0% 26 100.0% 

Manchester 7 5 71.4% 2 18.6% 0 0.0% 7 100.0% 

Middlewich 5 3 60.0% 2 40.0% 0 0.0% 5 100.0% 

Nantwich 5 3 60.0% 2 40.0% 0 0.0% 5 100.0% 

Newcastle-under-
Lyme 

8 8 100.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 8 100.0% 

Sandbach 25 20 80.0% 3 12.0% 2 8.0% 25 100.0% 

Stoke-on-Trent 65 61 93.8% 3 4.6% 1 1.5% 65 100.0% 

Wilmslow 6 4 66.7% 2 33.3% 0 0.0% 6 100.0% 

Other 24 22 91.7& 1 4.2% 1 4.2% 24 100.0% 

Table 5.11 – General support for the scheme based on responses from outside CW12  

 

It can be seen that there is very good support for the scheme outside of the CW12 
boundary, with each identified location indicating at least 60% support for the 
scheme. Opposition against the scheme was generally low. 

The largest response came from Stoke-on-Trent with a total of 65 questionnaires 
received; support was very positive with 93.8% of respondents in favour of the 
scheme. Conversely, only 4.6% of respondents were against the scheme. 

Other areas which submitted a noteworthy response include Crewe, Macclesfield 
and Sandbach; each of these areas was significantly in favour of the scheme. 

Page 251



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   29 

 

Highways

Table 5.12 illustrates the percentage support and opposition for each individual 
option based on results from the identified locations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
As with the analysis that was undertaken for the CW12 parishes, the figures 
presented are only based on the respondents who supported the scheme; 
respondents who were against the scheme and/or in the ‘other’ categories have 
been omitted. The responses for support and opposition have been combined to 
form the total response that an option received; the percentage breakdown 
represents the distribution of these responses in terms of support and opposition. 
This allowed for a direct comparison of the internal support and opposition of a 
particular option with respect to the individual locations. A more detailed breakdown 
of the results is provided in Appendix N. 
 
A summary of the findings for the questionnaires submitted outside of the CW12 
boundary is provided below in Table 5.13. 

 
Location Comments 

Crewe • 16 total respondents – 12 in favour of the scheme. 

• Good support for the scheme (75.0%). 

• Green Option received the highest support (80.0%) 
Macclesfield • 26 total respondents – 23 in favour of the scheme. 

• Very good support for the scheme (88.5%). 

• Purple Option and Red Option received joint highest support 
(100.0%) 

Manchester • 7 total respondents – 5 in favour of the scheme. 

• Good support for the scheme (71.4%). 

• Purple Option, Blue Option and Green Option received the joint 
highest support (100.0%). 

Middlewich • 5 total respondents – 3 in favour of the scheme. 

• Good support for the scheme (60.0%). 

• Purple Option received the highest support (60.0%). 

Nantwich • 5 total respondents – 3 in favour of the scheme. 

• Good support for the scheme (60.0%). 

• Purple Option received the highest support (100.0%). 

Parish  Purple Red  Blue Green 

- Support Oppose Support Oppose Support Oppose Support Oppose 

Crewe 72.7% 27.3% 40.0% 60.0% 66.7% 33.3% 80.0% 20.0% 

Macclesfield 100.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 75.0% 25.0% 75.0% 25.0% 

Manchester 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 

Middlewich 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Nantwich 100.0% 0.0% 66.7% 33.3% 66.7% 33.3% 66.7% 33.3% 

Newcastle-under-
Lyme 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Sandbach 100.0% 0.0% 50.0% 50.0% 40.0% 60.0% 33.3% 66.7% 

Stoke-on-Trent 96.7% 3.3% 48.0% 52.0% 28.6% 71.4% 25.0% 75.0% 

Wilmslow 33.3% 66.7% 66.7% 33.3% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 

Other 95.5% 4.5% 66.7% 33.3% 80.0% 20.0% 80.0% 20.0% 

Table 5.12 – Support/opposition for the individual options based on respondents in 
favour of the scheme (outside CW12) 

Page 252



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   30 

 

Highways

Newcastle-under-
Lyme 

• 8 total respondents – 8 in favour of the scheme. 

• Excellent support for the scheme (100.0%). 

• Purple Option received the highest support (100.0%). 
Sandbach • 25 total respondents – 20 in favour of the scheme. 

• Very good support for the scheme (80.0%). 

• Purple Option received the highest support (100.0%).01 

Stoke-on-Trent • 65 total respondents – 61 in favour of the scheme. 

• Excellent support for the scheme (93.8%). 

• Purple Option received the highest support (96.7%). 
Wilmslow • 6 total respondents – 4 in favour of the scheme. 

• Good support for the scheme (66.6%). 

• Red Option received the highest support (66.7%). 

Other • 24 total respondents – 22 in favour of the scheme. 

• Excellent support for the scheme (91.7%). 

• Purple Option received the highest support (95.5%). 

Table 5.13 – Summary of response from outside CW12 

 

5.5 Question 3 

When considering the Congleton Link Road proposals, which three of the 
following factors do you consider to be the most important? 

This question gave the respondent the opportunity to express which factors they felt 
were the most important when considering the link road. Nine options were provided 
with the respondent asked to indicate which three they felt were the most important. 
Respondents were free to select the ‘Other’ category to provide details of any 
alternative factors they felt should be considered. All responses were considered to 
have an equal weighting. 

Table 5.14 and Figure 5.2 illustrate the results. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Figure 5.2 – Three most important factors 

Page 253



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   31 

 

Highways

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Due to the open nature of the question, the factors can be viewed as independent to 
each other. The ‘% of respondents’ column expresses the results as the number of 
times an interest was selected out of the total number of returned questionnaires. 

A total of 3557 responses were received from a population of 1279 questionnaires; 
this equates to an average response rate of 2.8 factors per questionnaire. A total of 
138 questionnaires (10.7% of total response) respondents failed to provide 3 
factors. 

Based on the responses it can be seen that the ‘Reduced traffic congestion in 
Congleton’ was considered to be the most important factor, with 63.6% of 
respondents selecting this as one of their three factors. 

Notable factors that were provided in the ‘Other’ column are listed below: 

• Development of business parks; 

• Improving footpaths/cycle-ways/bridleways/public rights of way; 

• Effects on existing residents; 

• Potential noise/vibration produced by the link road; 

• Economic cost of the link road; and 

• Minimizing land-take. 

5.6 Question 4 

We would like to be able to take into account the views of the users of 
different modes of transport. Please identify your main modes of transport 
(tick more than one box if appropriate) 

This question was designed to determine the main modes of transport of the people 
of Congleton and the surrounding area. Respondents were able to select as many 
modes of transport as they desired out of the possible 7 options. The ‘Other’ option 
was made available so respondents could indicate any alternative modes of 
transport which were not listed. Responses were considered to have an equal 
weighting.  

Table 5.15 and Figure 5.3 illustrate the results. 

Factor Responses  % of respondents 

Reduced traffic congestion in Congleton 814/1279 63.6% 
Potential economic benefits 561/1279 43.9% 

Improved/more reliable journey times 488/1279 38.2% 
Consideration for the environment/wildlife 414/1279 32.4% 

Visual and landscape quality 350/1279 27.4% 
Improve air quality/reduced traffic-related pollutants 322/1279 25.2% 

Other 204/1279 16.0% 
Reduced accidents/improved road safety 203/1279 15.9% 

Consideration of archaeological/heritage sites 113/1279 8.8% 
Access to/from outlying villages 108/1279 8.4% 

Table 5.14 – Three most important factors 

Page 254



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   32 

 

Highways

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Due to the open nature of the question, the modes of transport can be viewed as 
independent to each other. The ‘% of respondents’ column expresses the results as 
the number of times a mode of transport was selected out of the total number of 
returned questionnaires. 

A total of 2434 responses were received from a population of 1279 questionnaires; 
this equates to an average response rate of 1.9 modes of transport selected per 
questionnaire. 

It can be seen that the number of respondents who selected ‘Private vehicle’ is 
significant, with 93.3% of respondents indicating this as one of their main modes of 
transport. More than half the respondents utilise more than one mode of transport 
with 52.6% selecting more than one option.  

Notable modes of transport stated in the ‘Other’ category are listed below: 

• Agricultural vehicles; 

• Mobility Scooter; 

Main mode/s of Transport Responses % of respondents 

Private vehicle 1193/1279 93.3% 
Pedestrian 438/1279 34.2% 

Cyclist 249/1279 19.5% 
Rambler/hiker 211/1279 16.5% 

Public Transport 163/1279 12.7% 
Commercial vehicle 99/1279 7.7% 

Horse Rider 54/1279 4.2% 

Other 27/1279 2.1% 

Table 5.15 – Main modes of transport 

Figure 5.3 – Main modes of transport 

Page 255



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   33 

 

Highways

• Motorbike/Motorcycle; and 

• HGV. 

5.7 Question 5 

Are you a regular user of Congleton’s highway network? 

This closed question is designed to determine the number of respondents who are 
regular users of Congleton’s highway network. Table 5.16 presents the findings of 
this question.  

Regular User? Responses % Responses 

Not stated 69/1279 5.4% 

Yes 1180/1279 92.3% 
No 30/1279 2.3% 

Total 1279 100.0% 

Table 5.16 – Regular user of Congleton’s highway network? 
 

The number of respondents who considered themselves to be regular users of 
Congleton’s highway network was high at 92.3%. A total of 69 respondents failed to 
answer this question. 

5.8 Question 6 

By completing this questionnaire, you have identified that you have an 
interest in this project. Please identify the nature of your interest in the link 
road (tick more than one box if appropriate). 

The purpose of this question is to determine the respondent’s main areas of interest 
in the link road. Six interests were provided by the questionnaire; respondents were 
free to select the ‘Other’ category to provide details of any interests they felt were 
important. Responses were considered to have an equal weighting. 

A total of 2025 responses were received from a population of 1279 questionnaires; 
this equates to an average response rate of 1.6 interests per questionnaire. Table 
5.17 and Figure 5.4 illustrate the results. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Nature of interest Responses % Responses 

Residential 916/1279 71.6% 
Local business 349/1279 27.3% 

Public rights of way user 242/1279 18.9% 
Leisure 240/1279 18.8% 

Business 157/1279 12.3% 
Agricultural interest 94/1279 7.3% 

Other 27/1279 2.1% 

Table 5.17 – Nature of interest in the link road 

Page 256



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   34 

 

Highways

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Due to the open nature of the question, the interests can be viewed as independent 
to each other. The ‘% of responses’ column expresses the results as the number of 
times an interest was selected out of the total number of returned questionnaires. 

The majority of the respondents had a residential interest in the link road with 71.6% 
of respondents selecting this as an option. 

Notable interests that were indicated in the ‘Other’ category were as follows: 

• Environmental; 

• Employment; 

• Education; 

• Infrastructure; and 

• Future housing. 

5.9 Question 7 

Are you male or female? 

This optional question is demographic based and requests the respondent to state 
their gender. Due to the closed nature of the question, the percentage breakdown is 
out of 100%. Table 5.18 illustrates the results. 

 

Figure 5.4 – Nature of interest in the link road 

Page 257



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   35 

 

Highways

Gender Response Response % 

Not stated 61 4.8% 
Male  752 58.8% 

Female 466 36.4% 

Total 1279 100.0% 

Table 5.18 – Gender of respondent 
 

In total, 95.8% of respondents answered this question with the majority of 
respondents being male at 58.8%. A total of 61 respondents opted to not answer 
this question. 

5.10 Question 8 

How old are you? 

This optional question asked for the age of the respondent and was categorised into 
seven age bands. Due to the closed nature of the question, the percentage 
breakdown is out of 100%.  Table 5.19 and Figure 5.5 illustrate the results. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Age Response Response % 

Not stated 51 4.0% 
Under 21 37 2.9% 

21-30 102 8.0% 
31-40 152 11.9% 
41-50 238 18.6% 
51-60 258 20.2% 
61-70 267 20.9% 
70+ 174 13.6% 

Total 1279 100.0% 

Table 5.19 – Age of respondent 

Figure 5.5 – Age of Respondent 

Page 258



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   36 

 

Highways

In total, 96.0% of respondents answered this question. The highest number of 
respondents falls into the 61-70 age group with 20.9%. A total of 51 people opted to 
not state their age. 

5.11 Question 9 

Do you consider yourself to have a disability? 

This optional question asked whether the respondent considered themselves to be 
disabled. Due to the closed nature of the question, the percentage breakdown is out 
of 100%. Table 5.20 below illustrates the results. 

 

Do you consider 
yourself to have a 

disability? 
Response Response % 

- 78 6.1% 
Yes 74 5.8% 
No 1127 88.1% 

Total 1279 100.0% 

Table 5.20 – Disability information of respondents 
 

In total, 5.8% of respondents considered themselves to disabled. A total of 78 
people opted to not answer this question. 

Page 259



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   37 

 

Highways

6 Written Responses 

6.1 Schedule of written responses 

A schedule was created to log and collate the written responses which were 
received during the Public Consultation period; the schedule was separated into two 
categories, ‘Actions’ and ‘Comments’. Comments were considered to be general 
remarks regarding the Scheme; conversely, actions were considered to be 
comments which required a specific task to be completed in response. 

6.2 Actions and Comments Schedule 

Written responses were received either via letter, email, during the Public 
Consultation, or in stakeholder meetings. Each comment was given a unique 
reference number and a date on which the comment had been received. A brief 
description of the comment was provided along with any outstanding action 
required, if any. The name of the person who was responsible for completing the 
task was also stated. In total, 47 comments and 45 actions were received during the 
Public Consultation period; all actions were issued with a response during this 
period. 

The Actions and Comments Schedule can be found in Appendix H. 

6.3 Key Issues 

A number of key issues have been identified throughout the Public Consultation 
which were considered to be important by the public. These issues have been 
identified based upon the frequency of the comments made or where repeat 
requests for further information have been sought. A number of issues raised by the 
public have been addressed in the response to the Protect Congleton Civic Society 
Letter.  

The key issues identified throughout the Public Consultation are as follows: 

• A34 Newcastle Road extension; 

• A54 Buxton Road extension; 

• Online improvements, ‘the 5th Option’; 

• Funding of the RPTE and CBP links; 

• Property devaluation; 

• Effect on local businesses/town centre; 

• Pollution; 

• Impact on farmland/agricultural land; 

• Loss of woodland; 

• Loss of countryside; 

Page 260



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   38 

 

Highways

• Habitat destruction; 

• White Elephant Leaflet; and 

• Protect Congleton Civic Society Letter. 

6.3.1 A34 Newcastle Road extension 

The extra cost for providing the A34 (south) connection has been estimated at 
£10m. The council would have to seek Government funding to cover the majority of 
the scheme costs. This funding is a competitive process and as such we must 
submit our strongest case to access it. Economic assessment work has been 
undertaken, using projected traffic flows, to assess the economic case for the 
extension to the A34. Of all the possible road links, this section provides the lowest 
return on the investment. 

The traffic modelling shows that traffic would continue through town for A34 
Northbound traffic; much of the other traffic movements are removed and as such 
the journey times for this traffic are improved (without the need for the link to the 
A34). It is recognised that certain local roads, such as Wallhill Lane will require 
complimentary measures to ensure that rat running does not increase. Assumptions 
have been made in the traffic modelling that measures would be implemented on 
the roads that could be used to access the new link road from the A34 Newcastle 
Road (such as Padgbury Lane and Wallhill lane) to discourage inappropriate use of 
these roads. The model assumes speeds on these roads would be reduced to an 
average of 20mph. 
 
The exact nature of the measures required to reduce speeds and discourage 
through traffic will be developed in parallel with the detailed design of the link road. 
All relevant parties including residents and landowners will be engaged in this 
design process. 
 
The removal of through traffic between the A536/A34 (north) and the A54 (west) 
from the existing route onto the Congleton Link Road is forecast to reduce peak 
hour delays on the A34 through Congleton to lower levels than are currently 
experienced. As a consequence, through traffic between the A34 south and the 
A536 / A34 north of Congleton would find the existing route an attractive option. This 
does of course assume that effective traffic calming measures can be implemented 
with appropriate signing to reinforce restrictions on through traffic on the alternative 
routes. 
 
6.3.2 A54 Buxton Road extension 

         The volume of through traffic to/from the A536 is much higher in absolute and 
percentage terms than other links around Congleton, with nearly 60% of traffic on 
this route in the AM peak (08:00 to 09:00) being through traffic. In the 2012 base 
model the forecast (two ways) Average Annual Daily Traffic (AADT) is 
11300 vehicles on the A536. Through traffic is defined as traffic with both origin and 
destination outside Congleton.  
 
Any link to the east of the A536 to link to the A54 Buxton Road would be costly as a 
further bridge crossing the River Dane would be required and the topography is 
more challenging. From a traffic perspective very little traffic would be expected to 
use this link to get from the A54 to the A536 as other more direct routes are already 
available via the A523 to access most destinations in the Macclesfield area. The 

Page 261



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   39 

 

Highways

volume of through traffic to/from the A54 Buxton Road to the A54 Holmes Chapel 
Road and A534 Sandbach Road is low in absolute numbers and in percentage 
terms. The A534 Sandbach Road provides a link to the strategic highway network 
via junction 17 of the M6 Motorway. A link road from the A54 Buxton Road round to 
the A534 road would be considerably longer than the existing route via the town 
centre. 
In the morning peak hour about a third of traffic approaching from the east on the 
A54 (just outside the urban area) is through traffic, two thirds is destined for the 
urban area. Traffic travelling east bound is predominantly from the urban area of 
Congleton (about 80%) with only 20% through traffic. Meanwhile in the PM peak 
87% of eastbound traffic originates in the Congleton urban area, with only 13% 
through traffic. In the opposite direction 57% of westbound traffic is destined for the 
urban area (43% is through traffic). The two-way AADT on the A54 in 2012 is 4450 
vehicles. 

 
On the basis of the above “high level” assessment it was concluded that a full model 
run was not required to test the provision of a link from the A54 east of Congleton to 
the A536 near Eaton. Even if 50% of traffic on the A54 East of Congleton was to use 
a link between the A54 and the A536, the flow on this link would only be around 
2,200 vehicles per day based on 2012 flows. With traffic growth this would be higher 
in 2017 and 2032, but this would still be much lower than any of the other sections in 
the proposed options between the A536 and A534.  
 
The analysis of existing transport problems examined traffic conditions across 
Congleton. Traffic congestion is experienced across the town, but is worst at 
junctions along the A34 corridor between Lower Heath and the Waggon and Horses 
junction. Traffic flows are generally lower on the eastern side of Congleton than they 
are in the west. Analysis of the existing pattern of movements suggests that in 
absolute numbers there is little through traffic on routes to the east / south east of 
Congleton. Flows on the A54 Buxton Road are significantly lower than other 
approaches to Congleton. 
 
The additional benefits of this section in terms of journey time savings would almost 
certainly offset by the increased costs, and the overall scheme Benefit to Cost Ratio 
would be lower. 
 
6.3.3 Online improvements, the ‘5th’ Option 

Cheshire East Council has not consulted on improvements to the existing A34 
corridor within Congleton as an alternative to the four link road options taken to 
Public Consultation because it is not promoting this option. In accordance with 
Department for Transport guidance, an assessment of a scheme consisting of 
improvements to the existing A34 corridor did not score as highly as the proposed 
link road in its contribution to the Scheme Objectives. This assessment is also 
summarised in the Stage 1 Scheme Assessment Report. It is considered that online 
improvements to the A34 Corridor would bring significantly less benefits when 
compared with a new link road. In particular improvements along the existing 
corridor in Congleton would not address existing and forecast noise, air quality and 
severance issues.  
 
In the interest of robustness, a scheme incorporating online improvements to the 
A34 was modelled to investigate any potential traffic improvements. The model 
indicated that with online improvements present, some junctions along the major 
route corridors experienced an improvement in traffic flow. However, these are local 

Page 262



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   40 

 

Highways

improvements only which do not address the traffic problems facing Congleton as a 
whole. 
 
Online improvements to the A34 do not present a feasible solution to the forecast 
traffic growth and the observed improvements are generally minor when compared 
to the improvements yielded by the link road; this was confirmed in a comparison 
between the two in which the A34 online improvements scheme performed 
significantly worse than the link road option. 
 
6.3.4 Funding of RPTE and CBP links 

Funding of the links to Radnor Park Trading Estate and Congleton Business Park is 
expected to be provided by developer contributions. It is possible that the business 
parks links would be provided at a later date once the construction of the link road is 
completed. Further information can be found in the response to the White Elephant 
Leaflet and the Protect Congleton Civic Society letter. 

6.3.5 Property devaluation 

The route appraisal process considered the disturbance to, and potential 
devaluation of properties and dwellings within the route corridor, with numerous 
route options being instantly discounted on the basis that they created unacceptable 
disturbance to properties.  The route appraisal process is documented in the Route 
Appraisal Report (OD015,) which is available online and can be found on the 
scheme’s website (www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/congletonlinkroad). The four options 
presented at the Public Consultation were considered to have a relatively low impact 
on properties and dwellings when compared to the discounted options. A conscious 
effort has been made to minimise the impact on properties throughout all stages of 
design development, while still allowing the link road to achieve the scheme 
objectives.  

Following feedback and requests from members of the public throughout the 
consultation period, additional design work was carried out to develop alternate 
alignments and variations to existing alignments. The primary reason for doing this 
was to attempt to further mitigate the impact that the link road would have on 
properties located in the immediate vicinity of the proposed link road options. 

Alternate alignments have been developed in Zone A, Zone B/C, Zone D/E and 
Zone F. Details of the alternate alignments can be found in Chapter 8 of this report 
and also in Appendix I. The alternate alignment designs will be appraised as part of 
the design development strategy prior to the Preferred Route Announcement. 
Alternate alignment designs which are considered to be superior to the existing 
alignment will be incorporated into the in the overall link road design.      

Even though attempts have been made to minimize the impact on properties 
wherever possible, it is almost inevitable that some properties will be ‘blighted’ by 
the link road. While the scheme is under consideration, owners can be left uncertain 
as to whether their properties will be affected and it may prove more difficult to sell. 
However, the legal rules on blight require the route to have reached some degree of 
certainty before blight is triggered and compensation can be considered. The 
Congleton Link Road scheme would start to trigger blight when a Preferred Route 
has been chosen and been endorsed by the Council and the Local Plan Core 
Strategy adopted. The Preferred Route Announcement is anticipated to be made in 
May 2014.  

Page 263



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   41 

 

Highways

In certain circumstances compensation can also be paid for loss of amenity through 
Part 1 of the Land Compensation Act 1973. Claims through Part 1 of this act are 
valid after 12 months of the opening of the road. 

6.3.6 Effect on local business/town centre 

It is anticipated that the link road would have an overall positive effect on the town 
centre environment. By redirecting through traffic away from the town centre road 
network and onto the link road, congestion within Congleton Town Centre will be 
reduced. Lower traffic flows would reduce travel times to/from the town centre, 
suggesting that the centre of Congleton would become more accessible. Additional 
benefits of reduced traffic congestion within Congleton would be a reduction in town 
centre noise and pollution, and less town centre severance. 
  
It seems rational to suggest that the centre of Congleton would become a more 
attractive shopping destination for local residents as town centre shops/businesses 
would become more accessible. Indeed, if as expected the removal of through traffic 
makes the town centre area more appealing, it may attract new retailers, help to 
retain existing customers and attract new customers. It is not apparent that the 
introduction of a link road would result in encouraging residents to shops elsewhere. 
At this point, it is not clear what effect the link road would have on ‘passing trade’. 
However, it could be argued that when the existing town centre roads are 
congested, passing trade may be reduced as people will have little or no time spare 
to stop in Congleton. In order to support local businesses, there is the potential for 
signage to be used on the approach to the link road advising drivers of what local 
services are available in the town centre. 
 
Additionally, it has been reported that some of the major employers located within 
Congleton are considering relocating due to the congestion on the existing highway 
network. The link road scheme would act to appease the existing major employers 
within the area and would also encourage new business development. This would 
create employment opportunities within the town as well as acting to secure jobs for 
the future. The town centre would be relieved of through traffic, meaning that 
investment in the town centre itself would become a much more attractive 
proposition. 
 
6.3.7 Pollution 

As stated in Cheshire East Council’s local plan, one of the key objectives which the 
link road aims to address is improving the air quality within Congleton. The 
introduction of the link road will reduce the volume of traffic travelling along key 
route corridors and remove emission-heavy HGV’s from the town centre. 
 
The improved traffic flow will reduce the time that traffic is at a standstill, or travelling 
at slow speeds thus reducing the window of opportunity for vehicles to be at their 
most fuel inefficient. By shortening the journey times within Congleton and removing 
excess traffic it is believed that the link road will improve the overall air quality within 
the town. It has been suggested that the introduction of the link road will transfer the 
poor air quality within Congleton to the surrounding countryside. Whilst it is true that 
the air quality within the immediate vicinity of the link road may reduce, it is not 
thought that the introduction of the road will cause a particularly detrimental effect to 
the local air quality. 
 
Efforts have been made to mitigate the impact of noise pollution by locating the link 
road as far away from residential properties as possible, although it is inevitable that 

Page 264



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   42 

 

Highways

some properties will be adversely affected. The full extent of the impact of noise on 
properties will not be known until an assessment is completed during the detailed 
design stage. It is possible that noise-mitigation measures may be introduced 
although no decision has been made at this stage. 
 
6.3.8  Impact on farmland/agricultural land 

As identified in the Private and Community Assets chapter of the Environmental 
Assessment Report (EAR), the proposed scheme would cause a significant adverse 
effect on agricultural land and farm businesses. The permanent loss of agricultural 
land cannot be mitigated by the proposed scheme. The impact to farm businesses 
would be reduced by providing mitigation measures such as new access tracks and 
entrances, in order to deal with any potential severance of access to agricultural 
land.  
 
As part of the assessment on agricultural land and farm businesses, a detailed 
agricultural land survey and assessment will be undertaken for the preferred route 
option, which would determine the required mitigation measures for farm 
businesses. 
 
6.3.9 Loss of woodland 

As identified in the ecology chapter of the EAR, the proposed scheme would cause 
a significant adverse effect on woodland through permanent loss and severance of 
the habitats present. 
 
Some of the areas of woodland which could potentially be affected by the proposed 
scheme are designated as ancient woodland and as UK Biodiversity Action Plan 
(UK BAP) priority habitat woodland. One of the key ecological impacts that has been 
identified is the potential severance of both ancient woodland at Radnor Wood, and 
areas of BAP woodland at both Church Wood and Radnor Wood. 
 
Further survey work would be carried out once a Preferred Route has been 
established, including a Phase 2 ecological survey/National Vegetation 
Classification which would consider the composition of the woodland and determine 
the importance of the section which is specified to be removed. Once this 
information is available, further assessment can be made and, if required, mitigation 
measures could be considered. Potential mitigation measures could include 
improving other sections of the existing adjacent woodland and creating new areas 
of woodland. 
 
6.3.10 Loss of countryside 

In the Landscape and Visual Impact chapter of the EAR, the proposed scheme has 
been assessed against two local policies in the Congleton Borough Local Plan 
(2005) that consider the loss of countryside. These include: 

• PS8: Open countryside 

This policy controls countryside development. The link road would travel through 
the countryside and therefore introduce development as outlined in the Local 
Plan; however, open countryside would remain on both sides of the road with 
views across it. In comparison to other forms of potential development, the link 
road has a less significant impact on the countryside. Nevertheless, there would 
be an adverse impact on the countryside.  

Page 265



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   43 

 

Highways

• PS9: Area of Special County Value 

This policy protects the designation of the Dane Valley from development which 
would damage its character or features. The proposed scheme is likely to 
adversely affect landscape character and features of the Area of Special County 
Value, although mitigation measures (including the use of landscape screening 
in the form of new hedgerows and trees, the use of cuttings and embankments, 
and the use of building materials sympathetic to the landscape) would be put in 
place to minimise these effects. 

Therefore, although the proposed scheme would cause some loss of 
countryside, the adverse impact would be reduced through the use of mitigation 
measures and a minimisation of the footprint of the road. 

6.3.11 Habitat destruction 

As identified in the Ecology chapter of the EAR, the proposed scheme would cause 
a significant adverse effect as a result of the permanent loss of a number of 
habitats, including woodland, hedgerows (which have been judged to be both 
species rich and species poor), watercourses, ponds and marshy grassland. 

Further surveys will be carried out in order to support the detailed assessment of the 
preferred route and to identify mitigation measures that would reduce the impact of 
the loss of habitat. These may include the following: 

• Replacement of lost hedgerows with species rich native hedgerows and/or 
translocation of species rich/important hedgerows; 

• Replacement of lost woodland habitat (to be replaced on >1:1 basis); 

• Any bat roosts affected would require detailed bat survey, mitigation and 
compensation under a European Protected Species licence from Natural 
England; 

• Bat boxes to compensate for loss of trees with bat roost potential; 

• Landscape planting, underpasses or overbridges/hop-overs designed to 
compensate for the severance of important bat commuting routes by the road 
scheme; 

• Any badger setts that are affected would need to be excluded and may be 
replaced with artificial setts under licence from Natural England, if they are 
assessed as being of high value (e.g. main setts or setts in areas of low 
availability of alternative sett-building habitat); 

• Mammal underpasses will be installed at appropriate locations; 

• Badger fencing may be necessary in appropriate locations; 

• Ponds that are lost would need to be replaced on at least a two-for-one basis for 
common amphibians and those with diverse aquatic macrophyte assemblages in 
order to ensure that no net loss of habitat is incurred. 

• Pond creation is also suggested to replace ponds that become isolated due to 
the proposed road; and 

Page 266



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   44 

 

Highways

• Any impacts on Great Crested Newts (GCN) may require a European Protected 
Species licence and mitigation may include capture and translocation to newly 
created ponds. 

 
6.3.12 White Elephant Leaflet 

A leaflet was circulated during the Public Consultation period presenting a case 
against the proposed link road. The rear of the leaflet lists a series of points against 
the Congleton Link Road; a response to these points is provided below alongside 
the respective point.   

A copy of the White Elephant Leaflet can be found in Appendix J. 

1. We, the local taxpayers, will largely fund this project; just as our Council 
tax is being wasted on studies to justify this “white elephant” whilst we 
have our bin collections stopped and our elderly lose their meals-on-
wheels. It is merely a vanity project for certain Councillors. 

The scheme is expected to be largely to be funded by revenue streams from central 
government such as the strategic economic plan. The Local Economic Partnership 
(LEP) has produced a joint submission to Government outlining their vision for 
schemes that promote economic growth, which includes the Congleton Link Road. 
Although this is funding from the National tax payer, if CEC didn’t bid for this money 
it would either go somewhere else within the LEP area (i.e. Cheshire West and 
Chester or Warrington) or to another LEP. The funding has to be focused on 
economic growth and as such any scheme promoted has to demonstrate that it will 
contribute to economic growth. Whilst the scheme requires local funding in the form 
of costs to develop the scheme and generate a business case, the economic 
benefits of the additional jobs and housing will outweigh this cost. The 
consequences of not bidding for this funding would be a lack of growth or even a 
decline as employers choose to locate away from Congleton, potentially outside the 
CEC area. To reiterate, most funding could not be used for any other purpose, and 
other Council services will not suffer as a result of this scheme. 

2. Large tracts of open countryside and prime agricultural land will be 
destroyed and built on to raise funds for this road, damaging wildlife 
habitats and recreational areas in the process. 

Development outlined in the Local Plan is expected to happen regardless of whether 
the link road scheme goes ahead or not. Funding for the link road is anticipated to 
consist primarily of Central Government funding (which is not related to any local 
development). The connections to Radnor Park Trading Estate and Congleton 
Business Park are expected to be funded through developer contributions. However, 
these connections will actually provide an alternative route for ‘industrial and through 
traffic’ out of Congleton (via the link road) rather than worsening congestion within 
the town centre.  
 
The environment and key environmental receptors have been carefully considered 
and where possible, the link road options have been aligned so that they provide 
minimal disruption to the environment (scheduled monument, ancient woodlands 
etc). The alignment of the link road scheme and the position of the junctions will be 
altered throughout design development to further minimise the impact on the 
environment. Environmental surveys are currently being conducted to identify 
sensitive areas of flora and fauna. Species relocation and re-planting of trees/ 

Page 267



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   45 

 

Highways

hedgerows will form a large part of the detailed scheme proposal. Bunding and 
screening measures may be developed which further limit the adverse effects on the 
environment. Discussions with land owners and farmers will continue to reduce 
negative impacts and to maintain the viability of existing farms. 
 
3. Consulting on the link road is holding up submission of the Local Plan, 

which desperately needs to be progressed to resist unwanted 
development. 

The Congleton Link Road (CLR) scheme is NOT holding up the Local Plan, which is 
has taken longer to develop/adopt than the Council had originally planned. The 
“Local Plan Strategy – Submission Version” was published in March 2014. The 
Examination in public of the plan is proposed for later in 2014. A protected corridor 
has been identified which was included in the draft Local Plan. As the scheme is 
progressed, a more specific route may be identified in the Local Plan, but the plan 
will not be delayed if a preferred route has not been identified. It is expected that the 
preferred route will be approved in Spring/Summer 2014. 

4. The road is supposed to encourage new businesses to set up in Congleton 
but a road in itself does not encourage business. In fact, one new business 
proposed for Congleton has been put on hold, with alternative sites being 
investigated, because of the link road proposal and other existing 
businesses and planning to relocate from Congleton if the road goes 
ahead. More likely the road will enable business in Macclesfield and Crewe 
to grow at Congleton’s expense. 

Transport is a means to an end and not an end in itself, thus improved transport 
links are proposed to reduce travel times and encourage business to locate in 
Congleton by reducing uncertainty around travel times in / around Congleton. The 
road would provide better access to the M6 (north and south) from the Congleton 
Business Park and Radnor Park Trading Estate, particularly for HGVs. We would be 
interested in evidence of businesses / sites where development has been put on 
hold in response to the scheme. Our understanding of the views of the Chamber of 
Commerce and larger employers is that the road is wanted and welcomed, as it 
addresses issues around delays that they have experienced for some time.  
Improved access to / from the town centre will result from the removal of through 
traffic. This will make Congleton more attractive as a destination. 
 
It has been reported that some of the major employers located within Congleton are 
considering relocating due to the congestion on the existing highway network. The 
link road scheme would act to appease the existing major employers within the area 
and would also encourage new business development. This would create 
employment opportunities within the town as well as acting to secure jobs for the 
future. The town centre would be relieved of through traffic, meaning that investment 
in the town centre itself would become a much more attractive proposition. 
 

5. The majority of traffic congestion around Congleton is associated with the 
A34, yet the link road will not relieve it by virtue of failing to connect with 
the A34 at both its ends. 

Our reporting clearly identifies that this is the case, with congestion at the Rood Hill 
junction, West Road / West street roundabout and the Wagon and Horses 
roundabout. This does not however mean that through traffic from the A34 to the 
A34 is the cause of these problems, nor does it mean that we need to remove this 

Page 268



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   46 

 

Highways

traffic to meet the scheme objectives. We undertook Roadside Interview Surveys 
with drivers on the A536, A34 (north and south of Congleton), the A54 Holmes 
Chapel Road, A534 and A54 Mountbatten Way, which allowed us to understand the 
origin / destination and purpose of journeys. Traffic flows are high between the A34 
(north) and A534 in both directions, to access the M6 south and areas west of the 
M6. Through movements are also high between the A536 (Macclesfield area traffic) 
and the A534 to/ from the M6 south.  Whilst there are some though flows between 
the A34 south and north, the volume is not as large as between the A34 and the 
A54 (w) and A534 (w). The additional cost of this section would require additional 
funding to be secured. We have undertaken a modelling test of the potential traffic 
that would use this additional link. This has established that some traffic would use 
this section however some A34 to A34 through traffic would remain on the existing 
route as it becomes less congested and is shorter than the new route via the Link 
Road. The Benefit to Cost ratio of a road that connects the A34 (south) to the A536 
is lower than that of the presented scheme that terminates at the A534. 

6. This bypassing of Congleton Town Centre will destroy it by discouraging 
passing trade and enabling Congleton residents to shop more easily 
elsewhere. 

As per the response to point 4, the scheme reduces congestion within Congleton 
which reduces travel times to/from Congleton town centre. It is not clear that this 
would encourage residents to shop elsewhere. Indeed if as expected the removal of 
through traffic makes the town centre area more attractive, it may attract new 
retailers, retain existing customers and attract new customers. Our transport 
modelling assumptions for growth assume that only the redevelopment that has 
planning permission would happen in the town centre. Also it is not clear what the 
impact of the road would be on “passing trade”. When the existing road is congested 
passing trade may to be reduced any way as people will have little or no time spare 
to stop in Congleton. Signage could be used on the approach to the link road to 
advise drivers of what local services are available in the town centre. 

7. The prime beneficiaries of the road will be Macclesfield, via an improved 
connection to the M6, and provision of a new route to Manchester Airport 
to support its planned Airport City Development, whilst Congleton will be 
subjected to increase traffic flows and pollution for the advancement of 
others. 

The scheme will provide benefits for the residents of Macclesfield and other parts of 
the CEC area which is good for the wider CEC economy. However there will be 
considerable benefits to the residents of Congleton as a result of the reductions in 
traffic experienced on the A34, A54, A534 and A536 within the urban area. Noise 
modelling based on traffic forecasts suggest that noise would be reduced for 
residents living near to these roads, within Congleton. Over the standard 60 year 
appraisal period the scheme reduces the number of people “annoyed” by noise by 
between 31 and 112 people dependant on the option being considered. Traffic 
levels would increase slightly compared to the situation without the link road on the 
approaches to Congleton. Mitigation measures are proposed and more will be 
developed as we work towards a preferred route, for properties close to the new 
road. We are engaged in discussions with Parish councils and residents in 
developing proposals to reduce the impact of any additional traffic that might impact 
on communities on the approaches to Congleton. 

Page 269



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   47 

 

Highways

8. No economic case for the link road has been made and requests for data 
from the traffic surveys performed over a year ago have been repeatedly 
ignored. This can only be because the figures don’t stack up! 

The consultation material does state that all the schemes are considered high value 
for money under DfT criteria. The economic case has been advanced and has been 
documented in the Economic Appraisal Report. CEC would not be able to promote a 
scheme without a strong business case that requires a valid economic appraisal. 
Journey time savings and accidents savings have been quantified and all four 
options generate significant benefits.   
The economic analysis of the monetised costs and benefits of a scheme forms a key 
element in the overall value for money assessment as prescribed within 
Government Transport Appraisal Guidance, and the Appraisal Summary Table 
framework.  
 
It aims to quantify in monetary terms, over a 60 year appraisal period, as many of 
the costs and benefits of a proposal as is feasible. 
 
The results of the assessments for the scheme using Core growth and using 44% 
Optimism bias are summarised in Table 6.2. 
 
Table 6.3 shows the summarised scheme benefits with the additional wider 
economic benefits, calculated using GVA (Gross Value Added). 
 
There may also be other benefits or disbenefits, to the environment, landscape, 
heritage or water that cannot be presented in monetised form. 
 
These are summarised in the scheme Appraisal Summary Table (AST) out with the 
Economic Assessment Report. 
 

 

 

 

 

A
n
 
u
p
d
a
t
e
 
t
o
  

  Blue Red Green Purple 

Transport User 

Benefits (incl. Carbon) 
£291.6m £275.0m £290.9m £273.1m 

Safety Benefits £23.3m £24.6m £29.6m £20.9m 

Carbon Benefits -£6.5m -£6.0m -£5.7m -£6.1m 

Air Quality £0.7m £0.5m £0.6m £0.5m 

Noise £5.6m £2.7m £4.9m £3.7m 

TOTAL PVB (Present 

Value of Benefits) 
£314.7m £296.9m £320.3m £292.1m 

TOTAL PVC (Present 

Value of Costs) 
£124.1m £96.3m £107.8m £115.8m 

BCR 2.5 3.1 3.0 2.5 

Table 6.2 – Summarised Scheme results (in £m) – 44% Optimism Bias 

Page 270



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   48 

 

Highways

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

An update to the Economic Appraisal will be provided based on the Preferred Route 
once the Preferred Route Announcement has been made (Spring/Summer 2014).   

9. The link road could cost in excess of £102 million based on current 
estimates (which are likely to have been scoped whilst wearing “rose-
coloured glasses”), yet just £1m spent by Cheshire East Council on a bus 
service in Crewe has increased its usage for work-related travel 4-fold! 

This cost is correct and includes the provision of link roads into the Congleton 
Business Park and the Radnor Park Industrial Estate, which we would expect to be 
funded by developer contributions. Excluding these links, current estimates range 
from £87.8m for the Blue Option to £70.9m for the Red Option, as quoted in the 
consultation material presented in January / February 2014. The costs include 
allowance for risk, inflation, land take and compensation costs and 
design/supervision fees. The scheme cost estimates should therefore be viewed as 
realistic and robust. There is no justification for stating that the costs are based on 
“rose coloured glasses”. 

10. Investment could be made cost-effectively in public transport to reduce 
carbon emissions, which will be increased by road building; especially 
given the large number of roundabouts proposed. 

The alternative bus service improvement referred to is not a comparable or viable 
alternative to address the objectives of the scheme and was assessed in an earlier 
stage of scheme development (EAST Assessment and SWOT Analysis). Bus 
service frequencies are currently low within Congleton. Current and forecast 
demand for travel is not well suited to public transport as the origins of many trips 
are dispersed across the rural area around Congleton. Whilst some future demand 
associated with new developments may be suited to public transport, the road 
scheme would still be required. A bus service/facilities improvement would not 
significantly reduce through traffic or promote investment in the area (securing jobs, 
local economic growth etc). 
     
Carbon emissions: As stated with regard to point 10, public transport is not a 
viable alternative to the road scheme. Based on the transport model, most existing 
movements would be difficult to serve with public transport. Bus lanes are unviable 
due to the lack of road space on the existing roads (need space where the traffic 
queues to give buses an advantage) and low bus frequencies. Even if the number of 
buses was increased by 4 or 5 times, bus flows would not justify a bus lane. 
 

 Blue Red Green Purple 

TOTAL PVB 
£314.7m £296.9m £320.3m £292.1m 

TOTAL PVC 
£124.1m £96.3m £107.8m £115.8m 

BCR 
2.5 3.1 3.0 2.5 

Additional GVA 
Benefits 

£1,530.0m £1,530.0m £1,530.0m £1,530.0m 

Table 6.3 – Summarised Scheme results with wider economic 
benefits included 

Page 271



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   49 

 

Highways

11. The road is partly intended as an M6 relief road but, given the bottleneck at 
the Monk’s Heath crossroads, it will become a linear car park; thus 
generating excessive air pollution. 

Although the scheme might help relieve traffic issues that currently arise in 
Congleton when the M6 is blocked, this is NOT an objective of the scheme. The 
economic case is built on average traffic conditions from November 2012, when the 
M6 was operating normally. Long term traffic counts were used to ensure that the 
days of roadside interview surveys were representative of average conditions and 
did not pick up traffic movements that were abnormal. Other locations away from 
Congleton where there are capacity limitations will limit the amount of traffic that can 
get to / from the M6. The on-going improvements to the M6 (such as hard shoulder 
running) will reduce the number of occasions when traffic attempts to divert away 
from the M6. We have included the increased capacity on the M6 in the model 
networks for future years. 

 
12. New roads are not needed because UK traffic volumes haven’t increased 

in the past 10 years (according to the RAC foundation) and increased 
capacity will come about on the M6 anyway when it becomes a managed 
motorway (enabling the use of the hard-shoulder) 

There is evidence from long term monitoring that there is traffic growth in the 
area. On the A536 Macclesfield Road north of Eaton traffic has grown by just 
under 5% between 2003 and 2012. On the A534 Sandbach Road traffic has 
grown by 14% between 2003 and 2012. On the A34 Manchester Road traffic 
grew by 3% over the same period whilst south of Congleton there was a small 
reduction of 2% on the A34 Newcastle Road. Overall growth is around 4.5% 
across the surveyed sites between 2003 and 2012. 
 
We have used standard DfT growth assumptions based on the National Traffic 
Model for future years, with allowance made for local growth associated with the 
new housing and employment proposed in the local plan that is being consulted 
on. As per point 11 the capacity increase on the M6 is accounted for in the 
modelling. 

 

13. It will cut Somerford, Hulme Walfield and Eaton in half, causing community 
severance. This will further encourage Congleton Town Council in their 
attempts to annex parts of the Parishes that will entitled to funding from 
the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL); due if the proposed 
developments go ahead. 

The road will be designed to minimise any new severance issues. Existing 
severance within Congleton will be reduced by the scheme due to reductions in 
traffic on the A34 in particular. Hulme Walfield is to the north of all the options and 
Giantswood Lane will remain open with a bridge over the new road which addresses 
any severance issue with Hulme Walfield. Existing public rights of way will be 
provided for, wherever they cross the new road, with details of crossings to be 
developed once the preferred route is chosen. Costs of measures are covered in the 
contingencies mentioned under point 9. Discussions with land owners and residents 
in Somerford are ongoing. The potential junction between the Link Road and 
Chelford Road may be amended or removed to reduce the impact on households 
and reduce severance along Chelford Road. The Blue and Green options for the link 
road run to the North of Eaton and therefore can’t be considered to “cut the village in 

Page 272



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   50 

 

Highways

half”. Likewise the red and purple routes start south of the village and so the road 
does not cut the village in two. It is however recognised that the red and purple 
routes would lead to an increase in vehicles travelling through Eaton village, which 
would increase severance on the A536. There is a clear difference between the 
options in terms of the impact on Eaton village. The consultation process will 
establish if the residents of Eaton have a preference for any particular route option. 
 
The CIL will provide some funding for the road and other facilities in Congleton such 
as a primary school and other facilities that potentially benefit all local residents. 
 

6.3.13 Protect Congleton Civic Society letter 

A letter was received, dated the 18th February 2014, from Protect Congleton Civic 
Society (PCCS). The letter provides comments on the Congleton Link Road scheme 
and puts forward many questions regarding the impact the link road may have. The 
queries listed in the letter have been mirrored by many of the respondents who took 
part in the Public Consultation. The questions asked by PCCS have been listed for 
convenience along with their respective response. The full PCCS letter can be found 
in Appendix K. 

1.2  It will be seen from the following comments that one of the significant 
flaws of this consultation is the continual lack of detail to support the need for 
a Link Road. For example, there are statements in the consultation 
documentation that the Link Road will “help the local economy and create and 
secure jobs”, yet there is no information on how the Link Road will achieve 
these objectives – a road in itself will not do this. 

The link road will open up much needed land for development – the scheme has 
been shown to be the most effective way of facilitating the development of the 
following strategic development sites: 

• Back Lane and Radnor Park – a 33 hectare site located to the North West of 
Congleton with the potential for 10 hectares of employment land adjacent to 
Radnor Park Trading Estate and up to 10 hectares of land for a leisure hub 
adjacent to Back Lane Village Green; 

• Congleton Business Park Extension – a 50 hectare site located on the North 
Western edge of Congleton with the potential for 10 hectares of land for 
commercial and employment uses adjacent to Congleton Business Park; 

The Business Community tell us they desperately need new land to prevent leakage 
of employment from the town. For example, Congleton was the preferred location for 
a second Siemens factory but this opportunity was lost due to lack of a suitable site. 
In recent years on the Radnor Park Estate the opportunity for 140 jobs were lost 
when suitable premises were not available to house the HQ of Healthcare 
Enterprise Group PLC who acquired an existing company. 

1.3 Has the Cheshire East Council carried out the required analysis and/or 
feasibility studies to show how such a road is “guaranteed” to achieve the job 
creation and boost the local economy? Claims such as this are just that, mere 
claims. Without the necessary material to back up the claims then the claims 
are meaningless. If Cheshire East Council does have such evidence then that 
is good news. However why has this information not been made available? It 
could be construed as, at the least, disrespectful to the community to 
withhold such information? The community is asked to support the building 

Page 273



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   51 

 

Highways

of 3,500 houses and the sacrifice of vast areas of green space around 
Congleton to help fund the Link Road. The least that Cheshire East Council 
could do is provide material that supports the need for this Link Road. 

A projection of the number of jobs that the new road could enable has been 
undertaken using a ‘Green Book’ Treasury approved methodology (full details at 
end): This projects that 3458 new jobs would be created. This information is 
available as part of the economic forecasting undertaken for the scheme. 

1.4 Without the details of why a Link road is required and the benefits it will 
provide to Congleton and its community this consultation process is deeply 
flawed. 

The benefits (and disbenefits) of the scheme were reported as part of the public 
consultation process; they were summarised to make this information as accessible 
as possible. Supporting information has been sent out where this has been 
requested. 

2.1 It is understood that the consultation process is being led by Ringways 
Jacobs, a Highways Construction and Service company, which performs 
much of the highways service for Cheshire East Council. This is NOT to an 
impartial leader for this consultation. Why has an impartial organisation not 
been chosen to lead this consultation process? 

The consultation and development of the scheme is being supported by Jacobs – 
this is a purely consultancy function and has no construction ability. Cleary, should 
any future construction contract be awarded this would be through an open and 
transparent procurement process. Ringway Jacobs, the joint venture company who 
provides highway construction services to the authority would be conflicted out of 
any procurement process. 

2.2 The consultation process appears to be a flawed process. The online 
process merely asks people to “choose a route”; there is not an option to say 
“No to the Link Road” – how can this be a fair consultation? 

You can select ‘Strongly Oppose’ for every route option. 

2.3 The documentation provided is a set of PDF charts showing the routes 
and other information at a high level. It is even difficult to determine the 
precise routes to be taken with such high level documentation. There is no 
detailed information on such things as the financial breakdown of each route, 
how the road will be constructed in terms of things like crossing of existing 
roads, cycle ways and screening, a detailed analysis of the business benefits, 
there are no traffic flows on the A34 south to show why an A34 south 
connection is not desirable. It is not possible to understand the true value or 
otherwise of the Link Road proposals without such information and as such 
the consultation process is seriously flawed. 

This consultation is only the beginning of the process. Should support for the 
scheme be forthcoming, the consultation will help support the selection of one of the 
preferred routes. The consultation report will play an important part in the route 
decision, but other factors such as affordability, environmental impact will be 
considered alongside. If development of the scheme continues it is proposed that a 
further round of consultation would be held prior to any possible planning 
application. This would have details of access arrangements, environmental 
mitigation, etc. Clearly, it is appropriate to do this at the stage when the support for 

Page 274



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   52 

 

Highways

the principle of the scheme in known and whether any of the initial route proposals 
are preferred. Traffic flow information on the A34 to the South of Congleton is 
available on the scheme website. The FAQ section details why the council is initially 
not able to support the extension of the road to the A34 South. 

3.1 We note that the southern end of the Link Road still ceases at 
Sandbach Road, Congleton. Whilst it is understood that the southern link is to 
be to the M6 via Sandbach this ignores one of the principle routes for traffic, 
and in particular for business traffic. We note that the route to South 
Staffordshire from Sandbach Road, Congleton, via the M6 and the A500 route 
is 7 miles and 5 minutes longer than the direct route along the A34. This 
hardly seems a sustainable option and it would appear more likely that traffic 
from, and to, Stoke and north Staffs would either continue through the town or 
would access the Link Road either through the Wall Hill route or through 
Padgbury Lane. Neither of these roads are designed for heavy traffic. Wall Hill 
is single track at one point with houses lining the road at this point. Padgbury 
Lane is residential and is a route to school. We consider the lack of a southern 
connection to the A34 is a serious flaw with this proposal. Apart from an 
increased cost, why is a southern A34 connection for the Link Road 
continually ignored? What is the extra cost for providing a southern A34 
connection? 

Please see response to key issue 6.3.1 - A34 Newcastle Extension. 
 
3.2 An obvious comment that can be made on the Link Road routes is that 
all of them cut-through Cheshire East Council’s Local Plan Strategic Sites 
proposed for Congleton. Surely it is impractical to consider routing the Link 
Road through any site? In effect, this would seem to discount at least one (red 
option) and probably two (green option as well) of the proposed routes. If the 
Link Road is routed though one or more Strategic Sites his would have 
unjustifiable consequences for things such as highway safety, noise pollution 
and air pollution for the residential developments that could have a Link Road 
a matter of a few metres away. If the Link Road is to be constructed it should 
be sited away from all the proposed Congleton Strategic Sites and also 
provide an “outer boundary” for the Cheshire East Council Local Plan’s 
proposed housing development for Congleton. With this in mind the Blue 
option would seem preferable, although the northern edge of the Radnor Park 
Strategic site would need to be sited to be “inside” the Link Road route. 
 
The Local plan ‘Core Strategy’ allocations are broadly defined such that the exact 
outermost boundaries can be defined at the Site Allocations stage. By this stage the 
preferred route of any proposed link road would be established. All of the route 
options are capable of delivering the level of growth required without recourse for 
‘over spilling’ beyond any link road boundary. The more northern route options offer 
a greater amount of development land, and more flexibility in ‘Master planning’ 
developments. 
 
3.3 There are historic problems within Congleton town created by narrow 
roads and traffic over-load, we have not seen a plan to improve this for local 
traffic or to ensure that additional development to the north and west of the 
town will be able to access the town, except along the routes and through the 
“pinch points” that are already subject to unacceptable levels of congestion, 
pollution, noise and vibration. The Cheshire East Council Local Plan claims to 
promote increased use of Congleton town centre it is not clear how residents 
in the proposed Strategic Sites will access the town centre and we have 

Page 275



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   53 

 

Highways

concerns that the Link Road will encourage residents to look outwards, 
especially to Manchester and the wealthier areas to the north of the town for 
shopping, for work opportunities and for entertainment. 
 
An assessment of improving the existing road network has been undertaken as an 
alternative to providing a link road. It does offer some traffic benefits, but much less 
than the new link. It also does little to address air quality, severance or allow the 
redistribution of existing road space of other uses (cycleway, enhanced bus 
provision, etc.). 
 
3.4 Further detail is required on the Link Road in order that Congleton 
residents are able to understand whether this is a realistic and valuable 
proposition for the town, such things as: 
 
3.4.1 The Link Road will generate lots of air pollution and noise pollution as 
well as cutting a swathe through open countryside. Traffic noise is expected 
to be a major problem especially as the Link Road may be close to the 
development sites and may even run through the development sites. What 
measures will be put into place to combat the air pollution and noise 
pollution? How will the Link Road be built such that it is sympathetic to the 
open countryside in which it lies (e.g. what mechanisms will be used to 
visually camouflage the road)? 
 
The new road will generate some air pollution and noise; however existing routes 
(where there are declared Air Quality Management zones) would benefit. The 
council is committed to providing the very highest level of screening and mitigation 
for any potential new road. Full details would be made available at the next 
consultation stage. Clearly, for any scheme to achieve a planning permission it 
would have to be accompanied by a full Environmental Statement describing the 
impact and proposed mitigation on such things as noise, amenity, etc. Indeed, the 
route development process has already considered these factors in arriving at 
potential routes. 
 
3.4.2 How will the Strategic Sites be connected to the Link Road, e.g. 
roundabout, traffic signals, a T Junction? Also it is not clear how the Link 
Road will cross other roads, e.g. Giantswood Lane. Will existing roads have 
bridges to go over the Link Road? There could be many connections to the 
Link Road, which could give rise to a very “stop-start” piece of road, 
especially at peak times. Has Cheshire East Council conducted a road 
survey/analysis for the traffic they anticipate will use the Link Road and is the 
Council confident that the stop-start nature of this road, especially at peak 
times, will satisfactorily cater for the required traffic flows? 
 
The design principle of the road is for it to be free-flowing. As such, the new 
junctions proposed have been modelled as roundabouts rather than traffic signals. 
There is no connection proposed at Giantswood lane where the road would cross 
below. Initial feedback from the consultation also suggests that there is no support 
for a connection at Chelford Road, leaving the road to link the A534, A54, A34 and 
A536 principal roads only. A full traffic survey that will meet the necessary central 
government challenge has been undertaken in both 2012 and 2013. 
 
3.4.3 There are residential as well as business sites and the close proximity 
of the residential dwellings to such a road is not desirable. What road safety 
measures will be put in place to ensure the safety of the near-by residents? 
 

Page 276



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   54 

 

Highways

Much of this information will be provided at the next stage of detailed design. 
However, the council is committed to building in suitable cycling provision in all new 
major infrastructures. 
 
3.4.5 Has a study been carried out for the proposed route of the Link Road to 
ensure that areas of special interest and/or value will not be destroyed? 
 
Yes and further detailed work in this regard will continue. 
 
4.2 The Link Road will cost a minimum of £71 million. Responses to the 
following questions and observations, as a minimum, should be provided in 
order that the Link Road can be properly assessed: 
 
4.2.1 How confident is Cheshire East Council that the funds to build the Link 
Road can be obtained? 
 
The scheme as promoted has a strong economic and transport business case. The 
Council is confident, that funding can be secured for the scheme. If necessary the 
scheme could be delivered on a phased basis. 
 
4.2.2 Have all costs been taken into account? For example, traffic calming, 
pedestrian crossings, cycle ways, road screening etc. 
 
At this level of development the council is confident that the costs of the scheme are 
robust and includes a healthy contingency. Any preferred route would be developed 
to a greater level of detail. 
 
4.2.3 It is understood that developers on the Strategic Sites will need to 
contribute to the funding of the Link Road. On the surface, the developers’ 
contribution to the Link Road appears a good funding source. However, the 
reality is that developers will not let any additional development costs impact 
their profit so the Link Road funding costs will be passed onto the house 
purchaser. This means that, effectively, a house purchase tax will be 
introduced for some/all new house builds in Congleton. 
 
A Borough wide Community Infrastructure Level (CIL) will be developed, in 
conjunction with the local plan to set a level of contribution required to mitigate the 
impacts of new developments. In this regard, Congleton will be on an equal footing 
with other locations of the Borough. The levy will have to be set at a level that has 
due regard to other competing areas. An initial assessment has been undertaken to 
examine what a viable level of contribution towards the link road would be (from 
Congleton sites alone) and this would feed into any future Government funding bids. 
 
4.2.4 One of the main objectives for building the Link Road, we are informed, 
is to help stimulate new business. Will existing businesses, including 
landlords of empty business units, or the Business Parks be expected to 
contribute to the Link Road Funding? If so, what size of contribution will they 
be expected to make and how will the Council enforce this? 
 
There are no current plans to charge existing businesses for new infrastructure; 
though a recent change in legislation allows a proportion of existing business rates 
to be retained locally. 
 
4.2.5 Will all new businesses on the Strategic Sites contribute to the Link 
Road funding including all expansions of existing businesses (we assume 

Page 277



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   55 

 

Highways

that the funds will come from the developer of the business premises, who 
will need to pass on costs to the business/landlord)? If so, what size of 
contribution will they be expected to make? 
 
The exact levy to be charged is yet to be determined. 
 
4.2.6 Following on from the two points above, why should the house builds 
fund the Link Road? Should this not be predominately business funded? If 
there has to be funding from the house building this should be kept to the 
absolute minimum – is this proposed? 
 
The exact levy to be charged is yet to be determined. 
 
4.2.7 Will it only be the dwellings (houses and business premises) on the 
Strategic Sites that will help fund the Link Road? There are 600 other 
dwellings mentioned as Site Allocations of the Cheshire East Council Local 
Plan that are not situated on the Strategic Sites. 
 
See 4.2.3 
 
4.2.8 Will Cheshire East Council have a say in how the Link Road funding 
required from developers will be passed onto the house purchase prices? One 
of the concerns is that the price of affordable homes will be increased even 
further by these requirements. In essence how will the funding will be 
allocated amongst the various types of property? For example: Will it be a flat 
rate per property (probably unfair on the least expensive dwellings)? Will it be 
a percentage of the property price? Will it be some form of tiered rate 
(perhaps linked to the Council Band of the property)? Or will it be something 
else? We do not believe it is sufficient for the Council to respond that this will 
be left to the developers, the Council needs to be concerned with how this 
funding will impact the housing market. 
 
Affordable housing would have to be provided at the levels adopted in the Local 
Plan unless there were compelling reasons not to. This would be taken into account 
when considering the size of any Borough-wide CIL. CIL is usually charged per 
square foot per property. 
 
4.2.9 When will the Link Road funding contributions start and for how long 
will they be in place? Many of the Strategic Sites have capacity to build further 
dwellings after 2030 so it is important to know when this funding contribution 
will cease. 
 
CIL contributions would start as soon as the charging framework is in place 
(Expected Summer 2015). Prior to that, any small scale developments would have 
to make the appropriate contributions via the S106 process. CIL contributions would 
continue over the life of the local plan and beyond; contributing to funding 
requirements over the Borough. 
 
4.2.10 Will all other types of development be required to contribute to the Link 
Road (e.g. schools, doctors, nurseries etc.)? 
 
Normally these types of community assets are not covered by the charging schedule 
 
4.2.11 There has been mention of a cost of £10,000 per house for the Link 
Road funding. This is not an insignificant amount and, as mentioned above, 

Page 278



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   56 

 

Highways

the developer will need to pass this amount (or as much as possible) onto the 
purchaser. This would imply that the funding will increase the cost of the new 
housing proposed for Congleton. Taken to its extreme this could cause 
property prices in all/most areas of Congleton to increase. Although this 
impacts all residents it would seem to impact especially the lower income 
residents and will make it even more difficult for such people to purchase a 
house. What measures/schemes will the Council put into place to alleviate 
this? 
 
The CIL will have to be set at a level which allows developers to make an 
acceptable return on their investment. This will be subject to an independent 
inspection. Arguably, the increased supply of new housing in Congleton may 
actually make housing more affordable in the longer term. 
 
4.2.13 How will the funding work in terms of ensuring the Link Road is 
constructed? We do not have any details on the contribution value per 
dwelling or how it will be applied or when it will start and on what 
houses/businesses it will be levied and this makes it impossible to 
understand what funds will be raised and how/when the funds will be used. 
For example, let’s say there is an “average” £10,000 per house and only 
houses on the Strategic Sites incur the cost then the maximum that can be 
raised by 2030 is 2,200 x £10,000, circa £22m. Then there will also be whatever 
the contribution there is from other dwellings. When the phasing of house 
builds is taken into account this implies zero raised by 2015, £3.8m by 2020, 
another £8.2m by 2025 and another £10m by 2030. This is only a small 
percentage of the Link Road cost and would also imply it will be a long 
phasing period for the Link Road, undermining the capacity to generate new 
business/jobs. Perhaps a loan will be taken out to covers costs, so it would be 
beneficial to understand how this will work in the phasing and construction of 
the Link Road. 
 
It is anticipated that the Council would ‘forward fund’ any developer contribution and 
claw back the funding as development (across the Borough) adds to the CIL pot. 
 
4.2.14 Will this funding impact in any way the Council Tax Bands of the 
Strategic Site dwellings? 
 
Council tax bands are set at the value of the property – so no. 
 
4.2.15 Will the Link Road cause an increase in the Council Tax for Congleton 
residents? 
 
No. 
 
4.2.16 Cheshire East Council is still unable to defend housing developments 
(planning application appeals) outside of the Strategic sites, yet the Link Road 
is dependent on the developer funds from these sites. Unless Cheshire East 
Council is able to deliver a 5-Year housing supply and associated Local Plan 
we will not see houses developed on these sites and this will increasingly see 
the objectives of the Link Road become diminished. 
 
The Council now has a 5 year housing land supply and has a submission draft of its 
Local Plan (which has material consideration / weight in planning decisions / 
appeals). 
 

Page 279



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   57 

 

Highways

5 Business Expansion 
 
The Local Chamber has evidence that businesses are not locating to Congleton due 
to insufficient supply of quality / accessible development plots. The exact nature of 
businesses would of course be subject to the usual planning process – whereby 
planning conditions can be used for such activities as business deliveries, hours of 
work and noise generation. The Council will work with any affected landowners to 
ensure that access is maintained and business can continue. 
 
6 Countryside 
 
The council will be required to submit a full environmental impact of any scheme 
proposal and is committed to ensuring the very highest levels of mitigation are 
provided. The need, justification and proposed location for the housing proposals 
have been evidenced (and will be tested at inquiry) in the Local Plan. The proposed 
link road is seen as complimentary to the housing, fully mitigating any potential 
highway impact (indeed, Congleton will experience less congestion than at present 
– even assuming a full build out of housing – a condition rarely replicated 
elsewhere) and offering a new natural boundary to development.  If the link road is 
not supported by the consultation, this does not lessen the case for the housing (or 
its location) – rather a ‘make do and mend’ approach to squeezing extra capacity 
out of existing Town Centre routes will be required to provide some extra highway 
capacity for the development. Congestion will be as bad or worse as experienced 
today; Town Centre Air Quality in densely populated areas will continue to be poor, 
etc. 

6.4 Petitions 

No petitions were made against the scheme. 

6.5 Further Consultation  

This will be dealt with in Chapter 7. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 280



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   58 

 

Highways

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page Not Used 

Page 281



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   59 

 

Highways

7 Special Consideration 

7.1 Further Consultation 

Following the Public Exhibition, further consultations were held with the following: 

• Somerford Parish Council; 

• Eaton Parish Council; 

• Newbold Astbury Parish Council; 

• Congleton Business Consultation; and 

• Individual Landowners. 

In addition, the following responses have been included from other major 
stakeholders: 

• Marton Parish Council; and 

• Lafarge Tarmac. 

A summary of the Parish Council meetings can be found in Appendix L. 

7.1.1 Somerford Parish Council 

A meeting was held with Somerford Parish Council on the 27th January 2014. The 
meeting was attended by approximately 120 people and lasted for 2 hours. The 
main topics which were discussed were as follows: 

• Full opposition to the Congleton Link Road Scheme; members were also 
opposed to the proposed housing developments stated in Cheshire East 
Council’s Local Plan. 

• The lack of an extension of the link road to the A34 Newcastle Road and the 
effect this would have on rat running, particularly on Wallhill Lane. 

• Queries related to whether the link road would be constructed in a single 
phase or in sections. 

• Concerns due to the uncertainty of the funding for the RPTE and CBP links. 

• Requests for more information to be made available. 

• Several individual actions were recorded which were added to the Actions 
and Comments Register. 

7.1.2 Eaton Parish Council 

A meeting was held with Eaton Parish Council on the 14th January 2014. The 
meeting was attended by approximately 80 people and lasted for 1 hour. The main 
topics which were discussed were as follows: 

Page 282



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   60 

 

Highways

• Mixed response to the link road. 

• Traffic flows through Eaton with or without the proposed link road. 

• Queries related to why the Green and Blue options had not been considered 
further north of Eaton to mitigate the impact of traffic on the village. 

• Safety concerns regarding how the increase in traffic would negotiate the 
sharp bend in Eaton. 

• The effect that the link road would have on noise and air pollution. 

• Severance to the village. 

• The lack of a link road extension to the A34  Newcastle Road; it was claimed 
that without this the link road failed to serve its purpose. 

• Several individual actions were recorded which were added to the Actions 
and Comments Register. 

7.1.3 Newbold Astbury Parish Council 

A meeting was held with Newbold Astbury Parish Council on the 12th February 
2014. The meeting was attended by approximately 40 people and lasted for 90 
minutes. The main topics which were discussed were as follows: 

• The level of traffic (current and expected should the scheme go ahead) on 
Wallhill Lane, Padgbury Lane, and the A34. 

• The increase in rat running which could occur due to the link road; it was 
claimed that an extension of the link road to the A34 Newcastle Road was 
required to avoid rat running if the scheme goes ahead. 

• A leaflet had been circulated prior to the meeting suggesting that Wallhill 
Lane would act as a section of the link road; it was suggested that if a link to 
the A34 was provided then it would increase the attraction of development to 
the south of Congleton. 

• Councillor Brown stated that the link to the A34 south was not been 
considered due to the reasons provided in Chapter 6; it was stated that 
measures would be investigated to discourage any potential increase in 
traffic on the local roads around Newbold Astbury. 

• Several individual actions were recorded which were added to the Actions 
and Comments Register. 

Following on from this, additional internal meetings were held by Newbold Astbury 
cum Moreton Parish Council to further discuss the scheme. A response was 
received by CEC on the 24th March 2014 and the main issues presented were as 
follows: 

• Newbold Astbury cum Moreton Parish Council unanimously opposed to the 
link road. 

Page 283



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   61 

 

Highways

• It was claimed that the link road would bring no discernable benefits to the 
parish and would cause significant damage to agriculture and the open 
countryside surrounding Congleton. 

• It was claimed that the link road would increase traffic volumes on rural roads 
within the parish and the surrounding area. It was suggested that these rural 
roads were not designed to carry heavy traffic and that new roads may be 
required to replace the existing roads; a solution which the parish fully 
opposes. 

• Concerns were raised regarding the volume of development that would be 
required to fund the link road and the encroachment of these developments 
into the surrounding parishes. It was claimed that the link road would 
promote development outside of the areas identified in the Local Plan. 

• It was claimed that the traffic data provided on the consultation material was 
from historic data rather than recent counts and was therefore inaccurate. 
Concerns were raised regarding whether the traffic data had accounted for 
the increase in traffic from the proposed developments. In addition, it was 
suggested that the traffic travelling from North Staffordshire through Astbury 
Village had not been taken into account and that the most recent traffic count 
through the village has been undertaken 10 years prior and was therefore 
outdated. 

• The point was raised that Astbury Village is a conservation area; the 
Objectives of the Conservation Policy were listed in the document. 

• It was claimed that the consultation material was flawed by not providing the 
opportunity for respondents to state that the road was not required. 

7.1.4 Congleton Business Consultation 

A meeting was held at Meadowside, Congleton on the 12th February 2014. The 
event was organised by CEC Regeneration in conjunction with The Link 2 Prosperity 
Group (L2P), which is a subgroup of the East Cheshire Chamber of Commerce. In 
total approximately 43 people attended the morning and afternoon sessions; the 
main topics discussed were as follows: 

• Consistency with Local Plan was raised – it was explained that each option 
would be able to support the development outlined in the draft Local Plan 
and that a Preferred Route could be decided in advance of a decision on the 
Local Plan. 

• It was questioned why there were no figures presented for traffic on the A34 
south of Congleton.  It was confirmed that these figures were available and 
probably should have been included on the plans. 
 

• It was questioned why the road did not link to the A34.  It was explained that 
tests for the link to the A34 had shown that there is not the demand for this 
link; A34 traffic is more likely to use the A34 through the town.  Additionally, 
the increase in cost associated with extending the link road to the A34 has a 
significant effect on reducing the business case for the scheme. 
 

Page 284



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   62 

 

Highways

• It was stated that the Council had no objection in principle to a link to the A34 
but that it was not being promoted as part of this scheme.  Such a link might 
be funded by a developer. 
 

• There was concern that there would be increased traffic on Wallhill Lane and 
that there may be safety issues with this increased traffic turning right on to 
the A34. 
 

• Some thought that the traffic flows did not make sense and cited the A34 
south of the link road which in 2032 only showed a 4% reduction in traffic 
over the no link road scenario. 
 

• Figures to support the assertions for traffic and economic benefit were 
requested.  It was explained that these will be included in a Traffic 
Forecasting Report. 
 

• It was felt that dealing with the issues in the town centre, in terms of 
complementary measures, were very important. 
 

• Congestion in the town centre was considered by some to be unacceptable 
but others thought that the problems were overstated. 
 

• A view was expressed that the route was good for those outside of 
Congleton e.g. Macclesfield getting better access to the M6 but not so good 
for Congleton.  The counter view was expressed that the proposed 
development would have a positive effect on town centre businesses. 

 

• There was a view by many that the road was needed. 
 

• It was questioned why the route through the town centre (A34 Online 
Improvements) was not being offered.  It was explained that as part of the 
DfT approval process it was necessary for the business case to look at ‘next 
best’ and ‘low cost’ option, with the low cost option being the A34 Online 
Improvement strategy.  These were not options being promoted by the 
Council and the purpose of the consultation was to arrive at a preferred route 
based on a comparison of options offered. 

 

• The means of communicating the outcome of Public Consultation was 
discussed.  It was explained that following the consultation, a report would 
be produced pulling together all the information gathered to date.  This report 
would then be presented to a Public Cabinet Meeting. 

7.1.5 Individual Landowners 

It was necessary to meet with several landowners who would be adversely affected 
by the link road. Meetings were prioritised based on the potential impact of the link 
road to the respective landowners land and/or property. The team also attended 
meetings as and when requested. In total, a series of 27 meetings were held with 25 
individual landowners, with some landowners requiring a second visit. All 
landowners received copies of the consultation material. A summary of the 
landowner meetings is provided in Table 7.0. 

 
 

Page 285



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   63 

 

Highways

Date Landowner 

13th January 2014 
Radnor Bank Farm 

Sandholes Farm, 

14th January 2014 

New House Farm 

Resident of Hulme Walfield 

Ravens clough Farm 

Resident of Chelford Rd, Somerford 

Resident of Chelford Rd, Somerford 

Loachbrook Farm 

7th February 2014 

Resident of Back Lane , Somerford 

Resident of Wallhill Lnae 

Resident of Wallhill Lane 

Resident of Wallhill Lane 

Cherry Blossom Cottage, Somerford Rd 

Resident of Chelford Road, Somerford 

3rd March 2014 

Resident of Back Lane, Somerford 

Radnor Hall Farm 

New House Farm 

10th March 2014 
Claphatch  Farm 

Gaintswood House, Gaintswood Lane 

25th March 2014 
Somerford  Park Farm 

Resident of Chelford Road, Somerford 

22nd April 2014 

Sandholes Farm 

Gaintswood Farm 

Sandy lane Farm 

Mount Pleasant Farm 

Upper Medhurst Green Farm 
28th April 14 Resident of  Holmes Chapel Rd 

Table 7.0 – List of affected landowners 

 
  The main issues raised by landowners can be summarised as follows: 
  

• Loss of property/land due to link road construction; 

• Concerns that the link road would adversely affect their business; 

• Severance of access to property/land and existing road network; 

• Compensation and Blight queries; 

• Environmental concerns; 

• Safety concerns; 

Page 286



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   64 

 

Highways

• Rat running concerns; 

• Funding of the link road; and 

• Alignment alteration suggestions. 

Some of the suggested alignment alterations were taken forward for further 
investigation into the possibility of incorporating them into the existing designs. 
These alignments alterations are discussed in more detail in section 8. 

 
7.1.6 Marton Parish Council 

A response was received from Marton Parish Council on the 27th February 2014 
detailing their response to the Congleton Link Road Scheme. The main topics which 
were discussed are summarised as follows: 

• Marton Parish Council does not oppose the CLR in principle. 

• Concerns that the link road will have a negative traffic impact on the stretch 
of the A34 that passes through Marton; in particular, Cocksmoss Lane which 
provides a link between the A34 and the A536. 

• Marton Parish Council wishes for the proposed housing developments to not 
encroach on the green fields north of the link road. 

• Request for the Green Gap be designated to ensure that ribbon 
developments does not extend outwards from the link road. 

 

7.1.7 Lafarge Tarmac 

Lafarge Tarmac Ltd is responsible for the operations at Eaton Hall Quarry and 
represents a major stakeholder with respect to the scheme. The Blue Option and 
Green Option are both situated within close proximity of the quarry which could 
potentially have a significant impact on their Silica Sand operations. 

A response was received on the 3rd March 2014 from Lafarge Tarmac Ltd stating 
their opposition to the northern routes, i.e. the Blue Option and Green Option. There 
were concerns that the suggested underpass for the HGV’s would be an insufficient 
size due to the size of some of vehicles operated at the quarry and the required 
length of the access ramps. 

It was suggested that engineering difficulties could be encountered due to the water 
table lying approximately 6 to 8m below ground level and with the underpass 
requiring a minimum of 12m clearance. 

It should be noted that Lafarge Tarmac supports the scheme in principle but strongly 
objects to the northern routes for the aforementioned reasons. 

A copy of the response from Lafarge Tarmac can be found in Appendix M. 

Page 287



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   65 

 

Highways

8 Other Routes Suggested 

8.1 Alternative alignments 

Following feedback from members of the public throughout the consultation period, 
it was necessary to consider and develop alternative alignments in certain locations 
which had the potential to be integrated into the existing alignment designs.    

The alternate alignments were developed in an attempt to mitigate the impact on 
properties, dwellings and woodland areas which are located adjacent to the 
proposed link road options presented at the Public Consultation. 

8.2 Summary of Investigated Alternative Alignments 

A total of 13 alternative alignments were considered between Zone A and Zone F. A 
summary of the alignment alterations is provided below.  Drawings of the alignment 
alterations are provided in Appendix I. 

8.2.1 Zone A Alignment Alterations 

The alterations in Zone A were developed in an attempt to minimise the severance 
of agricultural land by moving the road alignment to the east (so that the link road 
alignment runs adjacent to Sandy Lane). In addition, the potential for tying in the link 
road further to the south-west along the A534 was explored. Doing this would 
reduce the traffic flows on a section of the A534 which contains two small radius 
bends. Table 8.0 lists the Alignment Alterations that were investigated for Zone A.    

Drawing 
Reference 

Zone 
Description of 

Change 
Option Description 

B
1
8

3
2
0

0
1
/S

K
/3

1
 

Zone 
A 

Modification to 
alignment in Zone 

A. Alignment 
changed so that 
link road will run 

adjacent to Sandy 
Lane, thereby 

reducing the land 
take to the west of 

Sandy Lane. 3 
Options prepared 
which tie into the 
A534 at different 

points. 

Option 1 - From the junction with the A54, the 
alignment moves south adjacent to Sandy Lane. 
Sufficient highway width of Sandy Lane remains to 
use it as an access track to adjacent fields. New 
proposed roundabout on the A534 to also tie into 
Pitcher Lane. 

Option 2 - From the junction with the A54, the 
alignment moves south adjacent to Sandy Lane. 
Sufficient highway width of Sandy Lane remains to 
use it as an access track to adjacent fields. 
Eastbound link road traffic would avoid the 2 'small 
radius bends' on the A534 if Option 2 is used. 

Option 3 - From the junction with the A54, the 
alignment moves south adjacent to Sandy Lane. 
Sufficient highway width of Sandy Lane remains to 
use it as an access track to adjacent fields. Proposed 
that Sandy Lane is stopped up at the junction with 
the A534. Removes one of the 'small radius bends' 
on the A534. 

Page 288



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   66 

 

Highways

   

Option 4 – From the junction with the A54, the 
alignment moves south, running parallel to (and 
between) the alignment presented at Public 
Consultation and Sandy Lane. Option 4 runs 
approximately 60-70m to the east of the alignment 
presented at Public Consultation and approximately 
100-120m to the west of Sandy Lane. Removes one 
of the ‘small radius bends’ on the A534. 

Table 8.0 – Investigated Zone A alignment alterations 

 
8.2.2 Zone B/C Alignment Alterations 

The alterations in Zone B/C were required to reduce the impact of the link road on 
properties located on Chelford Road and Back Lane. Instead of providing a junction 
to tie the link road into Chelford Road, the alternate alignments provide a road 
bridge, which will take Chelford Road over the proposed link road. This will mean 
that the proposed link road will be in a cutting, thereby reducing visual and noise 
impacts. Removing the junction between the proposed link road and Chelford Road 
will also prevent traffic leaving the link road at this point and using Chelford Road to 
enter Congleton. Table 8.1 lists the Alignment Alterations that were investigated for 
Zones B/C. 

Drawing 
Reference 

Zone 
Description of 

Change 
Option Description 

B
1
8

3
2
0

0
1
/S

K
/3

2
 

Zone B/C 

Modification to the 
Blue/Purple Option in 
Zone B/C. Junction at 

Chelford Road has 
been removed and 

small radius horizontal 
curves have been 
used to create an 

alignment through the 
centre of two sets of 
dwellings. Retaining 
walls or engineering 

slopes will need to be 
used to limit impact of 

cut sections on 
adjacent properties. 

Option 1A - From the junction with the A54, 
alignment runs north and crosses Chelford 
Road between two sets of dwellings before 
joining the roundabout on the Blue/Purple 
alignment on the western escarpment of the 
River Dane. 
 
This option assumes free drainage from the 
overbridge at the intersection with Chelford 
Road to the River Dane (at a longfall gradient 
of -0.3%).   
Option 1B - From the junction with the A54, 
alignment runs north and crosses Chelford 
Road between two sets of dwellings before 
joining the roundabout on the Blue/Purple 
alignment on the western escarpment of the 
River Dane. 
 
This option assumes that a pumping station 
will be incorporated to pump highway runoff 
out of the trapped cutting at the intersection 
with Chelford Road.    

B
1
8

3
2
0

0
1
/S

K
/3

2
 

Zone B/C 

Modification to the 
Red/Green Option in 
Zone B/C. Junction at 

Chelford Road has 
been removed and 

small radius horizontal 
curves have been 
used to create an 

alignment through the 
centre of two sets of 
dwellings. Retaining 

Option 2A - From the junction with the A54, 
alignment runs north and crosses Chelford 
Road between two sets of dwellings before 
joining the roundabout on the Red/Green 
alignment on the western escarpment of the 
River Dane. 
 
This option assumes free drainage from the 
overbridge at the intersection with Chelford 
Road to the River Dane (at a longfall gradient 
of -0.3%).   

Page 289



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   67 

 

Highways

walls or engineering 
slopes will need to be 
used to limit impact of 

cut sections on 
adjacent properties. 

Option 2B - From the junction with the A54, 
alignment runs north and crosses Chelford 
Road between two sets of dwellings before 
joining the roundabout on the Red/Green 
alignment on the western escarpment of the 
River Dane. 
 
This option assumes that a pumping station 
will be incorporated to pump highway runoff 
out of the trapped cutting at the intersection 
with Chelford Road.    

B
1
8

3
2
0

0
1
/S

K
/3

4
 

Zone B/C 
Further modification to 
the Red/Green Option 

in Zone B/C. 

Option 3A - Similar alignment to Option 2B but 
alignment sweeps further to the west before 
crossing Chelford Road in order to minimise 
severance of the land in that area. 
 
It should be acknowledged that this option 
features a trapped cutting. A 'free drainage' 
option could be provided if required. 

Table 8.1 – Investigated Zone B/C alignment alterations 

 
8.2.3 Zone D/E Alignment Alterations 

The alteration in Zone D/E was required to move the link road alignment to the south 
of Church Wood to minimise the impact on the Ancient Woodland. This alteration 
also had the benefit of moving the link road further away from the properties in 
Hulme Walfield. Table 8.2 lists the Alignment Alteration that was investigated for 
Zones D/E. 

Drawing 
Reference 

Zone 
Description of 

Change 
Option Description 

B
1
8

3
2
0

0
1
/H

/W
D

/0
4

7
 

Zone 
D/E 

Modification to the 
Blue/Purple Option in 
Zone D/E. Alignment 
has been changed to 

avoid properties in 
Hulme Walfield and 
Church Wood, which 
lies to the south-west 

of St. Michael's 
Church.   

After crossing the River Dame, the alignment 
extends to the south of Church Wood before 
extending north-east to tie into the proposed 
roundabout located on the A34.   

Table 8.2 – Investigated Zone D/E alignment alterations 

 
8.2.4 Zone F Alignment Alterations 

The alterations in Zone F were required to investigate whether the link road could be 
moved further away from the village of Eaton and tie into the A536 further to the 
north. Table 8.3 lists the Alignment Alterations that were investigated for Zone F. 

 

 

Page 290



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   68 

 

Highways

Drawing 
Reference 

Zone 
Description of 

Change 
Option Description 

B
1
8

3
2
0

0
1
/S

K
/2

9
 

Zone F 

Modification to the 
Blue/Purple Option 

in Zone F. 
Alignment has been 
moved further away 

from Eaton and 
now ties into the 

A536 further to the 
north. 

Option 1 – After following the existing alignment 
along School Lane, the alignment moves north, 
bisecting the wooded area before tying into the A536 
via a roundabout junction adjacent to Old Brickbank 
Wood.    

Option 2 – This option is similar to Option 1 but 
would have a less severe impact on the wooded 
area.  
 

Option 3 - After following the existing alignment 
along School Lane, the alignment moves north, 
severing a relatively small portion of the wooded area 
before tying into the A536 via a roundabout junction 
to the north of Old Brickbank Wood. This option 
would sever access to the large wooded area to the 
west of the A536.       

Table 8.3 –  Investigated Zone F alignment alterations 

 
8.2.5 Incorporation of Alignment Alterations into the Preferred Route 

Alignment 

The 12 alignment alterations which have been developed following feedback from 
the Public Consultation will be appraised as the design develops. It is anticipated 
that the alignment alterations will form part of the Preferred Route due to the 
improvements offered over the original designs. 

Details of the Preferred Route, including any alterations to the alignments presented 
at the Public Consultation will be presented in a report and will be made available in 
May 2014. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 291



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   69 

 

Highways

9 Summary  

A total of 396 people attended the Public Exhibition held at Congleton Town Hall 
over the 23rd - 25th January 2014. The response to the Consultation Questionnaire 
was good with 1279 questionnaires returned. 

The following observations were made based on analysis of the questionnaires: 

• 77.1% of respondents are in favour of the scheme, i.e. support at least one 
option (72.0% when discounting the business community). 

• 18.4% of respondents are against the scheme, i.e. oppose all proposed 
options (22.4% when discounting the business community). 

• The Purple Option has the strongest support at 79.3% (71.8% when 
discounting the business community) and the weakest opposition at 20.7% 
(28.2% when discounting the business community) of the proposed options. 

• The Blue Option and Red Option experience similar levels of support at 
59.2% and 59.4% respectively and similar levels of opposition at 40.8% and 
40.6% respectively. Discounting the business community has no effect on 
the Blue Option and Red Option. 

• The Green Option received the smallest amount of support at 50.9% and the 
largest amount of opposition at 49.1% in comparison to the other routes, 
although the support received was slightly more than opposition. 
Discounting the business community has no effect on the Green Option. 

• Respondents consider the three most important factors, in order of rank, to 
be: 

1) ‘Reduced traffic congestion in Congleton’, with 63.6% of 
respondents selecting this as an option. 

2) ‘Potential economic benefits’, with 43.9% of respondents selecting 
this as an option. 

3) ‘Improved more/reliable journey times’, with 38.2% of respondents 
selecting this as an option. 

• 93.9% of respondents use a ‘Private Vehicle’ as their main mode of 
transport; 52.6% of respondents use more than one mode of transport. 

• 71.6% of respondents have a ‘Residential’ interest in the link road. 

A total of 13 alternative alignments have been proposed between Zone A and Zone 
F in response to feedback received during the Public Consultation. These will be 
appraised individually and may form part of the Preferred Route. 

The written responses received by letter, email or captured during the exhibitions 
contained a number of comments and actions related to the scheme. All actions 
recorded during the Public Consultation were issued with a response. 

 

Page 292



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   70 

 

Highways

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page Not Used 

Page 293



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   71 

 

Highways

10 Conclusion 

It is concluded that the Purple Option received the most endorsement and the least 
opposition of the proposed options. However, the Red Option and Blue Option also 
received favourable levels of support. The Green Option received the least support 
and most opposition of the proposed options, although support remained marginally 
higher than opposition. 

There is very good support for the scheme with approximately three-quarters of 
respondents being in favour of the link road; however, a number of alignment issues 
were made apparent during the Public Consultation which need to be addressed 
before a preferred route can be determined. 

It is recommended that further consideration is given to the alternative alignments 
that have been developed and that investigations are carried out to determine the 
possibility of incorporating these designs into the preferred route alignment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 294



 

 
OD020 Public Consultation Report   72 

 

Highways

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page Not Used 

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



Congleton Link Road 

Preferred Route Announcement Report (including 
Assessment of Alternative Alignments suggested 
at Public Consultation) 
OD025 

April 2014 

Page 297



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 
 

Highways

 Contents 

 
1 Introduction 1 

1.1 Background 1 

1.2 Report Scope 1 

1.3 Report Structure 2 

1.4 Purpose of Report 2 
 

2 Assessment of Link Road Options Presented at the Public 
Consultation 3 

2.1 Introduction to Assessment 3 

2.2 Qualitative Assessment of Link Road Options 3 

2.3 Quantitative Assessment of Link Road Options 16 

2.3.1 Explanation of Weighting 18 

2.3.2 Sensitivity Testing 19 

2.4 Summary and Recommendations 20 

3 Appraisal of Proposed Alternative Alignments 22 

3.1 Reason for Alternative Alignment Development 22 

3.2 Description of Alternative Alignments 22 

3.2.1 Description of Zone A Alternative Alignments 22 

3.2.2 Description of Zone B/C Alternative Alignments 23 

3.2.3 Description of Zone D/E Alternative Alignment 24 

3.2.4 Description of Zone F Alternative Alignments 25 

3.3 Appraisal of Alternative Alignments 25 

3.3.1 Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone A 27 

3.3.2 Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone B/C 30 

3.3.3 Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone D/E 34 

3.3.4 Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone F 35 
 

4 Summary and Conclusions 37 

4.1 Summary 37 

4.2 Cost 38 

4.3 Conclusion 38 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 298



OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 

Highways

Appendix A Sensitivity Testing Results 

Appendix B Alternative Alignment Designs in Zone A (Drawing Ref. 
B1832001/SK/31) 

Appendix C Alternative Alignment Designs in Zone B/C (Drawing Ref. 
B1832001/SK/32, SK/33 and SK/34) 

Appendix D Alternative Alignment Design in Zone D/E 
(Drawing Ref. B1832001/H/WD/47) 

Appendix E Alternative Alignment Designs in Zone F (Drawing Ref. 
B1832001/H/WD/29) 

Appendix F Congleton Link Road Preferred Route (Drawing Ref. 
B1832001/H/WD/68 and WD/69) 

Page 299



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 1 

Highways

1 Introduction 

1.1 Background 

As part of its development plan for Congleton, Cheshire East Council (CEC) has 
identified a Development Strategy which is founded on employment-led growth. 
Expansion of existing firms which operate within the area and inward investment are 
seen as pivotal to the Development Strategy, hence the future success of 
Congleton. 
 
To achieve this, it was necessary to address the logistical, economic and social 
problems associated with the town and its location within the larger highway 
network; specifically the convergence of five strategic road routes and the impact 
this has on vehicle movements through and around the town. 
 
The Stage 1 Scheme Assessment Report (Doc. Ref. B1832001/OD004) documents 
the appraisal procedures which were carried out to identify a preferred Improvement 
Strategy. The report concluded that a link road between the A534 Sandbach Road 
and the A536 Macclesfield Road was the preferred Improvement Strategy as it had 
a high contribution to the Scheme Objectives and also helped to resolve the traffic 
problems currently experienced by Congleton.  
 
Following this, a number of link road route options were developed and appraised. 
This process is documented in the Route Appraisal Report (Doc. Ref. 
B1832001/OD015). A total of four link road options were identified, which were 
assessed specifically from an Engineering, Environment and Traffic perspective in 
the Stage 2 Scheme Assessment Report (Doc. Ref. B1832001/OD018). 
 
The four link road options were presented at a Public Consultation in 
January/February 2014. The intention of the Public Consultation was to gauge 
public interest in the scheme, capture public opinion of the four link road options 
presented and help identify any constraints/considerations which may have been 
previously overlooked. The Public Consultation strategy, key issues raised by 
members of the public and the results from a consultation questionnaire are 
presented in the Public Consultation Report (Doc. Ref. B1832001/OD020).    
    

1.2 Report Scope 

This report brings together the findings and conclusions from previous assessment 
and appraisal work, and establishes a Preferred Route for the Congleton Link Road.  

The report documents the methodology used to define the Preferred Route. It 
provides the reasoning and justification for the decisions made in establishing the 
Preferred Route, and explains the scoring/weighting system used to rank the four 
options that were taken to Public Consultation.    

Following feedback received from members of the public, modifications to the 
alignments taken to Public Consultation were developed. These alignment 
modifications were presented in Section 8 of the Public Consultation Report. This 
report provides an assessment of the alignment modifications, and provides 
reasoning and justification for any of the alignment modifications which have been 
incorporated into the Preferred Route Alignment.       

Page 300



OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 2 

Highways

1.3 Report Structure 

Chapter 1 provides a background to the scheme and explains the scope of the 
report.  

Chapter 2 provides an assessment of the four link road options taken to Public 
Consultation. A qualitative assessment is provided which appraises the link road 
options against factors such as Scheme Cost, Engineering Constraints, Public 
Endorsement and Environmental Impacts.  

In addition, a corresponding quantitative assessment is presented, where scores 
have been assigned to each link road option. Each of the assessment topics/factors 
have been weighted based on their relative importance and significance. The 
rationale used to weight the individual factors is also explained. Chapter 2 concludes 
by summarising the assessments and provides a decision as to which route option 
should be endorsed as the Preferred Route. 

Chapter 3 documents and appraises the alignment modifications which have been 
prepared following feedback from the Public Consultation. The alignment 
modifications which were shown to be an improvement on the existing design have 
been incorporated into the Preferred Route.  

Chapter 4 brings together the findings from the numerous assessments and 
appraisals which have been conducted, and a final Preferred Route for the 
Congleton Link Road is presented.     

1.4 Purpose of Report 

The purpose of this report is to inform a Preferred Route Announcement Cabinet 
Paper, which is to be prepared by Cheshire East Council in anticipation of the May 
2014 Cabinet Meeting.   

Page 301



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 3 

Highways

2 Assessment of Link Road Options Presented at the Public 
Consultation  

2.1 Introduction to Assessment  

This Chapter documents the assessment of the four link road options presented at 
the Public Consultation and provides a decision as to which option should be 
adopted as the Preferred Route. 

2.2 Qualitative Assessment of Link Road Options 

The qualitative assessment of the four link road options was carried out using 
findings from other reports and sources of information:  

• Scheme Cost Estimate – taken from the Scheme Cost Estimate Report 
(Doc. Ref. B1832001/OD003). 

• Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) -  taken from the Economic Assessment 
Report (Doc. Ref. B1832001/OD016) 

• Quality of Local Plan – taken from various meetings and discussions with 
Cheshire East Council. Based on the area of developable land that could be 
opened up to the south of the link road scheme.  

• Scheme Length and Earthworks Volume – determined from analysis of 
each link road alignment model.  

• Engineering Constraints – taken from the Stage 2 Scheme Assessment 
Report (Doc. Ref. B1832001/OD018). 

• Road User Safety – determined from design checks carried out on each link 
road alignment model.   

• Public Endorsement – taken from the Public Consultation Report.  

• Environmental Impacts – taken from the Stage 2 Scheme Assessment 
Report.   

The four link road options were assigned indicative arrow symbols which signified 
how each option performed against each of the defined assessment criteria. The 
scoring was based on a simple 5-point scale, which is explained overleaf. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 302



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 4 

Highways 

 

 

KEY: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

- 
    

Significantly Beneficial Beneficial Neutral Adverse Significantly Adverse 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Scheme Cost 
Estimate – excluding 
connections to RPTE 

and CBP 

 

- 

  

£70.9 Million £87.7 Million £81.6 Million £79.7 Million 

Benefit to Cost Ratio 
(BCR) 

    

BCR = 3.1 
Considered High Value for 

Money (VfM) by the 
Department for Transport 

(DfT). 

BCR = 2.5 
Considered High Value for 

Money (VfM) by the 
Department for Transport 

(DfT). 

BCR = 3.0 
Considered High Value for 

Money (VfM) by the 
Department for Transport 

(DfT). 

BCR = 2.5 
Considered High Value for 

Money (VfM) by the 
Department for Transport 

(DfT). 

B1832001 – Congleton Link Road 
Qualitative Assessment of Options Taken to Public Consultation 
 

P
age 303



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 5 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Quality of Local Plan 
(area unlocked for 

development) 

    

High Very High High Very High 

Public Endorsement 

  

- 

 

Of all the questionnaire 
responses which were ‘in 
support’ of the link road 
scheme (i.e. were in 
support of at least one 
option) 59% were in 
support of the Red Option. 
This information is taken 
from the Public 
Consultation Report. 
 

Of all the questionnaire 
responses which were ‘in 
support’ of the link road 
scheme (i.e. were in 
support of at least one 
option) 59% were in 
support of the Blue Option. 
This information is taken 
from the Public 
Consultation Report. 
 

Of all the questionnaire 
responses which were ‘in 
support’ of the link road 
scheme (i.e. were in 
support of at least one 
option) 51% were in 
support of the Green 
Option. 
This information is taken 
from the Public 
Consultation Report. 
 

Of all the questionnaire 
responses which were ‘in 
support’ of the link road 
scheme (i.e. were in 
support of at least one 
option) 79% were in 
support of the Purple 
Option. 
This information is taken 
from the Public 
Consultation Report. 
 

Scheme Length – 
excluding connections 

to RPTE and CBP 
5.5km 6.2km 6.2km 5.5km 

P
age 304



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 6 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Engineering 
Constraints 

   

- 

Crosses the River Dane at 
a location where landslips 
have been recorded. 
 
Severs Giantswood Lane – 
overbridge to be provided. 
 
80m long, multi-span bridge 
structure required to cross 
River Dane and associated 
floodplain. 
 
60m long, multi-span bridge 
structure required to cross 
Loach Brook. 

Passes adjacent to Eaton 
Hall Quarry. 
Access/underbridge to be 
provided to Quarry. 
 
Severs Giantswood Lane – 
overbridge to be provided. 
 
200m long, multi-span 
bridge structure required to 
cross River Dane and 
associated floodplain. 
 
60m long, multi-span bridge 
structure required to cross 
Loach Brook. 

Crosses the River Dane at 
a location where landslips 
have been recorded. 
 
Passes adjacent to Eaton 
Hall Quarry. 
Access/overbridge would 
have to be provided. 
 
Severs Giantswood Lane – 
overbridge to be provided. 
 
80m long, multi-span bridge 
structure required to cross 
River Dane and associated 
floodplain. 
 
60m long, multi-span bridge 
structure required to cross 
Loach Brook. 

Severs Giantswood Lane – 
overbridge to be provided. 
 
200m long, multi-span 
bridge structure required to 
cross River Dane and 
associated floodplain. 
 
60m long, multi-span bridge 
structure required to cross 
Loach Brook. 
 
Severs Giantswood Lane – 
overbridge to be provided. 
 

Earthworks – Cut/Fill 
Ratio 

 

- 

 

- 

200,000m
3
 : 215,000m

3
 286,000m

3 
: 122,000m

3
 206,000m

3 
: 219,000m

3
 311,000m

3
 : 155,000m

3 

P
age 305



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 7 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Road User Safety 

    

100kph Design Speed 
 
Horizontal Alignment designed fully to standard (no relaxations or departures). 
 
Vertical Alignment designed fully to standard (no relaxations or departures). 
 
Local verge widening will be required to achieve Stopping Sight Distance (SSD) of 215m along some of the 720m 
radius bends. Local verge widening will mean that full SSD can be achieved along the full scheme length.   

Landscape and Visual 
Impact 

    

Removal of vegetation, 
such as woodland adjacent 
to River Dane. Negative 
impact to character of the 
Dane Valley.  
 
Least effect on views as it 
is the furthest distance from 
properties. 

Negative impacts to 
character of the North 
Congleton Plain. 
 
Significant impact on views, 
in particular to properties 
on Smithy Lane, Chelford 
Road, Back Lane and the 
village of Eaton. 

Removal of vegetation, 
such as woodland adjacent 
to River Dane. Negative 
impact to character of the 
Dane Valley.  
 
Impact on the views from 
properties on Smithy Lane 
and in the village of Eaton. 

Negative impacts to 
character of the Dane 
Valley and the North 
Congleton Plain. 
 
Some impact on the views 
from properties on 
Giantswood Lane.  
 

P
age 306



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 8 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Ecology 

    

Loss of deciduous 
woodland, including ancient 
woodland (Radnor Wood,) 
4 ponds and at least 23 
species-poor hedgerows. 

Loss of deciduous 
woodland, 3 ponds, at least 
2 species-rich hedgerows 
and at least 20 species-
poor hedgerows. 

Loss of deciduous 
woodland, including ancient 
woodland (Radnor Wood,) 
2 ponds and at least 22 
species-poor hedgerows. 

Loss of deciduous 
woodland, 3 ponds, at least 
2 species-rich hedgerows 
and at least 23 species-
poor hedgerows. 

Cultural Heritage 

- 

   

Negative impact on a small 
number of non-designated 
historic sites (including a 
medieval village and two 
archaeological crop mark 
sites).  
 
No impact to scheduled 
monuments or listed 
buildings.   

Negative impact on setting 
of two Grade II listed 
buildings.  
 
Negative impact to a large 
number of non-designated 
historic sites (including a 
medieval village and two 
archaeological crop mark 
sites). 

Negative impact on setting 
of one Grade II listed 
building.  
 
Negative impact to a 
number of non-designated 
historic sites (including a 
medieval village and two 
archaeological crop mark 
sites). 

Negative impact on setting 
of one Grade II listed 
building.  
 
Negative impact to a large 
number of non-designated 
historic sites (including a 
medieval village and two 
archaeological crop mark 
sites). 

P
age 307



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 9 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Air Quality 

    

Large beneficial impacts for 
10 receptors and medium 
impact for 12 receptors 
within two AQMAs. 
 
Increased traffic on the 
A536 passing Eaton, 
leading to lower air quality. 

Large beneficial impacts to 
22 receptors within two 
AQMA’s. 

Large beneficial impacts for 
10 receptors, (including all 
of the receptors in one of 
AQMAs) and medium 
impact for 12 receptors 
within two AQMAs. 
 
Increased traffic on the 
A536 passing Eaton, 
leading to lower air quality. 

Medium beneficial impacts 
to 22 receptors within two 
AQMA’s. 

P
age 308



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 10 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Noise and 
Vibration 

    

For construction noise and 
vibration impacts, the red 
option has the smallest 
number sensitive receptors 
close to the route. 
 
For the short-term and long-
term operational impacts this 
option would provide a 
benefit to the smallest 
number of receptors. 
 
Increased traffic on the A536 
passing Eaton, leading to 
greater noise pollution. 

For construction noise and 
vibration impacts, this 
option has the largest 
number of sensitive 
receptors close to the 
route. 
 
For the short-term and 
long-term operational 
impacts, the Blue option 
would provide a benefit to 
the largest number of 
receptors. 

For construction noise and 
vibration impacts, this 
option has the second 
largest number of sensitive 
receptors close to the 
route. 
 
For the long-term 
operational impact, this 
option would provide a 
benefit to the second 
largest number of 
receptors. 
 
Increased traffic on the 
A536 passing Eaton, 
leading to greater noise 
pollution. 

For construction noise and 
vibration impacts, this 
option has the smallest 
number sensitive receptors 
close to the route. 
 
For the short-term 
operational impact this 
option would provide a 
benefit to the second 
largest number of 
receptors. 

P
age 309



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 11 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Soils, Geology 
and 

Hydrogeology 

- 

  

- 

This option may pass 
through an area of in-filled 
sand and gravel extraction 
pits, which could cause a 
negative impact through the 
disturbance of contamination.

 

This option may pass 
through an area of in-filled 
sand and gravel extraction 
pits, which could cause a 
negative impact through the 
disturbance of 
contamination. 
 
This option would pass 
through the area allocated 
for future silica sand 
extraction, which would 
have a negative impact. 

This option may pass 
through an area of in-filled 
sand and gravel extraction 
pits, which could cause a 
negative impact through the 
disturbance of 
contamination. 
 
This option would pass 
through the area allocated 
for future silica sand 
extraction, which would 
have a negative impact. 
 

This option may pass 
through an area of in-filled 
sand and gravel extraction 
pits, which could cause a 
negative impact through the 
disturbance of 
contamination.

 

P
age 310



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 12 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

The Water 
Environment 

    

Potential construction and 
operational impacts on Loach 
Brook. Similar construction 
and operational impacts to 
River Dane.  

Potential construction and 
operational impacts on 
Loach Brook.  Similar 
construction and 
operational impacts to 
River Dane. Potential to 
cause greatest impact to 
the water quality of other 
surface watercourses.  
Potential to cause greatest 
risk of groundwater 
pollution during 
construction and operation. 
 
This option would include a 
viaduct crossing, 
construction on floodplain, 
and would also have the 
largest runoff, both of which 
would have the potential to 
cause flood risk. 

Potential construction and 
operational impacts on 
Loach Brook.  Similar 
construction and 
operational impacts to 
River Dane. 
 

Potential construction and 
operational impacts on 
Loach Brook.  Similar 
construction and 
operational impacts to 
River Dane (larger than the 
other options).  
 
This option would include a 
viaduct crossing, 
construction on floodplain, 
which would have the 
potential to cause flood 
risk. 

P
age 311



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 13 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Water Framework 
Directive 

    

Bridge crossing over Loach 
Brook and a bridge over a 
narrow section of River Dane 
and two crossing points (in 
culverts) over un-named 
tributaries. 
 
Negative impacts to the 
watercourses, (smallest for 
this option) 

Bridge crossing over Loach 
Brook and a bridge over a 
wide section of River Dane 
and five crossing points (in 
culverts) over un-named 
tributaries. 
 
Negative impacts to the 
watercourses, (largest for 
this option). 
 
Crosses a meander section 
of River Dane, which may 
experience movement in 
the future. 

Bridge crossing over Loach 
Brook and a bridge over a 
narrow section of River 
Dane and two crossing 
points (in culverts) over un-
named tributaries. 

 
Negative impacts to the 
watercourses. 

Bridge crossing over Loach 
Brook and a bridge over a 
wide section of River Dane 
and five crossing points (in 
culverts) over un-named 
tributaries. 
 
Negative impacts to the 
watercourses. 
 
Crosses a meander section 
of River Dane, which may 
experience movement in 
the future. 

P
age 312



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 14 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Private and 
Community 

Assets 

    

Negative impact on farm 
businesses and landowners, 
as a result of land take, 
(smallest for this option). 
 
Negative impacts would also 
be caused to community of 
Somerford through the 
stopping up of roads and 
accesses. 
 
Positive impacts would be 
created through improved 
accessibility between 
communities and with 
Congleton as a result of this 
option.  Access to the two 
business parks would be 
improved and the option 
would open up the land to 
the south, which forms a 
number of strategic 
development sites, 
(development area would be 
smallest for this option). 

Negative impact on farm 
businesses and 
landowners, as a result of 
land take, (largest for this 
option). 
 
Negative impacts would 
also be caused to 
communities of Eaton 
through the stopping up of 
roads and accesses. 
 
Positive impacts would be 
created through improved 
accessibility between 
communities and with 
Congleton as a result of 
this option.  Access to the 
two business parks would 
be improved and the option 
would open up the land to 
the south, which forms a 
number of strategic 
development sites, 
(development area would 
be largest for this option). 

Negative impact on farm 
businesses and 
landowners, as a result of 
land take. 
 
Negative impacts would 
also be caused to 
community of Eaton 
through the stopping up of 
roads and accesses. 
 
Positive impacts would be 
created through improved 
accessibility between 
communities and with 
Congleton as a result of 
this option.  Access to the 
two business parks would 
be improved and the option 
would open up the land to 
the south, which forms a 
number of strategic 
development sites. 
 
 

Negative impact on farm 
businesses and 
landowners, as a result of 
land take. 
 
Negative impacts would 
also be caused to 
community of Somerford 
through the stopping up of 
roads and accesses. 
 
Positive impacts would be 
created through improved 
accessibility between 
communities and with 
Congleton as a result of 
this option.  Access to the 
two business parks would 
be improved and the option 
would open up the land to 
the south, which forms a 
number of strategic 
development sites. 

P
age 313



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 15 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Topic/Factor Red Option Blue Option Green Option Purple Option 

Effects on all 
Travellers 

    

All four options cross the route of seven footpaths and four cycle routes.  This would cause a negative impact to the 
users of these Non- Motorised Users (NMU) facilities, which would be mitigated through the use of diversions and new 
crossings. 
 
All options would include a combined cycleway and footway, alongside the road verge, which would join up with a 
number of NMU routes that the options would cross.  This would improve connectivity between the different NMU routes, 
providing a positive impact. 
 
All the options would result in a reduction of vehicle numbers through the town centre and on the local road network, 
which would reduce driver stress and have a positive impact.  This reduction in vehicle numbers would also have a 
positive impact on public transport (buses), using the local road network.   

P
age 314



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 16 

Highways

2.3 Quantitative Assessment of Link Road Options 

In addition to the qualitative assessment presented in Section 2.2, a quantitative 
assessment of the four link road options was carried out. The quantitative 
assessment formed part of the agenda for a Preferred Route Announcement (PRA) 
Workshop, which was held on the 24th February 2014 at the Cheshire East Council 
Municipal Building in Crewe. The workshop was attended by members of the Jacobs 
UK Ltd Project Team and members of Cheshire East Council.   

At the PRA Workshop, it was decided that scores should be assigned to the link 
road options relative to their performance against each of the assessment criteria. 
This would allow a quantitative comparison of the four options, and also allow them 
to be ranked in order of performance against the assessment criteria.      

The 5-point scale used in Section 2.2 was subsequently adapted and the following 
scores were assigned: Significantly Beneficial (+2); Beneficial (+1); Neutral (0); 
Adverse (-1); and Significantly Adverse (-2).        

Weighting was also assigned to each assessment topic/factor so that the relative 
importance of each could be established i.e. so that the factors considered most 
important had a larger influence on the overall assessment.  

The weighting for each assessment topic/factor was discussed and confirmed at the 
PRA Workshop. It was vital that Cheshire East Council had input into the weighting 
process so that the assessment topics/factors were weighted in a manner that was 
consistent with the Council’s priorities and aspirations.  

The quantitative assessment of the four link road options is shown overleaf. The 
Total Weighted Score produced from the quantitative assessment for each option is 
as follows: 

• Total Weighted Score of Red Option: 12.8 

• Total Weighted Score of Blue Option: 7.2 

• Total Weighted Score of Green Option: 8.2 

• Total Weighted Score of Purple Option: 11.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 315



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 17 

Highways 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

B1832001 - Congleton Link Road 
Quantitative Assessment of Options Taken To Public Consultation: Weighted 
Assessment (includes CEC Input) 
 

          Unweighted Scores Weighted Scores 

Topic / Factor Weighting 

Red 

Option 

Blue 

Option 

Green 

Option 

Purple 

Option 

Red 

Option 

Blue 

Option 

Green 

Option 

Purple 

Option 

Scheme Cost Estimate 2 2 0 1 1 4 0 2 2 

Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) 2 2 1 2 1 4 2 4 2 

Quality of Local Plan 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 

Public Endorsement  2 1 1 0 2 2 2 0 4 

Engineering Constraints 0 -1 -2 -2 0 0 0 0 0 

Road User Safety 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 

Landscape and Visual Impact 0.2 -1 -2 -2 -2 -0.2 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 

Ecology 0.2 -2 -2 -2 -2 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 

Cultural Heritage 0.2 0 -1 -1 -1 0 -0.2 -0.2 -0.2 

Air Quality 0.2 1 1 1 1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 

Noise and Vibration 0.2 1 1 1 1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 

Soils, Geology and 

Hydrogeology 0.2 0 -1 -1 0 0 -0.2 -0.2 0 

The Water Environment 0.2 -1 -1 -1 -1 -0.2 -0.2 -0.2 -0.2 

Water Framework Directive 0.2 -1 -1 -1 -1 -0.2 -0.2 -0.2 -0.2 

Effects on All Travellers 0.2 1 1 1 1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 

Private and Community Assets 0.2 1 1 1 1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 

  

Total Unweighted Scores Total Weighted Scores 

  

6 0 0 5 12.8 7.2 8.2 11.4 

Key: 

 

  Significantly 

Beneficial 
2 

Beneficial 1 

Neutral 0 

Adverse -1 

Significantly 

Adverse 
-2 

P
age 316



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 18 

Highways

2.3.1 Explanation of Weighting 

It should be appreciated that assigning weighting to the assessment topics/factors 
was a subjective process, and that the weighing system was developed so that the 
factors deemed most important to Cheshire East Council and their future aspirations 
for Congleton were given a higher weighting to reflect their relative importance. All 
assessment topics/factors were given a weighting score of between 0 and 2. 

The Scheme Cost Estimate was given a weighting of 2. The primary source of 
funding for the scheme is expected to be Central Government Funding. Cheshire 
and Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) will be allocated funds by 
Central Government which can be used to deliver local authority schemes within the 
LEP area. Funds will be limited and the LEP will be keen to optimise its allocation 
across the LEP area. It will seek to meet its objectives with the minimum level of 
funding for individual schemes. A relatively low scheme cost will mean that the link 
road is more competitive when compared to other projects elsewhere in the LEP 
area and would therefore be more likely to receive funding. Conversely, relatively 
high scheme cost will mean that the link road is competitive and would therefore be 
less likely to receive funding. Without external funding the scheme is effectively 
undeliverable. 

The Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) was given a weighting of 2. In order to secure 
funding, the link road scheme must demonstrate that it provides good Value for 
Money (VfM) and delivers economic benefits to the area. An Economic Assessment 
has been undertaken to establish the potential economic benefits of the scheme. 
The assessment has been based on a standard economic appraisal methodology. 
Scheme costs have been estimated for all the route options proposed. Scheme 
benefits and disbenefits have been calculated with regard to changes in journey 
time, vehicle operating costs, and accidents. Standard industry approaches have 
been used to calculate and define the relative benefits of the scheme options 
through the use of Department for Transport (DfT) approved software packages 
TUBA and COBA-LT that are linked to the traffic model. Schemes which have a 
BCR in excess of 2 are considered to be ‘High Value for Money’ projects by the DfT. 
The value of the BCR is a key consideration when allocating funds to schemes. 

The Quality of Local Plan was given a weighting of 1. It has been assumed that the 
options which open up the most land to the south of the link road would act to 
deliver a higher quality Local Plan (larger residential/public areas, more local 
facilities/amenities etc). However, the scheme has the ability to deliver the 
development outlined in the Local Plan, regardless of the link road option selected. 
Therefore, the Quality of Local Plan is viewed as a less important topic/factor than 
the Scheme Cost Estimate or the Benefit to Cost Ratio.  

Public Endorsement was given a weighting of 2. An extensive Public Consultation 
was carried out to assess both public interest in the link road scheme and also to 
capture public opinion of the four link road options. Public endorsement of the link 
road options was considered an important factor when appraising the options as the 
scheme would have a significant effect the town of Congleton. For this reason, an 
option which satisfies the Scheme Objectives and which was also supported by the 
public was desirable.            

Engineering Constraints was given a weighting of zero. The engineering 
constraints and challenges specific to each option are important and should be 
considered. However, if is felt that all four link road options are deliverable from a 
technical perspective, and none of the engineering constraints identified in Section 
2.2 would prevent the scheme from being constructed. Furthermore, the engineering 

Page 317



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 19 

Highways

challenges identified in Section 2.2 could be overcome, but would result in increased 
scheme costs. Engineering constraints/difficulties are therefore reflected in the 
Scheme Cost Estimate assessment topic/factor.  

Road User Safety was given a weighting of 1. All four options have been designed 
to standard and do not feature relaxations or departures from standard. However, 
relaxations can be added at the discretion of the designer with relatively little impact 
on road user safety. Additionally, if departures from standard are necessary, their 
impact can be reduced through effective mitigation measures. Essentially, it is felt 
that relaxations or departures from standard could be introduced if necessary 
without compromising road user safety. 

The remaining 10 topics/factors are collectively classed as Environmental Impacts 
and were each given a weighing of 0.2 so that collectively, Environmental Impacts 
were given a weighting of 2. All 10 Environmental Impact topics/factors were 
considered to have equal weighting. The collective weighting of 2 for the 
Environmental Impacts reflects the fact that collectively, the Environmental Impacts 
are considered a key factor in the assessment.      

2.3.2 Sensitivity Testing  

In order to confirm that the results which were obtained from the assessment in 
Section 2.3 were robust, a series of sensitivity tests were carried out. The tests were 
used to investigate whether the outcome/results of the quantitative assessment 
would be altered if the weighing values were adjusted i.e. whether the results were 
sensitive to changes in the weighing values assigned to each assessment 
topic/factor.  

Sensitivity tests were carried out by varying the weighting assigned to each 
assessment topic/factor. Weighting was varied by using the ‘=RAND()’ function in 
Microsoft Excel to generate random % changes to each weighting value. 

Three sensitivity tests were carried out in total. Test 1 limited the % change of the 
weighting to a maximum of +/-10% of its original value, Test 2 limited the % change 
of the weighting to a maximum of +/-25% of its original value and Test 3 limited the 
% change of the weighting to a maximum of +/-40% of its original value. The original 
weighting values are those which are shown in the quantitative assessment table on 
Page 17.  

For each test, a total of 10 iterations (different scenarios) were investigated (i.e. by 
generating 10 sets of weighting values and applying them to the ‘Unweighted 
Scores’ shown in the assessment table in Section 2.3.     

Each test could be viewed as a limited Monte Carlo Simulation (with only 10 
iterations,) where the only variable was the ‘% change to the original weighting’ 
value. Microsoft Excel was used to generate the random variable. It is assumed that 
these followed a discrete uniform probability distribution.   

Test 1 (where the weighting of each assessment topic was randomly varied by a 
maximum of +/-10% of its original value) showed that the Red Option was the 
highest scoring option in all in all 10 iterations investigated, outscoring the Purple 
Option (2nd highest ranked option) by an average of 1.45 points. Further to this, the 
Purple Option comfortably outscored the Blue Option (by an average of 4.08 points) 
and the Green Option (by an average of 3.04 points) in all 10 iterations investigated.       

Page 318



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 20 

Highways

Test 2 (where the weighting of each assessment topic was randomly varied by a 
maximum of +/-25% of its original value) showed that the Red Option was the 
highest scoring option in all in all 10 iterations investigated, outscoring the Purple 
Option (2nd highest ranked option) by an average of 1.49 points. Further to this, the 
Purple Option comfortably outscored the Blue Option (by an average of 4.12 points) 
and the Green Option (by an average of 3.02 points) in all 10 iterations investigated.       

Test 3 (where the weighting of each assessment topic was randomly varied by a 
maximum of +/-40% of its original value) showed that the Red Option was the 
highest scoring option in all in all but one of the 10 iterations investigated, outscoring 
the Purple Option (2nd highest ranked option) by an average of 1.55 points. Further 
to this, the Purple Option comfortably outscored the Blue Option (by an average of 
4.29 points) and the Green Option (by an average of 3.13 points) in all 10 iterations 
investigated.       

The results from the sensitivity tests confirm that the conclusions reached in Section 
2.3 are robust and are not sensitive to variations in the weighting values assigned to 
the assessment topics. The results of the sensitivity tests show that the outcome of 
the assessment (the Red Option being the highest scoring option closely followed by 
the Purple Option, with the Blue and Green Options achieving lower scores) remains 
consistent even when a the weighting values’ maximum range is set at +/-40% (Test 
3). Results tables showing the outcome of the sensitivity tests can be found in 
Appendix A.       

2.4 Summary and Recommendations 

A quantitative and qualitative assessment of the four link road options taken to 
Public Consultation has been carried out. The qualitative assessment describes how 
the four link roads perform against the assessment topics/factors identified, while 
the quantitative assessment assigns scores to each link road option to allow them to 
be ranked in order of performance (where the highest score indicates the best 
option).  

The scores from the quantitative assessment are as follows: 

• Total Weighted Score of Red Option: 12.8 (Highest scoring option)  

• Total Weighted Score of Purple Option: 11.4 (2nd highest scoring option) 

• Total Weighted Score of Green Option: 8.2 (3rd highest scoring option) 

• Total Weighted Score of Blue Option: 7.2 (Lowest scoring option) 

It can be seen from the results of the assessment that the Red and Purple Options 
outscore the Blue and Green Options. Based on the results of the assessment, it 
would seem rational to discount the ‘low scoring options’ (Blue and Green Options) 
at this point, while continuing to investigate the ‘high scoring options’ (Red and 
Purple Options). The sensitivity tests carried out in Section 2.3.2 confirm that the 
results obtained are robust, meaning that there is confidence in the assessment 
procedure which has been used.    

Both the Red and Purple Options have been shown to have different strengths. The 
Red Option performs particularly well in the areas of Scheme Cost and BCR, and 
also has a relatively low impact on the environment. Conversely, the Purple Option 
is anticipated to allow a Local Plan of ‘very high’ quality to be delivered and was the 
option which was most supported by the public. 

Page 319



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 21 

Highways

It should therefore be concluded that the optimum or ‘best’ option would be a 
combination of the Red and Purple Options. It is recommended that the Red Option 
is taken forward as the Preferred Route but is modified immediately east of the River 
Dane so that it ties in with the Purple Option. This would act to increase the area of 
developable land to the south of the Scheme, thereby enhancing the Quality of the 
Local Plan.   

It should be noted that the Red and Purple Options which were taken to Public 
Consultation are similar, and are actually identical in Zone A, Zone B, Zone F and a 
large proportion of Zone E.   

Finally, following feedback received from members of the public, modifications to the 
alignment in some areas have been investigated. In order to reach a final Preferred 
Route alignment, the modifications must be considered and incorporated into the 
alignment if they are considered to be an improvement on the existing design. The 
modifications/alternative alignments are presented and appraised in Chapter 3 of 
this report.       

   

       

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 320



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 22 

Highways

3 Appraisal of Proposed Alternative Alignments 

 

3.1 Reason for Alternative Alignment Development 

Following feedback received from members of the public throughout the consultation 
period, it was necessary to consider and develop alternative 
alignments/modifications to the alignments presented at Public Consultation in 
certain areas along the route corridor. The alternative alignments were developed in 
an attempt to mitigate the impact on properties, dwellings and woodland areas 
situated adjacent to the proposed link road options. 
 
This Chapter of the report describes the 13 alternative alignments which were 
developed following the Public Consultation. An appraisal of the alternative 
alignments is also presented. The alternative alignments which were shown to be an 
improvement on the designs taken to Public Consultation will be integrated into the 
Preferred Route. Justification for the inclusion of the alternative alignment designs is 
given throughout this Chapter.  
 

3.2 Description of Alternative Alignments 

Sections 3.2.1 to 3.2.4 detail the alternative alignments developed in Zone A, Zone 
B/C, Zone D/E and Zone F.  

3.2.1 Description of Zone A Alternative Alignments  

The alignment alterations in Zone A were developed in an attempt to minimise the 
severance of agricultural land by moving the link road alignment to the east (so that 
the road ran closer to Sandy Lane). In addition, the potential for tying in the link road 
further to the south-west along the A534 was investigated. Doing this would reduce 
the traffic flows on a section of the A534 which contains two small radius bends. 
Table 1 gives a description of the 4 additional alignments developed in Zone A. A 
plan showing the alternative alignments in Zone A (Drawing Ref. B1832001/SK/31) 
can be found in Appendix B.      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 321



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 23 

Highways

Table 1 – Description of Alternative Alignments Developed in Zone A 

Drawing 
Reference 

Zone 
Description of 

Change 
Option Description 

B
1

8
3

2
0
0

1
/S

K
/3

1
 

Zone 
A 

Modification to 
alignment in Zone A. 
Alignment changed 
so that link road will 
run closer to Sandy 

Lane, thereby 
reducing the land 
take to the west of 

Sandy Lane. 4 
Options prepared 
which tie into the 
A534 at different 

points. 

Option 1 - From the junction with the A54, the 
alignment moves south adjacent to Sandy Lane. 
Sufficient highway width of Sandy Lane remains to 
use it as an access track to adjacent fields. New 
proposed roundabout on the A534 to also tie into 
Pitcher Lane. 

Option 2 - From the junction with the A54, the 
alignment moves south adjacent to Sandy Lane. 
Sufficient highway width of Sandy Lane remains to 
use it as an access track to adjacent fields. 
Eastbound link road traffic would avoid the 2 'small 
radius bends' on the A534 if Option 2 is used. 

Option 3 - From the junction with the A54, the 
alignment moves south adjacent to Sandy Lane. 
Sufficient highway width of Sandy Lane remains to 
use it as an access track to adjacent fields. 
Proposed that Sandy Lane is stopped up at the 
junction with the A534. Removes one of the 'small 
radius bends' on the A534. 

Option 4 – From the junction with the A54, the 
alignment moves south, running parallel to (and 
between) the alignment presented at Public 
Consultation and Sandy Lane. Option 4 runs 
approximately 60-70m to the east of the alignment 
presented at Public Consultation and approximately 
100-120m to the west of Sandy Lane. Removes one 
of the ‘small radius bends’ on the A534. 

 

3.2.2 Description of Zone B/C Alternative Alignments 

The alignment alterations in Zone B/C were required to reduce the impact of the link 
road on properties located on Chelford Road and Back Lane. Instead of providing a 
junction to tie the link road into Chelford Road, the alternative alignments provide a 
road bridge which will take Chelford Road over the proposed link road. This will 
mean that the proposed link road will be in a cutting, thereby reducing visual and 
noise impacts. Removing the junction between the proposed link road and Chelford 
Road will also prevent traffic leaving the link road at this point and using Chelford 
Road to enter Congleton. Table 2 gives a description of the 5 additional alignments 
developed in Zone B/C. Plans showing the alternative alignments in Zone B/C 
(Drawing Ref. B1832001/SK/32, B1832001/SK/33 and B1832001/SK/34) can be 
found in Appendix C.      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 322



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 24 

Highways

Table 2 - Description of Alternative Alignments Developed in Zone B/C 

Drawing 
Reference 

Zone 
Description of 

Change 
Option Description 

B
1

8
3

2
0
0

1
/S

K
/3

2
 

Zone 
B/C 

Modification to the 
Blue/Purple Option in 
Zone B/C. Junction at 

Chelford Road has 
been removed and 

small radius horizontal 
curves have been used 
to create an alignment 
through the centre of 
two sets of dwellings. 

Retaining walls or 
engineered slopes will 
need to be used to limit 
impact of cut sections 

on adjacent properties. 

Option 1A - From the junction with the A54, 
alignment runs north and crosses Chelford Road 
between two sets of dwellings before joining the 
roundabout on the Blue/Purple alignment on the 
western escarpment of the River Dane. 
 
This option assumes free drainage from the 
overbridge at the intersection with Chelford Road 
to the River Dane (at a longfall gradient of -
0.3%).   

Option 1B - From the junction with the A54, 
alignment runs north and crosses Chelford Road 
between two sets of dwellings before joining the 
roundabout on the Blue/Purple alignment on the 
western escarpment of the River Dane. 
 
This option assumes that a pumping station will 
be incorporated to pump highway runoff out of 
the trapped cutting at the intersection with 
Chelford Road.    

Modification to the 
Red/Green Option in 
Zone B/C. Junction at 

Chelford Road has 
been removed and 

small radius horizontal 
curves have been used 
to create an alignment 
through the centre of 
two sets of dwellings. 

Retaining walls or 
engineered slopes will 
need to be used to limit 
impact of cut sections 

on adjacent properties. 

Option 2A - From the junction with the A54, 
alignment runs north and crosses Chelford Road 
between two sets of dwellings before joining the 
roundabout on the Red/Green alignment on the 
western escarpment of the River Dane. 
 
This option assumes free drainage from the 
overbridge at the intersection with Chelford Road 
to the River Dane (at a longfall gradient of -
0.3%).   

Option 2B - From the junction with the A54, 
alignment runs north and crosses Chelford Road 
between two sets of dwellings before joining the 
roundabout on the Red/Green alignment on the 
western escarpment of the River Dane. 
 
This option assumes that a pumping station will 
be incorporated to pump highway runoff out of 
the trapped cutting at the intersection with 
Chelford Road.    

Further modification to 
the Red/Green Option 

in Zone B/C. 

Option 3A - Similar alignment to Option 2B but 
alignment sweeps further to the west before 
crossing Chelford Road in order to minimise 
severance of the land in that area. 
 
It should be acknowledged that this option 
features a trapped cutting. A 'free drainage' 
option could be provided if required. 

 
 

3.2.3 Description of Zone D/E Alternative Alignment 

The alignment alteration in Zone D/E was required to move the link road alignment 
to the south of Church Wood in order to minimise the impact on the Ancient 
Woodland. This alteration also had the benefit of moving the link road further away 
from the properties in Hulme Walfield. Table 3 gives a description of the additional 
alignment developed in Zone D/E. A plan showing the alternative alignment in Zone 
D/E (Drawing Ref. B1832001/H/WD/047) can be found in Appendix D.      

Page 323



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 25 

Highways

Table 3 - Description of Alternative Alignment Developed in Zone D/E 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.2.4 Description of Zone F Alternative Alignments  

The alignment alterations in Zone F were required to investigate whether the link 
road could be moved further away from the village of Eaton and tie into the A536 
further to the north. Table 4 gives a description of the 3 alternative alignments 
developed in Zone F. A plan showing the alternative alignments in Zone F (Drawing 
Ref. B1832001/SK/29) can be found in Appendix E. 

Table 4 - Description of Alternative Alignments Developed in Zone F 

Drawing 
Reference 

Zone Description of Change Option Description 

B
1

8
3

2
0
0

1
/S

K
/2

9
 

Zone F 

Modification to the 
Blue/Purple Option in 

Zone F. Alignment has 
been moved further away 
from Eaton and now ties 
into the A536 further to 

the north. 

Option 1 – After following the existing 
alignment along School Lane, the alignment 
moves north, bisecting the wooded area before 
tying into the A536 via a roundabout junction 
adjacent to Old Brickbank Wood.    

Option 2 – This option is similar to Option 1 
but would have a less severe impact on the 
wooded area.  

Option 3 - After following the existing 
alignment along School Lane, the alignment 
moves north, severing a relatively small portion 
of the wooded area before tying into the A536 
via a roundabout junction to the north of Old 
Brickbank Wood. This option would sever 
access to the large wooded area to the west of 
the A536.       

      

3.3 Appraisal of Alternative Alignments 

This section of the report provides an appraisal of the additional/alternative 
alignments which have been developed following the Public Consultation. By 
identifying the advantages and disadvantages of each alternative alignment option, 
a comparison with the option taken to Public Consultation could be made.  
 
Alternative alignment options which have been shown to be an improvement on the 
original design have been incorporated into the Preferred Route. Sections 3.3.1 to 
3.3.4 detail the appraisal of the alternative alignment options and state whether the 
alternative option is to be considered further and provides an explanation as to why 
certain alternative alignments have been taken forward and incorporated into the 
Preferred Route.    

Drawing 
Reference 

Zone Description of Change Option Description 

B
1

8
3

2
0
0

1
/H

/W
D

/0
4

7
 

Zone 
D/E 

Modification to the 
Blue/Purple Option in 

Zone D/E. Alignment has 
been changed to avoid 

properties in Hulme 
Walfield and Church 

Wood, which lies to the 
south-west of St. 
Michael's Church. 

After crossing the River Dane, the alignment 
extends to the south of Church Wood before 
extending north-east to tie into the proposed 
roundabout located on the A34.   

Page 324



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 26 

Highways

It should be noted that the alternative alignment options were investigated prior to 
the quantitative assessment presented in Section 2.3. Therefore, as a result of the 
Preferred Route being identified following the quantitative assessment, some of the 
additional alignments automatically became inappropriate and were naturally 
discounted. For example, 3 additional options were developed in Zone F for the 
Blue/Green Option taken to Public Consultation (i.e. to the north of Eaton Hall 
Quarry). However, as the Preferred Route ties into the A536 to the south of Eaton 
Hall Quarry, the 3 additional options in Zone F could not be considered as part of 
the Preferred Route.  
 
The appraisals of all alternative alignments which were prepared (regardless of 
whether they were immediately discounted or not) are included within this report for 
completeness and also to illustrate the effort and time that was taken in an attempt 
to improve the link road design following requests made throughout the consultation 
period.     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 325



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 27 

Highways 
 
 
3.3.1 Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone A 

Within Tables 5 to 8, the options which are to be taken forward as part of the Preferred Route are shown in Green, whereas the 
options which are to be discounted are shown in Red.   

Table 5 – Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone A 

Zone Option Advantages Disadvantages Verdict 

Zone A 

Option taken 
to Public 

Consultation 

- Contains no horizontal or vertical alignment 
relaxations/departures from standard. 
- Full Stopping Sight Distance (SSD) along 
link. 
- Removes one ‘small radius bend’ on the 
A534. Site of 4No accidents in last 5 years. 
- Sandy Lane is unaffected by this option.   
- Affected land owners have confirmed that 
this option is preferred over options which 
run along Sandy Lane (Options 1, 2 and 3).  
- Fields to east of alignment could still be 
accessed from Sandy Lane.  

- Does not remove both ‘small radius bends’ on 
the A534.  
- Assumed to increase traffic volumes passing 
dwellings on A534 ‘small radius bends.’ 
- Significant earthworks (at this stage of design 
development) as Zone A was initially assigned as 
an overtaking section. However, it is assumed that 
earthwork quantities could be reduced 
considerably through design development.   
 

Option taken to Public 
Consultation will not be taken 
forward as part of the 
Preferred Route as Option 4 
is considered an improved 
alignment in Zone A. 
 

Option 1 

- Removes both ‘small radius bends’ on 
A534 (for eastbound traffic). Site of 4No 
accidents in last 5 years. 
- Aligned with Sandy Lane so that land 
take/severance of landowner plots 
CH442523 and CH617321 is limited. 
- Sandy Lane could remain open as an 
access road to adjacent fields.  
- (Assumed) reduced traffic on A534 would 
make it safer to enter/exit the properties 
located on the ‘small radius bends’.  
 

- Increase in scheme length: 548m 
- Significant land take/severance of land owner 
plot CH239821. 
 - Would require remodelling of junction with 
Pitcher Lane.  
- 3No 360m horizontal curves and 1No 510m 
horizontal curve (although assumed that this does 
not reduce/jeopardised road user safety).  
- Assumed SSD relaxations. 
- Meetings with affected land owners confirmed 
that the alignment presented at Public 
Consultation was preferred over the additional 
alignment options which ran close to Sandy Lane 
(Options1, 2 and 3).     
- No provision for mitigation measures 
(screening/bunds etc) to reduce the effects of the 
link road on the ‘Loachbrook Farm’ development.  
-Would impact on numerous ponds within Zone A.  

Option 1 has not been shown 
to be an improvement on the 
existing alignment and will not 
be taken forward as part of 
the Preferred Route. 

P
age 326



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 28 

Highways 

 

Zone Option Advantages Disadvantages Verdict 

Zone A 

Option 2 

- Removes both ‘small radius bends’ on 
A534 (for eastbound traffic). Site of 4No 
accidents in last 5 years.  
- Aligned with Sandy Lane so that land 
take/severance of landowner plots 
CH442523 and CH617321 is limited. 
- Sandy Lane could remain open as an 
access road to adjacent fields. 
- (Assumed) reduced traffic on A534 would 
make it safer to enter/exit the properties 
located on the ‘small radius bends’. 
 

- Increase in scheme length: 479m 
- Significant land take/severance of land owner 
plot CH239821. 
- Tie in with A534 is near small radius bend (safety 
issue – poor visibility). 
- 2No 360m horizontal curves and 2No 720m 
horizontal curves (although assumed that this 
does not reduce/jeopardise road user safety).  
- Assumed SSD relaxations.   
- Meetings with affected land owners confirmed 
that the alignment presented at Public 
Consultation was preferred over the additional 
alignment options which ran close to Sandy Lane 
(Options1, 2 and 3).     
- No provision for mitigation measures 
(screening/bunds etc) to reduce the effects of the 
link road on the ‘Loachbrook Farm’ development. 
- Would impact on numerous ponds within Zone A. 

Option 2 has not been shown 
to be an improvement on the 
existing alignment and will not 
be taken forward as part of 
the Preferred Route. 

Option 3 

- No increase in scheme length. 
- Aligned with Sandy Lane so that land 
take/severance is limited. 
- Removes one ‘small radius bend’ on the 
A534. Site of 4No accidents in last 5 years.  
- Sandy Lane could remain open as an 
access road to adjacent fields. 
 

- Does not remove both ‘small radius bends’ on 
the A534.  
- Assumed to increase traffic volumes passing 
dwellings on A534 ‘small radius bends.’ 
- Sandy Lane might have to be stopped up at the 
junction with the A534 if this option is used.  
- 2No 360m horizontal curves and 1No 720m 
horizontal curve (although assumed that this does 
not reduce/jeopardise road user safety). 
- Assumed SSD relaxations.     
- Meetings with affected land owners confirmed 
that the alignment presented at Public 
Consultation was preferred over the additional 
alignment options which ran close to Sandy Lane 
(Options1, 2 and 3).     
 - No provision for mitigation measures 
(screening/bunds etc) to reduce the effects of the 
link road on the ‘Loachbrook Farm development.’ 
- Would impact on numerous ponds within Zone A. 

Option 3 has not been shown 
to be an improvement on the 
existing alignment and will not 
be taken forward as part of 
the Preferred Route. 

 

P
age 327



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 29 

Highways   
         
 
 

Zone Option Advantages Disadvantages Verdict 

Zone A Option 4 

- Contains no horizontal or vertical alignment 
relaxations/departures from standard. 
- Full Stopping Sight Distance (SSD) along 
link. 
- Removes one ‘small radius bend’ on the 
A534. Site of 4No accidents in last 5 years. 
- Sandy Lane is unaffected by this option.   
- Fields to east of alignment could still be 
accessed from Sandy Lane. 
- Significantly less severance of agricultural 
land than the alignment taken to Public 
Consultation. 
- Mitigation measures (screening/bunds) 
could be placed in the fields to the west of 
Sandy Lane to reduce the effects of the link 
road on the ‘Loachbrook Farm development’. 
- Affected land owners have confirmed that 
options which run close to/along Sandy Lane 
are not preferred.     
- No increase in scheme length. 

 - Does not remove both ‘small radius bends’ on 
the A534.  
- Assumed to increase traffic volumes passing 
dwellings on A534 ‘small radius bends.’ 
- More land severance than Options 1, 2 and 3.   
- Would impact on 2/3 ponds within Zone A. 

Option 4 will be taken forward 
as part of the Preferred 
Route. It is considered to be 
an improvement on the 
Option taken to Public 
Consultation and also the 
best solution of all the 
additional options presented. 

 
 
In Zone A, 4 additional alignments were designed and appraised. After Public Consultation, it was felt that moving the alignment 
closer to Sandy Lane in order to minimise land severance should be investigated. However, the options which ran immediately 
adjacent to Sandy Lane (Options 1, 2 and 3) made no provision for mitigation measures (such as screening/bunds) to lessen the 
impact of the link road (and thus the compensation claims) on the proposed ‘Loachbrook Farm development.’ It was decided that 
Option 4 should be taken forward as part of the Preferred Route as it reduced the severance of the agricultural land (when 
compared to the option taken to Public Consultation) whilst also allowing for future mitigation measures to be developed in the strip 
of land between Sandy Lane and the proposed link road.       

 
 
 
 

P
age 328



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 30 

Highways 
 
3.3.2 Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone B/C 

 

Table 6 – Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone B/C 

 

Zone Option Advantages Disadvantages Verdict 

Zone 
B/C 

Option Taken 
to Public 

Consultation 

- Contains no horizontal or vertical 
alignment relaxations/departures from 
standard. 
- Full SSD along link. 
- No retaining walls or overbridge required 
at Chelford Road (reduced construction 
cost). 
- Minimal earthworks required as alignment 
is ‘at grade.’ 
- No pumping station required.  
 

- Junction created at Chelford Road. Potential for 
higher traffic flows on Chelford Road and Black 
Firs Lane. 
- Severe/significant impact on numerous 
properties to the north of Back Lane.  
- Severance of horse paddocks to the west of 
Sandy Lane. 
- Significant opposition from public (following 
consultation). 

Option taken to Public 
Consultation will not be taken 
forward as part of the 
Preferred Route as Option 3A 
is considered an improved 
alignment in Zone B/C. 
The severe/significant impact 
on numerous properties 
around Chelford Road/Black 
Firs Lane was deemed to be 
unacceptable.   

 
 
 

Option 1A 
 
 
 

- Considerably lower impact on the 
properties around Chelford Road/Back 
Lane/Black Firs Lane as this option passes 
between the two sets of dwellings. 
- No new junction at Chelford Road will 
mean that traffic volume on Chelford Road 
and Black Firs Lane would be relatively low 
when compared to option taken to Public 
Consultation. 
- No additional costs related to pumping 
station construction. 
- No ongoing cost associated with 
maintenance/inspection of pumping 
equipment.   
 

- Retaining walls / engineered slopes required to 
maintain adequate distance between highway 
boundary and dwellings on Chelford Road, Back 
Lane and Jagerhof.   
- Large cost associated with earthworks volume 
required to construct this option. 
- Large footprint area required if overbridge is 
introduced at Chelford Road (due to free drainage 
of highway to River Dane). 
- Potential ‘tying in’ problems with rest of (vertical) 
alignment. 
- 3No 360m horizontal curves (although assumed 
that this does not reduce/jeopardise road user 
safety).  
- Assumed SSD relaxations. 
- Disturbance to Radnor Hall Farm. 

The Preferred Route 
(identified in Section 2.4) 
does not follow the 
Blue/Purple alignment in this 
area. Therefore, this option 
will not form part of the 
Preferred Route. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 329



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 31 

Highways 
 
 

Zone Option Advantages Disadvantages Verdict 

Zone 
B/C 

Option 1B 

- Considerably lower impact on the 
properties around Chelford Road/Back 
Lane/Black Firs Lane as this option passes 
between the two sets of dwellings. 
- No new junction at Chelford Road will 
mean that traffic volumes on Chelford 
Road and Black Firs Lane would be 
relatively low when compared to the option 
taken to Public Consultation. 
-  Relatively small land take requirements. 
Earthworks can be minimised if a pump is 
used in trapped cutting.  
- A retaining wall at Jagerhof is not 
required for this option (it is for Option 1A-
free drainage).   
- Assumed lower impact on environment 
(smaller footprint area than Option 1A- free 
drainage). 
- Significantly lower construction costs than 
the free drainage option (Option 1A) due to 
less earthworks. 

- Retaining walls / engineered slopes required to 
maintain adequate distance between highway 
boundary and dwellings on Chelford Road and 
Back Lane.  
 - Additional cost of pumping station construction. 
 - Additional cost required to operate and maintain 
pumping station.  
 - Potential flooding of trapped cutting if pump 
breaks.  
- 3No 360m horizontal curves (although assumed 
that this does not reduce/jeopardise road user 
safety).  
- Assumed SSD relaxations. 
- Disturbance to Radnor Hall Farm. 

The Preferred Route 
(identified in Section 2.4) 
does not follow the 
Blue/Purple alignment in this 
area. Therefore, this option 
will not form part of the 
Preferred Route.       

Option 2A 

- Considerably lower impact on the 
properties around Chelford Road/Back 
Lane/Black Firs Lane as this option passes 
between the two sets of dwellings. 
- No new junction at Chelford Road will 
mean that traffic volume on Chelford Road 
and Black Firs Lane would be relatively low 
when compared to option taken to Public 
Consultation. 
- No additional costs related to pumping 
station construction. 
- No ongoing cost associated with 
operation and maintenance of pumping 
equipment.   
- No disturbance to Radnor Hall Farm. 
- Reduced disturbance to Jagerhof when 
compared to Options 1A and 2B. 

- Retaining walls / engineered slopes required to 
maintain adequate distance between highway 
boundary and dwellings on Chelford Road and 
Back Lane.   
- Large cost associated with earthworks volume 
required to construct this option. 
- Large footprint area required if overbridge is 
introduced at Chelford Road (due to free drainage 
of highway). 
- Potential ‘tying in’ problems with rest of (vertical) 
alignment. 
- 1No 360m horizontal curve curves (although 
assumed that this does not reduce/jeopardise 
road user safety).  
- Assumed SSD relaxations.  

Option 2A will not be taken 
forward as part of the 
Preferred Route as Option 3A 
is considered the best design 
solution in Zone B/C. 
Option 2A is considered 
unfeasible due to the large 
footprint area of land required 
to achieve this ‘free drainage’ 
solution, and also the high 
earthworks cost associated 
with this option.      

 

P
age 330



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 32 

Highways 
 
 

Zone Option Advantages Disadvantages Verdict 

Zone 
B/C 

Option 2B 

- Considerably lower impact on the 
properties around Chelford Road/Back 
Lane/Black Firs Lane as this option passes 
between the two sets of dwellings. 
- No new junction at Chelford Road will mean 
that traffic volume on Chelford Road and 
Black Firs Lane would be relatively low when 
compared to option taken to Public 
Consultation. 
-  Relatively small land take requirements. 
Earthworks can be minimised if a pump is 
used in trapped cutting.  
- Assumed lower impact on environment 
(smaller footprint area than free drainage 
option). 
- No problems tying link to rest of (vertical) 
alignment. 
- No disturbance to Radnor Hall Farm. 
- Less disturbance to Jagerhof then Option 
1A and 2B. 
 - Significantly lower construction costs than 
the free drainage option (Option 2A) due to 
less earthworks. 

- Retaining walls / engineered slopes required to 
maintain adequate distance between highway 
boundary and dwellings on Chelford Road and 
Back Lane.  
- Additional cost of pumping station construction. 
- Additional cost required to operate and 
maintain pumping equipment.  
- Potential flooding of trapped cutting if pump 
breaks.  
- 1No 360m horizontal curve (although assumed 
that this does not reduce jeopardise road user 
safety). 
- Assumed SSD relaxations.  

Option 2B will not be taken 
forward as part of the 
Preferred Route as Option 3A 
is considered the best design 
solution in Zone B/C. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 331



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 33 

Highways 

Zone Option Advantages Disadvantages Verdict 

Zone 
B/C 

Option 3A 

- Considerably lower impact on the properties 
around Chelford Road/Back Lane/Black Firs 
Lane as this option passes between the two sets 
of dwellings. 
- No new junction at Chelford Road will mean 
that traffic volume on Chelford Road and Black 
Firs Lane would be relatively low when 
compared to option taken to Public Consultation. 
- Reduced severance of land plots to the west of 
Chelford Road/Black Firs Lane junction.  
-  Relatively small land take requirements. 
Earthworks can be minimised if a pump is used 
in trapped cutting.  
- No disturbance to Radnor Hall Farm. 
- Reduced disturbance to Jagerhof when 
compared to Options 1A and 2B. 
- Significantly lower construction costs than the 
free drainage option (Option 2A) due to less 
earthworks. 

- See Disadvantages for Option 2B.  
- Only available for the Red/Green route. A 
similar alignment for the Blue/Purple route 
would probably require a 3 step horizontal 
reduction.  
 Option 3A will be taken 

forward as part of the 
Preferred Route. It is 
considered to be an 
improvement on the Option 
taken to Public Consultation 
and also the best solution of all 
the additional options 
presented. 

 

In Zone B/C, a total of 5 additional alignments were designed and appraised.  The severe/significant impact on the properties 
around Chelford Road which would be caused by the existing design was thought to be both unacceptable and avoidable. 
Therefore, all 5 of the additional alignments were thought to be an improvement on the original design. However, some of the 
options (Options 1A and 1B) had to be automatically discounted on the basis that they were a modification to the Blue/Purple 
Option, which does not form part of the Preferred Route (identified in Section 2.4). 

Further to this, Option 2A was discounted on the basis that unfeasible earthwork quantities would be required to facilitate free 
drainage of the highway runoff to the River Dane. The cost associated with the volume of earthworks required to deliver Option 2A 
would also be extremely high and would likely decrease the BCR substantially. 

Options 2B and 3A (pumping station situated in the trapped cutting) were seen as much more cost effective solutions and would 
have a smaller associated footprint area, meaning the impact of the road on the environment would be much lower. Options 2A and 
3A were very similar; Option 3A was ultimately taken forward as part of the Preferred Route as it was aligned further to the west 
around the rear of Chelford Road, meaning less severance of the Horse Paddocks in that area. 

P
age 332



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 34 

Highways       

 
3.3.3 Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone D/E 

 

Table 7 – Appraisal of Alternative Alignment in Zone D/E 

Zone Option Advantages Disadvantages Verdict 

Zone 
D/E 

Option taken 
to Public 

Consultation 

- Contains no horizontal or vertical 
alignment relaxations/departures from 
standard. 
- Full SSD along link. 
 

- Severs Church Wood. 
- Relatively close to properties in Hulme Walfield 
and St Michael’s Church. 
- Significant opposition from public (following 
consultation). 

The Preferred Route 
(identified in Section 2.4) 
does not follow the 
Blue/Purple alignment in this 
area and does not pass close 
to Church Wood/St Michael’s 
Church. Therefore, this option 
will not form part of the 
Preferred Route.       

Option 1 

- Avoids Church Wood. 
- Further away from Hulme Walfield and St 
Michael’s Church.  
 

- Reductions in horizontal alignment standards 
and SSD (when compared to Option taken to 
Public Consultation). However, it is assumed that 
this does not reduce/jeopardised road user safety. 

The Preferred Route 
(identified in Section 2.4) 
does not follow the 
Blue/Purple alignment in this 
area and does not pass close 
to Church Wood/St Michael’s 
Church. Therefore, this option 
will not form part of the 
Preferred Route.    

 

In Zone D/E, 1 additional alignment was designed and appraised. This alternative alignment option was shown to be an 
improvement on the existing alignment as it passed further to the south of Hulme Walfield and avoided Church Wood (ancient 
woodland). However, the additional alignment in Zone D/E was automatically discounted on the basis that it is a modification to the 
Blue/Purple Option, and does not form part of the Preferred Route.   

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 333



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 35 

Highways 
 
 

3.3.4 Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone F 

 

Table 8 – Appraisal of Alternative Alignments in Zone F 

 

Zone Option Advantages Disadvantages Verdict 

Zone F 

Option taken 
to Public 

Consultation 

- Contains no horizontal or vertical 
alignment relaxations/departures from 
standard. 
- Full SSD along link. 
- Minimal severance of wooded area. 
-Minimal severance of farm land to the 
north of Eaton.  
- Would reduce traffic on the A536 around 
Eaton (5No accidents in last 5 years).  

- Does not remove ‘small radius bend’ on A536. 
- Encroaches on Preferred Area for Mineral 
Extraction. 
- Severs Bebbington Lane and Back Lane.  
- Closer to the north of Eaton than other options.  

 

It was recommended that the 
Red/Purple Option should be 
taken forward as the 
Preferred Route following the 
quantitative assessment 
presented in Section 2.3.This 
option is specific to the Blue 
and Green Options only, so 
will not be taken forward as 
part of the Preferred Route.    

Option 1 

- Removes ‘small radius bend’ on A536 
adjacent to Old Brickbank Wood (3No 
accidents in last 5 years). 
- Would reduce traffic on the A536 around 
Eaton (5No accidents in last 5 years).  
- 2No 720m horizontal curves (although 
assumed that this does not 
reduce/jeopardise road user safety).   
- Further away from Eaton than original 
option. 

- Increase in scheme length: 350m. 
- Encroaches on Preferred Area for Mineral 
Extraction. 
- Severance of wooded area.  
- Severs Bebbington Lane and Back Lane.  
- Disturbance to properties on the A536. 
- Proposed roundabout requires small radius entry 
and exit arms – potential safety issue. 
 

It was recommended that the 
Red/Purple Option should be 
taken forward as the 
Preferred Route following the 
quantitative assessment 
presented in Section 2.3.This 
option is specific to the Blue 
and Green Options only, so 
will not be taken forward as 
part of the Preferred Route.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 334



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 36 

Highways 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
In Zone F, 3 additional alignments were designed and appraised. Following the selection of the Preferred Route (Section 2.4,) it 
became apparent that none of the alternative options in Zone F were now relevant and therefore would not form part of the 
Preferred Route Alignment. The reason for this was that they were modifications of the Blue/Green Option (to the north of Eaton Hall 
Quarry) and the selected Preferred Route followed the Red/Purple Option alignment (to the south of Eaton Hall Quarry).  

Zone Option Advantages Disadvantages Verdict 

Zone F 

Option 2 

- Removes ‘small radius bend’ on A536 
adjacent to Old Brickbank Wood (3No 
accidents in last 5 years). 
- Would reduce traffic on the A536 
around Eaton (5No accidents in last 5 
years).  
- Relatively low degree of severance of 
wooded area.  
- Further away from Eaton than original 
option. 

- Increase in scheme length: 360m. 
- Encroaches on Preferred Area for Mineral 
Extraction. 
- Severs Bebbington Lane and Back Lane.  
- 2No 360m horizontal curves (although assumed that 
this does not reduce/jeopardise road user safety).   
- Disturbance to properties on the A536. 
- Proposed roundabout requires small radius entry 
and exit arms – potential safety issue. 
 

It was recommended that the 
Red/Purple Option should be 
taken forward as the 
Preferred Route following the 
quantitative assessment 
presented in Section 2.3.This 
option is specific to the Blue 
and Green Options only, so 
will not be taken forward as 
part of the Preferred Route.    

Option 3 

- Would reduce traffic on the A536 
around Eaton (5No accidents in last 5 
years).  
- Further away from Eaton than original 
option. 
 

- Increase in scheme length: 540m. 
- Encroaches on Preferred Area for Mineral 
Extraction. 
- Does not remove ‘small radius bend’ on A534 
adjacent to Old Brickbank Wood.  
- Severs access to wooded area to west of A536. New 
access would have to be provided.  
- Severs Bebbington Lane and Back Lane.  
- 2No 360m horizontal curves (although assumed that 
this does not reduce/jeopardise road user safety).   
- Disturbance to properties on the A536.    

It was recommended that the 
Red/Purple Option should be 
taken forward as the 
Preferred Route following the 
quantitative assessment 
presented in Section 2.3.This 
option is specific to the Blue 
and Green Options only, so 
will not be taken forward as 
part of the Preferred Route.    

P
age 335



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 37 

Highways

4 Summary and Conclusions 

 

4.1 Summary 

This report documents an assessment of the four link road options presented at the 
Public Consultation. The four options were initially assessed qualitatively, by 
identifying the main features and characteristics of each option and appraising them 
against a set of assessment topics/factors.  

Further to this, a quantitative assessment of the four options was conducted, where 
the scores which were assigned to each link road option related to how the option 
performed against the assessment topic/factors. Weighting for the assessment 
topics/factors was determined at a PRA Workshop with input from Cheshire East 
Council. 

The Total Weighted Scores for each option following the quantitative assessment 
were as follows: 

• Total Weighted Score of Red Option: 12.8 

• Total Weighted Score of Blue Option: 7.2 

• Total Weighted Score of Green Option: 8.2 

• Total Weighted Score of Purple Option: 11.4 

The assessment showed that the Red and Purple Options outscored the Blue and 
Green options. Therefore, the Red and Purple Options were considered further with 
a view to combining the two options in order to develop a Preferred Route. 
Sensitivity testing confirmed that the results of the assessment were robust. 

It was felt that the Red Option should be taken forward as the Preferred Route, but 
should be modified in the central section so that it tied in with the Purple Option. 
This would increase the developable land to the south of the scheme, thereby 
increasing the quality of the Local Plan.  

It should be noted that the Red and Purple Options which were taken to Public 
Consultation are similar, and are actually identical in Zone A, Zone B, Zone F and a 
large proportion of Zone E.   

Feedback received from members of the public throughout the consultation process 
resulted in numerous alternative alignments being considered and designed. Each 
of the alternative alignments were individually appraised and compared to the 
alignment taken to Public Consultation. Options which were deemed to be an 
improvement on the original alignment were incorporated into the Preferred Route. 

It can be seen that within Zone A, the Preferred Route follows the alternative 
alignment detailed in Appendix B (Option 4,) which is slightly different to the 
alignment which was presented at Public Consultation.  Through Zone B, the 
Preferred Route follows the alternative alignment detailed in Appendix C (Option 
3A). In Zone C, the Preferred Route follows the alignment of the Red Option.  In 
Zone D, the Preferred Route extends over the River Dane and ties in with the Purple 

Page 336



 

 
OD025 - Preferred Route Announcement Report.doc 38 

Highways

Option. The Preferred Route then follows the alignment of the Purple and Red 
Options in Zones E and F.  

4.2 Cost  

A scheme cost estimate has been developed following the determination of a 
Preferred Route. The Preferred Route has been estimated to have an outturn 
scheme cost of approximately £77.5 Million; this is approximately £6.6 Million more 
than the Red Option taken to Public Consultation (£70.9 Million) and £2.2 Million 
less than the Purple Option taken to Public Consultation (£79.7 Million).  

The scheme cost estimate for the Preferred Route has been developed in the same 
way as the scheme cost estimates for the four options taken to Public Consultation. 
The Preferred Route Scheme Cost Estimate Report (Doc. Ref. B1832001/OD003a) 
details the assumptions made when developing the cost estimate, and unless 
explicitly stated, these are the same as the assumptions made when developing the 
scheme cost estimates for the four options taken to Public Consultation.  

It should be appreciated that even though the scheme cost for the Preferred Route 
is higher than the Red Option, the Preferred Route opens up more potentially 
developable land to the south of the link road, thereby enhancing the quality of the 
Local Plan.  It should also be acknowledged that the scheme cost for the Preferred 
Route includes an allowance for high-cost elements such as the new Chelford Road 
bridge and associated retaining wall structures, as well as the cost of a pumping 
station which is now thought to be required. These high-cost elements were 
incorporated into the Preferred Route through design development/feedback from 
the public, and did not form part of the four original scheme cost estimates.     

4.3 Conclusion 

The final Preferred Route, which is to be recommended to Cheshire East Council, 
has been determined through various assessments which are documented in 
Sections 2 and 3 of this report. The Preferred Route is shown in Appendix F 
(Drawing Ref. B1832001/H/WD/68 and B1832001/H/WD/69).  

As with the options presented at Public Consultation, earthwork details and other 
construction lines have been omitted from the plan to reflect the relatively early 
stage of the scheme.        

 

 

 

Page 337



 

 
  

Appendix A Sensitivity Testing Results    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 338



 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 339



Appendix A Sensitivity Testing Results 

OD025 – Preferred Route Announcement Paper 

B1832001 - Congleton Link Road 

Sensitivity Test 1: Maximum variation of +/- 10% to original weighting 

Topic / Factor 

Scenario 

1 

Weighting 

Scenario 

2 

Weighting 

Scenario 

3 

Weighting 

Scenario 

4 

Weighting 

Scenario 

5 

Weighting 

Scenario 

6 

Weighting 

Scenario 

7 

Weighting 

Scenario 

8 

Weighting 

Scenario 

9 

Weighting 

Scenario 

10 

Weighting 

Unweighted Scores 

Red 

Option 

Blue 

Option 

Green 

Option 

Purple 

Option 

Scheme Cost Estimate 1.840 2.120 1.920 1.940 1.800 2.120 1.940 1.820 2.020 1.880 2 0 1 1 

Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) 1.800 2.200 2.140 1.840 2.100 2.140 2.020 2.140 1.940 1.880 2 1 2 1 

Quality of Local Plan 0.910 1.000 1.000 0.980 0.990 0.970 0.990 0.970 0.950 0.930 1 2 1 2 

Public Endorsement  2.000 2.140 1.860 1.960 1.840 1.820 2.000 1.940 1.920 1.980 1 1 0 2 

Engineering Constraints 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 -1 -2 -2 0 

Road User Safety 0.990 0.910 0.950 1.040 1.020 0.960 0.940 1.040 1.020 0.950 2 2 2 2 

Landscape and Visual Impact 0.214 0.208 0.184 0.182 0.198 0.208 0.218 0.190 0.214 0.218 -1 -2 -2 -2 

Ecology 0.186 0.200 0.184 0.184 0.212 0.206 0.218 0.190 0.182 0.190 -2 -2 -2 -2 

Cultural Heritage 0.196 0.202 0.204 0.182 0.220 0.182 0.218 0.198 0.218 0.202 0 -1 -1 -1 

Air Quality 0.192 0.184 0.190 0.220 0.182 0.186 0.198 0.210 0.212 0.192 1 1 1 1 

Noise and Vibration 0.216 0.216 0.210 0.214 0.208 0.212 0.188 0.204 0.204 0.186 1 1 1 1 

Soils, Geology and Hydrogeology 0.188 0.214 0.184 0.180 0.194 0.212 0.196 0.204 0.204 0.182 0 -1 -1 0 

The Water Environment 0.190 0.190 0.216 0.208 0.186 0.194 0.182 0.198 0.200 0.180 -1 -1 -1 -1 

Water Framework Directive 0.200 0.200 0.220 0.204 0.188 0.216 0.192 0.204 0.204 0.200 -1 -1 -1 -1 

Effects on All Travellers 0.192 0.200 0.180 0.204 0.210 0.208 0.210 0.180 0.184 0.184 1 1 1 1 

Private and Community Assets 0.220 0.210 0.208 0.212 0.192 0.220 0.202 0.196 0.218 0.194 1 1 1 1 

Total Weighted Scores Sensitivity Assessment 
Red Option shown to be highest scoring option in all 10 iterations. Outscores 

Purple Option by an average of 1.45 points. 
Red 

Option 

Blue 

Option 

Green 

Option 

Purple 

Option Red - Purple Purple - Blue Purple - Green 

Scenario 1 12.014 6.846 7.576 10.874 Scenario 1 1.14 4.028 3.298 Purple Option shown to outscore Blue Option in all 10 iterations (by average of 

4.08 points). Scenario 2 13.412 7.348 8.528 11.822 Scenario 2 1.59 4.474 3.294 

Scenario 3 12.68 7.128 8.328 11.092 Scenario 3 1.588 3.964 2.764 Purple Option shown to outscore Green Option in all 10 iterations (by average of 

3.04 points). Scenario 4 12.468 7.184 8.024 11.264 Scenario 4 1.204 4.08 3.24 

Scenario 5 12.466 7.144 8.214 10.978 Scenario 5 1.488 3.834 2.764 

Scenario 6 13.026 7.014 8.484 11.166 Scenario 6 1.86 4.152 2.682 

Scenario 7 12.56 7.018 7.988 11.154 Scenario 7 1.406 4.136 3.166 

Scenario 8 12.728 7.326 8.376 11.29 Scenario 8 1.438 3.964 2.914 

Scenario 9 12.666 7 8.09 11.144 Scenario 9 1.522 4.144 3.054 

Scenario 10 12.108 6.796 7.646 10.838 

Scenario 

10 1.27 4.042 3.192 

Average 1.4506 4.0818 3.0368 

Average 12.6128 7.0804 8.1254 11.1622 

P
age 340



Appendix A  Sensitivity Testing Results  

OD025 – Preferred Route Announcement Paper 

B1832001 - Congleton Link Road 

         
Sensitivity Test 2: Maximum variation of +/- 25% to original weighting  

     

          

               

Topic / Factor 

Iteration 

1 

Weighting 

Iteration 

2 

Weighting 

Iteration 

3 

Weighting 

Iteration 

4 

Weighting 

Iteration 

5 

Weighting 

Iteration 

6 

Weighting 

Iteration 

7 

Weighting 

Iteration 

8 

Weighting 

Iteration 

9 

Weighting 

Iteration 

10 

Weighting 

Unweighted Scores 

Red 

Option 

Blue 

Option 

Green 

Option 

Purple 

Option 

Scheme Cost Estimate 1.820 1.540 1.780 2.320 2.500 1.560 2.360 1.880 2.420 2.400 2 0 1 1 

Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) 2.220 1.640 2.020 2.160 1.800 1.520 2.380 1.980 1.840 1.640 2 1 2 1 

Quality of Local Plan 1.010 0.770 1.200 1.170 1.160 0.800 0.760 0.860 1.190 1.160 1 2 1 2 

Public Endorsement  2.240 1.600 2.080 2.120 1.680 1.680 2.040 2.020 1.740 1.500 1 1 0 2 

Engineering Constraints 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 -1 -2 -2 0 

Road User Safety 0.990 1.110 0.920 0.780 0.910 0.840 1.220 0.820 1.120 0.980 2 2 2 2 

Landscape and Visual Impact 0.212 0.192 0.198 0.210 0.174 0.176 0.218 0.246 0.166 0.186 -1 -2 -2 -2 

Ecology 0.188 0.188 0.244 0.186 0.240 0.202 0.240 0.206 0.236 0.184 -2 -2 -2 -2 

Cultural Heritage 0.202 0.152 0.150 0.240 0.218 0.242 0.172 0.180 0.162 0.230 0 -1 -1 -1 

Air Quality 0.160 0.216 0.204 0.150 0.240 0.192 0.158 0.160 0.162 0.152 1 1 1 1 

Noise and Vibration 0.232 0.158 0.220 0.184 0.234 0.178 0.216 0.150 0.160 0.230 1 1 1 1 

Soils, Geology and Hydrogeology 0.182 0.196 0.198 0.174 0.238 0.184 0.230 0.192 0.192 0.182 0 -1 -1 0 

The Water Environment 0.210 0.156 0.236 0.198 0.156 0.242 0.210 0.178 0.218 0.238 -1 -1 -1 -1 

Water Framework Directive 0.224 0.152 0.240 0.210 0.168 0.154 0.198 0.194 0.154 0.178 -1 -1 -1 -1 

Effects on All Travellers 0.166 0.150 0.194 0.230 0.226 0.164 0.178 0.230 0.248 0.242 1 1 1 1 

Private and Community Assets 0.174 0.216 0.198 0.166 0.228 0.204 0.194 0.236 0.168 0.218 1 1 1 1 

 

 

Total Weighted Scores 

  

Sensitivity Assessment  

 Red Option shown to be highest scoring option in all 10 iterations. Outscores 

Purple Option by an average of 1.49 points. 
Red 

Option 

Blue 

Option 

Green 

Option 

Purple 

Option 

  

Red - Purple Purple - Blue  Purple - Green 

 Iteration 1 13.02 7.574 8.364 11.816 

 

Iteration 1 1.204 4.242 3.452 

 
Purple Option shown to outscore Blue Option in all 10 iterations (by average of 

4.12 points). Iteration 2 10.814 6.324 7.134 9.66 

 

Iteration 2 1.154 3.336 2.526 

 Iteration 3 12.374 7.448 7.968 11.506 

 

Iteration 3 0.868 4.058 3.538 

 
Purple Option shown to outscore Green Option in all 10 iterations (by average of 

3.02 points). Iteration 4 13.55 7.296 8.486 11.91 

 

Iteration 4 1.64 4.614 3.424 

 Iteration 5 13.21 6.94 8.4 11.358 

 

Iteration 5 1.852 4.418 2.958 

         Iteration 6 10.082 5.64 6.24 9.064 

 

Iteration 6 1.018 3.424 2.824 

         Iteration 7 14.36 7.4 9.34 12.03 

 

Iteration 7 2.33 4.63 2.69 

         Iteration 8 11.986 6.488 7.468 10.58 

 

Iteration 8 1.406 4.092 3.112 

         Iteration 9 13.418 7.408 8.738 11.76 

 

Iteration 9 1.658 4.352 3.022 

         Iteration 

10 12.572 6.694 8.074 10.776 

 

Iteration 10 1.796 4.082 2.702 

         

   

Average 1.4926 4.1248 3.0248 

         Average 12.5386 6.9212 8.0212 11.046 

               

 

P
age 341



Appendix A Sensitivity Testing Results 

OD025 – Preferred Route Announcement Paper 

B1832001 - Congleton Link Road 

Sensitivity Test 3: Maximum variation of +/- 40% to original weighting 

Topic / Factor 

Iteration 

1 

Weighting 

Iteration 

2 

Weighting 

Iteration 

3 

Weighting 

Iteration 

4 

Weighting 

Iteration 

5 

Weighting 

Iteration 

6 

Weighting 

Iteration 

7 

Weighting 

Iteration 

8 

Weighting 

Iteration 

9 

Weighting 

Iteration 

10 

Weighting 

Unweighted Scores 

Red 

Option 

Blue 

Option 

Green 

Option 

Purple 

Option 

Scheme Cost Estimate 2.000 1.740 2.560 2.420 2.060 2.240 2.680 2.040 1.220 2.520 2 0 1 1 

Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) 1.960 2.700 2.220 1.920 1.360 2.220 2.500 1.820 1.220 2.240 2 1 2 1 

Quality of Local Plan 1.000 1.250 0.890 0.960 0.630 1.200 0.840 1.330 1.300 0.980 1 2 1 2 

Public Endorsement  1.520 2.480 1.940 2.100 1.520 2.240 2.180 1.960 1.860 1.820 1 1 0 2 

Engineering Constraints 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 -1 -2 -2 0 

Road User Safety 0.650 0.890 0.780 1.350 1.120 1.370 1.000 0.800 0.830 0.760 2 2 2 2 

Landscape and Visual Impact 0.194 0.214 0.220 0.272 0.220 0.234 0.272 0.124 0.226 0.194 -1 -2 -2 -2 

Ecology 0.208 0.220 0.252 0.240 0.198 0.178 0.168 0.126 0.180 0.246 -2 -2 -2 -2 

Cultural Heritage 0.262 0.206 0.226 0.200 0.124 0.148 0.132 0.130 0.130 0.158 0 -1 -1 -1 

Air Quality 0.200 0.136 0.274 0.156 0.278 0.278 0.252 0.120 0.180 0.266 1 1 1 1 

Noise and Vibration 0.264 0.200 0.242 0.140 0.220 0.196 0.124 0.218 0.260 0.176 1 1 1 1 

Soils, Geology and Hydrogeology 0.120 0.130 0.224 0.226 0.220 0.180 0.124 0.208 0.188 0.182 0 -1 -1 0 

The Water Environment 0.214 0.200 0.224 0.234 0.128 0.210 0.278 0.124 0.130 0.250 -1 -1 -1 -1 

Water Framework Directive 0.160 0.142 0.242 0.140 0.136 0.196 0.140 0.260 0.280 0.212 -1 -1 -1 -1 

Effects on All Travellers 0.262 0.216 0.240 0.238 0.128 0.136 0.160 0.256 0.132 0.172 1 1 1 1 

Private and Community Assets 0.264 0.244 0.194 0.228 0.142 0.190 0.132 0.224 0.184 0.204 1 1 1 1 

Total Weighted Scores Sensitivity Assessment 
Red Option shown to be highest scoring option in 9 of 10 iterations. Outscores 

Purple Option by an average of 1.55 points. 
Red 

Option 

Blue 

Option 

Green 

Option 

Purple 

Option Red - Purple Purple - Blue Purple - Green 

Iteration 1 11.746 6.21 7.65 9.85 Iteration 1 1.896 3.64 2.2 Purple Option shown to outscore Blue Option in all 10 iteration (by average of 4.29 

points). Iteration 2 14.19 8.71 9.42 13.06 Iteration 2 1.13 4.35 3.64 

Iteration 3 13.71 6.59 8.54 11.314 Iteration 3 2.396 4.724 2.774 Purple Option shown to outscore Green Option in all 10 iterations (by average of 

3.13 points). Iteration 4 14.076 7.578 8.858 12.324 Iteration 4 1.752 4.746 3.466 

Iteration 5 11.118 5.704 6.974 9.504 Iteration 5 1.614 3.8 2.53 

Iteration 6 14.904 8.842 9.862 13.502 Iteration 6 1.402 4.66 3.64 

Iteration 7 15.022 7.474 9.634 12.458 Iteration 7 2.564 4.984 2.824 

Iteration 8 12.668 7.636 8.206 11.844 Iteration 8 0.824 4.208 3.638 

Iteration 9 9.46 6.556 5.836 9.824 Iteration 9 -0.364 3.268 3.988 

Iteration 

10 13.51 6.676 8.636 11.198 
Iteration 

10 2.312 4.522 2.562 

Average 1.5526 4.2902 3.1262 

Average 13.0404 7.1976 8.3616 11.4878 

P
age 342



P
age 343



 

 

Appendix B Alternative Alignment Designs in Zone A                
(Drawing Ref. B1832001/SK/31)    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 344



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



 

 

Appendix C Alternative Alignment Designs in Zone B/C            
(Drawing Ref. B1832001/SK/32, SK/33 and SK/34) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 348



 

 

 

Page 349



Page 350



Page 351



Page 352



Page 353



Page 354



Page 355



 

 

Appendix D Alternative Alignment Design in Zone D/E                
(Drawing Ref. B1832001/H/WD/47) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 356



 

 

 

Page 357



Page 358



Page 359



 

 

Appendix E Alternative Alignment Designs in Zone F                
(Drawing Ref. B1832001/H/WD/29) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 360



 

 

 

Page 361



Page 362



Page 363



 

 

Appendix F Congleton Link Road Preferred Route                   
(Drawing Ref. B1832001/H/WD/68 and WD/69) 

 

 

 

Page 364



Page 365



Page 366



Page 367



Page 368



ID Task Name Duration Start Finish

1

2

3 Milestone 1 Approvals, Governance and Funding 8 days Thu 27/09/12 Mon 08/10/12

8

9 Milestone 2 Preliminary Investigation and Scoping 84 days? Tue 02/10/12 Fri 25/01/13

23

24 Milestone 3 Data Gathering 328 days Thu 01/11/12 Mon 03/02/14

43

44 Milestone 4 - Options Development and Appraisal 225 days Mon 03/06/13 Fri 11/04/14

59

60 Milestone 5 - Consultation 171 days Tue 20/08/13 Tue 15/04/14

81

87

88

89 Milestone 5a - Business Case and funding 135 days Mon 04/11/13 Fri 09/05/14

93

94 Milestone 6 - Preferred Route Announcement 31 days Wed 16/04/14 Thu 29/05/14

95 Cabinet paper for announcement of Preferred Route Announcement / Preferred Route Paper9 days Wed 16/04/14 Mon 28/04/14

96 Date for Submission  of Cabinet approval paper 0 days Mon 28/04/14 Mon 28/04/14

97 May Cabinet Meeting - Preferred Route Announcement 0 days Thu 29/05/14 Thu 29/05/14

98

99 Milestone 7 - Preliminary Design and Environmental Statement 341 days Mon 23/09/13 Mon 12/01/15

100 Management 40 days Mon 20/01/14 Fri 14/03/14

101 Commission Estimate for Work to PA incl Topo Survey/GI Procurement40 days Mon 20/01/14 Fri 14/03/14

102 Traffic 20 days Mon 17/03/14 Fri 11/04/14

103 Flows including turning movements 20 days Mon 17/03/14 Fri 11/04/14

104 Enviroment 296 days Mon 23/09/13 Mon 10/11/14

105 ES Scoping Report 20 days Tue 29/04/14 Mon 26/05/14

106 Statutory Body Review ES scoping Report 25 days Tue 27/05/14 Mon 30/06/14

107 Environment Winter Surveys 135 days Mon 23/09/13 Fri 28/03/14

108 Environment Summer Surveys 110 days Tue 29/04/14 Mon 29/09/14

109 Environmental Statement 60 days Tue 15/07/14 Mon 06/10/14

110 Outline Environmental Master Plan 20 days Tue 12/08/14 Mon 08/09/14

111 Final Environmental Master Plan 15 days Tue 21/10/14 Mon 10/11/14

112 Geotech 145 days Mon 17/03/14 Fri 03/10/14

113 GI Tender Prep + award and Instruction 55 days Mon 17/03/14 Fri 30/05/14

114 GI Land Access 10 days Mon 02/06/14 Fri 13/06/14

115 GI Intrusive Survey 30 days Mon 16/06/14 Fri 25/07/14

116 GI Lab Work 30 days Mon 14/07/14 Fri 22/08/14

117 High Level information for highways 10 days Mon 25/08/14 Fri 05/09/14

118 Ground Investigation Report 30 days Mon 25/08/14 Fri 03/10/14

119 Ground Investigation Factual Report 20 days Mon 25/08/14 Fri 19/09/14

120 Topographical Survey 40 days Thu 29/05/14 Wed 23/07/14

121 Highways 216 days Mon 17/03/14 Mon 12/01/15

122 Statutory Undertaker Update 25 days Mon 17/03/14 Fri 18/04/14

123 Outline Alignment Design 40 days Tue 29/04/14 Mon 23/06/14

124 Outline Drainage Strategy 40 days Tue 27/05/14 Mon 21/07/14

125 Outline lighting strategy 20 days Tue 24/06/14 Mon 21/07/14

126 Outline Signing Strategy 20 days Tue 24/06/14 Mon 21/07/14

127 Accommodation Works / agricultural assessment 35 days Tue 24/06/14 Mon 11/08/14

128 Preparation for Pre-Application Consultation 40 days Tue 29/07/14 Mon 22/09/14

129 Pre-Application Consultation 30 days Tue 23/09/14 Mon 03/11/14

130 Preliminary Design Update 30 days Tue 21/10/14 Mon 01/12/14

131 Cost Estimate Update 20 days Tue 18/11/14 Mon 15/12/14

132 Contractor Input to define Red Line 20 days Tue 18/11/14 Mon 15/12/14

133 Departures from Standard Report/Documentation 15 days Tue 02/12/14 Mon 22/12/14

134 Departures from Standard Report Approval Period 15 days Tue 23/12/14 Mon 12/01/15

135 Structures 115 days Tue 24/06/14 Mon 01/12/14

136 Outline Structure design 40 days Tue 24/06/14 Mon 18/08/14

137 Preliminary structure design with foundation update 20 days Tue 04/11/14 Mon 01/12/14

138

139 Milestone 8 - Planning Application 95 days Tue 16/12/14 Mon 27/04/15

146

147 Milestone 9 -  Statutory Orders Process 465 days Mon 05/01/15 Mon 17/10/16

148 Prepare full business case 40 days Tue 06/01/15 Mon 02/03/15

149 Confirm land ownership model 0 days Mon 05/01/15 Mon 05/01/15

150 Prepare land reference plans 20 days Tue 20/01/15 Mon 16/02/15

151 Prepare CPO plans 20 days Tue 03/02/15 Mon 02/03/15

152 Prepare Side Road Orders 20 days Tue 17/02/15 Mon 16/03/15

153 Statement of Reasons and Case 20 days Tue 03/03/15 Mon 30/03/15

154 Cabinet paper to submit Draft Orders 10 days Tue 31/03/15 Mon 13/04/15

155 Cabinet approval to submit Planning Application (Date assumed) 0 days Mon 27/04/15 Mon 27/04/15

156 Publish Draft Orders to include printing 15 days Tue 28/04/15 Mon 18/05/15

157 Orders Determination Period / PI Determination Period 60 days Tue 19/05/15 Mon 10/08/15

158 Public Inquiry Preparation Period 130 days Tue 11/08/15 Mon 08/02/16

159 Public Inquiry 10 days Tue 09/02/16 Mon 22/02/16

160 Inspectors Report 65 days Tue 23/02/16 Mon 23/05/16

161 Secretary of State Decision 45 days Tue 24/05/16 Mon 25/07/16

162 Legal Challenge 30 days Tue 26/07/16 Mon 05/09/16

163 Notice to Treat and Enter 30 days Tue 06/09/16 Mon 17/10/16

164

165 Milestone 10 - Detailed Design 300 days Mon 01/06/15 Fri 22/07/16

166 Detailed Design including all disciplins 260 days Mon 01/06/15 Fri 27/05/16

167 Preparation ofTarget Cost 40 days Mon 30/05/16 Fri 22/07/16

168

169 Milestone 11 - Construction 520 days Tue 18/10/16 Mon 15/10/18

170 Construction (assume 2 years) 520 days Tue 18/10/16 Mon 15/10/18

28/04 Cabinet paper for announcement of Preferred Route Announcement / Preferred Route Paper

14/03 Commission Estimate for Work to PA incl Topo Survey/GI Procurement

11/04 Flows including turning movements

26/05 ES Scoping Report

30/06 Statutory Body Review ES scoping Report

Environment Winter Surveys

29/09 Environment Summer Surveys

06/10 Environmental Statement

08/09 Outline Environmental Master Plan

10/11 Final Environmental Master Plan

30/05 GI Tender Prep + award and Instruction

13/06 GI Land Access

25/07 GI Intrusive Survey

22/08 GI Lab Work

05/09 High Level information for highways

03/10 Ground Investigation Report

19/09 Ground Investigation Factual Report

23/07 Topographical Survey

18/04 Statutory Undertaker Update

23/06 Outline Alignment Design

21/07 Outline Drainage Strategy

21/07 Outline lighting strategy

21/07 Outline Signing Strategy

11/08 Accommodation Works / agricultural assessment 

22/09 Preparation for Pre-Application Consultation

03/11 Pre-Application Consultation

01/12 Preliminary Design Update

15/12 Cost Estimate Update

15/12 Contractor Input to define Red Line

22/12 Departures from Standard Report/Documentation

12/01 Departures from Standard Report Approval Period

18/08 Outline Structure design

01/12 Preliminary structure design with foundation update

02/03 Prepare full business case

16/02 Prepare land reference plans

02/03 Prepare CPO plans

16/03 Prepare Side Road Orders

30/03 Statement of Reasons and Case

13/04 Cabinet paper to submit Draft Orders

18/05 Publish Draft Orders to include printing

10/08 Orders Determination Period / PI Determination Period

08/02 Public Inquiry Preparation Period

22/02 Public Inquiry

23/05 Inspectors Report

25/07 Secretary of State 

05/09 Leg

17/10

27/05 Detailed Design including all disciplins

22/07 Preparation ofTarg

30061320270310172403101724310714212805121926020916233007142128041118250108152229061320270310172401081522290512192602091623020916233006132027041118250108152229061320270310172431071421280512192602091623300714212804111825010815222907142128041118250209162330061320270411182501081522290512
Jan '14 Feb '14 Mar '14 Apr '14 May '14 Jun '14 Jul '14 Aug '14 Sep '14 Oct '14 Nov '14 Dec '14 Jan '15 Feb '15 Mar '15 Apr '15 May '15 Jun '15 Jul '15 Aug '15 Sep '15 Oct '15 Nov '15 Dec '15 Jan '16 Feb '16 Mar '16 Apr '16 May '16 Jun '16 Jul '16 Aug '16 Sep '1

́�ԀԀ#◌�$◌� $◌� ◌�         �ĀĀ#◌�$◌�

File: Congleton Link Road - Project Programme - 20_03_14 - R11 WIP - LH&TS EDIT.mpp 
Date printed: Fri 25/04/14 

Page 1

Project: Congleton Link Road - PS Pro
Date: Fri 25/04/14

P
age 369



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 371



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 373



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Notice of Motion - Single Person Discount
	7 School Organisation Sub Committee - Decision-Making Procedure
	School Organisation Decision-Making - Appendix 1
	School Organisation Decision-Making - Appendix 2

	8 Vulnerable and Older People's Housing Strategy
	Vulnerable and Older People's Housing Strategy - Appendix

	9 Congleton Link Road - Preferred Route Assessment and Next Steps
	Congleton Link Road - Annex A - Preferred Route
	Congleton Link Road - Annex B - Public Consultation Report
	OD020 - F8 Document Control Sheet.pdf
	OD020 - Public Consultation Report REV 0.pdf

	Congleton Link Road - Annex C - Preferred Route Assessment report
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	Congleton Link Road - Annex D - Scheme Programme
	Congleton Link Road - Annex E - A34-Low Cost Improvements (1)
	Congleton Link Road - Annex E - A34-Low Cost Improvements (2)




